frontiers Hereiters Hereit

NEW THERAPEUTIC TARGETS FOR HUMAN PLACENTAL ANGIOGENESIS DISEASES

Topic Editor Carlos A. Escudero





FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2015 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

Cover image provided by Ibbl sarl, Lausanne CH

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-461-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-461-2

ABOUT FRONTIERS

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

DEDICATION TO QUALITY

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

NEW THERAPEUTIC TARGETS FOR HUMAN PLACENTAL ANGIOGENESIS DISEASES

Topic Editor: **Carlos A. Escudero,** University of Bío-Bío, Chillán, Chile

A large number of publications have described impaired angiogenesis and vasculogenesis present in the feto-placental circulation after pregnancy diseases such as pre-eclamptic pregnancies, gestational diabetes, and intrauterine growth restriction, among others. Results suggest impaired secretion and activity of pro-angiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), interleukin 8 (IL-8), adenosine and nitric oxide, associates with compromised secretion and activity of anti-angiogenic factors such as soluble receptor of VEGF (sFlt-1), thrombospondin 2, endostatin among others. More recent evidences include the participation of endothelial progenitor cells (EPC), which is reduced in feto-placental circulation in pregnancies such as pre-eclampsia. Despite this knowledge, therapies for placental angiogenesis recovery during pathological pregnancies are far to be tested. However, from the cardiovascular field, it has been described the administration of EPC, alone or used as gene-transfer therapy; or it has been described the potential role of statins (HMGCoA inhibitors), or angiotensin-converter enzyme (ACE) inhibitors for enhancing angiogenesis. Finally, feto-placental tissue is an exceptional source of progenitor and stem cells, which could be used for treated other human diseases such as stroke, myocardial infarction, hypertension, or even cancer. In this research topic, authors highlight physiopatological and clinical importance of the impaired placental angiogenesis, and suggest potential targets for developing innovative therapies.

Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: New Therapeutic Targets for Human Placental Angiogenesis Disease Carlos A. Escudero
- 07 Maternally Sequestered Therapeutic Polypeptides A New Approach for the Management of Preeclampsia

Gene L. Bidwell III and Eric M. George

16 Extravillous Trophoblast Cells-Derived Exosomes Promote Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Migration

Carlos Salomon, Sarah Yee, Katherin Scholz-Romero, Miharu Kobayashi, Kanchan Vaswani, David Kvaskoff, Sebastian E. Illanes, Murray D. Mitchell and Gregory E.Rice

- 29 Physiological Mechanisms of Vascular Response Induced by Shear Stress and Effect of Exercise in Systemic and Placental Circulation. Iván Rodríguez and Marcelo González
- 40 Modulation of Endothelial Cell Migration by ER Stress and Insulin Resistance: A Role During Maternal Obesity?

Pablo J. Sáez, Roberto Villalobos-Labra, Francisco Westermeier, Luis Sobrevia and Marcelo Farías-Jofré

50 The Placental Pursuit for an Adequate Oxidant Balance Between the Mother and the Fetus

Emilio A. Herrera, Bernardo Krause, German Ebensperger, Roberto V. Reyes, Paola Casanello, Mauro Parra-Cordero and Anibal J. Llanos

60 Analysis of Homeobox Gene Action May Reveal Novel Angiogenic Pathways in Normal Placental Vasculature and in Clinical Pregnancy Disorders Associated With Abnormal Placental Angiogenesis

Padma Murthi, Mohamed Abumaree and Bill Kalionis

- 72 The Therapeutic Potential of Antioxidants, ER Chaperones, NO and H₂S Donors, and Statins for Treatment of Preeclampsia
 Tereza Cindrova-Davies
- 85 Is a Low Level of Free Thyroxine in the Maternal Circulation Associated With Altered Endothelial Function in Gestational Diabetes?
 Enrique Guzmán-Gutiérrez, Carlos Veas, Andrea Leiva, Carlos Escudero and Luis Sobrevia
- 92 Impaired Adenosine-Mediated Angiogenesis in Preeclampsia: Potential Implications for Fetal Programming

Carlos Escudero, James M. Roberts, Leslie Myatt and Igor Feoktistov

105 Endothelial Heterogeneity in the Umbilico-Placental Unit: DNA Methylation as an Innuendo of Epigenetic Diversity

Paola Casanello, Daniela Schneider, Emilio A. Herrera, Ricardo Uauy and Bernardo J. Krause

Editorial: New therapeutic targets for human placental angiogenesis disease

Carlos A. Escudero *

Vascular Physiology Laboratory, Group of Investigation in Tumor Angiogenesis (GIANT), Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health (GRIVAS Health), Department of Basic Sciences, University of Bío-Bío, Chillán, Chile *Correspondence: cescudero@ubiobio.cl

Edited by:

Martin C. Michel, Boehringer Ingelheim Pharma GmbH & Co KG, Germany

Reviewed by:

Norma Beatriz Ojeda, University of Mississippi Medical Center, USA

Keywords: placenta, angiogenesis, therapy, hypothesis, review

Development of placental vascular tree is structurally and functionally required for both adequate placental growth and delivery of nutrients from mother to the fetus. Impaired placental angiogenesis has been implicated in the pathophysiology of pregnancy complications which have immediate and long-lasting effects on the mother and her child; such complications include fetal growth restriction and macrosomia as well as pre-eclampsia and gestational diabetes. The mechanisms underlying the deregulation of placental angiogenesis include a misbalance between the secretion and activity of pro-angiogenic vs. anti-angiogenic factors. Despite this, therapies for improving placental angiogenesis in pathological pregnancies have not been directly tested in humans and the aim of this Research Topic in Frontiers is to highlight potential therapeutic targets.

Physical activity during pregnancy might be effective for reducing the risk of developing pregnancy complications. In this regard, Rodriguez and Gonzalez (2014) explain how physical activity affects placental endothelial shear stress and vasodilation, via synthesis and release of nitric oxide (NO). Whilst these processes are relatively well-described in the adult circulation, they are not completely understood in the feto-placental circulation. Then, they analyze how training affects hemodynamics in the mother, which may favor blood supply to the placenta, favoring placental angiogenesis, glucose and oxygen delivery and thereby fetal growth and development. Considering this concept, the potential beneficial effects of moderate levels of maternal exercise may constitute a non-pharmacological intervention for improving maternal and fetal hemodynamic alterations observed during pathological pregnancies such as pre-eclampsia, gestational diabetes, or intrauterine growth restriction.

On the other hand, Herrera et al. (2014) characterizes the response of the umbilical-placental vasculature to hypoxia induced experimentally or through living at high-altitude. They later describe how hypoxia and oxidative stress may impact placental establishment and therefore have consequences for embryonic development from the early stages of gestation. The authors also highlight the implications of a prolonged hypoxic environment in inducing adaptive responses of the placenta in pregnancies at high altitude, or conversely in the development of placental vascular pathologies such as those observed during intrauterine growth restriction and pre-eclampsia. The clinical significance of these findings are discussed, emphasizing that balancing levels of oxidative stress may be a target for improving placental vascular alterations.

Impaired remodeling of maternal spiral arteries by invasive placental trophoblast is thought to be the primary cause of intrauterine hypoxia and the pathophysiology of pre-eclampsia and/or intrauterine growth restriction. In this regard, Salomon et al. (2014) presented novel data which improve our understanding in the interactions of trophoblast with vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC) via exosomes. They assess exosomes release and content in two extravillous trophoblast cell lines (JEC-3 and HTR-8/SVneo), and relate their observations with the capacity of these exosomes for promoting migration of VSMC. They found high release, differential composition, and high promotion of VSMC migration in exosomes released from HTR-8/SVneo cells compared with JEC-3 cells. Interestingly, their findings indicate that modulation of VSMC migration depends on exosome cargo, exosomal structural integrity, and intracellular incorporation of these exosomes into VSMC. These promising results highlight the potential of exosomes as diagnostic biomarkers of normal or abnormal placentation, or perhaps may constitute an alternative method for introducing molecules with a therapeutic aim.

Bidwell and George (2014), also show that employing a carrier protein called elastin-like polypeptide (ELP) may provide a method for delivering therapeutic agents/drugs to the placenta during pathological pregnancies, including pre-eclampsia. These particular peptides may offer many advantages since researchers could manipulate their length, sequence, and therefore biochemical properties in order to selectively target a particular cell and/or tissue. More importantly, due to the high molecular weight of ELP, it cannot cross the placenta avoiding fetal exposure and potential developmental defects. Preclinical studies are currently underway exploring whether fusing ELP with proteins like vascular endothelial growth factor (ELP-VEGF), the p50 subunit of NF-kB or with the Nox2 docking sequence (Nox2ds) affects their half-life, or activity.

Cindrova-Davies (2014) provides an overview of the pathophysiology of pre-eclampsia. In particular, the contribution of hypoxia, the equilibrium between oxidants-antioxidants, soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1 (s-Flt1), the bioavailability of NO and hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) and the levels of pro-inflammatory and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress in the development of this disease are discussed. Considering this biological background, She identifies potential pharmacological targets for improving placental function in pre-eclampsia. These pharmacological tools may include ER chaperones such as ursodeoxycholic acid, as well as vasoactive molecules including Larginine, NO-donors, H_2S and statins; some of them are indeed being tested in clinical trials.

Also on the topic of pre-eclampsia, Escudero et al. (2014) propose a challenging hypothesis that the impaired adenosinemediated placental angiogenesis observed in pre-eclampsia might also be present in the offspring at birth and lead to a reduction in microvascular formation and compromised hemodynamic regulation. According with this hypothesis, adenosine could constitute another avenue for recovering both impaired placental angiogenesis and future complication in the offspring.

On the other hand, Guzman-Gutierrez et al. (2014) raise the notion that the placenta controls the bioavailability of thyroxine (T_4) and tri-iodothyronine (T_3) in the fetal circulation. They propose that the placenta may respond in an adaptive fashion to low maternal T_4 although placental control of T_3/T_4 may be impaired during chronic maternal hypothyroxemia or hypothyroidism. They also present evidence suggesting that T_3/T_4 controls endothelial function, via effects on placental angiogenesis and the synthesis and release of vasodilators and vasoconstrictors. Additionally, they suggest that low levels of T_4 observed during gestational diabetes might contribute to impaired vascular function observed in this disease.

Nevertheless, Saez et al. (2014) review how ER stress could impair endothelium migration, one of the initial steps in the angiogenesis process. In addition they suggest that obesity, a welldescribed condition associated with ER stress, could also drive impaired placental angiogenesis. Their analysis includes characterizing potential intracellular signaling pathways that could link obesity mediated ER stress with alteration in the pro-migratory signals. Then, as described also by Cindrova-Davies in this issue, ER stress modulators might constitute a potential therapy for improving placental angiogenesis.

For understanding regulators of angiogenesis process, Murthi et al. (2014) describe how homeobox genes regulate the transcription of genes essential for angiogenesis in the human placenta. Their analysis includes a description of homeobox genes differentially expressed in the macrovascular and microvascular endothelium derived from the feto-placental vessels, which may improve our understanding of physiological and pathological placental angiogenesis. Therefore, manipulating the expression of homeobox genes and/or their targets in the placenta may serve as an alternate method to improve the outcome of pregnancies compromised by perturbed placental angiogenesis.

Another, cutting-edge analysis related with differential gene expression in placental endothelium and the vascular tree is reviewed by Casanello et al. (2014). The authors focus on how epigenetic mechanisms play a role in endothelial physiology, providing the example that the promoters of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), and arginase 2 (Arg-2) are differentially methylated in the endothelium of arteries or veins, as well as in macro or microcirculation in the human feto-placental vasculature. Interestingly, by studying the patterns of DNA methylation, they suggest an "arterization" of human chorionic endothelium vein derived from pregnancies with intrauterine growth restriction. They also suggest that changes in the activity and/or expression DNA-methytransferases might comprise potential new targets for both understanding the control of gene expression in the fetal-placental unit, as well as for identifying new potential targets for therapy.

As presented in this Research Topic, the study of placental angiogenesis constitutes a niche of research not only for understanding pathophysiology of human pregnancy diseases such as pre-eclampsia, intrauterine growth restriction, or gestational diabetes; but also for the development of therapeutic tools which promote placental vascularization and function and thus improve fetal development with lasting effects into adult life. As described in each paper in this Research Topic so much is unknown in this field, therefore I would like to encourage researchers to continue contributing to our understanding of placental angiogenesis during normal and pathological conditions. Finally, but more importantly, I would like to thank all authors who have contributed papers, as well as, the reviewers and editorial board for helping us in underscore the importance of this Research Topic.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Partially financed by FONDECYT 1140586, Chile. Special thanks to Dr. Amanda Sferruzzi-Perri from Cambridge University for her editorial assistance.

REFERENCES

- Bidwell, G. L. 3rd., and George, E. M. (2014). Maternally sequestered therapeutic polypeptides–a new approach for the management of preeclampsia. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:201. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00201
- Casanello, P., Schneider, D., Herrera, E. A., Uauy, R., and Krause, B. J. (2014). Endothelial heterogeneity in the umbilico-placental unit: DNA methylation as an innuendo of epigenetic diversity. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:49. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00049
- Cindrova-Davies, T. (2014). The therapeutic potential of antioxidants, ER chaperones, NO and H2S donors, and statins for treatment of preeclampsia. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:119. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00119
- Escudero, C., Roberts, J. M., Myatt, L., and Feoktistov, I. (2014). Impaired adenosine-mediated angiogenesis in preeclampsia: potential implications for fetal programming. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:134. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00134
- Guzman-Gutierrez, E., Veas, C., Leiva, A., Escudero, C., and Sobrevia, L. (2014). Is a low level of free thyroxine in the maternal circulation associated with altered endothelial function in gestational diabetes? *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:136. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00136
- Herrera, E. A., Krause, B., Ebensperger, G., Reyes, R. V., Casanello, P., Parra-Cordero, M., et al. (2014). The placental pursuit for an adequate oxidant balance between the mother and the fetus. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:149. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00149
- Murthi, P., Abumaree, M., and Kalionis, B. (2014). Analysis of homeobox gene action may reveal novel angiogenic pathways in normal placental vasculature and in clinical pregnancy disorders associated with abnormal placental angiogenesis. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:133. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00133
- Rodriguez, I., and Gonzalez, M. (2014). Physiological mechanisms of vascular response induced by shear stress and effect of exercise in systemic and placental circulation. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:209. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014. 00209

Saez, P. J., Villalobos-Labra, R., Westermeier, F., Sobrevia, L., and Farias-Jofre, M. (2014). Modulation of endothelial cell migration by ER stress and insulin resistance: a role during maternal obesity? *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:189. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00189

Salomon, C., Yee, S., Scholz-Romero, K., Kobayashi, M., Vaswani, K., Kvaskoff, D., et al. (2014). Extravillous trophoblast cells-derived exosomes promote vascular smooth muscle cell migration. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:175. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014. 00175

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 06 November 2014; accepted: 12 November 2014; published online: 01 December 2014.

Citation: Escudero CA (2014) Editorial: New therapeutic targets for human placental angiogenesis disease. Front. Pharmacol. 5:263. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00263

This article was submitted to Cardiovascular and Smooth Muscle Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Escudero. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Maternally sequestered therapeutic polypeptides – a new approach for the management of preeclampsia

Gene L. Bidwell III^{1,2} and Eric M. George^{2,3}*

¹ Department of Neurology, The University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS, USA

² Department of Biochemistry, The University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS, USA

³ Department of Physiology and Biophysics, The University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS, USA

Edited by:

Carlos Alonso Escudero, Universidad del Bio-Bio, Chile

Reviewed by:

Siu-Lung Chan, University of Vermont, USA Marie Van Diik, VU University Medical

Center, Netherlands Carlos Alonso Escudero, Universidad del Bio-Bio, Chile

*Correspondence:

Eric M. George, Department of Physiology and Biophysics, The University of Mississippi Medical Center, 2500 North State Street, Jackson, MS 39216, USA e-mail: egeorge@umc.edu

The last several decades have seen intensive research into the molecular mechanisms underlying the symptoms of preeclampsia. While the underlying cause of preeclampsia is believed to be defective placental development and resulting placental ischemia, it is only recently that the links between the ischemic placenta and maternal symptomatic manifestation have been elucidated. Several different pathways have been implicated in the development of the disorder; most notably production of the anti-angiogenic protein sFlt-1, induction of auto-immunity and inflammation, and production of reactive oxygen species. While the molecular mechanisms are becoming clearer, translating that knowledge into effective therapeutics has proven elusive. Here we describe a number of peptide based therapies we have developed to target theses pathways, and which are currently being tested in preclinical models. These therapeutics are based on a synthetic polymeric carrier elastin-like polypeptide (ELP), which can be synthesized in various sequences and sizes to stabilize the therapeutic peptide and avoid crossing the placental interface. This prevents fetal exposure and potential developmental effects. The therapeutics designed will target known pathogenic pathways, and the ELP carrier could prove to be a versatile delivery system for administration of a variety of therapeutics during pregnancy.

Keywords: preeclampsia, elastin-like polypeptide, drug delivery, pregnancy, therapeutic peptide

INTRODUCTION

One of the most common complications encountered in obstetrical practice is preeclampsia, occurring in \sim 5% of all gestations. Preeclampsia was classically defined as new-onset hypertension and proteinuria, but recent diagnostic criteria released from the American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) has recognized that proteinuria is one of many possible diagnostic criteria (thrombocytopenia, renal insufficiency, impaired liver function, pulmonary edema, or cerebral/visual symptoms) which, when manifested in combination with hypertension, indicate a preeclampsia diagnosis (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists and Task Force on Hypertension, 2013). Frustratingly, there is little in the way of pharmacological intervention at the disposal of the physician for the management of the preeclampsia patient, and the only definitive resolution of the disorder is parturition. Current management of these patients is limited to magnesium sulfate for seizure prophylaxis, bed rest, and administration of various anti-hypertensives which typically fail to fully control the progressing hypertension. Unchecked, preeclampsia can potentially develop into eclampsia, which leads to seizures and in some cases, death. Development of new therapeutics for the management of the preeclampsia patient remains an important area of research in obstetrics.

While a great deal of research has begun to elucidate the molecular and physiological mechanisms which are responsible for the maternal symptoms, the initiating causes remain unclear. What has become generally accepted is that the disorder is closely linked to defects at the maternal/fetal interface, particularly in the remodeling of the maternal spiral arteries which supply the blood flow to the placenta (Khong and Brosens, 2011). During gestation, the developing fetus requires copious amounts of blood flow to the placenta to allow for adequate exchange of nutrients and wastes between the maternal and fetal circulations. To ensure adequate delivery of blood, the maternal spiral arteries of the uterus undergo a dramatic remodeling. Fetally derived cytotrophoblasts invade the maternal vessels, displace the endothelium, and convert the normally small diameter, low capacitance vessels into dilated high capacitance vessels. Clues that the placenta was central to the etiology of preeclampsia came from case reports showing that delivery of the fetus alone was insufficient to remit the disease symptoms, and that delivery of the placenta was crucial for resolution (Shembrey and Noble, 1995). Early histological examination of placentas from preeclampsia patients suggested that the remodeling of these arteries in preeclampsia patients was deficient, with only very shallow trophoblast invasion and arterial remodeling. This led to the idea that in preeclampsia, the placenta-which even in normal pregnancy is relatively hypoxic-receives inadequate blood flow and in consequence experiences chronic hypoxia and ischemia. Indeed, a host of studies over the last 15 years have strongly implicated placental ischemia as a central factor in the manifestation of preeclampsia. Research into the molecular links between chronic placental ischemia and the symptomatic phase of the disorder continue, but several pathways have been intensively investigated and validated. This includes production of the anti-angiogenic protein soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 (sFlt-1), production of inflammatory cytokines such as $TNF\alpha$, and increased production of oxidative stress in the placenta and maternal vasculature (**Figure 1**).

PATHWAYS DRIVING PREECLAMPSIA ANGIOGENIC IMBALANCE

One of the pivotal breakthroughs in the understanding of preeclampsia was the recognition of increased circulating levels of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) antagonist sFlt-1 in the circulation of preeclampsia patients (Maynard et al.,

2003). sFlt-1 is a soluble, alternatively transcribed isoform of the VEGF receptor Flt-1 and consists only of the receptor's recognition domain. This soluble protein is then secreted extracellularly, where it competes for VEGF binding, thus making VEGF unavailable to bind to its full length, active receptors (Wu et al., 2010). While the mechanisms which regulate sFlt-1 splicing are still under investigation, a number of preclinical studies have shown that production of sFlt-1 from placental tissue is increased by either *in vivo* chronic ischemia, or acutely by hypoxia *ex vivo* (Ahmad and Ahmed, 2004; Nagamatsu et al., 2004; Nevo et al., 2006; George et al., 2010).



FIGURE 1 The maternal symptoms of preeclampsia arise through multiple molecular mechanisms. Improper placentation leads to placental ischemia. As a direct result, the placenta produces the anti-angiogenic protein sFIt-1, inflammatory cytokines, and increased reactive oxygen species (ROS); as well as increased production of the agonistic AT-1 receptor autoantibody (AT1-AA). The maternal vasculature, including that in the kidneys, is exposed to decreased VEGF signaling and inflammatory mechanisms which cause endothelial dysfunction, marked by overproduction of the vasoconstrictor endothelin-1 (ET-1). In the kidneys, total peripheral resistance (TPR) increases, renal blood flow (RBF) and glomerular filtration rate (GFR) decrease, and maternal hypertension is the end result.

A variety of studies have supported a link between loss of VEGF activity and hypertension. Patients receiving the anti-VEGF antibody therapy bevacizumab experience hypertension and proteinuria - side effects which are remarkably similar to preeclampsia patients (Zhu et al., 2007). Likewise, inhibition of the VEGF receptors by small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors increases blood pressure, at least partially mediated by increased endothelin-1 expression - a known final effector of hypertension in preeclampsia patients (Kappers et al., 2010, 2011, 2012; George and Granger, 2011). Finally, a plethora of studies have demonstrated that increasing circulating sFlt-1 levels through direct administration or viral overexpression induces a hypertensive, preeclampsia-like phenotype in animal models (Maynard et al., 2003; Li et al., 2007; Bridges et al., 2009; Suzuki et al., 2009; Gilbert et al., 2010; Murphy et al., 2010). sFlt-1 has therefore become a major target of interest, and a recent study has shown beneficial effects of sFlt-1 removal by apheresis in a small cohort of preeclampsia patients (Thadhani et al., 2011). Therapeutics targeting sFlt-1 to restore angiogenic balance are a promising avenue for drug development.

THE MATERNAL INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE

Another well-characterized mechanism which has been extensively studied is the production of inflammatory cytokines in response to placental ischemia/hypoxia. Recent research has revealed that inflammatory processes play an important role in the etiology and progression of preeclampsia (Borzychowski et al., 2006; Ahn et al., 2011). The placenta is home to a variety of hematopoietic cells, including T cells, natural killer (NK) cells, and macrophages, and all have roles in production of cytokines including TNF-α and pro-inflammatory interleukins that exacerbate the immune response in preeclampsia (Azizieh et al., 2005). This highly inflammatory environment is a double-edged sword. High INF- γ and TNF- α levels inhibit trophoblast migration and are directly toxic to trophoblasts (Yui et al., 1994; Todt et al., 1996; Rasmussen et al., 1999), so they may contribute to the initial improper remodeling that leads to preeclampsia. Also, TNF- α and other inflammatory factors induce systemic endothelial dysfunction, including increased endothelin-1 release, induction of oxidative stress, and enhanced sensitivity to angiotensin II (AngII), which combine to exacerbate the maternal hypertension (Gilbert et al., 2008).

Of all the inflammatory cytokines examined, perhaps none have been as consistently described and characterized as TNF- α . Elevated TNF- α levels have been described in both the maternal circulation and amniotic fluid of preeclampsia patients (Kupferminc et al., 1994; Vince et al., 1995) as well as in the placenta and circulation of rodents undergoing placental ischemia (LaMarca et al., 2008). In rats, blockade of TNF- α signaling by etanercept partially attenuates the hypertension associated with placental ischemia, and infusion of TNF-a to levels seen in rodents with placental ischemia leads to a hypertensive phenotype associated with increased vascular production of endothelin-1 (LaMarca et al., 2005, 2008). Furthermore, one of the most recently elucidated pathways in preeclampsia is the production of agonistic auto-antibodies to the angiotensin type 1 receptor (AT1-AA) which are found in a large percentage of preeclampsia patients (Xia et al., 2003; Herse et al., 2009). Interestingly, the AT1-AA has been shown to induce the production of TNF- α in pregnant mice, suggesting that it might be one of the upstream regulators of TNF- α production in preeclampsia patients (Irani et al., 2010). These data and others suggest that TNF- α is an important regulator of the symptoms associated with preeclampsia and placental ischemia. Targeting of the inflammatory cascade set off by increased TNF- α levels could be an important target in the development of preeclampsia therapeutics.

OXIDATIVE STRESS

One other known player in the response to placental ischemia is the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). The ischemic environment of the preeclamptic placenta has been shown to induce ROS production, (Staff et al., 1999a,b) either as a direct consequence of hypoxia or as a secondary response to the local inflammatory environment. Additionally, ROS production may also be induced in the systemic vasculature due to the highly inflammatory environment (Roggensack et al., 1999). Superoxide is the major ROS produced in the preeclamptic placenta, and its production might be a consequence of the action of the mitochondrial electron transport chain enzymes, xanthine oxidase, or NADPH oxidase (Nox) operating under low oxygen conditions (Myatt, 2010). Superoxide can act locally as a damaging oxidant, it can dismute to hydrogen peroxide, or it can react with nitric oxide to produce peroxynitrite (Myatt, 2010).

The increase in ROS in both the placenta and in the systemic vasculature might play a role in the development of PE symptoms. Within the placenta, superoxide and peroxynitrite act locally at the site of production in the vascular endothelium and surrounding stroma to induce damaging protein oxidation, lipid peroxidation, or protein nitration (Myatt, 2010). Systemically, ROS (produced by neutrophils (Lee et al., 2003a,b) or directly in vascular endothelial cells) can further exacerbate endothelial dysfunction, leading to endothelin-1 production and reduced NO bioavailability, which ultimately lead to hypertension via increased total peripheral resistance (TPR; George and Granger, 2011). In addition to the direct induction of ROS production in the placenta and the systemic vasculature, women with PE also have decreased superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione, and glutathione peroxidase levels and impaired SOD activity (Wang and Walsh, 2001). Therefore, they may have a reduced antioxidant capacity and thus a heightened response to the ROS production relative to a normal pregnant mother (Myatt and Cui, 2004). Supporting ROS as a target for intervention, rats with hypertension resulting from placental ischemia or sFlt-1 excess have significantly decreased blood pressure when administered anti-oxidant compounds (Sedeek et al., 2008; Tam Tam et al., 2011). These data suggest that ROS is a major contributor to the symptomatic manifestation of preeclampsia and that target modulation of ROS could be a potential therapeutic approach for the preeclampsia patient.

THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES TARGETING THE MECHANISMS DRIVING HYPERTENSION IN PREECLAMPSIA

Above, we have outlined the evidence supporting ischemiainduced placental production of sFlt-1, activation of the innate immune system, and induction of ROS production in the symptomatic manifestation of preeclampsia. Elucidation of these pathways that clearly drive the symptomatic phase of the disease lead us to hypothesize that interventions targeted to these pathways could be effective therapies for preeclampsia. Specifically, we hypothesize that supplementation with exogenous VEGF or placental growth factor (PlGF) to restore the depressed levels and sequester the overabundant sFlt-1 will have a positive effect on maternal hypertension, and as a result, fetal health both at birth and later in life. Similarly, we hypothesize that inhibition of the inflammatory pathway by inhibition of its master mediator NF-κB will serve to improve both maternal symptoms and fetal outcomes. Finally, we suggest that selective inhibition of enzymes responsible for ROS production could be beneficial for PE therapy. However, in order to achieve these outcomes, novel sFlt-1, NF-KB, and ROS inhibiting agents must be stabilized from degradation in the maternal circulation and ideally be prevented from crossing the placental interface and entering the fetal circulation, where they could be harmful to the developing fetus.

THE ELP DRUG DELIVERY SYSTEM

Our group has recently been developing a carrier protein called elastin-like polypeptide (ELP) for use as a drug delivery vector during pregnancy. ELP is a genetically engineered polypeptide consisting of repeated units of a five amino-acid motif (VPGxG, where x is any amino acid except P; Urry et al., 1991a). ELP has a unique property of reversibly forming aggregates in response to heat. Above a characteristic transition temperature, the polypeptide will form aggregates, and when the solution is lowered below the transition temperature, the aggregates re-dissolve (Urry et al., 1991a). There are several advantages of using ELP polypeptides for drug delivery. First, ELPs are genetically encoded rather than chemically synthesized. The coding sequence for ELP is built into a plasmid-based recombinant expression system. This means the researcher has absolute control over the ELP sequence and molecular weight (MW). Changes to the ELP sequence or modification of the number of ELP repeats are achieved by simple molecular biology techniques. This is important because the size of a polymer carrier influences the plasma pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution (Dreher et al., 2006), and because the size and sequence of ELP influences the transition temperature of its heat-induced aggregation (Urry et al., 1991a). Also, addition of targeting peptides and therapeutic proteins is easily achieved by modifying the DNA coding sequence. Second, ELP and ELP-fusion proteins can be expressed in E. coli, and large quantities of the molecules can be purified by simply taking advantage of the thermal responsiveness. Purification of ELP-fusion proteins is achieved by heating a bacterial lysate containing the recombinantly expressed ELP to a temperature above the polypeptides' transition temperature. This induces ELP aggregation, and it is collected by centrifugation (Meyer and Chilkoti, 1999; Bidwell and Raucher, 2005). Repeated centrifugation above and below the transition temperature leads to large quantities of very pure protein (Meyer and Chilkoti, 1999; Bidwell and Raucher, 2005). The third advantage for using ELP for drug delivery is that it is a large, biologically inert macromolecule. Therefore, ELP fusion can stabilize protein, peptide, or small molecule cargo in systemic circulation (Bidwell et al., 2012, 2013), and targeting agents can be used to direct the ELP-fused therapeutics' biodistribution (Bidwell et al., 2009). Previous work has used ELPs extensively for drug delivery in cancer models. These studies have carefully defined the polypeptide's pharmacokinetics and biodistribution (Liu et al., 2006; Bidwell et al., 2012, 2013; Moktan et al., 2012), confirming ELP as a long circulating, inert, biodegradable, and non-immunogenic (Urry et al., 1991b) drug carrier. In addition, our previous cancer work also serves as proof of principle for the ability to ELP to efficaciously deliver active therapeutic peptides (Bidwell et al., 2012, 2013). Recently, we have found that ELP has a long half-life after intravenous injection in a rat pregnancy model, but importantly, ELP does not cross the placenta (George et al., 2014). Our current goals are to leverage this powerful delivery system to (1) stabilize therapeutic proteins, peptides, or small molecules targeted to preeclampsia mechanisms in the maternal circulation and (2) prevent the penetration of these therapeutic agents into the developing fetus. We are currently developing ELP-fused therapeutics to target all three pathways described above using ELP-fused to VEGF or PIGF, ELPfused peptide inhibitors of NF-κB, and peptide inhibitors of NOX (Figure 2).

The ELP delivery system can be utilized in either an untargeted manner, which is useful when attached to agents designed to circulate, or it can be targeted to enter cells or even to specific intracellular compartments using cell penetrating peptides (CPPs; Massodi et al., 2005; Bidwell et al., 2009). CPPs do not necessarily provide tissue specificity, but they do enhance deposition of ELP in many of the major organs, most notably the kidney (Bidwell et al., 2013). For delivery of VEGF or PIGF, we are utilizing a version of the polypeptide that is untargeted. This will allow the ELP-VEGF or ELP-PIGF to freely circulate, where it can bind and sequester the excess s-Flt-1. For delivery of the NF-KB inhibitory peptides or the NOX inhibitory peptides (which have intracellular targets), we are utilizing ELP vectors fused to CPPs to mediate cellular uptake of the polypeptide and direct them to the cytoplasm. We have previously shown that multiple CPPs are effective for intracellular delivery of ELP both in vitro (Massodi et al., 2005) and in vivo (Bidwell et al., 2012, 2013; Moktan et al., 2012).

In a recent study, we demonstrated that ELP and a CPP-tagged ELP are excluded from the fetus after systemic administration to the mother in a rat pregnancy model (George et al., 2014). Furthermore, this fetal exclusion held even after 5 days of continuous infusion of the polypeptides. Within the placenta, both ELP and CPP-tagged ELP were detectable in the cytoplasm of trophoblast cells, but were absent from the fetal portion of chorionic villi. We believe that the size of the ELPs prevents them from crossing the tight junctions between trophoblast cells in the chorionic villi.

NOVEL THERAPIES TARGETING THE sFit-1/VEGF PATHWAY

As described above, one of the hallmarks of preeclampsia is the elevated maternal plasma levels of the VEGF antagonist sFlt-1. We hypothesize that VEGF or PlGF supplementation therapy could be a viable mechanism to sequester the excess sFlt-1 and thereby prevent or reverse the onset of hypertension. While we believe that VEGF supplementation therapy will be beneficial for treatment of preeclampsia, the therapeutic strategy is not as straightforward as



FIGURE 2 | Potential sites of intervention with maternally restricted therapeutic peptides during preeclampsia. We have recently produced several novel maternally restricted peptide therapeutics to target known pathologic molecules produced in response to placental ischemia in preeclampsia. Much of the activity of inflammatory cytokines is through the master regulator NFxB, which could be blocked by the inhibitory ELP-p50 peptide which blocks nuclear translocation of NFxB, a transcription factor. The major source of oxidative stress in the ischemic placenta is the NADPH

simply infusing VEGF. VEGF infusions have been tested in several disease models, and this approach has been hindered by many problems. First, free exogenous VEGF is very short-lived, with a plasma half-life in humans of about 34 min (as determined following a four hour intravenous infusion of recombinant human VEGF₁₆₅; Eppler et al., 2002). Exogenous VEGF therapy has shown potential in several disease models, including myocardial infarction (Banai et al., 1994; Pearlman et al., 1995), but due to the short half-life and poor stability of the protein, constant infusion via a pump-driven catheter placed directly at the diseased site was required. This type of treatment strategy is not a viable translational approach for preeclampsia therapy, where patients will need to be treated for several months. oxidase (Nox) enzyme, which could be inhibited by the Nox inhibitory peptide, which blocks assembly of the complete complex. Finally, one of the most extensively characterized mechanisms is production of the VEGF inhibitor sFIt-1, which act as a decoy receptor. Introduction of ELP-stabilized VEGF or PIGF fusions would restore VEGF signaling by their direct activity, and/or by sequestering the excess sFIt-1 in the maternal circulation. Ultimately all of these proposed peptides help to restore endothelial function and renal function to block the maternal hypertension.

The second limitation of free VEGF supplementation for preeclampsia therapy involves its potential for damage to the developing fetus. Several reports have demonstrated the severe potential consequences of overloading the fetus with VEGF. Overexpression of VEGF-A by two to threefold using a genetic strategy in mouse embryos resulted in embryonic lethality at day E12.5 (Miquerol et al., 2000). Death was due to cardiac failure resulting from malformation of the myocardium, improper ventricular septation, and abnormalities in the heart's outflow track. A separate study in which quail embryos were directly injected with exogenous VEGF showed similar results. The VEGF treated embryos had neovascularization in normally avascular regions and excessive, improper fusion of vessels (Drake and Little, 1995). Like the mouse study, these VEGF treated embryos also had malformation of the hearts, including fusion of inflow and aortic outflow channels. These studies address the dire consequences of increasing VEGF levels directly in the developing fetus, but it has also been shown that administration of free VEGF to pregnant mice causes developmental problems in the embryos. Daily systemic injection of recombinant human VEGF from gestational day 9day 17 resulted in an 18-fold increase in the fetal reabsorption rate and a significant decrease in fetal weight among the surviving fetuses (He et al., 1999). Given the limitations of short half-life and the potential for teratogenic effects of free VEGF, we have fused VEGF (or similarly PlGF) to the ELP carrier to both extend its plasma half-life and prevent its delivery across the placenta. The goal of this strategy is to supplement circulating VEGF or PIGF levels in order to achieve levels present in normal pregnancy. We have recently characterized the ELP-VEGF polypeptide and found that ELP-VEGF is equally potent at stimulating vascular endothelial cell proliferation, migration through a collagen matrix, and tube formation when compared to unbound VEGF (unpublished data). Given the favorable biodistribution profile of ELP-fused VEGF or PIGF and a careful dosing strategy to achieve proper VEGF or PIGF replacement, we believe that this approach represents a promising new method for preeclampsia therapy.

NOVEL THERAPIES TARGETING THE INFLAMMATORY PATHWAY

Many pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF-a, IL-1, and toll like receptors (TLRs, whose signaling has also been implicated in PE (Keelan and Mitchell, 2007; Tinsley et al., 2009; Chatterjee et al., 2012) exert their effects via receptor-mediated signaling pathways that are centrally routed through NF-KB. In fact, NF-KB is a master regulator of inflammation (Makarov, 2001). For this reason combined with the multitude of inflammatory factors at play, we chose to target NF-kB as a means to inhibit the inflammation associated with preeclampsia. Several previous studies have highlighted the importance of NF-KB activation in preeclampsia. Hypoxia and reoxygenation of villous explants leads to activation of the NF-KB pathway (Cindrova-Davies et al., 2007), and NF-KB activation plays an important role in the systemic endothelial dysfunction present in preeclampsia (Jiang et al., 2010). Furthermore, analysis of microarray data of placental tissue from preeclamptic women versus at-risk but nonpreeclamptic controls reveals NF-KB as a major pathway that is upregulated in preeclampsia (Centlow et al., 2011). Within the placenta, NF-kB levels in preeclampsia are associated with increased trophoblast apoptosis (Aban et al., 2004), and systemic NF-KB activation is also present in the vasculature of preeclamptic mothers (Shah and Walsh, 2007). Systemic vascular NF-KB activation is associated with neutrophil infiltration, and these neutrophils release toxic substances such as TNF-a, ROS, and thromboxane, which promote vasoconstriction and vascular dysfunction (Shah and Walsh, 2007).

NF- κ B activation is a complex pathway involving trimerization of NEMO, the regulatory domain of inhibitor of κ -B kinase (IKK), phosphorylation and deactivation of the NF- κ B inhibitor I- κ B by IKK, NF- κ B phosphorylation on the p65 subunit, and active import of NF- κ B into the nucleus (reviewed in Bidwell and Raucher, 2009). Extensive interest in developing NF-KB inhibitors exists in the cancer field, and several previous studies have described peptide inhibitors of all the activation steps mentioned above (Bidwell and Raucher, 2009). We have developed an ELP-fused peptide inhibitor of activated NF-κB. NF-κB activation upon extracellular signaling is mediated by phosphorylation and release of the natural inhibitor I-KB from the NF-KB p50/p65 heterodimer. I-KB release exposes a nuclear localization sequence (NLS) on the p50 subunit of NF-kB, and once exposed, this NLS mediates nuclear import of NF-KB. Once inside the nucleus, NF-KB binds to response elements on its target genes and regulates gene expression. A synthetic cell permeable peptide containing the p50 NLS is capable of blocking the nuclear import of NF-κB upon stimulation in a variety of cell lines (Lin et al., 1995). We have fused a copy of the p50 NLS to the CPP-ELP carrier and validated its activity in vitro. We are currently focusing on determining the pharmacokinetics and biodistribution of this NF-kB inhibitory polypeptide, and assessing its efficacy in our rat models of PE. Initial biodistribution data have shown that the CPP-ELP-delivered p50 NLS peptide accumulates highly in the kidneys and the placenta. This biodistribution is advantageous because these two organs are the most critical for modulating the drivers of hypertension and proteinuria in preeclampsia. We hypothesize that the polypeptide will function to inhibit NF- κB in these tissues (either in the tissue stromal cells directly or in invading lymphocytes) and reduce the local inflammatory environment.

NOVEL THERAPIES TARGETING REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES PRODUCTION

Of the possible sources listed above, the Nox family is thought to be the major contributor to ROS production in the placenta. Nox1 expression has been found in syncytiotrophoblasts and vascular endothelial cells in the placenta (Matsubara and Sato, 2001; Cui et al., 2006), and its levels are enhanced in tissue from PE patients (Cui et al., 2006). Elevated total Nox activity has also been seen in placentas from women with early onset PE, though no difference was seen when comparing all PE patients to normal pregnant controls (Raijmakers et al., 2004). It has also been demonstrated that ROS are produced via Nox2 in vascular smooth muscle cells and trophoblasts in response to the AT1-AA, and ROS production induced NF-kB activation (Dechend et al., 2003). The AT1-AA also induced Nox2 subunit production and ROS production in pregnant rats (Parrish et al., 2011). Furthermore, treatment of vascular endothelial cells with sera from preeclampsia patients induced production of the Nox2, an effect attenuated by an Ang II type 1 receptor antagonist (Matsubara et al., 2010).

We hypothesize that Nox inhibition could be a viable therapeutic strategy for PE, either alone or in combination with targeting other pathways. Patrick Pagano's lab has described a number of peptide inhibitors of the Nox family (reviewed in (Cifuentes-Pagano et al., 2012). The most specific and widely used agent, called Nox2 docking sequence (Nox2ds) or gp91ds, is an nine amino acid peptide that inhibits the interaction between Nox2 and its partner in the complex p47^{phox} (Rey et al., 2001). The Nox2ds peptide, fused directly to the Tat CPP, has been shown to inhibit superoxide production in a variety of cell and tissue types in response to multiple stimuli. The peptide has been used extensively in many disease models including AngII-induced hypertension, renovascular hypertension, and arterial balloon injury (reviewed in Cifuentes-Pagano et al., 2012). For application in PE, we fused the Nox2ds peptide to the CPP-ELP carrier (Bidwell and Raucher, 2009). The CPP-ELP carrier will increase the plasma half-life relative to the free peptide, and the use of the CPP will mediate uptake of the polypeptide into target cells in the placenta or systemic vasculature. We are currently testing the ability of this polypeptide to inhibit placental and/or vascular ROS production in our rat models of PE.

CONCLUSION

The explosion of research into the etiology of preeclampsia has provided a number of intriguing targets for therapeutic development. The ideal scenario would be to understand the pathways that lead to improper spiral artery remodeling and intervene very early in pregnancy to prevent the improper remodeling. However, in the absence of this knowledge and in the absence of a concrete biomarker to predict which patients will develop preeclampsia, this type of intervention is currently unrealistic. In contrast, we now know of many of the molecular pathways that lead to the precipitation of the symptomatic phase of preeclampsia. Our aim is to intervene during this symptomatic phase and modulate these pathways of interest with the goal of prolonging gestation and thereby improving fetal outcomes. While small molecule therapeutics are one potential method to affect these pathways, great care must be exercised in their development, as unwanted and potentially harmful effects to the fetus are possible. Peptide-based therapeutics, though an active area of research in cancer therapy, also have potential as therapeutics in cardiovascular disorders. However, free peptides suffer from very rapid plasma clearance and susceptibility to degradation in vivo. Our goal is to develop an appropriate polymeric carrier that can be fused to either small molecule drugs or to therapeutic peptides/proteins. By fusing these agents to the carrier, they can be stabilized in the maternal circulation and prevented from entering the fetal circulation. We feel that the proposed therapeutic agents, or agents like them that intervene in pathways of known importance in preeclampsia (angiogenic factors, maternal inflammatory/autoimmune response, and oxidative stress), have great promise as maternally sequestered therapeutics. Future studies will explore the therapeutic potential of these agents in the management of preeclampsia.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The development of ELP delivered therapeutics for preeclamspsia are supported by NIH NHLBI grants R01HL121527 to Gene L. Bidwell and a pilot component of P20GM104357 to Eric M. George. Partial salary support for Eric M. George is provided by NIH NHLBI grant R00HL116774.

REFERENCES

Aban, M., Cinel, L., Arslan, M., Dilek, U., Kaplanoglu, M., Arpaci, R., et al. (2004). Expression of nuclear factor-kappa B and placental apoptosis in pregnancies complicated with intrauterine growth restriction and preeclampsia: an immunohistochemical study. Tohoku J. Exp. Med. 204, 195–202. doi: 10.1620/tjem.204.195

- Ahmad, S., and Ahmed, A. (2004). Elevated placental soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 inhibits angiogenesis in preeclampsia. *Circ. Res.* 95, 884–891. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000147365.86159.f5
- Ahn, H., Park, J., Gilman-Sachs, A., and Kwak-Kim, J. (2011). Immunologic characteristics of preeclampsia, a comprehensive review. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 65, 377–394. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00913.x
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists and Task Force on Hypertension. (2013). Hypertension in pregnancy. Report of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Task Force on Hypertension in Pregnancy. Obstet. Gynecol. 122, 1122–1131. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000437382. 03963.88
- Azizieh, F., Raghupathy, R., and Makhseed, M. (2005). Maternal cytokine production patterns in women with pre-eclampsia. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 54, 30–37. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2005.00278.x
- Banai, S., Jaklitsch, M. T., Shou, M., Lazarous, D. F., Scheinowitz, M., Biro, S., et al. (1994). Angiogenic-induced enhancement of collateral blood flow to ischemic myocardium by vascular endothelial growth factor in dogs. *Circulation* 89, 2183– 2189. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.89.5.2183
- Bidwell, G. L. III, Davis, A. N., and Raucher, D. (2009). Targeting a c-Myc inhibitory polypeptide to specific intracellular compartments using cell penetrating peptides. J. Control. Release 135, 2–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2008.11.015
- Bidwell, G. L. III, Perkins, E., Hughes, J., Khan, M., James, J. R., and Raucher, D. (2013). Thermally targeted delivery of a c-Myc inhibitory polypeptide inhibits tumor progression and extends survival in a rat glioma model. *PLoS ONE* 8:e55104. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055104
- Bidwell, G. L. III, Perkins, E., and Raucher, D. (2012). A thermally targeted c-Myc inhibitory polypeptide inhibits breast tumor growth. *Cancer Lett.* 319, 136–143. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2011.12.042
- Bidwell, G. L. III, and Raucher, D. (2005). Application of thermally responsive polypeptides directed against c-Myc transcriptional function for cancer therapy. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 4, 1076–1085. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-04-0253
- Bidwell, G. L. III, and Raucher, D. (2009). Therapeutic peptides for cancer therapy. Part I – peptide inhibitors of signal transduction cascades. *Expert Opin. Drug Deliv.* 6, 1033–1047. doi: 10.1517/17425240903143745
- Borzychowski, A. M., Sargent, I. L., and Redman, C. W. G. (2006). Inflammation and preeclampsia. Semin. Fetal Neonatal Med. 11, 309–316. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2006.04.001
- Bridges, J. P., Gilbert, J. S., Colson, D., Gilbert, S. A., Dukes, M. P., Ryan, M. J., et al. (2009). Oxidative stress contributes to soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 induced vascular dysfunction in pregnant rats. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 22, 564–568. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2009.24
- Centlow, M., Wingren, C., Borrebaeck, C., Brownstein, M. J., and Hansson, S. R. (2011). Differential gene expression analysis of placentas with increased vascular resistance and pre-eclampsia using whole-genome microarrays. *J. Pregnancy* 2011:472354. doi: 10.1155/2011/472354
- Chatterjee, P., Weaver, L. E., Doersch, K. M., Kopriva, S. E., Chiasson, V. L., Allen, S. J., et al. (2012). Placental toll-like receptor 3 and toll-like receptor 7/8 activation contributes to preeclampsia in humans and mice. *PLoS ONE* 7:e41884. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041884
- Cifuentes-Pagano, E., Csanyi, G., and Pagano, P. J. (2012). NADPH oxidase inhibitors: a decade of discovery from Nox2ds to HTS. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 69, 2315–2325. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-1009-2
- Cindrova-Davies, T., Spasic-Boskovic, O., Jauniaux, E., Charnock-Jones, D. S., and Burton, G. J. (2007). Nuclear factor-kappa B, p38, and stress-activated protein kinase mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways regulate proinflammatory cytokines and apoptosis in human placental explants in response to oxidative stress: effects of antioxidant vitamins. *Am. J. Pathol.* 170, 1511–1520. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007.061035
- Cui, X. L., Brockman, D., Campos, B., and Myatt, L. (2006). Expression of NADPH oxidase isoform 1 (Nox1) in human placenta: involvement in preeclampsia. *Placenta* 27, 422–431. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2005.04.004
- Dechend, R., Viedt, C., Muller, D. N., Ugele, B., Brandes, R. P., Wallukat, G., et al. (2003). AT1 receptor agonistic antibodies from preeclamptic patients stimulate NADPH oxidase. *Circulation* 107, 1632–1639. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000058200.90059.B1

- Drake, C. J., and Little, C. D. (1995). Exogenous vascular endothelial growth factor induces malformed and hyperfused vessels during embryonic neovascularization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 7657–7661. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.17.7657
- Dreher, M. R., Liu, W., Michelich, C. R., Dewhirst, M. W., Yuan, F., and Chilkoti, A. (2006). Tumor vascular permeability, accumulation, and penetration of macromolecular drug carriers. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 98, 335–344. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djj070
- Eppler, S. M., Combs, D. L., Henry, T. D., Lopez, J. J., Ellis, S. G., Yi, J. H., et al. (2002). A target-mediated model to describe the pharmacokinetics and hemodynamic effects of recombinant human vascular endothelial growth factor in humans. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 72, 20–32. doi: 10.1067/mcp.2002.126179
- George, E., Liu, H., Robinson, G., and Bidwell, G. (2014). A polypeptide drug carrier for maternal delivery and prevention of fetal exposure. *J. Drug Target.* (in press). doi: 10.3109/1061186X.2014.950666
- George, E. M., Cockrell, K., Adair, T. H., and Granger, J. P. (2010). Regulation of sFlt-1 and VEGF secretion by adenosine under hypoxic conditions in rat placental villous explants. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 299, R1629–R1633. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00330.2010
- George, E. M., and Granger, J. P. (2011). Endothelin: key mediator of hypertension in preeclampsia. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 24, 964–969. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2011.99
- Gilbert, J. S., Ryan, M. J., Lamarca, B. B., Sedeek, M., Murphy, S. R., and Granger, J. P. (2008). Pathophysiology of hypertension during preeclampsia: linking placental ischemia with endothelial dysfunction. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 294, H541–H550. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.01113.2007
- Gilbert, J. S., Verzwyvelt, J., Colson, D., Arany, M., Karumanchi, S. A., and Granger, J. P. (2010). Recombinant vascular endothelial growth factor 121 infusion lowers blood pressure and improves renal function in rats with placentalischemia-induced hypertension. *Hypertension* 55, 380–385. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.141937
- Herse, F., Verlohren, S., Wenzel, K., Pape, J., Muller, D. N., Modrow, S., et al. (2009). Prevalence of agonistic autoantibodies against the angiotensin II type 1 receptor and soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 in a gestational age-matched case study. *Hypertension* 53, 393–398. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.108.124115
- He, Y., Smith, S. K., Day, K. A., Clark, D. E., Licence, D. R., and Charnock-Jones, D. S. (1999). Alternative splicing of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-R1 (FLT-1) pre-mRNA is important for the regulation of VEGF activity. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 13, 537–545. doi: 10.1210/mend.13.4.0265
- Irani, R. A., Zhang, Y., Zhou, C. C., Blackwell, S. C., Hicks, M. J., Ramin, S. M., et al. (2010). Autoantibody-mediated angiotensin receptor activation contributes to preeclampsia through tumor necrosis factor-alpha signaling. *Hypertension* 55, 1246–1253. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.150540
- Jiang, R., Teng, Y., Huang, Y., Gu, J., and Li, M. (2010). Protein kinase C-alpha activation induces NF-kB-dependent VCAM-1 expression in cultured human umbilical vein endothelial cells treated with sera from preeclamptic patients. *Gynecol. Obstet. Invest.* 69, 101–108. doi: 10.1159/000261788
- Kappers, M. H., De Beer, V. J., Zhou, Z., Danser, A. H., Sleijfer, S., Duncker, D. J., et al. (2012). Sunitinib-induced systemic vasoconstriction in swine is endothelin mediated and does not involve nitric oxide or oxidative stress. *Hypertension* 59, 151–157. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.182220
- Kappers, M. H., Smedts, F. M., Horn, T., Van Esch, J. H., Sleijfer, S., Leijten, F., et al. (2011). The vascular endothelial growth factor receptor inhibitor sunitinib causes a preeclampsia-like syndrome with activation of the endothelin system. *Hypertension* 58, 295–302. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.173559
- Kappers, M. H., Van Esch, J. H., Sluiter, W., Sleijfer, S., Danser, A. H., and Van Den Meiracker, A. H. (2010). Hypertension induced by the tyrosine kinase inhibitor sunitinib is associated with increased circulating endothelin-1 levels. *Hypertension* 56, 675–681. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.149690
- Keelan, J. A., and Mitchell, M. D. (2007). Placental cytokines and preeclampsia. Front. Biosci. 12:2706–2727. doi: 10.2741/2266
- Khong, Y., and Brosens, I. (2011). Defective deep placentation. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Obstet. Gynaecol. 25, 301–311. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2010.10.012
- Kupferminc, M. J., Peaceman, A. M., Wigton, T. R., Rehnberg, K. A., and Socol, M. L. (1994). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha is elevated in plasma and amniotic fluid of patients with severe preeclampsia. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 170, 1752–1757; discussion 1757–1759.
- LaMarca, B. B., Cockrell, K., Sullivan, E., Bennett, W., and Granger, J. P. (2005). Role of endothelin in mediating tumor necrosis factor-induced hypertension in pregnant rats. *Hypertension* 46, 82–86. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000169152.59854.36

- LaMarca, B., Speed, J., Fournier, L., Babcock, S. A., Berry, H., Cockrell, K., et al. (2008). Hypertension in response to chronic reductions in uterine perfusion in pregnant rats: effect of tumor necrosis factor-alpha blockade. *Hypertension* 52, 1161–1167. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.108.120881
- Lee, V. M., Quinn, P. A., Jennings, S. C., and Ng, L. L. (2003a). NADPH oxidase activity in preeclampsia with immortalized lymphoblasts used as models. *Hypertension* 41, 925–931. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000062021.68464.9D
- Lee, V. M., Quinn, P. A., Jennings, S. C., and Ng, L. L. (2003b). Neutrophil activation and production of reactive oxygen species in pre-eclampsia. J. Hypertens. 21, 395–402. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000052416.12292.7d
- Lin, Y. Z., Yao, S. Y., Veach, R. A., Torgerson, T. R., and Hawiger, J. (1995). Inhibition of nuclear translocation of transcription factor NF-kappa B by a synthetic peptide containing a cell membrane-permeable motif and nuclear localization sequence. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 14255–14258. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.24.14255
- Liu, W., Dreher, M. R., Furgeson, D. Y., Peixoto, K. V., Yuan, H., Zalutsky, M. R., et al. (2006). Tumor accumulation, degradation and pharmacokinetics of elastin-like polypeptides in nude mice. *J. Control. Release* 116, 170–178. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2006.06.026
- Li, Z., Zhang, Y., Ying Ma, J., Kapoun, A. M., Shao, Q., Kerr, I., et al. (2007). Recombinant vascular endothelial growth factor 121 attenuates hypertension and improves kidney damage in a rat model of preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 50, 686-692. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.092098
- Makarov, S. S. (2001). NF-kappa B in rheumatoid arthritis: a pivotal regulator of inflammation, hyperplasia, and tissue destruction. *Arthritis Res.* 3, 200–206. doi: 10.1186/ar300
- Massodi, I., Bidwell, G. L. III, and Raucher, D. (2005). Evaluation of cell penetrating peptides fused to elastin-like polypeptide for drug delivery. J. Control. Release 108, 396–408. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2005.08.007
- Matsubara, K., Matsubara, Y., Hyodo, S., Katayama, T., and Ito, M. (2010). Role of nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Res.* 36, 239–247. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2009.01128.x
- Matsubara, S., and Sato, I. (2001). Enzyme histochemically detectable NAD(P)H oxidase in human placental trophoblasts: normal, preeclamptic, and fetal growth restriction-complicated pregnancy. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 116, 1–7.
- Maynard, S. E., Min, J. Y., Merchan, J., Lim, K. H., Li, J., Mondal, S., et al. (2003). Excess placental soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt1) may contribute to endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, and proteinuria in preeclampsia. J. Clin. Invest. 111, 649–658. doi: 10.1172/JCI17189
- Meyer, D. E., and Chilkoti, A. (1999). Purification of recombinant proteins by fusion with thermally responsive polypeptides. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 17, 1112–1115. doi: 10.1038/15100
- Miquerol, L., Langille, B. L., and Nagy, A. (2000). Embryonic development is disrupted by modest increases in vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression. *Development* 127, 3941–3946.
- Moktan, S., Perkins, E., Kratz, F., and Raucher, D. (2012). Thermal targeting of an acid-sensitive doxorubicin conjugate of elastin-like polypeptide enhances the therapeutic efficacy compared with the parent compound in vivo. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 11, 1547–1556. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-11-0998
- Murphy, S. R., Lamarca, B. B., Cockrell, K., and Granger, J. P. (2010). Role of endothelin in mediating soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1-induced hypertension in pregnant rats. *Hypertension* 55, 394–398. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSION-AHA.109.141473
- Myatt, L. (2010). Review: reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and functional adaptation of the placenta. *Placenta* 31(Suppl. 1), S66–S69. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.12.021
- Myatt, L., and Cui, X. (2004). Oxidative stress in the placenta. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 122, 369–382. doi: 10.1007/s00418-004-0677-x
- Nagamatsu, T., Fujii, T., Kusumi, M., Zou, L., Yamashita, T., Osuga, Y., et al. (2004). Cytotrophoblasts up-regulate soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 expression under reduced oxygen: an implication for the placental vascular development and the pathophysiology of preeclampsia. *Endocrinology* 145, 4838–4845. doi: 10.1210/en.2004-0533
- Nevo, O., Soleymanlou, N., Wu, Y., Xu, J., Kingdom, J., Many, A., et al. (2006). Increased expression of sFlt-1 in in vivo and in vitro models of human placental hypoxia is mediated by HIF-1. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 291, R1085–R1093. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00794.2005
- Parrish, M. R., Wallace, K., Tam Tam, K. B., Herse, F., Weimer, A., Wenzel, K., et al. (2011). Hypertension in response to AT1-AA: role of reactive oxygen

species in pregnancy-induced hypertension. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 24, 835–840. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2011.62

- Pearlman, J. D., Hibberd, M. G., Chuang, M. L., Harada, K., Lopez, J. J., Gladstone, S. R., et al. (1995). Magnetic resonance mapping demonstrates benefits of VEGFinduced myocardial angiogenesis. *Nat. Med.* 1, 1085–1089. doi: 10.1038/nm1095-1085
- Raijmakers, M. T., Peters, W. H., Steegers, E. A., and Poston, L. (2004). NAD(P)H oxidase associated superoxide production in human placenta from normotensive and pre-eclamptic women. *Placenta* 25(Suppl. A), S85–S89. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2004.01.009
- Rasmussen, C. A., Pace, J. L., Banerjee, S., Phillips, T. A., and Hunt, J. S. (1999). Trophoblastic cell lines generated from tumour necrosis factor receptor-deficient mice reveal specific functions for the two tumour necrosis factor receptors. *Placenta* 20, 213–222. doi: 10.1053/plac.1998.0356
- Rey, F. E., Cifuentes, M. E., Kiarash, A., Quinn, M. T., and Pagano, P. J. (2001). Novel competitive inhibitor of NAD(P)H oxidase assembly attenuates vascular O(2)(-) and systolic blood pressure in mice. *Circ. Res.* 89, 408–414. doi: 10.1161/hh1701.096037
- Roggensack, A. M., Zhang, Y., and Davidge, S. T. (1999). Evidence for peroxynitrite formation in the vasculature of women with preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 33, 83– 89. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.33.1.83
- Sedeek, M., Gilbert, J. S., Lamarca, B. B., Sholook, M., Chandler, D. L., Wang, Y., et al. (2008). Role of reactive oxygen species in hypertension produced by reduced uterine perfusion in pregnant rats. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 21, 1152–1156. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2008.239
- Shah, T. J., and Walsh, S. W. (2007). Activation of NF-kappaB and expression of COX-2 in association with neutrophil infiltration in systemic vascular tissue of women with preeclampsia. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 196, 48.e1–48.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2006.08.038
- Shembrey, M. A., and Noble, A. D. (1995). An instructive case of abdominal pregnancy. Aust. N. Z. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 35, 220–221. doi: 10.1111/j.1479-828X.1995.tb01879.x
- Staff, A. C., Halvorsen, B., Ranheim, T., and Henriksen, T. (1999a). Elevated level of free 8-iso-prostaglandin F2alpha in the decidua basalis of women with preeclampsia. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 181, 1211–1215. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(99) 70110-9
- Staff, A. C., Ranheim, T., Khoury, J., and Henriksen, T. (1999b). Increased contents of phospholipids, cholesterol, and lipid peroxides in decidua basalis in women with preeclampsia. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 180, 587–592. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(99)70259-0
- Suzuki, H., Ohkuchi, A., Matsubara, S., Takei, Y., Murakami, M., Shibuya, M., et al. (2009). Effect of recombinant placental growth factor 2 on hypertension induced by full-length mouse soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 adenoviral vector in pregnant mice. *Hypertension* 54, 1129–1135. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSION-AHA.109.134668
- Tam Tam, K. B., Lamarca, B., Arany, M., Cockrell, K., Fournier, L., Murphy, S., et al. (2011). Role of reactive oxygen species during hypertension in response to chronic antiangiogenic factor (sFlt-1) excess in pregnant rats. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 24, 110–113. doi: 10.1038/ajh. 2010.180
- Thadhani, R., Kisner, T., Hagmann, H., Bossung, V., Noack, S., Schaarschmidt, W., et al. (2011). Pilot study of extracorporeal removal of soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 in preeclampsia. *Circulation* 124, 940–950. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULA-TIONAHA.111.034793

- Tinsley, J. H., Chiasson, V. L., Mahajan, A., Young, K. J., and Mitchell, B. M. (2009). Toll-like receptor 3 activation during pregnancy elicits preeclampsia-like symptoms in rats. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 22, 1314–1319. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2009.185
- Todt, J. C., Yang, Y., Lei, J., Lauria, M. R., Sorokin, Y., Cotton, D. B., et al. (1996). Effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha on human trophoblast cell adhesion and motility. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 36, 65–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1996.tb00141.x
- Urry, D. W., Luan, C.-H., Parker, T. M., Gowda, D. C., Prasad, K. U., Reid, M. C., et al. (1991a). Temperature of polypeptide inverse temperature transition depends on mean residue hydrophobicity. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 113, 4346–4348. doi: 10.1021/ja00011a057
- Urry, D. W., Parker, T. M., Reid, M. C., and Gowda, D. C. (1991b). Biocompatibility of the bioelastic meterials, poly(GVGVP) and its gamma-irradiation cross-linked matrix – summary of generic biological test results. *J. Bioact. Compat. Polym.* 6, 263–282. doi: 10.1177/088391159100600306
- Vince, G. S., Starkey, P. M., Austgulen, R., Kwiatkowski, D., and Redman, C. W. (1995). Interleukin-6, tumour necrosis factor and soluble tumour necrosis factor receptors in women with pre-eclampsia. *Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 102, 20–25. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1995.tb09020.x
- Wang, Y., and Walsh, S. W. (2001). Increased superoxide generation is associated with decreased superoxide dismutase activity and mRNA expression in placental trophoblast cells in pre-eclampsia. *Placenta* 22, 206–212. doi: 10.1053/plac.2000.0608
- Wu, F. T., Stefanini, M. O., Mac Gabhann, F., Kontos, C. D., Annex, B. H., and Popel, A. S. (2010). A systems biology perspective on sVEGFR1: its biological function, pathogenic role and therapeutic use. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* 14, 528–552. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00941.x
- Xia, Y., Wen, H., Bobst, S., Day, M. C., and Kellems, R. E. (2003). Maternal autoantibodies from preeclamptic patients activate angiotensin receptors on human trophoblast cells. *J. Soc. Gynecol. Investig.* 10, 82–93. doi: 10.1016/S1071-5576(02)00259-9
- Yui, J., Garcia-Lloret, M., Wegmann, T. G., and Guilbert, L. J. (1994). Cytotoxicity of tumour necrosis factor-alpha and gamma-interferon against primary human placental trophoblasts. *Placenta* 15, 819–835. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(05)80184-5
- Zhu, X., Wu, S., Dahut, W. L., and Parikh, C. R. (2007). Risks of proteinuria and hypertension with bevacizumab, an antibody against vascular endothelial growth factor: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 49, 186–193. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2006.11.039

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors hold provisional patents on the described therapeutics.

Received: 07 July 2014; accepted: 12 August 2014; published online: 05 September 2014. Citation: Bidwell GL III and George EM (2014) Maternally sequestered therapeutic polypeptides – a new approach for the management of preeclampsia. Front. Pharmacol. 5:201. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00201

This article was submitted to Cardiovascular and Smooth Muscle Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Bidwell III and George. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Extravillous trophoblast cells-derived exosomes promote vascular smooth muscle cell migration

Carlos Salomon^{1,2}*, Sarah Yee¹, Katherin Scholz-Romero¹, Miharu Kobayashi¹, Kanchan Vaswani¹, David Kvaskoff¹, Sebastian E. Illanes^{1,2}, Murray D. Mitchell¹ and Gregory E. Rice^{1,2}

¹ Centre for Clinical Diagnostics, Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital, University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research, Brisbane, QLD, Australia ² Department of Obstetric and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, Universidad de los Andes, Santiago, Chile

Edited by:

Carlos Alonso Escudero, Universidad del Bio Bio, Chile

Reviewed by:

Siu-Lung Chan, University of Vermont, USA Carlos Alonso Escudero, Universidad del Bio Bio, Chile Motohiro Kornaki, Tokyo Medical and Dental University Graduate School, Japan

*Correspondence:

Carlos Salomon, Faculty of Health Sciences, Royal Brisbane Hospital, University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research, University of Queensland, Building 71/918, Herston, Brisbane, QLD 4029, Australia e-mail: c.salomongallo@ug.edu.au

Web: www.uqccr.uq.edu.au/

Background: Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) migration is a critical process during human uterine spiral artery (SpA) remodeling and a successful pregnancy. Extravillous trophoblast cells (EVT) interact with VSMC and enhance their migration, however, the mechanisms by which EVT remodel SpA remain to be fully elucidated. We hypothesize that exosomes released from EVT promote VSMC migration.

Methods: JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cell lines were used as models for EVT. Cells were cultured at 37°C and humidified under an atmosphere of 5% CO₂-balanced N₂ to obtain 8% O₂. Cell-conditioned media were collected, and exosomes (exo-JEG-3 and exo- HTR-8/SVneo) isolated by differential and buoyant density centrifugation. The effects of exo-EVT on VSMC migration were established using a real-time, live-cell imaging system (IncucyteTM). Exosomal proteins where identified by mass spectrometry and submitted to bioinformatic pathway analysis (Ingenuity software).

Results: HTR-8/SVneo cells were significantly more (~30%) invasive than JEG-3 cells. HTR-8/SVneo cells released 2.6-fold more exosomes ($6.39 \times 10^8 \pm 2.5 \times 10^8$ particles/ 10^6 cells) compared to JEG-3 ($2.86 \times 10^8 \pm 0.78 \times 10^8$ particles/ 10^6 cells). VSMC migration was significantly increased in the presence of exo-JEG-3 and exo-HTR-8/SVneo compared to control (–exosomes) (21.83 ± 0.49 h and 15.57 ± 0.32 , respectively, vs. control 25.09 \pm 0.58 h, p < 0.05). Sonication completely abolished the effect of exosomes on VSMC migration. Finally, mass spectrometry analysis identified unique exosomal proteins for each EVT cell line-derived exosomes.

Conclusion: The data obtained in this study are consistent with the hypothesis that the release, content, and bioactivity of exosomes derived from EVT-like cell lines is cell origin-dependent and differentially regulates VSMC migration. Thus, an EVT exosomal signaling pathway may contribute to SpA remodeling by promoting the migration of VSMC out of the vessel walls.

Keywords: exosomes, cell migration, placenta, pregnancy, proteomics

INTRODUCTION

Remodeling of the uterine spiral arteries (SpA) into low resistance, high capacity vessel begins as extravillous trophoblasts (EVT) invade the decidua during first trimester and is essential for successful pregnancy (Kam et al., 1999). When EVT "plugs" are lost during early second trimester, maternal blood flows through the modified vessels to deliver nutrients and oxygen to support fetal growth and development (Pijnenborg et al., 2006a). EVT continue to invade into the myometrium and remodel the SpA until mid-second trimester (Hamilton and Boyd, 1970; Pijnenborg et al., 1983; Blackburn et al., 2003; American Diabetes Association, 2012). The initial steps of uterine spiral artery remodeling consists of vessel dilatation, vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC) separation, endothelial cell swelling, EVT infiltration, and fibrinoid deposition (Pijnenborg et al., 2006b). VSMC migrate or undergo apoptosis and are replaced by fibriniod material, in which EVT cells embed. Recently Bulmer et al. showed that during SpA remodeling, VSMC migrate outside of the artery, and this phenomenon is enhanced in the presence of EVT (Bulmer et al., 2012). While the mechanisms by which EVTs remodel SpA remain to be fully elucidated, available data are consistent with the hypothesis that EVT directly interact with VSMC of the uterine spiral arteries. We propose that the releases of nanoparticles (i.e., exosomes) that contain specific effector molecules (e.g., proteins and miRNAs) are released from EVT and affect the loss of VSMC.

Exosomes (30–100 nm) are nanovesicles released when late endosomes fuse with the cell membrane (Thery, 2011; Salomon et al., 2013a). Exosomes interact with target cells via multiple pathways including: by directly activating target cell membrane receptors; by modifying the extracellular *milieu* of the target cell; and by fusing with the cell membrane and releasing the molecular cargo into the target cell (Pegtel et al., 2010). Their molecular cargo is: cell-specific (Kobayashi et al., 2014); regulated by tissue physiology and cellular function; and fundamental to their bioactivity.

Exosomes are identified in cell-conditioned media and body fluids indicate that they can be released from different types of cells (Vlassov et al., 2012). Recently, the role of exosomes isolated from placental cells (Salomon et al., 2013a,b) and other cell types (Chen et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2014; Yoon et al., 2014) on cell migration has been established. Exosomes released from first trimester placental mesenchymal stem cells (pMSC) increase endothelial cell migration and vascular tube formation *in vitro* (Salomon et al., 2013a). Similarly, cytotrophoblastderived exosomes increase EVT migration *in vitro* (Salomon et al., 2013b).

Consistent with the proposal that exosomal signaling regulates cell migration and invasion, proteins associated with actin cytoskeleton, growth hormone, and VEGF signaling have been identified within exosomes. The effect of EVT-derived exosomes on VSMC migration, however, remains to be established. We, therefore, hypothesize that exosomes released by EVT act paracellularly to promote VSMC migration and thus contributing to SpA remodeling. The aims of this study were: (1) to compare the exosome release and exosomal protein composition derived from EVT cell lines from different origin (JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo); and (2) to establish the effect of exosomes from both JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells on human VSMC migration.

Numerous human trophoblastic cell lines have been established, which basically originated from normal tissues or from pathological tissues. JEG3 is a choriocarcinoma cell line cloned from primary choriocarcinoma (Kohler and Bridson, 1971), and HTR8/SVneo is a transformed extravillous trophoblast cell line established by immortalizing primary EVT cells via transfection with simian virus 40 large T antigen (SV40) (Graham et al., 1993); both cell lines are frequently used as models of physiologically invasive extravillous trophoblast. EVT invasion into the myometrium is a critical process for remodeling the uterine spiral artery (in this stage EVT interact with VSMC), however, the invasiveness capacity between these two cells lines are different. HTR-8/SVneo have significantly higher invasion capacity than JEG-3 (Suman and Gupta, 2012). Moreover, differences between these two cells lines are not just in the invasion capacity, but also in their miRNA profiles (Morales-Prieto et al., 2012) as well as their protease (e.g., metalloproteases-9) expressions (Suman and Gupta, 2012), however, functional differences between exosome vesicles derived from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo remain to be established. Previously, these cells lines have been validated and used routinely as models of EVT function (Suman and Gupta, 2012; Weber et al., 2013).

The aim of this study was to test the hypotheses that: (1) exosomes from EVT act paracellularly to promote VSMC migration; and (2) The release, protein content and bioactivity of exosomes is cell origin-dependent (i.e., EVT cell lines from choriocarcinoma and chorionic villi). The effects of exosomes isolated from the EVT-like cell lines, JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells on VSMC migration were assessed.

The data obtained are consistent with the hypothesis that the function of EVT-derived exosomes is cell origin specific and showed differences in the release, content and effects on VSMC migration. EVT may communicate with VSMC during SpA remodeling, stimulating their migration through these specific nanovesicles (i.e., exosomes).

MATERIALS AND METHODS MATERIALS

Medium RPMI 1640, Medium 231, Smooth Muscle Growth Supplement (SMGS), glutamine, antibiotics, HEPES, and phosphate buffered saline (PBS) were obtained from Life Technologies Corporation (Mulgrave, Victoria, Australia). CD63 ELISA kits were obtained from SBI (ExoELISA[™], System Biosciences, Mountain View, CA).

CELL CULTURE

All experimental procedures were conducted within an ISO17025 accredited (National Association of Testing Authorities, Australia) research facility. All data were recorded within a 21 Code of Federal Regulation (CFR) part 11 compliant electronic laboratory notebook (Irisnote, Redwood City, CA, USA). JEG-3 human choriocarcinoma cell line was purchased from the European Collection of Cell Cultures (Porton Down, Salisbury, UK). The HTR-8/SVneo cell line was kindly donated by Dr. Charles H. Graham (Queen's University, Ontario, Canada). HTR-8/SVneo was established by the transfection of trophoblast cells isolated from first trimester villous explants, with a gene encoding simian virus 40 large T antigen to immortalize them (Graham et al., 1993). JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells were maintained in phenol red-free RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% heatinactivated fetal bovine serum, 1% non-essential amino acids, 1 mM sodium pyruvate and 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 mg/mL streptomycin. Cultures were maintained at 37°C and humidified under an atmosphere of 5% CO2-balanced N2 to obtain 8% O2 (pO₂ ~54 mmHg) in an automated PROOX 110-scaled hypoxia chamber (BioSphericsacona, NY, USA). Cells were subcultured with dissociation media, TrypLE[™] Express (Life technologies, USA) and cellular viability was determined by Trypan Blue exclusion and Countess® Automated cell counter (Life Technologies, USA).

Human Vascular Smooth Muscle cells (hVSMC) were purchased from LONZA (Lonza Group Ltd.). VSMC were cultured in 231 media (Life Technologies Corporation) supplemented with SMGS, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin, at 37°C and humidified under an atmosphere of 5% CO₂balanced N₂ to obtain 8% O₂ (pO₂ ~54 mmHg) in an automated PROOX 110-scaled hypoxia chamber (BioSphericsTM, Lacona, NY, USA).

The *in vitro* cell migration rates of JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo we established using real-time cell imaging system (IncuCyte[™] live-cell ESSEN BioScience Inc., Ann Arbor, MI, USA). Using a scratch assay format, cell were imaged every 3 h to monitor cell migration as previously described (Salomon et al., 2013b).

EXOSOME ISOLATION

Exosomes were isolated from cell-free JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneoconditioned media as previously described (Salomon et al., 2013a; Kobayashi et al., 2014). In brief, cell-conditioned media was

centrifuged at 300 \times g for 15 min, 2000 \times g for 30 min, and $12,000 \times g$ for 45 min to remove whole cells and debris. The resultant supernatant were passed through a 0.22 µm filter sterilize Steritop[™] (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) and then centrifuged at 120,000 \times g for 70 min (Thermo Fisher Scientific Ins., Asheville, NC, USA, Sorvall, SureSpin[™] 630/36, fixed angle rotor). The pellet was resuspended in PBS, washed and recentrifuged (120,000 \times g, 75 min). The pellet was resuspended in PBS, layered on a cushion of 30% (w/v) sucrose and centrifuged at 110,000 g for 75 min. The fraction containing exosomes [~3.5 ml, 1.127 density using OPTi digital refractometer (Bellingham⁺Stanley Inc., Lawrenceville, GA, USA)] was recovered using a Pulse-Free Flow Peristaltic Pump with a flow rate range of 1 ml per min (GILSON Miniplus® model 3) and Fraction Collector (GILSON FC 203B model) and diluted in PBS, and then ultracentrifuged at 110,000 \times g of 70 min. Recovered exosomes were resuspended in 50 µl PBS and their protein contents were determined using the Bradford assay (Bio-Rad DC). Exosome samples (5 µl) were prepared by adding RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris, 1% Triton × 100, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% DOC, 1 mM EDTA, 150 mM NaCl, protease inhibitor) directly to exosomes suspended in PBS and sonicated at 37°C for 15s three times to disrupt exosomes and solubilise the proteins. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) diluted in RIPA buffer and PBS mixture (1:1) were prepared as protein standards (0, 200, 400, 600, 800, 1000, 1500 µg/mL). Standards and samples (exosomes) were transferred to 96-well plates and procedures outlined by the manufacture were followed. In brief, alkaline copper tartrate solution (Bio-Rab Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) and dilute Folin Reagent (Bio-Rab Laboratories,) were added to the samples and incubated for 15 min. The absorbance was read at 750 nm with Paradigm Detection Platform (Beckman Coulter, USA).

NANOPARTICLE TRACKING ANALYSIS (NTA)

NTA measurements were performed using a NanoSight NS500 instrument (NanoSight NTA 2.3 Nanoparticle Tracking and Analysis Release Version Build 0033) following the manufacturer's instructions. The NanoSight NS500 instrument measured the rate of Brownian motion of nanoparticles and consists in a light scattering system that provides a reproducible platform for specific and general nanoparticle characterization (NanoSight Ltd., Amesbury, UK). Samples were processed in duplicate and diluted with PBS over a range of concentration to obtain between 10 and 100 particles per image (optimal \sim 50 particles \times image) before the analysis with the NTA system. The samples were mixed before introducting into the chamber (temperature: 25°C and viscosity: 0.89 cP) and the camera level set to obtain an image that had sufficient contrast to clearly identify particles while minimizing background noise with video recording (camera level: 10 and capture duration: 60 s). Afterwards, the capture videos (2 videos per sample) were processed and analyzed. A combination of high shutter speed (450) and gain (250) followed by manual focusing enables optimum visualization of the maximum number of vesicles. A minimum of 200 completed tracks per video were collected in duplicate for each sample analyzed. NTA post acquisition settings were optimized and kept constant between samples (Frames Processed: 1496 of 1496, Frames per





Second: 30, camera shutter: 20 ms; Calibration: 139 nm/pixel, Blur: 3×3 ; Detection Threshold: 10; Min Track Length: Auto; Min Expected Size: Auto), and each video was then analyzed to give the mean, mode, and median particle size together with an estimated number of particles. An Excel spreadsheet (Microsoft Corp., Redmond, Washington) was also automatically generated, recording the concentration at each particle size.

TRANSMISSION ELECTRON MICROSCOPY

Exosome pellets (as described above, 30 μg protein) were fixed in 3% (w/v) glutaraldehyde and 2% paraformaldehyde in cacodylate



buffer, pH 7.3. Exosome samples were then applied to a continuous carbon grid and negatively stained with 2% uranyl acetate. The samples were examined in an FEI Tecnai 12 transmission electron microscope (FEI[™], Hillsboro, OR, USA).

QUANTIFICATION OF CELL-DERIVED EXOSOME

The concentration of exosomes from EVT cells lines (JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo) in maternal circulation was expressed as total immunoreactive exosomal CD63 (ExoELISATM, System Biosciences, Mountain View, CA). Briefly, 10 μ g of exosomal protein was immobilized in micro-titer plate wells and incubated overnight (binding step). Plates were washed three times for 5 min using a wash buffer solution and then incubated with exosome specific primary antibody (CD63) at room temperature (RT) for 1 h on a shaker. Plates were washed and incubated with secondary antibody (1:5000) at RT 1 h on a shaker. Plates were washed and incubated with Super-sensitive TMB ELISA substrate at RT for 45 min while shaking. The reaction was terminated using Stop Buffer solution. Absorbance was measured at 450 nm. The number of exosomes/ml, (ExoELISA[™] kit) was obtained using an exosomal CD63 standard curve calibrated against nanoparticle tracking data (i.e., number of exosomes, NanoSight[™]). The coefficients of intra- and inter-assay variations were less than 8%.

EFFECT OF EXOSOMES ON VASCULAR SMOOTH MUSCLE CELLS (VSMC) MIGRATION

VSMC were cultured in 231 media supplemented with 0.2% FBS-exosome free in 96-well culture plate (Corning Life Science, Tewksbury, MA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions for 18–24 h. Firstly, we analyzed the effect of cell proliferation on cell migration assay in our experimental conditions using an anti-proliferative drug Mitomycin C (SIGMA-ALDRICH). Cells were plated $(1 \times 10^5$ cells per well) onto 24-well plate, and after 24 h Mitomycin C (50 and 100 ng/ml) was added to the cell for 48 h. Cell proliferation was quantified (time-curve) by measuring the cell confluence using a real time imagining



system IncuCyteTM. Simultaneously, VSMC migration assay in the presence of Mitomycin C (50 and 100 ng/ml) for 48 h was performed.

During experiments, VSMC cells were incubated in the presence (treatment: 100 µg exosomal protein/ml) or absence (control) of exosomes for up to 48 h under 8% O₂ (n = 12). The concentration used in this study was based upon exosome doseresponse curves from our previously published studies (Salomon et al., 2013a,b, 2014). Exosomes were subjected to heat inactivation (30 min at 65°C) or sonication for 30 min (sonicator bath) before the incubation on VSMC. Cell migration was assessed using a scratch assay format. A scratch was made on confluent monolayers using a 96-pin WoundMakerTM (BioScience Inc, Ann Arbor, MI, USA). Wound images were automatically acquired and registered by the IncuCyteTM software system. CellPlayerTM 96-Well Invasion Assay software was use to fully automate data collection. Data were processed and analyzed using IncuCyteTM 96-Well Cell Invasion Software Application Module. Data are presented as the Relative Wound Density (RWD, Eizen, v1.0 algorithm). RWD is a representation of the spatial cell density in the wound area relative to the spatial cell density outside of the wound area at every time point (time-curve). Migration assays were performed in the presence of Mitomycin C (100 ng/ml) to minimize any confounding effects of cell proliferation. The rate of wound closure was compared using the half-maximal stimulatory time (ST₅₀) and area under the time course curve (AUC).

EXOSOME INTERNALIZATION

For exosome uptake analysis, the exosomes pellet (before purification using 30% sucrose cushion) isolated from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells was resuspended in PBS and stained with PKH67 green fluorescent cell linker kit follow the manufacturer's instructions (Sigma-Aldrich). The staining reaction was stopped after 5 min with exosome-free FBS. Exosomes were then purified using 30% sucrose cushion as described above. Exosomes-PKH67 (100 µg/ml from JEG-3 and HTR-8/svneo cells) were incubated on VSMC for 24 h and exosome uptake was quantified using IncuCyte[™] (fluorescent mode). Simultaneously, VSMC were grown in glass bottom chamber slides, and labeled exosomes (100 µg/ml) were added to subconfluent cells. After 24 h, VSMC were washed and fixed using 2% paraformaldehyde for 5 min at RT. Cells were immediately analyzed using a Zeiss fluorescence microscope (Axio Imager M1, Zeiss EC Plan-NEOFLUAR $40 \times /0.75$, the Carl Zeiss Group, Germany) with FITC and DAPI absorbance setting.

PROTEOMIC ANALYSIS OF CYTOTROPHOBLAST DERIVED-EXOSOMES BY MASS SPECTROMETRY (MS)

Isolated exosomes from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo were solubilized in 8 M urea in 50 mM ammonium bicarbonate, pH 8.5, and reduced with DTT for 1 h. Proteins were then alkylated in 10 mM iodoacetic acid (IAA) for 1 h in the dark. The sample was diluted to 1:10 with 50 mM ammonium bicarbonate and digested with trypsin (20 µg) at 37°C for 18 h. The samples were desalted by solid phase extraction using a STAGE tip protocol (Stop and go extraction tips for matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization, nano-electrospray, and LC/MS sample pre-treatment in proteomics). The eluted peptides were dried by centrifugal evaporation to remove acetonitrile and redissolved in Solvent A. The resulting peptide mixture was analyzed by liquid chromatography (LC)/mass spectrometry (MS) LC-MS/MS on a 5600 Triple TOF mass spectrometer (AB Sciex, Framingham, USA) equipped with an Eksigent Nanoflow binary gradient HPLC system and a nanospray III ion source. Solvent A was 0.1% formic acid in water and solvent B was 0.1% formic acid in acetonitrile. MS/MS spectra were collected using Information Dependent Acquisition (IDA) using a survey scan (m/z 350–1500) followed by 25 data-dependent product ion scans of the 25 most intense precursor ions. All mass spectra were analyzed using the Mascot and Protein Pilot search engines against the Swissprotdatabase with the species set as human. Positive identifications were ascribed where Mascot scores were greater than 30. False discovery rate (FDR) was estimated using a reversed sequence



PIGURE 4 [EVI-derived exosomes effects on hVSMC migration. hVSMC were grown to confluence in 231 media and a wound was made using 96 well WoundMaker (see Materials and Methods). hVSMC Migration was measured in absence or presence of 100 ug/ml of exosomes from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells and mitomycin C (100 ng/ml) for 48 h. Exosome particles were subjected to sonication (+sonication) or heat inactivation (+heat) before exposure to hVSMC cells (A,B) hVSMC proliferation and migration in the presence of Mitomycin C, respectively. (C) Time course of wound closure for hVSMC expressed as relative wound density (%).

database. Finally, proteins identified were submitted to bioinformatic pathway analysis (Ingenuity Pathway Analysis [IPA]; Ingenuity Systems, Mountain View, CA; www.ingenuity.com).

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Data are represented as mean \pm s.e.m. Comparisons between two group means were performed by unpaired Student's *t*-tests. Multiple groups were compared using the analysis of variance (ANOVA). *Post-hoc* analyses were used for pairwise comparisons (D) Area under curves from data in (C). (E) Time-dependent uptake of exosomes using a real time imaging system analysis. Top: images after 24 h; Bottom: Graphical representation of exosome uptake. (F) Fluorescent microscopy analysis of exosome uptake (40X). Data represent an n = 12 well each point with 3 different cells culture. Values are mean \pm SD. In (D) ***p < 0.001 vs. all condition except exo-HTR-8/SVneo + heat; and $^{\dagger}p < 0.05$ vs. corresponding values control at 4 h; $^{\dagger}p < 0.05$ vs. corresponding values control at 4 h; $^{\dagger}p < 0.05$ vs. corresponding values control at 8 and 4 h.

(Bonferroni correction test). Statistical significance was defined as at least p < 0.05. Statistical analyses were preformed using commercially available packages (Stata 11, StatCorp, College Station, TX, USA and Prism 6, GraphPad Inc, La Jolla, CA 92037 USA).

RESULTS

CHARACTERIZATION OF EVT CELL LINES

Figure 1A presents photomicrographs of wound closure over 40 h incubation for both cell lines and the percent change in relative

wound density over time. The migration rate of HTR-8/SVneo was significantly greater than that observed for JEG-3 cells. Half-maximal stimulatory time (ST₅₀) was 31.29 \pm 0.14 h and 15.26 \pm 0.15 h for JEG-3 and HTR-8SV/neo, respectively (p < 0.05, **Figure 1A**, bottom). Area under curves analysis showed that the migration of HTR-8SV/neo was ~2.0-fold greater than that obtained for JEG-3 cells (**Figure 1B**).

CHARACTERIZATION OF EVT CELL LINE-DERIVED EXOSOMES

Defining vesicle size range is one of the standard metrics used to confirm that the vesicle preparation in not contaminated with non-exosome vesicles. After differential centrifugation (i.e., $300 \times$ g, $2000 \times$ g, and $12,000 \times$ g), the supernatant was analyzed using a nanoparticles tracking analysis (NTA). Particle size distribution ranged from 30 to 500 nm, with an average of 180 ± 100 nm (Figure 2A). Supernatant was filtered and ultracentrifuged to obtain a particulate fraction (including exosomes particles) with a particle size ranged of 30-200 nm (with a mean diameter of 119 ± 65 nm, Figure 2B). The exosomes were purified by ultracentrifugation over a sucrose cushion and analyzed using a NTA. The exosome fractions displayed a particle size ranged from 30 to 150 nm in diameter (with mean of 79 \pm 68 nm, **Figure 2C**). The presence of exosomal marker CD63 in exosomes isolated from both cell lines was confirmed by Western blot (Figure 2D, top). Finally, exosomes isolated from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo were visualized by transmission electron microscopy (Figure 2D, bottom). Exosomes were identified as small vesicles between 40 and 100 nm. No significant differences in NTA data, CD63 expression and electron microscopy were identified between cell lines.

EXOSOME RELEASE FROM EVT CELL LINES

Exosomal protein release was expressed as total exosomal protein (i.e., particulate material with a buoyant density of 1.127 g/ml) per million cells/24 h. JEG-3 cells released 46 ± 16 ng exosomal protein per million cells per 24 h (n = 4; i.e., 4 different isolations from $\sim 200 \times 10^6$ cells each) whereas HTR-8/SVneo cells released 120 ± 35 ng exosomal protein per million cells per 24 h (n = 4, **Figure 3A**). HTR-8/SVneo cells released significantly more exosomes (\sim 2.6-folds) in 24 h compared to JEG-3 cells (p < 0.0001). These results were confirmed by quantifying immunoreactive exosomal CD63. The number of exosomes (NEP) released from HTR-8/SVneo cells ($6.39 \times 10^8 \pm 2.5 \times 10^8/24$ h) was \sim 2.3-fold greater (p < 0.0001) than that observed for JEG-3 cells ($2.86 \times 10^8 \pm 0.78 \times 10^8/24$ h, **Figure 3B**).

EFFECT OF EVT-DERIVED EXOSOMES ON CELL MIGRATION

A VSMC was used to establish the effects of EVT-derived exosomes on cell migration. An anti-proliferative drug Mitomycin C (50 and 100 ng/ml) reduces significantly (p < 0.01) VSMC proliferation (**Figure 4A**). A dose of 100 ng/ml decreased VSMC migration compared to 50 ng/ml of Mitomycin C and control (**Figure 4B**). The effects of exosomes (100 µg protein/ml) isolated from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cultured under 8% O₂ on VSMC migration under 8% O₂ are presented in **Figures 4C,D**. All experiments were done in the presence of Mitomycin C (100 ng/ml). The rate of wound closure was significantly increased in the presence of HTR-8/SVneo-derived exosome compared to control

(-exosomes) as measured by ST₅₀ (15.57 ± 0.32 vs. 25.09 ± 0.58, p < 0.01) (**Table 1**). Area under curves analysis showed that HTR-8/SVneo-derived exosome increased ~35 ± 0.2% VSMC migration compared to control. Similarly, exosomes from JEG-3 cells increased VSMC migration ~12 ± 0.1% compared to values in the absence of exosomes (control), however, the effect was smaller compared to exosomes from HTR-8/SVneo. Exosomes were exposed to heat inactivation before incubation on VSMC; however, heat inactivation did not affect the effect of exosomes on VSMC migration. In contrast, sonication completely abolished the HTR-8/SVneo and JEG-3-derived exosomes effect on VSMC migration.

The internalization of exosomes labeled with PKH67 (green) in VSMC was quantified and visualized using The IncuCyte and a fluorescence microscope, respectively (**Figures 4E,F**). Exosome uptake by VSMC was observed in a time-dependent manner with the maximum at 24 h (**Figure 4E**, top panel a and c). Sonication abolished the uptake of fluorescent exosomes (**Figure 4E**, top panel b and d) compared to exosomes without sonication. Exosome uptake is presented as fluorescent per cell confluence normalized to maximum uptake of 100%. Heat inactivation did not affect the exosomes uptake by VSMC (**Figure 4**, lower panel). Finally, fluorescence microscope analysis showed an intracellular fluorescent in VSMC cells exposed to intact vesicles from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo (**Figure 4F**).

PROTEOMIC ANALYSIS OF EVT-DERIVED EXOSOME

Mass spectrometry analysis identified over 140 exosomal proteins, including cell-line specific exosomal proteins (**Table 2** and **Figure 5A**). Exosomal proteins isolated from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells were associated with cellular movement and morphology, immune cell trafficking and cellular assembly and organization in accordance with Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) analysis. The canonical pathways associated with our exosomal proteins isolated from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells and defined by IPA Core comparison analysis showed that the score ($-\log [p$ value]) for proteins associated with cell movement and migration was significantly higher (\sim 1.2-fold, p < 0.05) in HTR-8/SVneoderived exosomes to compare to exosomes from JEG-3 cells (**Figure 5B**).

Table 1 | Kinetic characteristic of exosome effects on hVSMC migration.

Condition	ST ₅₀ (hours)	
Control	25.09 ± 0.58	
+exo-JEG-3	$21.83 \pm 0.49^{\ddagger}$	
+exo-HTR-8/SVneo	$15.57 \pm 0.32*$	
+exo-JEG-3 + sonication	25.06 ± 0.46	
+exo-HTR-8/SVneo + sonication	23.27 ± 0.48	
+exo-JEG-3 + heat	24.14 ± 0.35	
+exo-HTR-8/SVneo + heat	$19.43\pm0.34^\dagger$	

The effect of exosomes isolated from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo-conditioned media on hVSMC in vitro migration. Data are expressed as half-maximal Stimulatory Time (ST₅₀ in hours) and represent the mean \pm SD. *p < 0.05 vs. control; [†]p < 0.005 vs. control and +exo-HTR-8/SVneo. [‡]p < 0.005 vs. control.

Table 2 | List of proteins identified in exosomes isolated from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells.

Symbol	Entrez gene name	UniProt/Swiss-Prot accession	Location	Type(s)
COMMON P	ROTEINS IN EXOSOMES FROM JEG-3 and HTR-8/Svneo CE	LLS		
A2M	Alpha-2-macroglobulin	A2MG_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Transporter
ACTB	Actin, beta	ACTB_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
AHSG	Alpha-2-HS-glycoprotein	FETUA_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
ALB	Albumin	ALBU_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Transporter
APOE	Apolipoprotein E	APOE_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Transporter
APOM	Apolipoprotein M	APOM_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Transporter
C3	Complement component 3	CO3_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Peptidase
EEF2	Eukaryotic translation elongation factor 2	EF2_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Translation regulator
ENO1	Enolase 1, (alpha)	ENOA_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
F5	Coagulation factor V (proaccelerin, labile factor)	FA5_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Enzyme
FGB	Fibrinogen beta chain	FIBB_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
FLNA	Filamin A, alpha	FLNA_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
FN1	Fibronectin 1	FINC_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Enzyme
HSP90AA1	Heat shock protein 90 kDa alpha (cytosolic), class A member 1	HS90A_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
HSPA8	Heat shock 70 kDa protein 8	HSP7C_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
KRT1	Keratin 1	K2C1_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
KRT10	Keratin 10	K1C10_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
LDHB	Lactate dehydrogenase B	LDHB_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
MSN	Moesin	MOES_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Other
PGK1	Phosphoglycerate kinase 1	PGK1_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Kinase
РКМ	Pyruvate kinase, muscle	KPYM_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Kinase
PZP	Pregnancy-zone protein	PZP_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
THBS1	Thrombospondin 1	TSP1_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
VEPH1	Ventricular zone expressed PH domain-containing 1	MELT_HUMAN	Nucleus	Other
YWHAB	Tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenase activation protein, beta	1433B_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Transcription regulato
YWHAE	Tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenase activation protein, epsilon	1433E_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
EXOSOMES	FROM JEG-3 CELLS			
ACTN1	Actinin, alpha 1	ACTN1_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
ADAMTS13	ADAM metallopeptidase with thrombospondin type 1 motif, 13	ATS13_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Peptidase
AFP	Alpha-fetoprotein	FETA_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Transporter
AHCY	Adenosylhomocysteinase	SAHH_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
AMY2A	Amylase, alpha 2A (pancreatic)	AMYP_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Enzyme
APOA1	Apolipoprotein A-I	APOA1_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Transporter
ARGLU1	Arginine and glutamate rich 1	ARGL1_HUMAN	Other	Other
ATP10A	ATPase, class V, type 10A	AT10A_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Transporter
C5	Complement component 5	CO5_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Cytokine
C7	Complement component 7	CO7_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
C4A/C4B	Complement component 4B (Chido blood group)	CO4A_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
C8B	Complement component 8, beta polypeptide	CO8B_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
CLEC11A	C-type lectin domain family 11, member A	CLC11_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Growth factor
COL6A1	Collagen, type VI, alpha 1	CO6A1_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
COLGALT1	Collagen beta(1-O)galactosyltransferase 1	GT251_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
COMP	Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein	COMP_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
CPN1	Carboxypeptidase N, polypeptide 1	CBPN_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Peptidase
DGKQ	Diacylglycerol kinase, theta 110 kDa	DGKQ_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Kinase
EEF1A2	Eukaryotic translation elongation factor 1 alpha 2	EF1A2_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Translation regulator
F2	Coagulation factor II (thrombin)	THRB_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Peptidase

(Continued)

Table 2 | Continued

Symbol	Entrez gene name	UniProt/Swiss-Prot accession	Location	Type(s)
F10	Coagulation factor X	FA10_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Peptidase
F13A1	Coagulation factor XIII, A1 polypeptide	F13A_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Enzyme
BLN1	Fibulin 1	FBLN1_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
GG	Fibrinogen gamma chain	FIBG_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
ЭC	Group-specific component (vitamin D binding protein)	VTDB_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Transporter
SN	Gelsolin	GELS_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
12AFV	H2A histone family, member V	H2AV_HUMAN	Nucleus	Other
IBB	Hemoglobin, beta	HBB_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Transporter
IIST1H1T	Histone cluster 1, H1t	H1T_HUMAN	Nucleus	Other
IIST1H2BB	Histone cluster 1, H2bb	H2B1B_HUMAN	Nucleus	Other
ISPA1L	Heat shock 70kDa protein 1-like	HS71L_HUMAN	Other	Other
GLL1/IGLL5	Immunoglobulin lambda-like polypeptide 1	IGLL5_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Other
TH1	Inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor heavy chain 1	ITIH1_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
TH2	Inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor heavy chain 2	ITIH2_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
TH3	Inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor heavy chain 3	_ ITIH3_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
INC00083	Long intergenic non-protein coding RNA 83	YA021_HUMAN	Other	Other
RP1	Low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1	LRP1_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Transmembrane
				receptor
UM	Lumican	LUM_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
1YH9	Myosin, heavy chain 9, non-muscle	MYH9_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Transporter
1YL6	Myosin, light chain 6, alkali, smooth muscle and non-muscle	MYL6_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
HSL2	NHS-like 2	NHSL2_HUMAN	Other	Other
R2W3	Olfactory receptor, family 2, subfamily W, member 3	OR2W3_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	G-protein coupled receptor
PIF1	PIF1 5'-to-3' DNA helicase	PIF1_HUMAN	Nucleus	Enzyme
ITRM1	Pitrilysin metallopeptidase 1	PREP_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Peptidase
LG	Plasminogen	- PLMN_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Peptidase
PP6R3	Protein phosphatase 6, regulatory subunit 3	PP6R3_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
AN	RAN, member RAS oncogene family	_ RAN_HUMAN	Nucleus	Enzyme
DH13	Retinol dehydrogenase 13 (all-trans/9-cis)	_ RDH13_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
ERPINA7	Serpin peptidase inhibitor, clade A (alpha-1 antiproteinase, antitrypsin), member 7	THBG_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Transporter
ERPINF1	Serpin peptidase inhibitor, clade F (alpha-2 antiplasmin, pigment epithelium derived factor), member 1	PEDF_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
SERPINF2	Serpin peptidase inhibitor, clade F (alpha-2 antiplasmin, pigment epithelium derived factor), member 2	A2AP_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
HBS4	Thrombospondin 4	TSP4_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
LN1	Talin 1	- TLN1_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Other
UBA1B	Tubulin, alpha 1b	TBA1B_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
UBA4A	Tubulin, alpha 4a	TBA4A_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
TN	Vitronectin	VTNC HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
WHAZ	Tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenase activation protein, zeta	1433Z_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
NF480	Zinc finger protein 480	ZN480_HUMAN	Nucleus	Other
XOSOMES F	ROM HTR-8/SVneo CELLS			
ASDH	Aminoadipate-semialdehyde dehydrogenase	ACSF4_HUMAN	Other	Enzyme
CTN4	Actinin, alpha 4	ACTN4 HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
LDOA	Aldolase A, fructose-bisphosphate	ALDOA_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
NXA2	Annexin A2	ANXA2_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Other
NXA5	Annexin A5	ANXA2_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Other
NXA6	Annexin A6	ANXA6_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Other

(Continued)

Table 2 | Continued

Symbol	Entrez gene name	UniProt/Swiss-Prot accession	Location	Type(s)
ARAP2	ArfGAP with RhoGAP domain, ankyrin repeat and PH domain 2	ARAP2_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
ART4	ADP-ribosyltransferase 4 (Dombrock blood group)	NAR4_HUMAN	Nucleus	Enzyme
ATP1A1	ATPase, Na ⁺ /K ⁺ transporting, alpha 1 polypeptide	AT1A1_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Transporter
B2M	Beta-2-microglobulin	B2MG_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Transmembrane receptor
BASP1	Brain abundant, membrane attached signal protein 1	BASP1_HUMAN	Nucleus	Transcription regulato
BMS1	BMS1 ribosome biogenesis factor	BMS1_HUMAN	Nucleus	Other
C9	Complement component 9	CO9_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
C7orf61	Chromosome 7 open reading frame 61	CG061_HUMAN	Other	Other
CD59	CD59 molecule, complement regulatory protein	CD59_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Other
СНМ	Choroideremia (Rab escort protein 1)	RAE1_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
CLTC	Clathrin, heavy chain (Hc)	CLH1_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Other
COL12A1	Collagen, type XII, alpha 1	COCA1_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
FLNB	Filamin B, beta	FLNB_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
		_		
FSCN1	Fascin homolog 1, actin-bundling protein (Strongylocentrotus purpuratus)	FSCN1_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	G3P_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
GLP2R	Glucagon-like peptide 2 receptor	GLP2R_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	G-protein coupled receptor
GNAI2	Guanine nucleotide binding protein (G protein), alpha inhibiting activity polypeptide 2	GNAI2_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Enzyme
GNB1	Guanine nucleotide binding protein (G protein), beta polypeptide 1	GBB1_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Enzyme
GNG12	Guanine nucleotide binding protein (G protein), gamma 12	GBG12_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Enzyme
HBD	Hemoglobin, delta	- HBD_HUMAN	Other	Transporter
HIST1H1D	Histone cluster 1, H1d	H13_HUMAN	Nucleus	Other
HIST1H2BD	Histone cluster 1, H2bd	H2B1D_HUMAN	Nucleus	Other
HMCN1	Hemicentin 1	HMCN1_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
HSP90AB1	Heat shock protein 90 kDa alpha (cytosolic), class B member 1	HS90B_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
HSPB1	Heat shock 27 kDa protein 1	HSPB1 HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
HSPE1	Heat shock 10 kDa protein 1	CH10_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
ITGA3	integrin, alpha 3 (antigen CD49C, alpha 3 subunit of VLA-3 receptor)	ITA3_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Other
ITGB1	Integrin, beta 1 (fibronectin receptor, beta polypeptide, antigen CD29 includes MDF2, MSK12)	ITB1_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Transmembrane receptor
KRT9	Keratin 9	K1C9_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
LGALS1	Lectin, galactoside-binding, soluble, 1	LEG1_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
MFGE8	Milk fat globule-EGF factor 8 protein	MFGM_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Other
MIF	Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (glycosylation-inhibiting factor)	MIF_HUMAN	Extracellular space	Cytokine
NCL	Nucleolin	NUCL_HUMAN	Nucleus	Other
NME2		NDKB_HUMAN	Nucleus	Kinase
NRG1	NME/NM23 nucleoside diphosphate kinase 2 Neuregulin 1	NRG1_HUMAN	Other	Growth factor
	-			
PARK7	Parkinson protein 7	PARK7_HUMAN	Nucleus	Enzyme
PGAM1	Phosphoglycerate mutase 1 (brain)	PGAM1_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Phosphatase
PRDX1	Peroxiredoxin 1	PRDX1_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
PTGFRN	Prostaglandin F2 receptor inhibitor	FPRP_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Other
RUVBL2	RuvB-like AAA ATPase 2	RUVB2_HUMAN	Nucleus	transcription regulator
S100A11 SERPINA1	S100 calcium binding protein A11 Serpin peptidase inhibitor, clade A (alpha-1 antiproteinase, antitrypsin), member 1	S10AB_HUMAN A1AT_HUMAN	Cytoplasm Extracellular space	Other Other

(Continued)

Table 2 | Continued

Symbol	Entrez gene name	UniProt/Swiss-Prot accession	Location	Type(s)
SLC16A3	Solute carrier family 16 (monocarboxylate transporter), member 3	MOT4_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Transporter
SLC2A1	Solute carrier family 2 (facilitated glucose transporter), member 1	GTR1_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Transporter
STARD13	StAR-related lipid transfer (START) domain containing 13	STA13_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other
SYN1	Synapsin I	SYN1_HUMAN	Plasma membrane	Transporter
TMEM262	Transmembrane protein 262	YK025_HUMAN	Other	Other
TPI1	Triosephosphate isomerase 1	TPIS_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
TRRAP	Transformation/transcription domain-associated protein	TRRAP_HUMAN	Nucleus	Transcription regulator
TUBBP5	Tubulin, beta pseudogene 5	YI016_HUMAN	Other	Other
UBAC2	UBA domain containing 2	UBAC2_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Enzyme
VIM	Vimentin	VIME_HUMAN	Cytoplasm	Other

All mass spectra were analyzed using the Mascot and Protein Pilot search engines against the Swissprot-swissprot database with the species set as human (score over 30). Exosomal proteins identified by mass-spectrometry were analyzed with the Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (Ingenuity Systems, www.ingenuity.com). False discovery rate (FDR) was estimated using a reversed sequence database. List of total exosomal protein from cytotrophoblast cells exposed to different oxygen level are presented as Protein ID, Symbol, Entrez Gene Name, Location, and type.



Venn diagram represents the distribution of common and unique proteins identified by nanospray LC-MS/MS (ABSciex 5600) in exosomes released from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells. (B) Comparison of biological function (cell movement and migration) identified by IPA core analysis. In (B) values are mean \pm s.e.m. In (B) *p < 0.05 vs. HTR-8/SVneo cells.

DISCUSSION

A tenet of contemporary obstetrics is that events that compromise placentation and the development of the materno-fetal exchange increase the risk of complications of pregnancy and contribute to

poor pregnancy outcome. In particular, conditions that affect the differentiation and invasion of placental cells compromise placental perfusion and function (Jauniaux et al., 2006, 2010; Burton et al., 2009) and the subsequent growth and development of the fetus (Khong et al., 1987). EVT migrate into maternal decidua and myometrium and interact with VSMC in uterine spiral arteries. Conversion of these arteries is associated with the loss of VSMC from the vessel wall by migration out of the vessel. In this study we established that: (1) exosome isolated from EVT-like cell lines (JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo) with different cellular origins (choriocarcinoma and EVT) exhibit differences in their rate of release, protein content and bioactivity; and (2) both exosomes from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells increase VSMC migration. However, the effect of exosomes from HTR-8/SVneo was significantly higher. Exosomes released from first trimester trophoblast cells (EVT), therefore, may regulate processes that play a key role in placentation and remodeling of the uterine spiral arteries.

The interactions between EVT and VSMC are not fully understood, in part due to difficulties of accessing first trimester samples and the lack of suitable animal models (Carter, 2007; Ackerman et al., 2013). We obtained nanovesicles with high purity. The data presented establish that the final preparation used display a size distribution and buoyant consistent with exosomes and the lack of significant contamination by microsomes. In this study, we quantified the release of exosomes from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells (as indicated by immunoreactive exosomal CD63). The data obtained establish that exosome release is cell type specific and correlated with cell migration capacity. Consistent with these data, a correlation between exosome release and cell invasiveness has been described previously in ovarian cancer cells (Kobayashi et al., 2014).

The initial stages of uterine SpA remodeling involves a loss of the VSMC component by apoptosis, migration or a combination of both processes. In this study, we identify a novel exosomal signaling pathway by which EVT (HTR-8/SVneo cells) promote the

migration of VSMC. Consistent with these data, Bulmer et al. (2012) observed that VSMC migration plays a major role in remodeling of the artery by migration into the decidua and vessel lumen and this phenomenon is enhanced in the presence of EVT cells (Bulmer et al., 2012). Based upon the available data, we propose that perivascular EVT release exosomes that interaction with VSMC and promote their migration out of SpAs and alter the vasoreactive of these vessels. This effect of exosomes on VSMC migration was cell-type specific (i.e., only exosomes from HTR-8/SVneo cells promote cell migration) and may reflect the different cellular origin of the two cell lines compared in this study. HTR-8/SVneo cells are derived by transfection of first trimester trophoblast cells (Graham et al., 1993). JEG-3 cells are derived from a choriocarcinoma (Kohler and Bridson, 1971). Difference in the molecular cargo carried by exosomes released from HTR-8/SVneo and JEG-3 cell may account for their different effects on target cell migration. Consistent with this suggestion, proteins involved in cell migration were differentially represented in exosomes isolated from the two-cell lines.

The exosomal content is highly dependent on the cell origin and on pre-conditioning of the cell. Exosomes function as a carrier of specific molecules such as, proteins, lipids, mRNA, and miRNA and can interact with neighboring cells or travel long distances in the bloodstream to reprogram the phenotype and regulate their function (Denzer et al., 2000). In this study, we identified unique proteins (58 and 59 proteins in exosome from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells) and common proteins (26) between these EVT cell lines. Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) of exosomal proteins identified cell-dependent changes in cell movement and migration signaling pathways. Exosomes have been reported to express a diverse range of cell surface receptors, proteins (including, heat shock proteins, cytoskeletal proteins, adhesion molecules, membrane transport, and fusion proteins), mRNA and miRNA with the potential to affect the acute and long-term function of the cells with which they interact (Ambros, 2004). Recent data demonstrate that trophoblast-derived exosomes induce proinflammatory cytokines such IL-1 β in human macrophages cells (Atay et al., 2011). Furthermore, in vitro exposure of PBMC and dendritic cells to exosomal proteins induce differentiation of stem cells; suppression of activation of natural killer cells and macrophages; and stimulation of cell migration (Mincheva-Nilsson et al., 2006; Knight, 2008; Soo et al., 2012). Interestingly, protein analysis revealed that exosome release from cytrophoblast cells increases with low oxygen tension and their exosome promotes cell migration in extravillous cytotrophoblast (HTR-8/SVneo) (Salomon et al., 2013b).

The observed effects of HTR-8/SVneo-derived exosomes on VSCM migration were also dependent upon exosome structural integrity. Disruption of exosomes by sonication (Delorme-Axford et al., 2013) completely abolished their effect on VSMC migration. While the precise mechanisms by which sonication abolishes the effects of exosomes remains to be established, preventing exosomal fusion with VSMC cell membrane and the intracellular delivery of signaling molecules and/or the loss of capacity to appropriately present exosomal surface moieties to target cell receptors represent possible pathways and warrant further investigation. We establish in this study that exosome integrity is critical

to mediating their effects on VSMC migration. It is not possible from the data obtained in this study to differentiate between sonication–induced disruption of exosome: uptake; fusion; activation of VSMC cell surface receptors, or a combination of these (and other) mechanisms. The elucidation of contribution of these mechanisms will require additional extensive studies to establish.

In conclusion, using *in vitro* EVT-like cell lines, we have demonstrated difference in release, composition and bioactivity between exosomes from JEG-3 and HTR-8/SVneo cells. Exosomes released from EVT may play a role in remodeling SpA by promoting migration of VSMC. Exosomal-induced VSCM migration is associated with increased representation of proteins involved in cell migration processes within their molecular cargo and dependent upon exosomal structural integrity. The identification of this EVT-VSMC exosomal communication pathway not only affords opportunity for developing biomarkers of placentation but also the assessment of exosome targeted therapeutic innervation strategies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Carlos Salomon, Sarah Yee, Katherin Scholz-Romero, Kanchan Vaswani, Miharu Kobayashi and David Kvaskoff contributed in generating experimental data. Carlos Salomon, Sebastian E. Illanes, Murray D. Mitchell and Gregory E. Rice contributed in discussion and reviewed/edited manuscript. Carlos Salomon and Gregory E. Rice wrote the manuscript and drew the figures.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge the assistance of Dr. Jamie Riches and Dr. Rachel Hancock of the Central Analytical Research Facility, Institute for Future Environments, Queensland University of Technology (QUT) for the electron microscope analyses.

REFERENCES

- American Diabetes Association. (2012). Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 35(Suppl. 1), S64–S71. doi: 10.2337/dc12-s064
- Ackerman, W. E. 4th., Carter, A. M., De Mestre, A. M., Golos, T. G., Jeschke, U., Kusakabe, K., et al. (2013). IFPA Meeting 2012 Workshop Report I: comparative placentation and animal models, advanced techniques in placental histopathology, human pluripotent stem cells as a model for trophoblast differentiation. *Placenta* 34(Suppl.), S3–S5. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.11.006
- Ambros, V. (2004). The functions of animal microRNAs. *Nature* 431, 350–355. doi: 10.1038/nature02871
- Atay, S., Gercel-Taylor, C., Suttles, J., Mor, G., and Taylor, D. D. (2011). Trophoblastderived exosomes mediate monocyte recruitment and differentiation. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 65, 65–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00880.x
- Blackburn, C. A., Keelan, J. A., Taylor, R. S., and North, R. A. (2003). Maternal serum activin A is not elevated before preeclampsia in women who are at high risk. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 188, 807–811. doi: 10.1067/mob.2003.173
- Bulmer, J. N., Innes, B. A., Levey, J., Robson, S. C., and Lash, G. E. (2012). The role of vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis and migration during uterine spiral artery remodeling in normal human pregnancy. *FASEB J.* 26, 2975–2985. doi: 10.1096/fj.12-203679
- Burton, G. J., Charnock-Jones, D. S., and Jauniaux, E. (2009). Regulation of vascular growth and function in the human placenta. *Reproduction* 138, 895–902. doi: 10.1530/REP-09-0092
- Carter, A. M. (2007). Animal models of human placentation-a review. *Placenta* 28(Suppl. A), S41–S47. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2006.11.002
- Chen, G., Zhang, Y., and Wu, X. (2014). 786-0 Renal cancer cell line-derived exosomes promote 786-0 cell migration and invasion. Oncol. Lett. 7, 1576–1580. doi: 10.3892/ol.2014.1962

- Delorme-Axford, E., Donker, R. B., Mouillet, J. F., Chu, T., Bayer, A., Ouyang, Y., et al. (2013). Human placental trophoblasts confer viral resistance to recipient cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 12048–12053. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1304718110
- Denzer, K., Kleijmeer, M. J., Heijnen, H. F., Stoorvogel, W., and Geuze, H. J. (2000). Exosome: from internal vesicle of the multivesicular body to intercellular signaling device. J. Cell Sci. 113, 3365–3374.
- Graham, C. H., Hawley, T. S., Hawley, R. G., MacDougall, J. R., Kerbel, R. S., Khoo, N., et al. (1993). Establishment and characterization of first trimester human trophoblast cells with extended lifespan. *Exp. Cell Res.* 206, 204–211. doi: 10.1006/excr.1993.1139
- Hamilton, W. J., and Boyd, J. D. (1970). *The Human Placenta*. Cambridge: W. Heffer & Sons.
- Jauniaux, E., Poston, L., and Burton, G. J. (2006). Placental-related diseases of pregnancy: involvement of oxidative stress and implications in human evolution. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 12, 747–755. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dml016
- Jauniaux, E., Van Oppenraaij, R. H. F., and Burton, G. J. (2010). Obstetric outcome after early placental complications. *Curr. Opin. Obstetr. Gynecol.* 22, 452–457. doi: 10.1097/GCO.0b013e3283404e44
- Kam, E. P., Gardner, L., Loke, Y. W., and King, A. (1999). The regulation of trophoblast differentiation by oxygen in the physiological change in decidual spiral arteries. *Hum. Reprod.* 14, 2131–2138. doi: 10.1093/humrep/14.8.2131
- Khong, T. Y., Liddell, H. S., and Robertson, W. B. (1987). Defective hemochorial placentation as a cause of miscarriage - a preliminary-study. Br. J. Obstetr. Gynaecol. 94, 649–655. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1987.tb03169.x
- Knight, A. M. (2008). Regulated release of B cell-derived exosomes: do differences in exosome release provide insight into different APC function for B cells and DC? *Eur. J. Immunol.* 38, 1186–1189. doi: 10.1002/eji.200838374
- Kobayashi, M., Salomon, C., Tapia, J., Illanes, S. E., Mitchell, M. D., and Rice, G. E. (2014). Ovarian cancer cell invasiveness is associated with discordant exosomal sequestration of Let-7 miRNA and miR-200. J. Transl. Med. 12, 4. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-12-4
- Kohler, P. O., and Bridson, W. E. (1971). Isolation of hormone-producing clonal lines of human choriocarcinoma. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 32, 683–687. doi: 10.1210/jcem-32-5-683
- Lee, H. D., Kim, Y. H., and Kim, D. S. (2014). Exosomes derived from human macrophages suppress endothelial cell migration by controlling integrin trafficking. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 44, 1156–1169. doi: 10.1002/eji.201343660
- Mincheva-Nilsson, L., Nagaeva, O., Chen, T., Stendahl, U., Antsiferova, J., Mogren, I., et al. (2006). Placenta-derived soluble MHC class I chain-related molecules down-regulate NKG2D receptor on peripheral blood mononuclear cells during human pregnancy: a possible novel immune escape mechanism for fetal survival. J. Immunol. 176, 3585–3592. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176. 6.3585
- Morales-Prieto, D. M., Chaiwangyen, W., Ospina-Prieto, S., Schneider, U., Herrmann, J., Gruhn, B., et al. (2012). MicroRNA expression profiles of trophoblastic cells. *Placenta* 33, 725–734. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.05.009
- Pegtel, D. M., Cosmopoulos, K., Thorley-Lawson, D. A., van Eijndhoven, M. A. J., Hopmans, E. S., Lindenberg, J. L., et al. (2010). Functional delivery of viral miRNAs via exosomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 6328–6333. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0914843107
- Pijnenborg, R., Ball, E., Bulmer, J. N., Hanssens, M., Robson, S. C., and Vercruysse, L. (2006a). *In vivo* analysis of trophoblast cell invasion in the human. *Methods Mol. Med.* 122, 11–44. doi: 10.1385/1-59259-989-3:9
- Pijnenborg, R., Vercruysse, L., and Hanssens, M. (2006b). The uterine spiral arteries in human pregnancy: facts and controversies. *Placenta* 27, 939–958. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2005.12.006

- Pijnenborg, R., Bland, J. M., Robertson, W. B., and Brosens, I. (1983). Uteroplacental arterial changes related to interstitial trophoblast migration in early human pregnancy. *Placenta* 4, 397–413. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(83)80043-5
- Salomon, C., Ryan, J., Sobrevia, L., Kobayashi, M., Ashman, K., Mitchell, M., et al. (2013a). Exosomal signaling during hypoxia mediates microvascular endothelial cell migration and vasculogenesis. *PLoS ONE* 8:e68451. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0068451
- Salomon, C., Kobayashi, M., Ashman, K., Sobrevia, L., Mitchell, M. D., and Rice, G. E. (2013b). Hypoxia-induced changes in the bioactivity of cytotrophoblastderived exosomes. *PLoS ONE* 8:e79636. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079636
- Salomon, C., Torres, M., Kobayashi, M., Scholz-Romero, K., Sobrevia, L., Dobierzewska, A., et al. (2014). A gestational profile of placental exosomes in maternal plasma and their effects on endothelial cell migration. *PLoS ONE*. 9:e98667. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098667
- Soo, C. Y., Song, Y., Zheng, Y., Campbell, E. C., Riches, A. C., Gunn-Moore, F., et al. (2012). Nanoparticle tracking analysis monitors microvesicle and exosome secretion from immune cells. *Immunology* 136, 192–197. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2012.03569.x
- Suman, P., and Gupta, S. K. (2012). Comparative analysis of the invasionassociated genes expression pattern in first trimester trophoblastic (HTR-8/SVneo) and JEG-3 choriocarcinoma cells. *Placenta* 33, 874–877. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.06.017
- Thery, C. (2011). Exosomes: secreted vesicles and intercellular communications. *F1000 Biol. Rep.* 3, 15. doi: 10.3410/B3-15
- Vlassov, A. V., Magdaleno, S., Setterquist, R., and Conrad, R. (2012). Exosomes: current knowledge of their composition, biological functions, and diagnostic and therapeutic potentials. *Bba-Gen. Subjects* 1820, 940–948. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2012.03.017
- Weber, M., Knoefler, I., Schleussner, E., Markert, U. R., and Fitzgerald, J. S. (2013). HTR8/SVneo cells display trophoblast progenitor cell-like characteristics indicative of self-renewal, repopulation activity, and expression of stemness- associated transcription factors. *BioMed. Res. Int.* 2013, 243649. doi: 10.1155/2013/243649
- Yoon, J. H., Kim, J., Kim, K. L., Kim, D. H., Jung, S. J., Lee, H., et al. (2014). Proteomic analysis of hypoxia-induced U373MG glioma secretome reveals novel hypoxia-dependent migration factors. *Proteomics* 14, 1494–1502. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201300554

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 01 May 2014; accepted: 07 July 2014; published online: 11 August 2014. Citation: Salomon C, Yee S, Scholz-Romero K, Kobayashi M, Vaswani K, Kvaskoff D, Illanes SE, Mitchell MD and Rice GE (2014) Extravillous trophoblast cells-derived exosomes promote vascular smooth muscle cell migration. Front. Pharmacol. 5:175. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00175

This article was submitted to Cardiovascular and Smooth Muscle Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Salomon, Yee, Scholz-Romero, Kobayashi, Vaswani, Kvaskoff, Illanes, Mitchell and Rice. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Physiological mechanisms of vascular response induced by shear stress and effect of exercise in systemic and placental circulation

Iván Rodríguez^{1,2} and Marcelo González^{3,4}*

¹ Faculty of Health Science, Universidad San Sebastián, Concepción, Chile

² PhD Program in Medical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile

³ Vascular Physiology Laboratory, Department of Physiology, Faculty of Biological Sciences, Universidad de Concepción, Concepción, Chile

⁴ Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health, Chillán, Chile

Edited by:

Carlos Alonso Escudero, Universidad del Bio Bio, Chile

Reviewed by:

Giuseppe D'Avenio, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Italy Emilio A. Herrera, Universidad de Chile, Chile

*Correspondence:

Marcelo González, Vascular Physiology Laboratory, Department of Physiology, Faculty of Biological Sciences, Universidad de Concepción, Barrio Universitario s/n, Concepción, Chile e-mail: mgonzalezo@udec.cl

Physiological vascular function regulation is essential for cardiovascular health and depends on adequate control of molecular mechanisms triggered by endothelial cells in response to mechanical and chemical stimuli induced by blood flow. Endothelial dysfunction is one of the main risk factors of cardiovascular pathology, where the imbalance between the synthesis of vasodilator and vasoconstrictor molecules is common in the development of vascular disorders in systemic and placental circulation. In the placenta, an organ without autonomic innervations, the local control of vascular tone is critical for maintenance of fetal growth and mechanisms that underlie shear stress response induced by blood flow are essential during pregnancy. In this field, shear stress induced by moderate exercise is one of the most important mechanisms to improve vascular function through nitric oxide synthesis and stimulation of mechanical response of endothelial cells triggered by ion channels, caveolae, endothelial NO synthase, and vascular endothelial growth factor, among others. The demand for oxygen and nutrients by tissues and organs, especially in placentation and pregnancy, determines blood flow parameters, and physiological adaptations of vascular beds for covering metabolic requirements. In this regard, moderate exercise versus sedentarism shows potential benefits for improving vascular function associated with the enhancement of molecular mechanisms induced by shear stress. In this review, we collect evidence about molecular bases of physiological response to shear stress in order to highlight the relevance of moderate exercise-training for vascular health in adult and fetal life.

Keywords: endothelial dysfunction, shear stress, placental circulation, exercise, nitric oxide

INTRODUCTION

The endothelium is the main regulator of vascular physiology, controlling hemodynamics and angiogenesis in postnatal and fetal life. Dysfunction of endothelial cells have several clinical implications related with alteration of physiological regulation of capillary permeability, vascular homeostasis, leukocyte trafficking, vasomotor control, angiogenesis, acquired and innate immunity, among others. Furthermore, these cells exhibit morphological and functional heterogeneity, which give them high capacity for adaptation, according to environmental conditions to maintain homeostasis in different vascular beds (Aird, 2007). In human placenta, an organ without autonomic innervations, the control of vascular tone is dependent on local release of vasoconstrictors and vasodilators, released from endothelial cells in response to mechanical and chemical stimuli triggered by cardiac output and blood flow requirements (Fox and Khong, 1990; Myatt, 1992). In placental and systemic circulation, the main stimulus regarding control of vascular resistance and blood flow, is related to increments of shear stress by high placental perfusion throughout pregnancy. The vascular response of placental circulation to shear stress depends of a variety of factors: local release of vasoactive molecules, endocrine signaling, oxidative stress in vascular cells or vascular remodeling, among others. The maintenance of vascular tone and blood supply for placental circulation is a key factor for adequate placentation and fetal development.

Abbreviations: ACS, acute coronary syndrome; AMI, acute myocardial infarction; BAECs, bovine aortic endothelial cells; BH4, tetrahydrobiopterin; Cav, caveolin; CVDs, cardiovascular diseases; DM2, diabetes mellitus type 2; eNOS, endothelial NO synthase; FGF-1, fibroblast growth factor 1; FMV, flow mediated vasodilatation; GDM, gestational diabetes mellitus; GPCRs, G-protein couple receptors; hCAT-1, human cationic amino acid transporter 1; HUVECs, human umbilical vein endothelial cells; IMPROVE, Improving Maternal and Progeny Obesity Via Exercise; IUGR, intrauterine growth restriction; KATP, ATP-sensitivity K⁺⁺ channels; K_{Ca}, calcium-activated K⁺ channels; K_{ir}, inwardly rectifying potassium channel; K_V, voltage-gated K⁺ channels; L-NMMA, L-N^G monomethyl arginine; NADPH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate; NCDs, non-communicable diseases; NO, nitric oxide; oFPAEs, ovine fetoplacental artery endothelial cells; ORCCs, outwardly rectifying chloride channels; PIGF, placental growth factor; PP, pulse pressure; ROS, reactive oxygen species; sGC, soluble guanylate cyclase; SOD, superoxide dismutase; sVEGFR1, soluble VEGFR-1; TASK1, TWIK-related acid-sensitive K⁺ channels 1; TS, tangential stress; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFR, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor; VSMCs, vascular smooth muscle cells; WTI, wall thickening increase.

Relevant pathologies in developing and middle-income countries are NCDs, like CVD, metabolic syndrome, obesity and diabetes mellitus. With changes in lifestyle and quality of nutrition in western civilization, there is a sustained increase in DM2, GDM, overweightness and obesity during pregnancy (Kopp, 2005; Zhang and Ning, 2011; Pan et al., 2012). There is a consensus that NCD are serious problems for public health, and several public policies in the western world are oriented toward prevention based on healthy nutrition and exercise. For this reason, the aim of this review is to contribute to the understanding about molecular mechanisms involved in vascular dysfunction and deterioration of shear stress response, considering the positive effect of physical exercise on systemic and placental circulation. In this field, it is well known the importance of intrauterine life conditions for the development of NCD in adults (Hanson and Gluckman, 2011), so our focus is to show evidence about the effects of physical exercise and moderate training to better vascular adaptations triggered by shear stress, and the potential application of exercise therapy for improve systemic and placental vasculature function affected by chronic or gestational diseases.

ENDOTHELIAL DYSFUNCTION

Endothelial dysfunction is established as one of the main risk factors for CVDs, where the imbalance between synthesis of vasodilators and vasoconstrictors is the most common factor (Qian and Chi, 2012). High synthesis and activity of vasoconstrictor molecules, such as endothelin-1 and thromboxane A2; as well as reduction in the availability of vasodilator molecules, like NO, associated with oxidative stress by high synthesis of ROS, are the cornerstone in poor capacity of endothelium to maintain vascular tone (Seals et al., 2011). Oxidative stress is a condition defined as an imbalance between systemic manifestation of ROS and a biological system's ability to readily detoxify the reactive intermediates or to repair the resulting damage (Valko et al., 2007). In pregnancy, a condition associated with high risk of oxidative stress, the equilibrium between vasodilators versus vasoconstrictors and oxidative stress versus antioxidant mechanisms is a key factor during gestation and fetal development (Sobrevia and González, 2009).

In HUVECs from GDM or incubated with high concentration of D-glucose, there is high synthesis of NO (Sobrevia et al., 1995), related with high expression of the main L-arginine transporter: hCAT-1 (González et al., 2004, 2011; Guzmán-Gutiérrez et al., 2014). L-Arginine is the substrate for NO synthesis by eNOS (Alderton et al., 2003) and the transport of L-arginine is essential for NO synthesis in the endothelium (Shin et al., 2011). In assays where cells are incubated with high concentrations of D-glucose, the activation of the L-arginine/NO pathway has been related with endothelial dysfunction induced by concomitant increased synthesis of ROS and lower bioavailability of NO (Sobrevia and González, 2009). In this regards, a hallmark for endothelial function is the availability of NO, which is regulated by a combination of synthesis and NO inactivation (Luiking et al., 2010). Reduction in synthesis or availability of NO is associated with lower expression or activity of eNOS as a result of endogenous and exogenous inhibitors or by reduced availability of L-arginine (Dhein et al., 2003; Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004; Kalinowski and Malinski, 2004). Another important mechanism for NO inactivation and endothelial dysfunction is oxidative stress induced by ROS synthesis mediated by NADPH oxidases; enzymes whose primary function is to generate ROS and which plays an important role in redox signaling (Lambeth, 2004). The over expression or high activity of NADPH oxidase induces the uncoupling of eNOS due to the oxidative degradation of BH₄, eNOS cofactor, leading to eNOS-dependent synthesis of superoxide anion (O_2^-) in detriment of NO synthesis (Antoniades et al., 2006; Dworakowski et al., 2008). Once synthesized, O_2^- is used by SOD to generate H₂O₂, which has greater stability and capacity to diffuse through biological membranes, acting as a modulator of signal transduction pathways (Li and Shah, 2004). In addition, the O_2^- reacts rapidly with NO to generate peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), a powerful oxidizing agent that induces DNA fragmentation and lipid oxidation (Carr et al., 2000). Currently, it is postulated that the mechanism by which oxygen "hijack" the NO is related with the ONOO⁻ formation, which plays a central role in the development of endothelial dysfunction in diseases such as diabetes mellitus (Rolo and Palmeira, 2006; Hadi and Suwaidi, 2007; Rask-Madsen and King, 2008), preeclampsia (Gu et al., 2006; Escudero and Sobrevia, 2008), and hypertension (Harrison et al., 2003).

Also alterations related with endothelial dysfunction are associated with pro-thrombotic and pro-inflammatory states, and become the main etiologic factors for developing essential hypertension and atherosclerotic disease (Savoia et al., 2011). Determination of endothelial dysfunction in healthy and pathologic patients (especially during pregnancy) is a relevant challenge for physicians and researchers, regarding the obvious difficulties in extrapolating in vitro findings to the clinics. Therefore, noninvasive evaluation for endothelial dysfunction, such as FMV, are important tools to determine the association of endothelial dysfunction with wall thickness of conduit vessels, changes of pulse wave velocity and early cardiovascular risk predictors. In fact, these methods have been considered as complementary methods of the current evaluation guidelines for preventing CVD (Kozlov et al., 2012). Also the evaluation of endothelial dysfunction during pregnancy could be a potent tool in the prevention of CVD in early stages of development or in mothers that suffer pregnancy pathologies such as pregnant hypertension, preeclampsia, or GDM (Escudero and Sobrevia, 2008; Escudero et al., 2013).

SHEAR STRESS IN SYSTEMIC AND PLACENTAL CIRCULATION

Shear stress is defined as the force exerted by the blood flow on blood vessel walls. This stress generates a response in the vascular wall, characterized by release of endothelial mediators, which in turn stimulate structural remodeling through activation of gene expression and protein synthesis (Hudlicka and Brown, 2009). Hemodynamic forces exerted by the heart during the cardiac cycle, PP and TS, change the structure of vascular wall. PP (difference between systolic and diastolic pressure) induces distention of the vascular wall which increases the radial tension on the blood vessels. TS or shear stress depends on the inner diameter of the vessel, blood flow rate, viscosity of the blood, and pulsatility of blood flow. It is estimated using Poiseuille's law, through the product of shear on the wall and blood viscosity:

$$\tau = \frac{4 * \eta * q}{\pi * r^3}$$

where η is fluid viscosity, *q* is flow, and *r* is radius. It is worth noting that this formula should be considered only for a blood vessel with circular cross section and in laminar flow regime. On the other hand, in clinical studies, shear stress is calculated through blood viscosity and shear rate (γ), which is estimated from the values of blood flow velocity (*V*) and internal arterial diameter (d) according to the following equation (Reneman et al., 2006):

$$\gamma = \frac{8 * V}{d}$$

Shear stress values calculated in this way might be held for *in vitro* assays, provided that the conditions meet Poiseuille's law. The latter statement cannot be applied to blood vessels *in vivo*, considering the presence of non-newtonian fluid, distensible vessels, pulsatile flow, and branching of the arterial tree. Moreover, blood flow velocity, and wall shear stress, is high in systole and relatively low in diastole. Thus, diastole comprises approximately two thirds of the cardiac cycle, and the level of wall shear stress during this phase of the cardiac cycle contributes substantially to the mean wall shear stress (Reneman et al., 2006).

In the case of placental shear stress, the same equations can be applied, considering that the placental flow is dependent on the umbilical blood flow, which is related with the umbilical vein diameter. In the placental vascular bed there are several hemodynamic adaptations in order to supply oxygen and nutrients to support the fetal growth. Endothelial cells are mainly responsible for these adaptations given that in the tunica intima where blood flow exerts longitudinal shearing forces (Sprague et al., 2010). Although there are obvious difficulties to determine changes in blood flow in fetuses during human pregnancy, some evidence obtained through non-invasive techniques like Doppler ultrasound has been used to determine the importance of placental vascular adaptation. To determine the umbilical blood flow in human pregnancy, Link et al. (2007) used this equation:

$$Q = V * d^2 * \pi * 0.15$$

where Q is the volume of umbilical blood flow (mL/min), V is the mean velocity (cm/s), and d is the diameter of umbilical vein (mm). In this study, the mean umbilical venous blood flow velocity was between 13 and 14 cm/s and was similar in preterm and full-term infants, whereas the diameter of the umbilical vein was greater in the full-term group. In preterm pregnancies, there was a decrease of umbilical blood flow in late pregnancy correlated with both gestational age and birth weight and the umbilical blood flow per unit body weight of the fetus or per placental weight was increased in preterm group. The authors argue that the increase of umbilical blood flow in the course of gestation is dependent of umbilical vein growth and there is a physiological decrease in the ratio between umbilical blood flow and fetal body weight that could be dangerous in post-term pregnancies (Link et al., 2007). These results show that the development and local regulation of umbilical vein diameter are determinants for an adequate blood flow to the fetus, considering that the endothelial cells respond to shear stress and there is no innervation in placental vasculature (Sprague et al., 2010). On the other hand, in isolated cotyledon from placenta, the increases of flow rate range from 1 to 10 ml/min increased the perfusion pressure, exhibiting a stronger effect when NO synthesis was inhibited (Wieczorek et al., 1995). Also, regulation of shear stress response in uterine vasculature is relevant for placental blood flow. For instance, in myometrial arteries from preeclamptic women there is no increase of flow rate by shear stress and lower capacity of induce NO-dependent relaxation. This might contribute to impaired utero-placental blood flow in this disease (Kublickiene et al., 2000).

Other important factors that regulate vascular response to shear stress are blood flow characteristics (magnitude and shape) and vascular tree anatomy (Friedman et al., 1987). For instance, it is well known that turbulence in zones of arterial branching, where oscillatory shear stress is generated, constitute areas of vascular remodeling associated with starting events leading to atherosclerosis (Giddens et al., 1993). It has been demonstrated that the flow patterns in ascending aorta contribute to pro-atherosclerotic environment, mainly that low and oscillator shear stress, specifically near of the aortic sinus. There is a correlation between low shear stress and increased incidence of vascular damage, especially near to the coronary arteries (Suo et al., 2008). Moreover, a study about structure and flow with 3D magnetic resonance in healthy subjects, established that the WTI is positively correlated with flow shear stress. Additionally, WTI is negatively correlated with atherosclerotic plaques wall stress, showing an increased progression of atherosclerotic plaques in zones of turbulent blood flow. This demonstrates that anatomic conformation of vascular beds and flow characteristics have important repercussions on endothelial damage development (Yang et al., 2010).

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS INDUCED BY SHEAR STRESS

Mechano-transduction induced by shear stress is widely studied, showing that there are multiple signaling pathways which are activated in response to stress in endothelial cells (Li et al., 2005; Gautam et al., 2006; Yu et al., 2006; Jacob et al., 2007; Kumagai et al., 2009; Herranz et al., 2012). These pathways are triggered by mechanical stimuli sensed by endothelial cells, and generate intracellular signaling through second messengers, which in turn lead to the establishment of an adaptative response in short or long term according to stimulus (Johnson et al., 2011). For instance, the adaptive response of endothelial cells to the acute increase of shear stress is characterized by high endothelial cell permeability and high expression of anti-inflammatory and antioxidant proteins. This process is generated in three phases: induction, early adaptive response and late remodeling response, showing a different phenotype according the phase in which it is found (Zhang and Friedman, 2012).

eNOS AND CAVEOLAE

Recently, a systematic review and 3-stage meta-analysis of studies that measured FMV under local infusion of saline or (L-NMMA; NOS inhibitor) solutions demonstrated that FMV of conduit arteries in humans is, at least in part, mediated by NO (Green et al., 2014). Furthermore, one of the enzymes that increases its expression in response to shear stress is NOS (Yee et al., 2008), specifically eNOS (Luiking et al., 2010). The use of NOS inhibitors, like L-NMMA or L-NAME, showed that the inhibition of NO synthesis suppresses the effect of shear stress on angiogenesis associated with muscular stimulation (Hudlicka et al., 2006) or placental microcirculation (Wieczorek et al., 1995). Still there is little evidence about the relevancy of L-arginine transporters in the response to shear stress. However, considering that NO synthesis depends on hCAT-1 activity (Shin et al., 2011), and has been demonstrated the colocalization of hCAT-1 with eNOS in caveolae (McDonald et al., 1997), it is highly probable that hCAT-1 is part of this physiological response. Importantly, the structure and function of caveolae is relevant for endothelial physiology: several studies have revealed that this subset of lipid structures, highly enriched in cholesterol and sphingolipids, play an important role in regulation of cell signaling (Das and Das, 2012; Sowa, 2012). Proteins such as cav 1, 2, 3 are part of their structure and organization, being cav-1 the more important in vascular endothelium (Hansen and Nichols, 2010). Together with cav-1, other proteins found in the caveolae are tyrosine-kinase receptors (TKRs), GPCRs, VEGFR, Ca²⁺ channels, among others. These expression profiles show the relevance of this plasma membrane structure for endothelial cells metabolism and vascular health (Sowa, 2012). It has been demonstrated in BAECs, that 1-3 days of exposition to laminar shear stress, increased the total amount of caveolae in 45-48%; as well as the expression of cav-1, compared with the same conditions without flow (Boyd et al., 2003). In cav-1 knockout animals $(cav-1^{-/-})$ the decrease of shear stress for 14 days did not reduce the diameter of arterial lumen and exhibit high vascular wall thickness associated with reduction in the FMV and eNOS phosphorylation in serine 1176 (i.e., eNOS activation; Yu et al., 2006). Importantly, it has been observed that the association between cav-1 and eNOS is necessary for angiogenic response induced by shear stress, because cav-1 gene suppression decreases the response to VEGF stimulation, NO production and endothelial tube formation (Sonveaux et al., 2004). Like other endothelial cells, endothelial cells from the placenta and umbilical cord express cav-1. In oFPAEs, the effects of FGF-1 on proliferation and tube formation were abolished when stable cav-1 knockdown oFPAE was used (Feng et al., 2012). Also in HUVEC, the decrease of cav-1 suppressed the NO synthesis and tube formation induced by VEGF (Pan et al., 2006). Interestingly, in human and murine placenta there is a high expression of cav-1 and cav-2 in endothelium and VSMCs but there is a lack of expression in syncytiotrophoblast layer or in cytotrophoblast (Lyden et al., 2002; Mohanty et al., 2010). Although there is evidence that supports the role of cav-1 in placental vasculature, findings are lacking about specific effects of shear stress on co-localization of cav-1 or cav-2 with eNOS or hCAT-1 in human endothelium.

ION CHANNELS

Another mechanism that is involved with the response to shear stress is related with the activity of ion channels in vasculature. Some ion channels activated by mechanical stress suffer conformational changes which modifies the cell membrane potential through changes of ions conductance (Sukharev and Sachs, 2012). Vascular endothelium expresses a great variety of sensitive channels for calcium (Ca^{2+}), potassium (K^+) and chloride (Cl^-) ions, which elicit a rapid response of endothelial cells to shear stress (Nilius and Broogmans, 2001). In this context, Kir2.1 has shown to be a sensor of laminar flow, responding according to shear stress intensity in order to induce cell membrane hyperpolarization (Hoger et al., 2002). Together with Kir 2.1, ORCCs are also activated simultaneously in presence of shear stress, whose stimulation induces endothelial cell membrane depolarization (Nilius and Broogmans, 2001). It has been demonstrated that chloride currents are saturated at 3.5 dyn/cm², meanwhile K⁺ currents are saturated between 10 and 15 dyn/cm². This shows that ORCC and Kir2.1 channels work in cooperation in order to provide sensibility to the endothelium for a wider range of shear stress. The Cl⁻ channel is responsible for sensing low levels of shear stress, and K⁺ channel is responsible for sensing high levels of laminar shear stress (Gautam et al., 2006). In this context, as membranes hyperpolarize during high shear stress, exercise-induced shear stress would be an important hyperpolarizing stimulus which would induce vascular relaxation of smooth muscle cells (SMCs; Gautam et al., 2006; Gurovic and Braith, 2012).

In placental tissues expression has been shown of K_V, K_{Ca}, Kir, and TASK1. Regarding function, NO-mediated relaxation of human umbilical arteries occurs via activation of K_V and K_{Ca} channels; K_{IR} 6.1 play an important role by reverse constriction in disease states, such as IUGR (Wareing et al., 2006). In the last decade it has been determined that insulin induces relaxation in umbilical and placental veins in a mechanism that could be dependent on activity of potassium channels (González et al., 2004, 2011). Specifically in HUVEC, the L-arginine transport and hyperpolarization induced by insulin is blocked by pre-incubation with glibenclamide, an inhibitor of KATP (González et al., 2004). Despite the importance of K⁺ channels in vascular response to shear stress and recent evidence about K⁺ channel expression and activity in human placenta, the role of K⁺ channels in placental shear stress and/or in complicated pregnancies is poorly understood (Wareing, 2014).

VEGF AND ANGIOGENESIS

Modifications of blood flow induce changes in growth patterns of vascular beds, where an increase of the capillary/fiber ratio (C:F) in response to prolonged stimulation to shear stress and ischemic remodeling, decreases the diameter of capillaries and angiogenesis of low blood flow areas (Hudlicka and Brown, 2009) associated with VEGFR-2 (De la Paz et al., 2012). There are three receptors of VEGF (VEGFR 1, 2, and 3), being VEGFR-2 a strong tyrosine-kinase protein with high expression in vascular cells but reduced affinity to VEGF compared to VEGFR-1. Both receptors have soluble splicing isoforms, which contribute to negative regulation of angiogenesis. In this context, membrane-linked VEGFR-2 is pro-angiogenic, whereas sVEGFR1 or sFlt-1 is anti-angiogenic (Shibuya, 2013). Angiogenesis induced by shear stress is associated with NO bioavailability because the increase of collateral blood flow induced by VEGF and FGF is dependent on NOS

activity (Yang et al., 2001). Also, L-arginine supplementation contributes to the increase in VEGF expression and angiogenesis in skeletal muscle and left ventricle of middle-aged rats, showing the importance of the L-arginine/NO pathway in VEGF expression in response to shear stress (Suzuki, 2006).

In placental circulation, it has been determined that the VEGF/angiogenesis pathway is relevant for early placental vascularization and deficiencies in this signaling pathway could be related with placental pathologies like IUGR or preeclampsia. Is well known that plasma levels of sFlt-1 is higher in mothers with preeclampsia (Shibuya, 2014) which is associated with lower NO synthesis in HUVEC obtained from mild or severe preeclampsia (Veas et al., 2011). Regarding placental responses to shear stress, these are similar to those reported in systemic circulation have been observed in oFPAEs, which shows high eNOS expression and rapid phosphorylation of eNOS on serine 1177 (Ser1177) through a PI3K-dependent pathway after applications of shear stress (Li et al., 2005).

EFFECTS OF PHYSICAL EXERCISE ON SYSTEMIC SHEAR STRESS

Clinical evidence shows that physical exercise applied in cardiovascular rehabilitation is effective in decreasing both hospitalization rate and mortality associated with CVDs (Heran et al., 2011). In this regard, a study including 18.809 patients from 41 countries, showed that physical exercise decreases the risk of AMI in people who have a history of ACS (Chow et al., 2010). On the other hand, there are recent advances shows that controlled exercise in pregnant women with risk factors for CVD, like obesity or overweight, improve cardiovascular parameters (Seneviratne et al., 2014).

IMPACT OF EXERCISE ON ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION

Previously we mentioned that increases in shear stress causes the release of vasodilator substances from the endothelium and, consequently, FMV. FMV has been used as a parameter of endothelial function in clinical protocols and is the support of therapies for improving cardiovascular performance through shear stress induced by exercise (Inoue et al., 2008; Santos-García et al., 2011). When referring to the discussion about the effect of exercise on shear stress and vascular health, it is important to establish that there is a large variability of flow patterns in response to different types of exercise. For instance, in incremental exercise of the lower limbs, significant increases of blood flow peaks have been observed, associated with a biphasic increase of blood flow in the brachial artery due to anterograde and retrograde flow which is correlated positively with the intensity of workloads (Birk et al., 2012; Gurovic and Braith, 2012). This retrograde flow observed in the radial artery (and perhaps in other vessels) may be due to the redistribution or the influence of retrograde diastolic flow, which is associated with lower limb exercise in the upright position (Green et al., 2002a,b). Meanwhile exercise of upper limbs induces anterograde flow proportionally to the workload (Green et al., 2005). In the same way, Tinken et al. (2009) in compared the effects of blood flow modification and shear stress on FMV, reporting that when the anterograde flow was increased by 30 min, the FMV increased. Also, they observed that when the anterograde flow was decreased (through a brachial cuff), the elevation in FMV is blocked, suggesting that FMV is modulated by differences in the magnitude of anterograde flow and shear stress (Tinken et al., 2009). Furthermore, it has been observed that low retrograde flow predisposes to NO dependent endothelial dysfunction, because it generates an altered FMV response, which is a hallmark of endothelial dysfunction (Thijssen et al., 2009). Regarding the impact of exercise intensity on endothelial function, it has been shown that aerobic exercise of moderate intensity (50% VO₂ max) increases the endothelium-dependent vasodilatation through stimulation of NO synthesis. Nonetheless, high intensity exercise could be an oxidative stress signal (Goto et al., 2003). Thus, these authors evaluated the response of brachial blood flow to different exercise intensities (25% VO2 max, 50% VO2 max, and 75% VO2 max) in healthy subjects and they demonstrated that exercise at 50% VO2 max induces vasodilatation through high bioavailability of NO, whereas high intensity exercise was associated with an increase in the production of ROS (Goto et al., 2007).

IMPACT OF PHYSICAL TRAINING ON ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION

Physiological bases concerning of physical training on endothelial function is related with the facts that increases of blood flow and shear stress affect the synthesis of NO (Naylor et al., 2011). In this context, it has been demonstrated in both animals and humans, that exposure to repetitive exercise carried out during a prolong period of time increases the bioavailability of endothelial NO, as well as vascular collateralization (Hambrecht et al., 2003; Heaps and Parker, 2011; Lee et al., 2011). Hambrecht et al. (2003) in a study using samples from patients with stable coronary disease and surgery of CABG scheduled, showed that a daily training program of 30-min with a cycle ergometer and 30-min with treadmill for 4 weeks before surgery, significantly increases the endothelium-dependent vasodilatation, the flow rate in response to acetylcholine (Ach) and the FMV in LIMA (Hambrecht et al., 2003). Furthermore, they also found that endothelial cells isolated from the LIMA of patients who were trained, exhibited a higher expression and activation of eNOS and PKB/Akt compared with untrained patients, showing that repetitive increases of shear stress, triggered by physical training, enhance the NO bioavailability (Hambrecht et al., 2003). Moreover, in relation to the time course of these vascular changes, it has been described that functional adaptations precede structural adaptations. Tinken et al. (2008) observed that 2-6 weeks of exercise-training triggered an increase in NO bioavailability due to an increase in exercise-induced shear stress. After 6 weeks, NO levels returned to baseline due the normalization of shear stress on the blood vessel wall associated by vascular remodeling and angiogenesis (Tinken et al., 2008, 2010). These results show that physical training with moderate intensity schemes would be useful tools to improve the outcomes of therapies and/or cardiovascular surgeries.

EFFECTS OF PHYSICAL EXERCISE ON PLACENTAL VASCULAR FUNCTION

Even though research shows a high increase of overweight and obesity in world population, especially in pregnant women, there are few reports published regarding the effect of moderate physical exercise in pregnancy. However, effects have been demonstrated of exercise-training on pro-angiogenic molecules in pregnant animal models, showing evidences that exercise-based interventions would be effective in preventing the onset of preeclampsia. In this context, Gilbert et al. (2012b) showed that 6 weeks of training increases the levels of cytoprotective molecules such as heat shock proteins (HSPs) 27, 60, and 90 in placentas from trained rats compared with sedentary controls. The authors pointed out that small HSP are involved in cellular protection against oxidative stress and apoptosis, meanwhile larger HSP facilitate eNOS-mediated NO synthesis. In addition, it has been observed that exercise increases free VEGF, decreases sFlt-1 and increases endothelial cell tube formation in vitro. In addition, exercise augments endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation compared with non-exercise control rats (Gilbert et al., 2012a). These findings suggest that physical activity before and during pregnancy stimulate molecular pathways that may yield benefits with respect to placental and/or vascular function, since the HSP is associated with the VEGF overexpression which leads to development of angiogenesis (Gilbert et al., 2012a,b).

Moreover, exercise can mitigate hypertension-associated physiological consequences in pregnant rat models. It has been observed, in spontaneously hypertensive pregnant rats, that the exercise recovers the fetal weight decreased by hypertension. After an exercise-training program, the placentas of hypertensive rats had a higher number of blood vessels in relation to the sedentary control group (Abate et al., 2012). In addition, it has been observed in female Sprague Dawley rats exposed to 6 weeks of voluntary exercise, that the placental ischemia-induced hypertension was attenuated by exercise as well as the restoration of angiogenesis. These changes were associated with high sensitivity of Ach-induced vasodilation in mesenteric vessels of exercise-trained pregnant rats (Gilbert et al., 2012b). Apparently, these physiological effects induced by exercise could be transferred to the fetus, since there are evidences that physical training attenuates the detrimental effect of low-protein diet on fetal growth and development, glucose homeostasis, serum leptin concentration, and oxygen consumption in the offspring from exercised-trained mothers (Fidalgo et al., 2013). The underlying mechanism of these effects could be related to metabolic changes associated with long-term effects of perinatal physical training such as exerciseinduced blood flow redistribution as well as increase of insulin-like growth factors, growth hormone, and leptin after training (Turgut et al., 2006; Amorim et al., 2009; de Mélo Montenegro et al., 2012; Fidalgo et al., 2013). However, more direct evidence is necessary to verify these hypotheses.

Regarding the effect of exercise-training in preeclampsia, it has been demonstrated in a mouse model of the disease (transgenic female mice over expressing human angiotensinogen, which develop preeclampsia when mated with males overexpressing human renin) that the exercise-training decreases the proteinuria, cardiac hypertrophy, and vascular reactivity of placental vessels. Also, it was observed that PIGF was normalized in trained transgenic mice (Falcao et al., 2010). Studies done on humans have shown that aerobic exercise is an effective tool in maternal weight gain and cardiovascular risk control during pregnancy (Clapp, 2008; Lamina and Agbanusi, 2013) and that physiological basis of preeclampsia are both vascular dysfunction and oxidative stress, which improve with exercise-training (Goto et al., 2007; Brown and Garovic, 2011). However, evidence related with the beneficial effect of exercise-training on vascular function and preeclampsia prevention in pregnant women is scarce (Yeo et al., 2000). In this context, Ramírez-Vélez et al. (2013) demonstrated that exercise-training during pregnancy led to a 2-fold increase in eNOS expression and 4-fold increase in NO production in placental cytosol, as well as, 6% decrease in O_2^- level and 26% in H_2O_2 production rate in human placental mitochondria. The training program consisted in 32 sessions, each session included 30-min of aerobic circuit training accompanied by an audio music recording and instructions which guided the participants to exercise at each station for approximately 1 min per station in a circuit of 10 stations. In a similar way of previously reported data by Gilbert in rats, there is an increase in placental efficiency (fetal weight/placental weight) in exercised-trained pregnant women. These responses are triggered, presumably, by exercise-induced shear stress (Ramírez-Vélez et al., 2013). Additionally, it has been observed that 20 min of moderate-intensity cycle ergometry is effective for improving angiogenic markers: higher serum PIGF and lower sFlt-1 and sEng concentrations in late gestation (Weissgerber et al., 2010). Regarding the effect of exercise and changes of lifestyle for control or prevention of GDM, a recent publication concludes that there is no strong evidence to support the benefits of exercise on insulin resistance or glucose tolerance in these patients, although they are known the effects on vascular function, oxidative stress and insulin tolerance in humans (Weissgerber et al., 2010; Halperin and Feig, 2014; Rynders et al., 2014). Additionally, it has been described that insulin influences beneficial changes in insulin signaling and NO/ROS synthesis in GDM placenta (Sobrevia and González, 2009; Westermeier et al., 2011). Interestingly, there is a new protocol being applied in New Zealand called IMPROVE. In this study, pregnant women (aged 18-40 years) with a BMI $525 \ge 25$ kg/m2 and will be subjected to an exercise regime that consists of home-based stationary cycling. Researchers will collect anthropometric data of mothers and children together with different metabolic and cardiovascular parameters (Seneviratne et al., 2014). In the future, it will be very important to follow these and others trials outcomes, aiming to determine if exercise, its type and intensity, improves cardiovascular parameters with special interest in the mechanism induced by shear stress in placental circulation. In a recent report, the effect was determined of 20 min/day of treadmill exercise in pregnant sow, on vascular function of the femoral artery from porcine offspring at 3, 5, or 9 months of age. Although it was not possible to determine changes in endothelial function, overall, this report demonstrates, for the first time, that maternal exercise during pregnancy can induce long-term vascular programming in adult offspring. The authors determined a decreased of relaxation in response to sodium nitroprusside (NO donor) and high levels of the regulatory subunit of myosin phosphatase MYPT1 in femoral artery of porcine (3 months age) from exercised pregnant sows (Bahls et al., 2014). The main limitation of this study is the use of only the femoral artery for the determination of vascular reactivity and protein expression, in detriment of resistance vessels, or directly determine the changes in placental or uterine vascular beds from exercised mothers. Also for the determination of molecular changes in endothelial function, isolation of endothelial cells is necessary for in vitro determination of protein expression to avoid the overlap with protein profiles of SMC. Even so, this work opens new possibilities in the exploration of the effects of exercise during pregnancy, however, more evidence is necessary in order to clarify the subjacent mechanism that induce the cited beneficial effects. In this context, a previous study shows that exercise in late gestation increases the umbilical blood flow without changes in fetal weight, showing a potential effect of exercise on umbilical vein function that could be related with molecular mechanisms influenced by shear stress (Harris et al., 2013). These data suggest that the potential role of physical activity or exercise-training could be different in healthy and pathological pregnancy, where the exercise on the last (i.e., GDM, preeclampsia, hypertension, and obesity) has potential to improve fetoplacental function. In this regard, in a mouse model of preeclampsia superimposed on chronic hypertension induced by overexpression of renin-angiotensin system, exercise before and during pregnancy decreased mean arterial pressure and induced normalization of VEGF and sFlt-1 placental and plasma levels at the end of gestation. These findings show that preeclampsia is associated with an anti-angiogenic shift that is initiated by the placenta, and exercise-training restores angiogenic balance (Genest et al., 2013). This last idea supports the notion that exercise-training improves several parameters associated with the development of preeclampsia such as the risk of CVD, DM2, and improves the maternal health in patients at risk for preeclampsia (Genest et al., 2012).

Thus, mechanisms associated with benefits of exercise include: (1) VEGF-induced angiogenesis in early placentation due to short

hypoxic events induced by redistribution of blood during exercise; (2) High levels of PIGF and reduction of circulating sFlt-1 and sEng in late gestation of exercised women; (3) High resistance against oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation, (4) Lower levels of endothelin-1 (vasoconstrictor) and high expression of eNOS and antioxidant enzymes, increasing the bioavailability of NO (Genest et al., 2012).

Even though studies are still scarce and controversial, new findings show the potential role of exercise-training on placental endothelial function. It is necessary to increase and improve experimental evidence, with carefully designed protocols on time and type of interventions, exploring molecular mechanisms in isolated endothelial cells and SMC from uterine (mother), placenta, umbilical cord (placental tissue), and systemic resistance vessels in offspring. The combination of animal models and human trials will give new insights about the benefits of exercise to avoid deleterious effects of pre-gestational and gestational diseases that are growing in the human population.

PERSPECTIVES

Evidence shows that hemodynamic stimulus plays a crucial role in modulating synthesis and bioavailability of endothelial NO both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. This allows us to provide the experimental evidence that supports the positive effects of physiological shear stress and exercise-induced shear stress in systemic and placental circulation.

The role of eNOS and VEGF in the regulation of physiological responses to shear stress is well known, and there is increasing evidence about the benefits of physical exercise (acute or



FIGURE 1 | Proposal model for regulation of FMV in placental vasculature in response to exercise. Moderate exercise during pregnancy could improve the placental vascular response to shear stress in a mechanism that involves mechano-transduction induced by extracellular signals by a complex mechanism that includes activity of voltage (K_v), ATP (K_{ATP}) and K_{Ca} , GPCRs, tyrosine-kinase receptors (TKRs) and VEGFR. Activation of this mechanism induces a signaling pathway that causes high phosphorylation (*p*-Ser1177) and activity in eNOS mediated by $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin$ (Ca^{2+}/CAM) and protein kinase B (PKB/Akt). Decreased synthesis as well as reduced accumulation of ROS contributes to improve the bioavailability of NO. Activity of eNOS involves activity of hCAT-1, a protein co-expressed with cav-1 in caveolae (not shown), which is essential for NO synthesis. Diffusion of NO to smooth muscle cell (SMC) induces the activation of sGC and vascular smooth muscle relaxation.
training-exercise programs) for cardiovascular health. However, evidence about the effects of physical exercise on fetal and placental circulation remains obscure, mainly because of little information based on controlled trials in human pregnant women. In **Figure 1** we postulate a potential mechanism for response to exercise of placental vasculature, considering direct evidence and results obtained from systemic circulation and *in vitro* umbilical vasculature.

The endothelium is an inexhaustible source of cardioprotective substances which can be induced by exercise. For that reason, exercise-training can be considered an effective, economical and natural protector. Furthermore, light and moderate exercise does not have adverse effects, which cannot be said for the best medication synthesized in the pharmaceutical industry. These features, and the strong evidence about the high proportion of obesity and metabolic syndrome in pregnant women, demonstrate that the relevance of obtaining better knowledge about the effect of exercise-induced shear stress in fetoplacental vasculature.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was funded by FONDECYT 11100192 (Chile) and is part of the thesis of Ivan Rodríguez to obtain the degree of Masters in Human Physiology (Faculty of Biological Sciences, Universidad de Concepción, Chile).

REFERENCES

- Abate, D. T., Barbosa Neto, O., Rossi e Silva, R. C., Faleiros, A. C., Correa, R. R., da Silva, V. J., et al. (2012). Exercise-training reduced blood pressure and improve placental vascularization in pregnant spontaneously hypertensive rats – pilot study. *Fetal Pediatr. Pathol.* 31, 423–431. doi: 10.3109/15513815.2012.659535
- Aird, W. (2007). Phenotypic heterogeneity of the endothelium: I. Structure, function, and mechanisms. *Circ. Res.* 100, 158–173. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000255691.76142.4a
- Alderton, A., Faustman, C., Liebler, D., and Hill, D. W. (2003). Induction of redox instability of bovine myoglobin by adduction with 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. *Biochemistry* 42, 4398–4405. doi: 10.1021/bi0271695
- Amorim, M. F., dos Santos, J. A., Hirabara, S. M., Nascimento, E., de Souza, S. L., de Castro, R. M., et al. (2009). Can physical exercise during gestation attenuate the effects of a maternal perinatal low-protein diet on oxygen consumption in rats? *Exp. Physiol.* 94, 906–913. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2009.047621
- Antoniades, C., Shirodaria, C., Warrick, N., Cai, S., de Bono, J., Lee, J., et al. (2006). 5-methyltetrahydrofolate rapidly improves endothelial function and decreases superoxide production in human vessels: effects on vascular tetrahydrobiopterin availability and endothelial nitric oxide synthase coupling. *Circulation* 114, 1193– 1201. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.612325
- Bahls, M., Sheldon, R. D., Taheripour, P., Clifford, K. A., Foust, K. B., Breslin, E. D., et al. (2014). Mother's exercise during pregnancy programmes vasomotor function in adult offspring. *Exp. Physiol.* 99, 205–219. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2013.075978
- Birk, G. K., Dawson, E. A., Atkinson, C., Haynes, A., Cable, N. T., Thijssen, D. H., et al. (2012). Brachial artery adaptation to lower limb exercise training: role of shear stress. J. Appl. Physiol. 112, 1653–1658. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01489.2011
- Boyd, N. L., Heonyoung, P., Hong, Y., Chool, B., George, P. S., Michelle, S., et al. (2003). Chronic shear induces caveolae formation and alters ERK and Akt responses in endothelial cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 285, H1113–H1122. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00302.2003
- Brown, C. M., and Garovic, V. D. (2011). Mechanisms and management of hypertension in pregnant women. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 13, 338–346. doi: 10.1007/s11906-011-0214-y
- Carr, A. C., McCall, M. R., and Frei, B. (2000). Oxidation of LDL by myeloperoxidase and reactive nitrogen species: reaction pathways and antioxidant protection. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 20, 1716–1723. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.20.7.1716
- Chow, C. K., Jolly, S., Rao-Melacini, P., Fox, K. A., Anand, S. S., and Yusuf, S. (2010). Association of diet, exercise, and smoking modification with risk of early

cardiovascular events after acute coronary syndromes. *Circulation* 121, 750–758. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.891523

- Clapp, J. F. III. (2008). Long-term outcome after exercising throughout pregnancy: fitness and cardiovascular risk. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 199, 489.e1–489.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2008.05.006
- Das, M., and Das, D. (2012). Caveolae, caveolin, and cavins: potential targets for the treatment of cardiac disease. Ann. Med. 44, 530–541. doi: 10.3109/07853890.2011.577445
- De la Paz, N., Walshe, T., Leach, L., Saint-Geniez, M., and D'Amore, P. (2012). Role of shear-stress-induced VEGF expression in endothelial cell survival. *J. Cell Sci.* 125(Pt 4), 831–843. doi: 10.1242/jcs.084301
- de Mélo Montenegro, I. H., Moita, L., Dos Reis, F. K., de Oliveira, E., Lisboa, P. C., de Moura, E. G., et al. (2012). Effects of a moderate physical training on the leptin synthesis by adipose tissue of adult rats submitted to a perinatal low-protein diet. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 44, 814–818. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1316350
- Dhein, S., Kabat, A., Olbrich, A., Rösen, P., Schröder, H., and Mohr, F. W. (2003). Effect of chronic treatment with vitamin E on endothelial dysfunction in a type I in vivo diabetes mellitus model and in vitro. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 305, 114–122. doi: 10.1124/jpet.102.045740
- Dworakowski, R., Alom-Ruiz, S. P., and Shah, A. M. (2008). NADPH oxidase-derived reactive oxygen species in the regulation of endothelial phenotype. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 60, 21–28.
- Endemann, D., and Schiffrin, E. (2004). Nitric oxide, oxidative excess, and vascular complications of diabetes mellitus. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 6, 85–89. doi: 10.1007/s11906-004-0081-x
- Escudero, C., Bertoglia, P., Muñoz, F., and Roberts, J. M. (2013). Uric acid and purine plasma levels as plausible markers for placental dysfunction in preeclampsia. *Rev. Med. Chil.* 141, 895–902. doi: 10.4067/S0034-98872013000 700009
- Escudero, C., and Sobrevia, L. (2008). A hypothesis for preeclampsia: adenosine and inducible nitric oxide synthase in human placental microvascular endothelium. *Placenta* 29, 469–483. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2008.02.008
- Falcao, S., Bisotto, S., Michel, C., Lacasse, A. A., Vaillancourt, C., Gutkowska, J., et al. (2010). Exercise training can attenuate preeclampsia-like features in an animal model. *J. Hypertens.* 28, 2446–2453. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e32833e97d0
- Feng, L., Liao, W. X., Luo, Q., Zhang, H. H., Wang, W., Zheng, J., et al. (2012). Caveolin-1 orchestrates fibroblast growth factor 2 signaling control of angiogenesis in placental artery endothelial cell caveolae. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 227, 2480–2491. doi: 10.1002/jcp.22984
- Fidalgo, M., Falcão-Tebas, F., Bento-Santos, A., de Oliveira, E., Nogueira-Neto, J. F., de Moura, E. G., et al. (2013). Programmed changes in the adult rat offspring caused by maternal protein restriction during gestation and lactation are attenuated by maternal moderate-low physical training. *Br. J. Nutr.* 109, 449–456. doi: 10.1017/S0007114512001316
- Fox, S., and Khong, T. (1990). Lack of innervation of human umbilical cord. An immunohistological and histochemical study. *Placenta* 11, 59–62. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(05)80443-6
- Friedman, M., Bargeron, C., Deters, O., Hutchins, G., and Mark, F. (1987). Correlation between wall shear and intimal thickness at a coronary artery branch. *Atherosclerosis* 68, 27–33. doi: 10.1016/0021-9150(87)90090-6
- Gautam, M., Shen, Y., Thirkill, T., Douglas, G., and Barakat, A. (2006). Flowactivated chloride channels in vascular endothelium. Shear stress sensitivity, desensitization dynamics and physiological implications. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 36492–36500. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M605866200
- Genest, D. S., Falcao, S., Gutkowska, J., and Lavoie, J. L. (2012). Impact of exercise training on preeclampsia: potential preventive mechanisms. *Hypertension* 60, 1104–1109. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.112.194050
- Genest, D. S., Falcao, S., Michel, C., Kajla, S., Germano, M. F., Lacasse, A. A., et al. (2013). Novel role of the renin-angiotensin system in preeclampsia superimposed on chronic hypertension and the effects of exercise in a mouse model. *Hypertension* 62, 1055–1061. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.01983
- Giddens, D., Zarins, C., and Glagov, S. (1993). The role of fluid mechanics in the localization and detection of atherosclerosis. *J. Biomech. Eng.* 115, 588–594. doi: 10.1115/1.2895545
- Gilbert, J., Banek, C., Bauer, A., Gingery, A., and Needham, K. (2012a). Exercise training attenuates placental ischemia-induced hypertension and angiogenic imbalance in the rat. *Hypertension* 60, 1545–1551. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTEN-SIONAHA.112.202275

- Gilbert, J. S., Banek, C. T., Bauer, A. J., Gingery, A., and Dreyer, H. C. (2012b). Placental and vascular adaptations to exercise training before and during pregnancy in the rat. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 303, R520–R526. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00253.2012
- González, M., Flores, C., Pearson, J., Casanello, P., and Sobrevia, L. (2004). Cell signalling-mediating insulin increase of mRNA expression for cationic amino acid transporters-1 and -2 and membrane hyperpolarization in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Pflugers Arch.* 448, 383–394. doi: 10.1007/s00424-004-1261-x
- González, M., Gallardo, V., Rodríguez, N., Salomón, C., Westermeier, F., Guzmán-Gutiérrez, E., et al. (2011). Insulin-stimulated L-arginine transport requires SLC7A1 gene expression and is associated with human umbilical vein relaxation. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 226, 2916–2924. doi: 10.1002/jcp.22635
- Goto, C., Higashi, Y., Kimura, M., Noma, K., Hara, K., Nakagawa, K., et al. (2003). Effect of different intensities of exercise on endothelium-dependent vasodilation in humans: role of endothelium-dependent nitric oxide and oxidative stress. *Circulation* 108, 530–535. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000080893.55729.28
- Goto, C., Nishioka, K., Umemura, T., Jitsuiki, D., Sakagutchi, A., Kawamura, M., et al. (2007). Acute moderate-intensity exercise induces vasodilation through an increase in nitric oxide bioavailiability in humans. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 20, 825–830. doi: 10.1016/j.amjhyper.2007.02.014
- Green, D. J., Bilsborough, W., Naylor, L. H., Reed, C., Wright, J., O'Driscoll, G., et al. (2005). Comparision of forearm blood flow responses to incremental handgrip and cycle ergometer exercise: relative contribution of nitric oxide. *J. Physiol.* 562, 617–628. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.075929
- Green, D., Cheetham, C., Mavaddat, L., Watts, K., Best, M., Taylor, R., et al. (2002a). Effect of lower limb exercise on forearm vascular function: contribution of nitric oxide. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 283, H899–H907. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00049.2002
- Green, D., Cheetham, C., Reed, C., Dembo, L., and O'Driscoll, G. (2002b). Assessment of brachial artery blood flow across the cardiac cycle: retrograde flows during cycle ergometry. J. Appl. Physiol. 93, 361–368. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00051.2002
- Green, D., Dawson, E. A., Groenewoud, H. M., Jones, H., and Thijssen, D. H. (2014). Is flow-mediated dilation nitric oxide mediated?: a meta-analysis. *Hypertension* 63, 376–382. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.02044
- Gu, Y., Lewis, D. F., Zhang, Y., Groome, L. J., and Wang, Y. (2006). Increased superoxide generation and decreased stress protein Hsp90 expression in human umbilical cord vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) from pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 25, 169–182. doi: 10.1080/10641950600912950
- Gurovic, A., and Braith, R. (2012). Analysis of both pulsatile and streamline blood flow patterns during aerobic and resistance exercise. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 112, 3755–3764. doi: 10.1007/s00421-012-2367-z
- Guzmán-Gutiérrez, E., Arroyo, P., Salsoso, R., Fuenzalida, B., Sáez, T., Leiva, A., et al. (2014). Role of insulin and adenosine in the human placenta microvascular and macrovascular endothelial cell dysfunction in gestational diabetes mellitus. *Microcirculation* 21, 26–37. doi: 10.1111/micc.12077
- Hadi, H., and Suwaidi, J. (2007). Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. Vasc. Health Risk Manag. 3, 853–876. doi: 10.2147/VHRM.S
- Halperin, I. J., and Feig, D. S. (2014). The role of lifestyle interventions in the prevention of gestational diabetes. *Curr. Diab. Rep.* 14:452. doi: 10.1007/s11892-013-0452-2
- Hambrecht, R., Adams, V., Erbs, S., Linke, A., Kränkel, N., Shu, Y., et al. (2003). Regular physical activity improves endothelial function in patients with coronary artery disease by increasing phosphorylation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation* 107, 3152–3158. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000074229.93804.5C
- Hansen, C., and Nichols, B. (2010). Exploring the caves: cavins, caveolins and caveolae. *Trends Cell Biol.* 20, 177–186. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2010.01.005
- Hanson, M., and Gluckman, P. (2011). Developmental origins of health and disease: moving from biological concepts to interventions and policy. *Int. J. Gynaecol. Obstet.* 115(Suppl. 1), S3–S5. doi: 10.1016/S0020-7292(11)60003-9
- Harris, E. K., Berg, E. P., Berg, E. L., and Vonnahme, K. A. (2013). Effect of maternal activity during gestation on maternal behavior, fetal growth, umbilical blood flow, and farrowing characteristics in pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 91, 734–744. doi: 10.2527/jas.2012-5769
- Harrison, D. G., Cai, H., Landmesser, U., and Griendling, K. K. (2003). Interactions of angiotensin II with NAD(P)H oxidase, oxidant stress and

cardiovascular disease. J. Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst. 4, 51-61. doi: 10.3317/jraas.2003.014

- Heaps, C. L., and Parker, J. L. (2011). Effects of exercise training on coronary collateralization and control of collateral resistance. J. Appl. Physiol. 111, 587–598. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00338.2011
- Heran, B., Chen, J., Ebrahim, S., Moxham, T., Oldridge, N., Rees, K., et al. (2011). Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 6:CD001800. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001800.pub2
- Herranz, B., Marquez, S., Guijarro, B., Aracil, E., Aicart-Ramos, C., Rodriguez-Crespo, I., et al. (2012). Integrin-linked kinase regulates vasomotor function by preventing endothelial nitric oxide synthase uncopling. role in atherosclerosis. *Circ. Res.* 110, 439–449. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.253948
- Hoger, J. H., Ilyn, V. I., Forsyth, S., and Hoger, A. (2002). Shear stress regulates the endothelial Kir2.1 ion channel. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 7780–7785. doi: 10.1073/pnas.102184999
- Hudlicka, O., and Brown, M. (2009). Adaptation of skeletal muscle microvasculatura to increased or decreased blood flow role of shear stress, nitric oxide and vascular endothelial growth factor. J. Vasc. Res. 46, 504–512. doi: 10.1159/000226127
- Hudlicka, O., Brown, M., May, S., Zakrzewicz, A., and Pries, A. (2006). Changes in capillary shear stress in skeletal muscles exposed to long-term activity: role of nitric oxide. *Microcirculation* 13, 249–259. doi: 10.1080/10739680600556951
- Inoue, T., Matsuoka, H., Higashi, Y., Ueda, S., Sata, M., Shimada, K., et al. (2008). Flow-mediated vasodilation as a diagnostic modality for vascular failure. *Hypertens. Res.* 31, 2105–2113. doi: 10.1291/hypres.31.2105
- Jacob, M., Rehm, M., Loetsch, M., Paul, J. O., Bruegger, D., Welsch, U., et al. (2007). The endothelial glycocalyx prefers albumin for evoking shear stressinduced, nitric oxide-mediated coronary dilatation. J. Vasc. Res. 44, 435–443. doi: 10.1159/000104871
- Johnson, B., Mather, K., and Wallace, J. (2011). Mechanotransduction of shear stress in the endothelium: basic studies and clinical implications. *Vasc. Med.* 16, 365–377. doi: 10.1177/1358863X11422109
- Kalinowski, L., and Malinski, T. (2004). Endothelial NADH/NADPH-dependent enzymatic sources of superoxide production: relationship to endothelial dysfunction. *Acta Biochim. Pol.* 51, 459–469.
- Kopp, W. (2005). Role of high-insulinogenic nutrition in the etiology of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Med. Hypotheses* 64, 101–103. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2004.06.004
- Kozlov, S., Balachonova, T., Machmudova, H., Tripoten, M., Andreevskaya, M., Rogoza, A., et al. (2012). Carotid atherosclerosis, endothelial disfunction, and arterial stiffness in young and middle-aged men with coronary artery disease. *Int. J. Vasc. Med.* 2012:950130. doi: 10.1155/2012/950130
- Kublickiene, K., Lindblom, B., Krüger, K., and Nisell, H. (2000). Preeclampsia: evidence for impaired shear stress-mediated nitric oxide release in uterine circulation. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 183, 160–166. doi: 10.1067/mob.2000.105820
- Kumagai, R., Lu, X., and Kassab, G. S. (2009). Role of glycocalyx in flow-induced production of nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 47, 600–607. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2009.05.034
- Lambeth, J. D. (2004). NOX enzymes and the biology of reactive oxygen. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 4, 181–189. doi: 10.1038/nri1312
- Lamina, S., and Agbanusi, E. (2013). Effect of aerobic exercise training on maternal weight gain in pregnancy: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Ethiop. J. Health Sci.* 23, 59–64.
- Lee, S., Park, Y., and Zhang, C. (2011). Exercise training prevents coronary endothelial dysfunction in type 2 diabetic mice. Am. J. Biomed. Sci. 3, 241–252. doi: 10.5099/aj110400241
- Li, J., and Shah, A. (2004). Endothelial cell superoxide generation: regulation and relevance for cardiovascular pathophysiology. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 287, R1014–R1030. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00124.2004
- Li, Y., Zheng, J., Bird, I., and Magness, R. (2005). Effects of pulsatile shear stress on signaling mechanisms controlling nitric oxide production, endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation, and expression in ovine fetoplacental artery endothelial cells. *Endothelium* 12, 21–39. doi: 10.1080/10623320590933743
- Link, G., Clark, K., and Lang, U. (2007). Umbilical blood flow during pregnancy: evidence for decreasing placental perfusion. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 196, 489.e1– 489.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2006.11.017
- Luiking, Y. C., Engelen, M. P., and Deutz, N. E. (2010). Regulation of the nitric oxide production in health and disease. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 10, 97–104. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e328332f99d

- Lyden, T. W., Anderson, C. L., and Robinson, J. M. (2002). The endothelium but not the syncytiotrophoblast of human placenta expresses caveolae. *Placenta* 23, 640–652. doi: 10.1053/plac.2002.0847
- McDonald, K. K., Zharikov, S., Block, E. R., and Kilberg, M. S. (1997). A caveolar complex between the cationic amino acid transporter 1 and endothelial nitricoxide synthase may explain the "arginine paradox." J. Biol. Chem. 272, 31213– 31216. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.50.31213
- Mohanty, S., Anderson, C. L., and Robinson, J. M. (2010). The expression of caveolin-1 and the distribution of caveolae in the murine placenta and yolk sac: parallels to the human placenta. *Placenta* 31 144–150. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.11.007
- Myatt, L. (1992). Control of vascular resistance in the human placenta. *Placenta* 13, 329–341. doi: 10.1016/0143-4004(92)90057-Z
- Naylor, L. H., Carter, H., FitzSimons, M. G., Cable, T., Thijssen, D. H., and Green, D. J. (2011). Repeated increases in blood flow, independent of exercise, enhance conduit artery vasodilator function in humans. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 300, H664–H669. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00985.2010
- Nilius, B., and Broogmans, G. (2001). Ion channels and their functional role in vascular endothelium. *Physiol. Rev.* 81, 1415–1459.
- Pan, A., Malik, V. S., and Hu, F. B. (2012). Exporting diabetes mellitus to Asia: the impact of Western-style fast food. *Circulation* 126, 163–165. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.115923
- Pan, Y. M., Yao, Y. Z., Zhu, Z. H., Sun, X. T., Qiu, Y. D., and Ding, Y. T. (2006). Caveolin-1 is important for nitric oxide-mediated angiogenesis in fibrin gels with human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* 27, 1567–1574. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-7254.2006.00462.x
- Qian, H., and Chi, Y. (2012). Aging-shifted prostaglandin profile in endothelium as a factor in cardiovascular disorders. J. Aging Res. 2012:121390. doi: 10.1155/2012/121390
- Ramírez-Vélez, R., Bustamante, J., Czerniczyniec, A., Aguilar de Plata, A., and Lores-Arnaiz, S. (2013). Effect of exercise training on eNos expression, NO production and oxygen metabolism in human placenta. *PLoS ONE* 8:e80225. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080225
- Rask-Madsen, C., and King, G. (2008). More sugar, less blood vessels: another piece in the puzzle of increased cardiovascular risk in diabetes. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 28, 608–610. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.162057
- Reneman, R. S., Arts, T., and Hoeks, A. P. (2006). Wall shear stress-an important determinant of endothelial cell function and structure-in the arterial system in vivo. Discrepancies with theory. J. Vasc. Res. 43, 251–269. doi: 10.1159/000091648
- Rolo, A., and Palmeira, C. (2006). Diabetes and mitochondrial function: role of hyperglycemia and oxidative stress. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 212, 167–178. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2006.01.003
- Rynders, C. A., Weltman, J. Y., Jiang, B., Breton, M., Patrie, J., Barrett, E. J., et al. (2014). Effects of exercise intensity on postprandial improvement in glucose disposal and insulin sensitivity in prediabetic adults. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 99, 220–228. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2687
- Santos-García, D., Rodríguez-Yáñez, M., Arias-Rivas, S., and Blanco, M. (2011). Brachial arterial flow mediated dilation: utility in clinical and experimental practice. *Rev. Neurol.* 53, 351–360.
- Savoia, C., Sada, L., Zezza, L., Pucci, L., Francesco, M. L., Befani, A., et al. (2011). Vascular inflammation and endothelial dysfunction in experimental hypertension. *Int. J. Hypertens*. 2011:281240. doi: 10.4061/2011/281240
- Seals, D., Jablonski, K., and Donato, A. (2011). Aging and vascular endothelial function in humans. *Clin. Sci. (Lond.)* 120, 357–375. doi: 10.1042/CS20100476
- Seneviratne, S., Parry, G., McCowan, L., Ekeroma, A., Jiang, Y., and Gusso, S. (2014). Antenatal exercise in overweight and obese women and its effects on offspring and maternal health: design and rationale of the IMPROVE (Improving Maternal and Progeny Obesity Via Exercise) randomised controlled trial. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 14:148. doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-14-148
- Shibuya, M. (2013). Vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptor system: physiological functions in angiogenesis and pathological roles in various diseases. *J. Biochem.* 153, 13–19. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvs136
- Shibuya, M. (2014). VEGF-VEGFR signals in health and disease. *Biomol. Ther.* (*Seoul*) 22, 1–9. doi: 10.4062/biomolther.2013.113
- Shin, S., Mohan, S., and Fung, H. L. (2011). Intracellular L-arginine concentration does not determine NO production in endothelial cells: implications on the "L-arginine paradox." *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 414, 660–663. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.09.112

- Sobrevia, L., Cesare, P., Yudilevich, D. L., and Mann, G. E. (1995). Diabetes-induced activation of system y+ and nitric oxide synthase in human endothelial cells: association with membrane hyperpolarization. *J. Physiol.* 489, 183–192.
- Sobrevia, L., and González, M. (2009). A role for insulin on L-arginine transport in fetal endothelial dysfunction in hyperglycaemia. *Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol.* 7, 467–474. doi: 10.2174/157016109789043919
- Sonveaux, P., Martinive, P., DeWever, J., Batova, Z., Daneau, G., Pelat, M., et al. (2004). Caveolin-1 expression is critical for vascular endothelial growth factor-induced ischemic hind limb collateralization and nitric oxide-mediated angiogenesis. *Circ. Res.* 95, 154–161. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000136344.27825.72
- Sowa, G. (2012). Caveolae, caveolins, cavins, and endothelial cell function: new insights. *Front. Physiol.* 2:120. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2011.00120
- Sprague, B., Chesler, N. C., and Magness, R. R. (2010). Shear stress regulation of nitric oxide production in uterine and placental artery endothelial cells: experimental studies and hemodynamic models of shear stresses on endothelial cells. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 54, 331–339. doi: 10.1387/ijdb.082832bs
- Sukharev, S., and Sachs, F. (2012). Molecular force transduction by ion channels: diversity and unifying principles. J. Cell. Sci. 125, 3075–3083. doi: 10.1242/jcs.092353
- Suo, J., Oshinski, J., and Giddens, D. (2008). Blood flow patterns in the proximal human coronary arteries: relationship to atherosclerotic plaque occurrence. *Mol. Cell. Biomech.* 5, 9–18. doi: 10.3970/mcb.2008.005.009.pdf
- Suzuki, J. (2006). L-Arginine supplementation causes additional effects on exerciseinduced angiogenesis and VEGF expression in the heart and hind-leg muscles of middle-aged rats. J. Physiol. Sci. 56, 39–44. doi: 10.2170/physiolsci.RP000505
- Thijssen, D. H., Dawson, E. A., Tinken, T. M., Timothy, C. N., and Green, D. (2009). Retrograde flow and shear rate acutely impair endothelial function in humans. *Hypertension* 53, 986–992. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109. 131508
- Tinken, T., Thijssen, D. H., Hopkins, N., Black, M. A., Dawson, E., Minson, C. T., et al. (2009). Impact of shear rate modulation on vascular function in humans. *Hypertension* 54, 278–285. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.134361
- Tinken, T. M., Thijssen, D. H., Black, M. A., Cable, T., and Green, D. J. (2008). Time course of change in vasodilator function and capacity in response to exercise training in humans. J. Physiol. 586, 5003–5012. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2008.158014
- Tinken, T. M., Thijssen, D. H., Hopkins, N., Dawson, E. A., Timothy, C. N., and Green, D. J. (2010). Shear stress mediates endothelial adaptations to exercise training in humans. *Hypertension* 55, 312–318. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSION-AHA.109.146282
- Turgut, S., Kaptanoğlu, B., Emmungil, G., and Turgut, G. (2006). Increased plasma levels of growth hormone, insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I and IGF-binding protein 3 in pregnant rats with exercise. *Tohoku J. Exp. Med.* 208, 75–81. doi: 10.1620/tjem.208.75
- Valko, M., Leibfritz, D., Moncol, J., Cronin, M. T., Mazur, M., and Telser, J. (2007). Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 39, 44–84. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2006. 07.001
- Veas, C., Aguilera, V., Muñoz, I., Gallardo, V., Miguel, P., González, M., et al. (2011). Fetal endothelium dysfunction is associated with circulating maternal levels of sE-selectin, sVCAM1, and sFlt-1 during pre-eclampsia. J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med. 24, 1371–1377. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2011.556204
- Wareing, M. (2014). Oxygen sensitivity, potassium channels, and regulation of placental vascular tone. *Microcirculation* 21, 58–66. doi: 10.1111/micc. 12069
- Wareing, M., Bai, X., Seghier, F., Turner, C., Greenwood, S., Baker, P., et al. (2006). Expression and function of potassium channels in the human placental vasculature. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 291, R437–R446. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00040.2006
- Weissgerber, T. L., Davies, G. A., and Roberts, J. M. (2010). Modification of angiogenic factors by regular and acute exercise during pregnancy. J. Appl. Physiol. 108, 1217–1223. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00008.2010
- Westermeier, F., Salomón, C., González, M., Puebla, C., Guzmán-Gutiérrez, E., Cifuentes, F., et al. (2011). Insulin restores gestational diabetes mellitus-reduced adenosine transport involving differential expression of insulin receptor isoforms in human umbilical vein endothelium. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 60, 1677–1687. doi: 10.2337/db11-0155
- Wieczorek, K., Brewer, A., and Myatt, L. (1995). Shear stress may stimulate release and action of nitric oxide in the human fetal-placental vasculature.

Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 173(3Pt 1), 708–713. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(95) 90327-5

- Yang, C., Canton, G., Ferguson, M., Hatsukami, T., and Tang, D. (2010). Advanced human carotid plaque progression correlates positively with flow shear stress using follow-up scan data: an in vivo MRI multi-patient 3D FSI study. *J. Biomech.* 43, 2530–2538. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2010.05.018
- Yang, H., Yan, Z., Abraham, J. A., and Terjung, R. L. (2001). VEFG121-and bFGFinduced increase in collateral blood flow requires normalnictic oxide production. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 280, H1097–H1104
- Yee, A., Bosworth, K. A., Conway, D. E., Eskin, S. G., McIntire, E., and McIntire, L. V. (2008). Gene expression of endothelial cells under pulsatile non-reversing vs. Steady shear stress; comparision of nitric oxide production. *Ann. Biomed. Eng.* 36, 571–579. doi: 10.1007/s10439-008-9452-9
- Yeo, S., Steele, N. M., Chang, M. C., Leclaire, S. M., Ronis, D. L. and Hayashi, R. (2000). Effect of exercise on blood pressure in pregnant women with a high risk of gestational hypertensive disorders. *J. Reprod. Med.* 45, 293–298. Erratum in: *J. Reprod. Med.* 45:607.
- Yu, J., Bergaya, S., Murata, T., Alp, I. F., Bauer, M. P., Lin, M. I., et al. (2006). Direct evidence for the role of caveolin-1 and caveolae in mechanotransduction and remodeling of blood vessels. *J. Clin. Invest.* 116, 1284–1291. doi: 10.1172/JCI27100
- Zhang, C., and Ning, Y. (2011). Effect of dietary and lifestyle factors on the risk of gestational diabetes: review of epidemiologic evidence. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 94, 1975S–1979S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.110.001032

Zhang, J., and Friedman, M. (2012). Adaptative response of vascular endothelial cells to an acute increase in shear stress magnitude. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 302, H983–H991. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.0016

Conflict of Interest Statement: The Guest Associate Editor, Dr. Carlos Alonso Escudero, declares that despite having collaborated with author Marcelo Gonzalez in the past 2 years, there has been no conflict of interest during the review and handling of this manuscript. The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 04 May 2014; accepted: 26 August 2014; published online: 16 September 2014.

Citation: Rodríguez I and González M (2014) Physiological mechanisms of vascular response induced by shear stress and effect of exercise in systemic and placental circulation. Front. Pharmacol. 5:209. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00209

This article was submitted to Cardiovascular and Smooth Muscle Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Rodríguez and González. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Modulation of endothelial cell migration by ER stress and insulin resistance: a role during maternal obesity?

Pablo J. Sáez¹, Roberto Villalobos-Labra¹, Francisco Westermeier^{1,2,3}, Luis Sobrevia^{1,4,5} and Marcelo Farías-Jofré¹*

¹ Cellular and Molecular Physiology Laboratory, Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, School of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

² Facultad de Ciencia, Universidad San Sebastián, Santiago, Chile

³ Advanced Center for Chronic Diseases, Faculty of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Sciences and Faculty of Medicine, University of Chile, Santiago, Chile

⁴ University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research, Faculty of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University of Queensland, Herston, QL, Australia

⁵ Faculty of Pharmacy, Universidad de Sevilla, Sevilla, Spain

Edited by:

Martin Michel, Boehringer Ingelheim Pharma GmbH & Co KG, Germany

Reviewed by:

Martin Michel, Boehringer Ingelheim Pharma GmbH & Co KG, Germany Tereza Cindrova-Davies, University of Cambridge, UK

*Correspondence:

Marcelo Farías-Jofré, Cellular and Molecular Physiology Laboratory, Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, School of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Marcoleta 391, P. O. Box 114-D, Santiago 8330024, Chile e-mail: mfarias@med.puc.cl

Adverse microenvironmental stimuli can trigger the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress pathway, which initiates the unfolded protein response (UPR), to restore protein-folding homeostasis. Several studies show induction of ER stress during obesity. Chronic UPR has been linked to different mechanisms of disease in obese and diabetic individuals, including insulin resistance (IR) and impaired angiogenesis. Endothelial cell (EC) migration is an initial step for angiogenesis, which is associated with remodeling of existing blood vessels. EC migration occurs according to the leader-follower model, involving coordinated processes of chemotaxis, haptotaxis, and mechanotaxis. Thus, a fine-tuning of EC migration is necessary to provide the right timing to form the required vessels during angiogenesis. ER stress modulates EC migration at different levels, usually impairing migration and angiogenesis, although different effects may be observed depending on the tissue and/or microenvironment. In the context of pregnancy, maternal obesity (MO) induces IR in the offspring. Interestingly, several proteins associated with obesity-induced IR are also involved in EC migration, providing a potential link with the ER stress-dependent alterations observed in obese individuals. Different signaling cascades that converge on cytoskeleton regulation directly impact EC migration, including the Akt and/or RhoA pathways. In addition, ER is the main intracellular reservoir for Ca²⁺, which plays a pivotal role during EC migration. Therefore, ER stress-related alterations in Ca²⁺ signaling or Ca²⁺ levels might also produce distorted EC migration. However, the above findings have been studied in the context of adult obesity, and no information has been reported regarding the effect of MO on fetal EC migration. Here we summarize the state of knowledge about the possible mechanisms by which ER stress and IR might impact EC migration and angiogenesis in fetal endothelium exposed to MO during pregnancy.

Keywords: mesenchymal migration, unfolded protein response, RhoA, Akt, Scrib, polarization, cytoskeleton

INTRODUCTION

Endoplasmic reticulum is the major subcellular membrane organelle, playing a pivotal role in synthesis, folding and maturation of proteins, and providing the main Ca^{2+} reservoir inside the cell (Berridge et al., 2003; Cnop et al., 2012; Hetz

et al., 2013). Under certain conditions, the environment induces ER stress and further activation of the UPR, which triggers a cascade of signaling events to restore protein-folding homeostasis (Kozutsumi et al., 1988). This cellular condition, known as ER stress, is induced by different types of stimuli, such as accumulation of unfolded proteins, fatty acids, cytokines, redox state dysregulation, and increased intracellular Ca²⁺ levels (Kozutsumi et al., 1988; Hotamisligil, 2010; Cnop et al., 2012; Fu et al., 2012; Garg et al., 2012; Hetz et al., 2013). Moreover, ER stress is linked to different diseases, including cancer, type II diabetes, and obesity (Hotamisligil, 2010; Cnop et al., 2012; Hetz et al., 2013). Importantly, most if not all of these pathologies are associated with vascular pathologies such as distorted angiogenesis or endothelial dysfunction (Minamino and Kitakaze, 2010; Basha et al., 2012). By affecting EC physiology, ER stress contributes to the vascular dysfunction observed in diabetic retinopathy, cancer, obesity, atherosclerosis, and ischemia (Amin et al., 2012; Hetz et al., 2013;

Abbreviations: 2-DG, 2-deoxy-D-glucose; ATF6, activating transcription factor 6; BiP/GRP78, immunoglobulin binding protein; BMI, body mass index; CHOP-10, C/EBP homologous protein-10; EC, endothelial cell; eIF2 α , eukaryotic translational initiation factor 2 α ; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; GSK, Akt/glycogen synthase kinase; HUVECs, human umbilical vein endothelial cells; IFN- γ , interferon γ ; IL, interleukin; IR, insulin resistance; IRE1, inositol-requiring enzyme 1 α ; MCPIP, monocyte chemotactic protein-induced protein; MO, maternal obesity; PERK, PKR-like eukaryotic initiation factor 2 α kinase; PIP₃, phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate; RhoA, Ras homolog family member A; Scrib, scribbled planar cell polarity protein; SERCA, sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase pump; SFIt-1, soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor α ; UPR, unfolded protein response; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; XBP1, X-box binding protein 1.

Zeng et al., 2013; Paridaens et al., 2014). One of the most relevant functions of EC is angiogenesis, which is the capacity to form new capillary vessels (Lamalice et al., 2007). Interestingly, ER stress affects two of the basic mechanisms that contribute to angiogenesis (Lamalice et al., 2007): VEGF signaling, and EC migration (Iwawaki et al., 2009; Ghosh et al., 2010; Pereira et al., 2010; Banerjee et al., 2011; Zeng et al., 2013; Paridaens et al., 2014). However, obesity might impact EC migration directly through ER stress and induced IR; Westermeier et al., 2014), because several of the involved proteins, such as RhoA and Akt (also called protein kinase B), also modulate EC migration (Lamalice et al., 2007).

As expected, the development of obesity in adults produces altered angiogenic responses in adipose tissue (Christiaens and Lijnen, 2010). However, in the context of pregnancy, MO not only affects the mother but also can permanently damage fetal tissues [American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG), 2005]. Thus, the adverse intrauterine environment in MO pregnancies could modulate offspring physiology (Bruyndonckx et al., 2013), leading to in utero development of IR (Catalano et al., 2009), which ultimately might affect EC migration and angiogenesis. In support of this notion, MO is associated with alterations in serum levels of angiogenic markers (Zera et al., 2014) and changes in VEGF receptor expression patterns in the placenta (Dubova et al., 2011; Saben et al., 2014). Interestingly, very recent studies show that MO induces ER stress in offspring in murine models (Melo et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2014), suggesting that distortions in EC migration and angiogenesis might occur. Since cell migration commands angiogenesis, our goal is to give an integrative overview of how MO-induced ER stress and IR might affect the migratory potential of EC and hence angiogenesis in the offspring, with deleterious consequences for the offspring's development.

ER STRESS AND THE UNFOLDED PROTEIN RESPONSE

Multiple environmental stimuli are capable of triggering ER stress (Schroder and Kaufman, 2005). There are three major sensors of ER stress, all of which are ER membrane-associated proteins: ATF6 (α and β isoforms), PERK, and IRE1 (Hetz et al., 2013). While activation of both PERK and IRE1 involves dimerization and phosphorylation, ATF6 activation requires its cleavage and translocation to the nucleus (Hetz et al., 2013). These three pathways interact and produce ER-to-nucleus signaling that reduces protein translation and increases folding capacity (Hotamisligil, 2010). However, differential activation of ER sensors may occur depending on the type and timing of the ER stressor signal (Wu et al., 2007; Fu et al., 2012). The latter will produce different UPR profiles, associated with the specific stimuli triggering the ER stress, the affected cell type(s), and the microenvironment background. In addition, acute versus chronic ER stress may lead to different cellular responses (Wu et al., 2007; Fu et al., 2012).

ROLE OF ER STRESS IN CELL MIGRATION

The role of ER stress on cell migration and angiogenesis has been studied mainly in cancer cells (Hetz et al., 2013). Several ER stress-related proteins contribute to cell migration and/or angiogenesis in tumors (Paridaens et al., 2014). The three abovementioned ER stress branches usually contribute to angiogenesis in the tumoral context (Hetz et al., 2013). Interestingly, the ER chaperone immunoglobulin binding protein (BiP/GRP78), which is an early signal of ER stress activation, is required to give angiogenic potential to tumors (Dong et al., 2008), suggesting that ER stress might impact angiogenesis from the beginning of the response. However, in non-tumoral contexts, ER stress has been shown to impair cell migration and angiogenesis.

Tunicamycin is an antibiotic that inhibits synthesis of asparagine-linked glycoproteins (Takatsuki et al., 1971; Duksin and Bornstein, 1977) and is commonly used to induce ER stress in different in vitro and in vivo models. Promoting the accumulation of misfolded un-glycosylated proteins at the ER level, tunicamycin produces activation of all of the ER branches (Schroder and Kaufman, 2005). In support of the notion that ER stress impacts cell migration, early studies performed by Gipson et al. (1984) showed impaired epithelial sheet migration in the presence of tunicamycin. This study observed delayed wound healing in tunicamycin-exposed organotypic cultures of corneas (Gipson et al., 1984). Several years later, similar results were obtained in vitro with human epithelial airway cells (Dorscheid et al., 2001). In addition, recent observations in vascular smooth muscle cells show that tunicamycin activates the IRE1 and ATF6 pathways, imparing platelet-derived growth factor-induced in vitro migration (Yi et al., 2012). Similarly, neferine, an alkaloid used in cancer treatment, induces ER stress activation in an epithelial cell line, which produces concomitant inhibition of cell migration (Yoon et al., 2013).

Therefore, ER stress activation under resting or non-tumoral physiopathological conditions seems to impair collective cell migration, conversely to the tumoral context in which it seems to promote angiogenesis (Paridaens et al., 2014). This finding suggests that ER stress might play different roles in EC migration depending on the tissue environment.

ROLE OF ER STRESS IN EC MIGRATION AND ANGIOGENESIS

Collective EC migration is required as an initial event during angiogenesis. The EC migration process combines three different mechanisms: (1) chemotaxis, which is induced by soluble chemoattractants, (2) haptotaxis, which is mediated by chemoattractants bound to the substrate, and (3) mechanotaxis, which provides the mechanical forces to provide directionality (Lamalice et al., 2007). EC migrate according to the leader–follower model, in which a leader (or pioneer) cell with more protrusive and motile activity at the leading edge affects the signaling of the follower cells. Thus, the leader cell exerts mechanical pulling over the follower cells, providing the directionality of the sheet growth (Vitorino and Meyer, 2008; Rorth, 2009). At the cellular level, this process involves both actin and microtubule cytoskeleton rearrangements and changes in cell polarity (**Figure 1**) towards the edge of the monolayer (Etienne-Manneville, 2013).

While wound healing is commonly used to evaluate collective EC migration, tube formation in Matrigel has been used extensively to evaluate the angiogenic potential of these cells. These and other *in vitro* and *in vivo* models are used to evaluate different pro- or anti-angiogenic compounds (Lamalice et al., 2007; Aranda and Owen, 2009). As expected, VEGF is a potent chemoattractant for EC and contributes to angiogenesis (Lamalice et al., 2007). Interestingly, signaling of VEGF and other proteins involved in



EC migration and angiogenesis is affected by ER stress (Paridaens et al., 2014).

Tunicamycin exposure is associated with impairment of both spontaneous and VEGF-induced migration of capillary EC, involving inhibition of VEGF signaling (Banerjee et al., 2011). Similarly, 2-DG reduces spontaneous collective migration, showing an anti-angiogenic effect on cultures of HUVEC through activation of ER stress (Merchan et al., 2010). Moreover, this study also shows that 2-DG has an anti-angiogenic effect in vivo (Merchan et al., 2010). In addition, treatment with neferine, another ER stress inducer, inhibits in vitro angiogenesis in HUVEC (Yoon et al., 2013). Similarly, acrolein, which is an unsaturated aldehyde known as an environmental pollutant and also found in some foods, induces ER stress in EC (Haberzettl et al., 2009), affecting both migration and angiogenesis (O'Toole et al., 2014). This study shows that acrolein inhibits wound healing and tube formation in HUVEC (O'Toole et al., 2014). Importantly, the same study evaluated Akt signaling after insulin exposure, showing that acrolein impairs insulin signaling (O'Toole et al., 2014), supporting the hypothesis that IR might be linked to distorted EC migration.

In contrast, MCPIP mediates cytokine-induced angiogenesis in HUVEC by up-regulation of ER stress markers (Roy and Kolattukudy, 2012). In addition, a recent study shows that VEGF might induce PERK and ATF6 signaling, which contribute to survival and migration of EC (Karali et al., 2014). These data suggest that in EC cells, the induction of ER stress might affect both migration and angiogenesis in a stimulus-dependent manner. Moreover, in a murine model it has been shown that IRE1 activity, which contributes to proper placental development, is required for development of ER stress during pregnancy (Iwawaki et al., 2009). This study shows that lack of IRE1 reduces VEGF receptor expression and is lethal (Iwawaki et al., 2009). These data suggest that in EC, induction of ER stress might affect both migration and angiogenesis in a stimulus-dependent manner.

One additional explanation of the different effects of ER stress on angiogenesis capacity could be related to the involvement of microenvironmental factors such as inflammatory mediators. For example, diabetic and other models of retinopathy are associated with distorted retinal angiogenesis, which has been related to ER stress (Salminen et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2012). In a murine model of type I diabetes, increased levels of VEGF and TNF- α were observed in the retina, which were correlated with increased ER stress markers of the PERK and IRE1 branches (Li et al., 2009). In addition, oxygen-induced retinopathy was associated with development of ER stress, in a similar way to that induced by tunicamycin (Li et al., 2009). Importantly, resveratrol and some of its derivatives (Tabata et al., 2007), which have anti-inflammatory effects and inhibit ER stress development (Zhang and Kaufman, 2008), prevent retinal vascular degeneration induced by tunicamycin or ischemia/reperfusion (Li et al., 2012). Taken together, these data suggest that ER stress contributes to

angiogenesis and neovascularization *in vivo*. However, the target cells are not fully elucidated, and it is possible that the effect of ER stress inhibition might first impact immune cells, which through the release of inflammatory mediators might indirectly impact EC. Interestingly, several of these inflammatory mediators show altered levels during obesity (Snyder-Cappione and Nikolajczyk, 2013).

EFFECTS OF MATERNAL OBESITY AND INSULIN RESISTANCE ON CELL MIGRATION

Altered nutritional state is becoming a relevant and growing public health issue globally [World Health Organ (WHO), 2003]. The relationship between obesity-induced chronic ER stress and IR has been well established in murine and human adipose tissues (Cnop et al., 2012; Flamment et al., 2012; Jung et al., 2013; Boden et al., 2014). Interestingly, it has been shown that the obesity-dependent induction of ER stress markers is reduced in human adipose tissue after weight loss, suggesting that body weight change constitutes an important factor that modulates the ER stress response (Gregor et al., 2009). During pregnancy, excessive gestational weight gain and MO have been associated with increased risk of maternal pathologies and detrimental long-term effects on fetal tissues, through a process known as intrauterine programming (McMillen and Robinson, 2005). Since HUVEC provides a useful model to study neonatal evidence of fetal EC programming under multiple pregnancy conditions, in this section we focus on different IR- and migration-associated proteins that might be distorted by MO.

MO-RELATED FETAL PROGRAMMING

Obesity and overweight during pregnancy are well-recognized independent risk factors that contribute to the development of metabolic syndrome and several diet-related anomalies not only in the mother, but also in the fetus through fetal programming [American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG), 2005; Flenady et al., 2011; Triunfo and Lanzone, 2014]. This intrauterine programming can be observed as altered responses to physiological stimuli in HUVEC isolated from pathological pregnancies (Cheng et al., 2013; Krause et al., 2013). Indeed, it has been described that MO induces IR in fetuses in utero (Catalano et al., 2009), showing the relevance of metabolic fetal programming. Recently, it has been found that EC from obese adult subjects show ER stress (Kaplon et al., 2013), but it has not been determined whether MO induces these changes in fetal tissue. However, interesting recent evidence suggests that ER stress might be induced through fetal programming in animal models (Melo et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2014).

Using a murine model of MO, feeding dams a high-fat diet resulted in increased inflammation, ER stress markers, and IR in hypothalamic tissue of the MO offspring (post-natal day 28) compared to the control group (Melo et al., 2014). This study shows that lactation plays a major role in the development of ER stress (Melo et al., 2014). However, it was also noted that there was a significant increase in phosphorylation of eIF2 α , downstream of PERK, in hypothalamic tissue at birth (day 0) of MO offspring (Melo et al., 2014), suggesting that at least the PERK ER stress branch is already activated during MO pregnancy. In another study, using a similar model of diet-induced obesity, it was shown that MO offspring have increased ER stress and inflammatory markers compared to the control group (Wu et al., 2014). This study shows increased PERK and IRE1 activation in liver and adipose tissue of MO offspring at post-natal day 100 (Wu et al., 2014). Interestingly, treating dams during pregnancy and lactation with quercetin, which is an anti-inflammatory flavonoid (Indra et al., 2013) that inhibits ER stress (Suganya et al., 2014), prevented the development of ER stress in the offspring of MO pregnancies (Wu et al., 2014), suggesting that the development of ER in the offspring begins during pregnancy.

Altogether these data show that MO induces ER stress through fetal programming in murine models. Therefore, it is conceivable to suggest that MO in human pregnancies might produce a similar phenomenon.

HOW MIGHT MO IMPACT HUVEC MIGRATION AND ANGIOGENESIS?

Fetal programming is known to occur during MO pregnancies; however one remaining question is how MO might mediate fetal EC migration and angiogenesis. First, human chorionic gonadotropin has been shown to increase the proliferation of HUVEC in the presence of various adipokines, such as IL 6, leptin, adiponectin, and TNF- α (Polec et al., 2014). Moreover, there is interesting evidence that placental tissue from women with MO shows altered expression of VEGF receptors (Saben et al., 2014). In fact, a very recent study showed that increased body mass index (BMI) was associated with the presence of angiogenic markers in placental tissue (Zera et al., 2014). This work demonstrates an inverse correlation between BMI and serum levels of sFlt-1, which is associated with a pro-angiogenic profile (Zera et al., 2014). The authors propose that this might be due to excessive fetal growth, which requires a bigger placental vascular bed (Zera et al., 2014). This distorted angiogenic profile during MO is also supported by evidence showing the predominance of non-branching angiogenesis observed in placental tissue of obese women (Dubova et al., 2011).

Considering that: (1) MO results in distorted angiogenesis; (2) obesity has been associated with ER stress and IR; and (3) IR-related proteins also play a role in cell migration (RhoA, Akt), we hypothesize the possible contribution of different IR-related and others proteins to the modulation of EC migration capacity in the context of MO-dependent ER stress (**Table 1**).

RhoA signaling

RhoA and its downstream signaling has been linked to IR because they have targets such as Akt and eNOS (Kanda et al., 2006; Nunes et al., 2010) but also play a relevant role in cell migration (Jaffe and Hall, 2005). As mentioned above, in 2D cultures, EC migrate according to the leader–follower model (Rorth, 2009). In HUVEC, fibroblastic growth factor-induced collective cell migration is commanded by proteins that regulate cell–cell interactions, cell density, individual cell migration, and directed cell migration (Vitorino and Meyer, 2008). In the same study, RhoA was found to contribute to collective cell migration of HUVEC, a finding corroborated later by other groups (Vitorino and Meyer, 2008; Povero et al., 2013). Moreover, the role of RhoA is also relevant in other cell types where

Target protein	Cell type	ER stress trigger	ER stress effect on target	Reference	
RhoA	U87, HUVEC, HUVEC	∱IRE1, VEGF, ND	↓M ↑A, ↓M?	Dejeans et al. (2012), van Nieuw Amerongen et al. (2003), Song et al. (2012)	
Spark	U87	↓IRE1	↑M ↑RhoA activity	Dejeans et al. (2012)	
Pl ₃ K/Akt/GSK3β/β- Catenin/E2F2 via	HUVEC	VEGF	↑P ↑A	Zeng et al. (2013)	
eNOS	HUVEC	CHOP-10	↓M?	Loinard et al. (2012)	
HO-1	VSMC	Tunicamycin	↓M	Yi et al. (2012)	
Tsp-1	Athymic Balb/c (nu/nu), CEC	Tunicamycin	↓A	Banerjee et al. (2011)	
MCPIP	HUVEC	TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-8	↓A	Roy and Kolattukudy (2012)	
Scrib	HUVEC	ND	↓A?	Michaelis et al. (2013)	

Table 1 Putative migration-related	I targets of ER stress signaling.
--------------------------------------	-----------------------------------

A, angiogenesis; M, migration; ND, not determined; P, proliferation.

it seems to be a typical feature of leader cells (Omelchenko et al., 2003; Jaffe and Hall, 2005; Rorth, 2009), because it contributes importantly to the mechanotaxis process (Reffay et al., 2014).

The contribution of RhoA to EC migration has been observed using a dominant-negative model and by its inhibition using ADP-ribosylation after bacterial toxin exposure. Both experimental conditions were associated with reduction of HUVEC migration (Aepfelbacher et al., 1997; Song et al., 2012) and angiogenesis (Povero et al., 2013). Previous studies suggest that RhoA mediates migration and VEGF-induced chemotaxis (van Nieuw Amerongen et al., 2003). However, interesting observations using a microfluidic device showed that RhoA contributes to HUVEC shear stress-induced mechanotaxis, although it does not affect VEGF-induced filopodia formation (Song et al., 2012). The explanation for these differential effects may also rely on the EC culture type studied; for example, RhoA contributes to VEGF-induced migration and angiogenesis of human foreskin microvascular EC (van Nieuw Amerongen et al., 2003). Thus, it is possible to suggest that RhoA contributes to migration in a stimulus- and cell type-dependent manner.

As mentioned above, ER stress is linked to cell migration. Supporting this notion, ER stress is associated with IRE1, which acts as an upstream protein of RhoA signaling (Dejeans et al., 2012). In a RhoA-dependent manner, cancer cells expressing a dominant-negative IRE1 protein show increased adhesion, impaired migration, and a reduced proliferation rate, but no change in invasive properties (Dejeans et al., 2012). As expected, RhoA inhibition restores the phenotype in IRE1 dominant-negative expressing cells (Dejeans et al., 2012). Therefore, as IRE1-lacking cells show over-activation of RhoA, it is possible to hypothesize that MO-induced ER stress, which increases IRE1 activity, might reduce RhoA activity, impairing EC migration (**Figure 2**).



Akt signaling

The Akt gene encodes three isoforms (Akt1-3). In EC, Akt activation is related to several signaling cascades, such as the insulin pathway, eNOS activation, cell survival, and migration (Shiojima and Walsh, 2002). In EC, it has been suggested that Akt3 contributes to cell migration (Vitorino and Meyer, 2008). However, Akt involvement in cellular migration and angiogenesis depends on the tissue context and simultaneously activated signaling (Somanath et al., 2006). For instance, Akt3 has defective signaling in muscle cells from obese insulin-resistant subjects (Brozinick et al., 2003), potentially affecting EC migration response downstream of the insulin receptors (Guo, 2014). In addition, extensive evidence has shown a potential link between Akt and ER stress signaling (Appenzeller-Herzog and Hall, 2012). Interestingly, BiP/GRP78 suppresses the Ser473 phosphorylation of Akt by direct interaction, which might prevent accessibility for activating kinases (Yung et al., 2011). Moreover, this study shows that ER stress activates or inhibits Akt signaling depending on the magnitude or severity of this response (Yung et al., 2011). On the other hand, VEGF has been related to induction of the IRE1 branch of ER stress in HUVEC (Zeng et al., 2013). VEGF exposure was associated with IRE1-dependent splicing of XBP1 and activation of Akt/GSK signaling, which is required for the proliferation and angiogenesis induced by this growth factor (Zeng et al., 2013).

Downstream to Akt activation, the production of NO by eNOS has been linked in EC migration, because pharmacological inhibition of eNOS reduces in vitro migration capacity (Murohara et al., 1999; Lamalice et al., 2007). Moreover, aortic EC from eNOS-lacking mice have impaired in vitro and in vivo angiogenesis (Lee et al., 1999; Lamalice et al., 2007). Tunicamycininduced ER stress reduces eNOS levels in mouse coronary artery EC (Galan et al., 2014). Accordingly, homocysteine-induced ER stress through C/EBP CHOP-10 signaling inhibits eNOS signaling in HUVEC (Loinard et al., 2012). As mentioned above, fetuses from pregnancies with MO develop IR (Catalano et al., 2009), which is maintained through childhood (Bruyndonckx et al., 2013). Since eNOS activation is regulated by insulin stimulation in EC, eNOS signaling could be altered in HUVEC from MO pregnancies as an outcome of fetal programming, as occurs in other maternal pathologies (Farías et al., 2006, 2010; Leiva et al., 2011; Westermeier et al., 2011). If the latter effectively occurs, HUVEC derived from MO pregnancies might have impaired Akt/eNOS signaling and migration and/or angiogenic capacity (Figure 2).

Soluble mediators and Ca²⁺ signaling

Pro-inflammatory mediators such as cytokines and adipokines are increased during MO (Catalano et al., 2009) and have detrimental effects on EC migration. Leptin is an adipokine with pro-angiogenic effects that induces HUVEC migration after activation of Akt and eNOS (Goetze et al., 2002). However, leptin exposure is not associated with significant effects on tube formation *in vitro* (Dubois et al., 2013). In contrast, adiponectin inhibits HUVEC migration in a wound-healing assay and also inhibits tube formation *in vitro* (Dubois et al., 2013), showing an opposite effect to that of leptin. In fact, leptin signaling is impaired by ER stress, which also contributes to leptin resistance (Hosoi et al., 2008; Ozcan et al., 2009). Conversely, adiponectin has been linked to inhibition of ER stress (Boddu et al., 2014).

Pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-8, have a pro-angiogenic effect (Dinarello, 2007). These cytokines exert this effect by up-regulation of MCPIP, which is required to induce angiogenesis *in vitro* by increasing ER stress (Roy and Kolattukudy, 2012), suggesting an association between cytokines and ER stress. Interestingly, most if not all cytokines regulate free intracellular Ca²⁺ levels in cells, providing another possible link between these soluble mediators and the development of ER stress, as we discuss next.

 Ca^{2+} signaling is one of the most important players during cell migration (Wei et al., 2012). Ca^{2+} channel-dependent calcium dynamics are observed at the leading edge in migrating cells (Wei et al., 2009). Consequently, during HUVEC migration, a polarized generation of PIP₃ is found at the front of the

migrating cells, which further increases the Ca²⁺ influx, allowing cytoskeleton rearrangements required for motility (Tsai and Meyer, 2012; Tsai et al., 2014). Simultaneously, an increase in the extrusion of Ca²⁺ towards the extracellular milieu is observed, hence maintaining the Ca²⁺ dynamics at the front (Tsai et al., 2014), showing that a fine-tuning of Ca^{2+} signaling is required for HUVEC migration. In this context, tunicamycin links ER stress with Ca²⁺ signaling because this antibiotic induces distorted function of Ca²⁺-channels (Czyz et al., 2009). In addition, NO produced by eNOS contributes to Ca²⁺ dynamics (Huang et al., 2013), suggesting that deficient eNOS signaling induced by ER stress might affect Ca2+ signaling and hence cell migration. Interestingly, pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IFN- γ down-regulate the SERCA and increase ER stress markers in pancreatic β -cells (Cardozo et al., 2005). The possibility of a similar mechanism occurring in EC is interesting, because it would unveil the mechanisms by which cytokines might affect EC migration (Figure 2).

Cell polarity

During cell migration, a reorientation of several cellular structures occurs in a process called polarization (Rorth, 2009). One of the intracellular features exhibited by migrating EC is the polarization of the centrosome toward the direction of movement of the endothelial sheet (**Figure 1**; Gotlieb et al., 1981; Rorth, 2009; Etienne-Manneville, 2013). Moreover, microtubule-binding drugs that inhibit HUVEC migration exert this blockade effect by avoiding centrosome repositioning (Hotchkiss et al., 2002; Kamath et al., 2014). Therefore, ER stress might affect cellular polarization and hence impair cell migration.

One of the candidates potentially affected by ER stress is Scrib, which mediates chemotaxis-dependent, but not spontaneous, cell migration (**Figure 2**) and *in vitro* and *in vivo* angiogenesis (Michaelis et al., 2013). This protein contributes to cytoskeletal rearrangements and Golgi apparatus polarization toward the leading edge in wound-healing assays (Michaelis et al., 2013). Whether a similar distortion occurs with nuclei and/or mitochondrial and/or lysosomal reorientation (Rorth, 2009; Friedl et al., 2011; Etienne-Manneville, 2013; da Silva et al., 2014) has not yet studied. Thus, cell polarity-related proteins might be affected by ER stress and thus impair proper organelle and centrosome polarization.

CONCLUDING REMARKS AND PERSPECTIVES

Endothelial cell migration relies on tightly regulated signaling cascades that are activated by various stimuli. Adequate signaling events are required for proper remodeling of vessels during angiogenesis, and distorted intracellular cross-talk among the involved pathways would result in vascular dysfunction. We focus on the potential involvement of two main mechanisms of disease observed in obesity, ER stress, and IR. Interestingly, ER stress might impact EC migration and hence angiogenesis in different ways. Here, we summarize the current knowledge about how ER stress might provoke alterations in EC migration capacity and propose new targets (**Figure 1**). Specifically, both ER stress and IR might affect the coordination of endothelial chemotaxis, haptotaxis, mechanotaxis, Ca^{2+} signaling, and

cell polarity modulation, which are key steps associated with EC migration. Better understanding of these processes regarding the physiopathological mechanism underlying ER stress might provide new perspectives in the design of therapeutic targets.

Different ER stress stimuli and micro-environmental contexts play major roles in regulation of EC migration, as well as the timing of stimulation signals and the magnitude of ER stress activation. For example, a physiological role of ER stress has been shown during pregnancy, where it is required for placenta development (Iwawaki et al., 2009), but it still is unknown whether its overactivation under pathological conditions remains favorable or becomes detrimental. On the other hand, intracellular cascades associated with IR development may be also associated with impaired EC migration capacity. To further address these research topics, new models of in vivo and in vitro analysis are required. An interesting approach recently validated the use of rat mesenteric EC to evaluate angiogenesis, because these cells exhibit the same behavior as HUVEC during migration and angiogenesis (Mansouri et al., 2013). Another approach proposes 3D culture of adipocytes and HUVEC in microspheres, in an attempt to mimic adipose tissue (Yao et al., 2013). The zebrafish, a well-established model to evaluate migration and angiogenesis, has been recently used to evaluate the role of Akt and ER stress pathways (Lu et al., 2014). Furthermore, the chick embryo chorioallantonic membrane assay might be used to evaluate the impact of ER stress on EC migration and angiogenesis, in a way similar to its current use in evaluating the anti-angiogenic potential of different compounds (Lange et al., 2014). Taken together, these models might provide new tools for studying EC migration and angiogenesis during obesity-induced ER stress and IR.

Considering the state of knowledge, we propose that acute and chronic ER stress might induce different effects on EC migration. In addition, as observed in tumoral versus non-tumoral environments, ER stress might promote or impair EC migration and angiogenesis, respectively. Finally, based on the hypothesis of intrauterine programming during pregnancies affected by adverse conditions and the induction of ER stress and IR in the presence of obesity, we suggest that MO might induce fetal ER stress and IR, two intracellular mechanisms associated with altered EC migration and hence distorted angiogenesis in offspring endothelium.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Authors thank members of the Cellular and Molecular Physiology Laboratory (CMPL) in the Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, for excellent secretarial and technical assistance, and the personnel of the Maternity Ward at Hospital Clínico of Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile. This study was funded by Fondo Nacional de Desarrollo Científico y Tecnológico FONDECYT grants 1121145, 1130801, 1110977, 11100192, 3130583, 3140532; Programa de Investigación Interdisciplinario (PIA) from Comisión Nacional de Investigación en Ciencia y Tecnología, CONICYT Anillos ACT-73; and the International NETWORK program from CONICYT (130102).

REFERENCES

- Aepfelbacher, M., Essler, M., Huber, E., Sugai, M., and Weber, P. C. (1997). Bacterial toxins block endothelial wound repair. Evidence that Rho GTPases control cytoskeletal rearrangements in migrating endothelial cells. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 17, 1623–1629. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.17.9.1623
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists [ACOG]. (2005). ACOG committee opinion number 315, September 2005. Obesity in pregnancy. Obstet. Gynecol. 106, 671–675.
- Amin, A., Choi, S. K., Galan, M., Kassan, M., Partyka, M., Kadowitz, P., et al. (2012). Chronic inhibition of endoplasmic reticulum stress and inflammation prevents ischaemia-induced vascular pathology in type II diabetic mice. *J. Pathol.* 227, 165–174. doi: 10.1002/path.3960
- Appenzeller-Herzog, C., and Hall, M. N. (2012). Bidirectional crosstalk between endoplasmic reticulum stress and mTOR signaling. *Trends Cell Biol.* 22, 274–282. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2012.02.006
- Aranda, E., and Owen, G. I. (2009). A semi-quantitative assay to screen for angiogenic compounds and compounds with angiogenic potential using the EA.hy926 endothelial cell line. *Biol. Res.* 42, 377–389. doi: 10.4067/S0716-976020090003 00012
- Banerjee, A., Lang, J. Y., Hung, M. C., Sengupta, K., Banerjee, S. K., Baksi, K., et al. (2011). Unfolded protein response is required in nu/nu mice microvasculature for treating breast tumor with tunicamycin. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 29127–29138. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.169771
- Basha, B., Samuel, S. M., Triggle, C. R., and Ding, H. (2012). Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus: possible involvement of endoplasmic reticulum stress? *Exp. Diabetes Res.* 2012, 481840. doi: 10.1155/2012/481840
- Berridge, M. J., Bootman, M. D., and Roderick, H. L. (2003). Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 4, 517–529. doi: 10.1038/nrm1155
- Boddu, N. J., Theus, S., Luo, S., Wei, J. Y., and Ranganathan, G. (2014). Is the lack of adiponectin associated with increased ER/SR stress and inflammation in the heart? *Adipocyte* 3, 10–18. doi: 10.4161/adip.26684
- Boden, G., Cheung, P., Salehi, S., Homko, C., Loveland-Jones, C., Jayarajan, S., et al. (2014). Insulin regulates the unfolded protein response in human adipose tissue. *Diabetes* 63, 912–922. doi: 10.2337/db13-0906
- Brozinick, J. T. Jr., Roberts, B. R., and Dohm, G. L. (2003). Defective signaling through Akt-2 and -3 but not Akt-1 in insulin-resistant human skeletal muscle: potential role in insulin resistance. *Diabetes* 52, 935–941. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.52.4.935
- Bruyndonckx, L., Hoymans, V. Y., Van Craenenbroeck, A. H., Vissers, D. K., Vrints, C. J., Ramet, J., et al. (2013). Assessment of endothelial dysfunction in childhood obesity and clinical use. Oxid. Med. Cell Longev. 2013, 174782. doi: 10.1155/2013/174782
- Cardozo, A. K., Ortis, F., Storling, J., Feng, Y. M., Rasschaert, J., Tonnesen, M., et al. (2005). Cytokines downregulate the sarcoendoplasmic reticulum pump Ca²⁺ ATPase 2b and deplete endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺, leading to induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress in pancreatic β -cells. *Diabetes* 54, 452–461. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.2.452
- Catalano, P. M., Presley, L., Minium, J., and Hauguel-De Mouzon, S. (2009). Fetuses of obese mothers develop insulin resistance in utero. *Diabetes Care* 32, 1076–1080. doi: 10.2337/dc08-2077
- Cnop, M., Foufelle, F., and Velloso, L. A. (2012). Endoplasmic reticulum stress, obesity and diabetes. *Trends Mol. Med.* 18, 59–68. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2011.07.010
- Cheng, X., Chapple, S. J., Patel, B., Puszyk, W., Sugden, D., Yin, X., et al. (2013). Gestational diabetes mellitus impairs Nrf2-mediated adaptive antioxidant defenses and redox signaling in fetal endothelial cells in utero. *Diabetes* 62, 4088–4097. doi: 10.2337/db13-0169
- Christiaens, V., and Lijnen, H. R. (2010). Angiogenesis and development of adipose tissue. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 318, 2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2009.08.006
- Czyz, A., Brutkowski, W., Fronk, J., Duszynski, J., and Zablocki, K. (2009). Tunicamycin desensitizes store-operated Ca²⁺ entry to ATP and mitochondrial potential. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 381, 176–180. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.02.006
- da Silva, A. F., Mariotti, F. R., Maximo, V., and Campello, S. (2014). Mitochondria dynamism: of shape, transport and cell migration. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 71, 2313– 2324. doi: 10.1007/s00018-014-1557-8
- Dejeans, N., Pluquet, O., Lhomond, S., Grise, F., Bouchecareilh, M., Juin, A., et al. (2012). Autocrine control of glioma cells adhesion and migration through

IRE1alpha-mediated cleavage of SPARC mRNA. J. Cell Sci. 125, 4278–4287. doi: 10.1242/jcs.099291

- Dinarello, C. A. (2007). Historical insights into cytokines. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 37(Suppl. 1), S34–S45. doi: 10.1002/eji.200737772
- Dong, D., Ni, M., Li, J., Xiong, S., Ye, W., Virrey, J. J., et al. (2008). Critical role of the stress chaperone GRP78/BiP in tumor proliferation, survival, and tumor angiogenesis in transgene-induced mammary tumor development. *Cancer Res.* 68, 498–505. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07–2950
- Dorscheid, D. R., Wojcik, K. R., Yule, K., and White, S. R. (2001). Role of cell surface glycosylation in mediating repair of human airway epithelial cell monolayers. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung. Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 281, L982–L992.
- Dubois, V., Delort, L., Billard, H., Vasson, M. P., and Caldefie-Chezet, F. (2013). Breast cancer and obesity: *in vitro* interferences between adipokines and proangiogenic features and/or antitumor therapies? *PLoS ONE* 8:e58541. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058541
- Dubova, E. A., Pavlov, K. A., Borovkova, E. I., Bayramova, M. A., Makarov, I. O., and Shchegolev, A. I. (2011). Vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptors in the placenta of pregnant women with obesity. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 151, 253–258. doi: 10.1007/s10517-011-1302-3
- Duksin, D., and Bornstein, P. (1977). Changes in surface properties of normal and transformed cells caused by tunicamycin, an inhibitor of protein glycosylation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 74, 3433–3437. doi: 10.1073/pnas.74.8.3433
- Etienne-Manneville, S. (2013). Microtubules in cell migration. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 29, 471–499. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-101011–155711
- Farías, M., Puebla, C., Westermeier, F., Jo, M. J., Pastor-Anglada, M., Casanello, P., et al. (2010). Nitric oxide reduces SLC29A1 promoter activity and adenosine transport involving transcription factor complex hCHOP-C/EBPalpha in human umbilical vein endothelial cells from gestational diabetes. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 86, 45–54. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvp410
- Farías, M., San Martin, R., Puebla, C., Pearson, J. D., Casado, J. F., Pastor-Anglada, M., et al. (2006). Nitric oxide reduces adenosine transporter ENT1 gene (SLC29A1) promoter activity in human fetal endothelium from gestational diabetes. J. Cell. Physiol. 208, 451–460. doi: 10.1002/jcp.20680
- Flamment, M., Hajduch, E., Ferre, P., and Foufelle, F. (2012). New insights into ER stress-induced insulin resistance. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 23, 381–390. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2012.06.003
- Flenady, V., Koopmans, L., Middleton, P., Froen, J. F., Smith, G. C., Gibbons, K., et al. (2011). Major risk factors for stillbirth in high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* 377, 1331–1340. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)62233-7
- Friedl, P., Wolf, K., and Lammerding, J. (2011). Nuclear mechanics during cell migration. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 23, 55–64. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2010.10.015
- Fu, S., Watkins, S. M., and Hotamisligil, G. S. (2012). The role of endoplasmic reticulum in hepatic lipid homeostasis and stress signaling. *Cell Metab.* 15, 623– 634. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.03.007
- Galan, M., Kassan, M., Kadowitz, P. J., Trebak, M., Belmadani, S., and Matrougui, K. (2014). Mechanism of endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced vascular endothelial dysfunction. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1843, 1063–1075. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2014.02.009
- Garg, A. D., Kaczmarek, A., Krysko, O., Vandenabeele, P., Krysko, D. V., and Agostinis, P. (2012). ER stress-induced inflammation: does it aid or impede disease progression? *Trends Mol. Med.* 18, 589–598. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2012.06.010
- Ghosh, R., Lipson, K. L., Sargent, K. E., Mercurio, A. M., Hunt, J. S., Ron, D., et al. (2010). Transcriptional regulation of VEGF-A by the unfolded protein response pathway. *PLoS ONE* 5:e9575. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009575
- Gipson, I. K., Kiorpes, T. C., and Brennan, S. J. (1984). Epithelial sheet movement: effects of tunicamycin on migration and glycoprotein synthesis. *Dev. Biol.* 101, 212–220. doi: 10.1016/0012-1606(84)90131-3
- Goetze, S., Bungenstock, A., Czupalla, C., Eilers, F., Stawowy, P., Kintscher, U., et al. (2002). Leptin induces endothelial cell migration through Akt, which is inhibited by PPARgamma-ligands. *Hypertension* 40, 748–754. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000035522.63647.D3
- Gotlieb, A. I., May, L. M., Subrahmanyan, L., and Kalnins, V. I. (1981). Distribution of microtubule organizing centers in migrating sheets of endothelial cells. J. Cell Biol. 91, 589–594. doi: 10.1083/jcb.91.2.589
- Gregor, M. F., Yang, L., Fabbrini, E., Mohammed, B. S., Eagon, J. C., Hotamisligil, G. S., et al. (2009). Endoplasmic reticulum stress is reduced in tissues of obese subjects after weight loss. *Diabetes* 58, 693–700. doi: 10.2337/db08-1220

- Guo, S. (2014). Insulin signaling, resistance, and the metabolic syndrome: insights from mouse models into disease mechanisms. J. Endocrinol. 220, T1–T23. doi: 10.1530/JOE-13-0327
- Haberzettl, P., Vladykovskaya, E., Srivastava, S., and Bhatnagar, A. (2009). Role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in acrolein-induced endothelial activation. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 234, 14–24. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2008.09.019
- Hetz, C., Chevet, E., and Harding, H. P. (2013). Targeting the unfolded protein response in disease. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 12, 703–719. doi: 10.1038/nrd3976
- Hosoi, T., Sasaki, M., Miyahara, T., Hashimoto, C., Matsuo, S., Yoshii, M., et al. (2008). Endoplasmic reticulum stress induces leptin resistance. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 74, 1610–1619. doi: 10.1124/mol.108.050070
- Hotamisligil, G. S. (2010). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and the inflammatory basis of metabolic disease. *Cell* 140, 900–917. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.034
- Hotchkiss, K. A., Ashton, A. W., Mahmood, R., Russell, R. G., Sparano, J. A., and Schwartz, E. L. (2002). Inhibition of endothelial cell function *in vitro* and angiogenesis *in vivo* by docetaxel (Taxotere): association with impaired repositioning of the microtubule organizing center. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 1, 1191–1200.
- Huang, Y., Zheng, L., Yang, H., Chen, J., Wang, Y., Li, H., et al. (2013). Calcium mobilization in HeLa cells induced by nitric oxide. *Scanning* doi: 10.1002/sca.21098 [Epub ahead of print].
- Indra, M. R., Karyono, S., Ratnawati, R., and Malik, S. G. (2013). Quercetin suppresses inflammation by reducing ERK1/2 phosphorylation and NF kappa B activation in leptin-induced human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs). BMC Res. Notes 6:275. doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-6-275
- Iwawaki, T., Akai, R., Yamanaka, S., and Kohno, K. (2009). Function of IRE1 alpha in the placenta is essential for placental development and embryonic viability. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 16657–16662. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903775106
- Jaffe, A. B., and Hall, A. (2005). Rho GTPases: biochemistry and biology. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 21, 247–269. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.21.020604.150721
- Jung, D. Y., Chalasani, U., Pan, N., Friedline, R. H., Prosdocimo, D. A., Nam, M., et al. (2013). KLF15 is a molecular link between endoplasmic reticulum stress and insulin resistance. *PLoS ONE* 8:e77851. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0077851
- Kamath, K., Smiyun, G., Wilson, L., and Jordan, M. A. (2014). Mechanisms of inhibition of endothelial cell migration by taxanes. *Cytoskeleton (Hoboken)* 71, 46–60. doi: 10.1002/cm.21153
- Kanda, T., Wakino, S., Homma, K., Yoshioka, K., Tatematsu, S., Hasegawa, K., et al. (2006). Rho-kinase as a molecular target for insulin resistance and hypertension. *FASEB J.* 20, 169–171. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-4197fje
- Kaplon, R. E., Chung, E., Reese, L., Cox-York, K., Seals, D. R., and Gentile, C. L. (2013). Activation of the unfolded protein response in vascular endothelial cells of nondiabetic obese adults. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 98, E1505–E1509. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1841
- Karali, E., Bellou, S., Stellas, D., Klinakis, A., Murphy, C., and Fotsis, T. (2014). VEGF signals through ATF6 and PERK to promote endothelial cell survival and angiogenesis in the absence of ER stress. *Mol. Cell.* 54, 559–572. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.03.022
- Kozutsumi, Y., Segal, M., Normington, K., Gething, M. J., and Sambrook, J. (1988). The presence of malfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum signals the induction of glucose-regulated proteins. *Nature* 332, 462–464. doi: 10.1038/332462a0
- Krause, B. J., Costello, P. M., Munoz-Urrutia, E., Lillycrop, K. A., Hanson, M. A., and Casanello, P. (2013). Role of DNA methyltransferase 1 on the altered eNOS expression in human umbilical endothelium from intrauterine growth restricted fetuses. *Epigenetics* 8, 944–952. doi: 10.4161/epi.25579
- Lamalice, L., Le Boeuf, F., and Huot, J. (2007). Endothelial cell migration during angiogenesis. *Circ. Res.* 100, 782–794. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000259593. 07661.1e
- Lange, S., Gonzalez, I., Pinto, M. P., Arce, M., Valenzuela, R., Aranda, E., et al. (2014). Independent anti-angiogenic capacities of coagulation factors X and Xa. J. Cell Physiol. doi: 10.1002/jcp.24612 [Epub ahead of print].
- Lee, P. C., Salyapongse, A. N., Bragdon, G. A., Shears, L. L. II, Watkins, S. C., Edington, H. D., et al. (1999). Impaired wound healing and angiogenesis in eNOS-deficient mice. *Am. J. Physiol.* 277, H1600–H1608.
- Leiva, A., Pardo, F., Ramírez, M. A., Farías, M., Casanello, P., and Sobrevia, L. (2011). Fetoplacental vascular endothelial dysfunction as an early phenomenon in the programming of human adult diseases in subjects born from gestational diabetes mellitus or obesity in pregnancy. *Exp. Diabetes Res.* 2011, 349286. doi: 10.1155/2011/349286

- Li, C., Wang, L., Huang, K., and Zheng, L. (2012). Endoplasmic reticulum stress in retinal vascular degeneration: protective role of resveratrol. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 53, 3241–3249. doi: 10.1167/iovs.11–8406
- Li, J., Wang, J. J., Yu, Q., Wang, M., and Zhang, S. X. (2009). Endoplasmic reticulum stress is implicated in retinal inflammation and diabetic retinopathy. *FEBS Lett.* 583, 1521–1527. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.04.007
- Loinard, C., Zouggari, Y., Rueda, P., Ramkhelawon, B., Cochain, C., Vilar, J., et al. (2012). C/EBP homologous protein-10 (CHOP-10) limits postnatal neovascularization through control of endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene expression. *Circulation* 125, 1014–1026. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.041830
- Lu, J. W., Liao, C. Y., Yang, W. Y., Lin, Y. M., Jin, S. L., Wang, H. D., et al. (2014). Overexpression of endothelin 1 triggers hepatocarcinogenesis in zebrafish and promotes cell proliferation and migration through the AKT pathway. *PLoS ONE* 9:e85318. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0085318
- Mansouri, K., Khodarahmi, R., and Ghadami, S. A. (2013). An *in vitro* model for spontaneous angiogenesis using rat mesenteric endothelial cells: possible therapeutic perspective for obesity and related disorders. *Pharm. Biol.* 51, 974–980. doi: 10.3109/13880209.2013.773452
- McMillen, I. C., and Robinson, J. S. (2005). Developmental origins of the metabolic syndrome: prediction, plasticity, and programming. *Physiol. Rev.* 85, 571–633. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00053.2003
- Melo, A. M., Benatti, R. O., Ignacio-Souza, L. M., Okino, C., Torsoni, A. S., Milanski, M., et al. (2014). Hypothalamic endoplasmic reticulum stress and insulin resistance in offspring of mice dams fed high-fat diet during pregnancy and lactation. *Metabolism* 63, 682–692. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2014.02.002
- Merchan, J. R., Kovacs, K., Railsback, J. W., Kurtoglu, M., Jing, Y., Pina, Y., et al. (2010). Antiangiogenic activity of 2-deoxy-D-glucose. *PLoS ONE* 5:e13699. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013699
- Michaelis, U. R., Chavakis, E., Kruse, C., Jungblut, B., Kaluza, D., Wandzioch, K., et al. (2013). The polarity protein Scrib is essential for directed endothelial cell migration. *Circ. Res.* 112, 924–934. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.112.300592
- Minamino, T., and Kitakaze, M. (2010). ER stress in cardiovascular disease. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 48, 1105–1110. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2009.10.026
- Murohara, T., Witzenbichler, B., Spyridopoulos, I., Asahara, T., Ding, B., Sullivan, A., et al. (1999). Role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in endothelial cell migration. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 19, 1156–1161. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.19.5.1156
- Nunes, K. P., Rigsby, C. S., and Webb, R. C. (2010). RhoA/Rho-kinase and vascular diseases: what is the link? *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 67, 3823–3836. doi: 10.1007/s00018-010-0460-1
- Omelchenko, T., Vasiliev, J. M., Gelfand, I. M., Feder, H. H., and Bonder, E. M. (2003). Rho-imdependent formation of epithelial "leader" cells during wound healing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 10788–10793. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1834401100
- O'Toole, T. E., Abplanalp, W., Li, X., Cooper, N., Conklin, D. J., Haberzettl, P., et al. (2014). Acrolein decreases endothelial cell migration and insulin sensitivity through induction of Let-7a. *Toxicol. Sci.* doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfu087 [Epub ahead of print].
- Ozcan, L., Ergin, A. S., Lu, A., Chung, J., Sarkar, S., Nie, D., et al. (2009). Endoplasmic reticulum stress plays a central role in development of leptin resistance. *Cell Metab.* 9, 35–51. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2008.12.004
- Paridaens, A., Laukens, D., Vandewynckel, Y. P., Coulon, S., Van Vlierberghe, H., Geerts, A., et al. (2014). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and angiogenesis: is there an interaction between them? *Liver Int.* 34, e10–e18. doi: 10.1111/liv.12457
- Pereira, E. R., Liao, N., Neale, G. A., and Hendershot, L. M. (2010). Transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of proangiogenic factors by the unfolded protein response. *PLoS ONE* 5:e12521. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012521
- Polec, A., Fedorcsak, P., Eskild, A., and Tanbo, T. G. (2014). The interplay of human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) with basic fibroblast growth factor and adipokines on angiogenesis *in vitro*. *Placenta* 35, 249–253. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014.02.002
- Povero, D., Eguchi, A., Niesman, I. R., Andronikou, N., De Mollerat Du Jeu, X., Mulya, A., et al. (2013). Lipid-induced toxicity stimulates hepatocytes to release angiogenic microparticles that require Vanin-1 for uptake by endothelial cells. *Sci. Signal.* 6, ra88. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004512
- Reffay, M., Parrini, M. C., Cochet-Escartin, O., Ladoux, B., Buguin, A., Coscoy, S., et al. (2014). Interplay of RhoA and mechanical forces in collective cell migration driven by leader cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 16, 217–223. doi: 10.1038/ncb2917

- Rorth, P. (2009). Collective cell migration. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 25, 407–429. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.042308.113231
- Roy, A., and Kolattukudy, P. E. (2012). Monocyte chemotactic protein-induced protein (MCPIP) promotes inflammatory angiogenesis via sequential induction of oxidative stress, endoplasmic reticulum stress and autophagy. *Cell. Signal.* 24, 2123–2131. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2012.07.014
- Saben, J., Lindsey, F., Zhong, Y., Thakali, K., Badger, T. M., Andres, A., et al. (2014). Maternal obesity is associated with a lipotoxic placental environment. *Placenta* 35, 171–177. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014.01.003
- Salminen, A., Kauppinen, A., Hyttinen, J. M., Toropainen, E., and Kaarniranta, K. (2010). Endoplasmic reticulum stress in age-related macular degeneration: trigger for neovascularization. *Mol. Med.* 16, 535–542. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2010.00070
- Schroder, M., and Kaufman, R. J. (2005). The mammalian unfolded protein response. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 74, 739–789. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.73. 011303.074134
- Shiojima, I., and Walsh, K. (2002). Role of Akt signaling in vascular homeostasis and angiogenesis. *Circ. Res.* 90, 1243–1250. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000022200.71892.9F
- Snyder-Cappione, J. E., and Nikolajczyk, B. S. (2013). When diet and exercise are not enough, think immunomodulation. *Mol. Aspects Med.* 34, 30–38. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2012.10.003
- Somanath, P. R., Razorenova, O. V., Chen, J., and Byzova, T. V. (2006). Akt1 in endothelial cell and angiogenesis. *Cell Cycle* 5, 512–518. doi: 10.4161/cc.5.5.2538
- Song, J. W., Daubriac, J., Tse, J. M., Bazou, D., and Munn, L. L. (2012). RhoA mediates flow-induced endothelial sprouting in a 3-D tissue analogue of angiogenesis. *Lab Chip* 12, 5000–5006. doi: 10.1039/c2lc40389g
- Suganya, N., Bhakkiyalakshmi, E., Suriyanarayanan, S., Paulmurugan, R., and Ramkumar, K. M. (2014). Quercetin ameliorates tunicamycin-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress in endothelial cells. *Cell Prolif.* 47, 231–240. doi: 10.1111/cpr.12102
- Tabata, Y., Takano, K., Ito, T., Iinuma, M., Yoshimoto, T., Miura, H., et al. (2007). Vaticanol B, a resveratrol tetramer, regulates endoplasmic reticulum stress and inflammation. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 293, C411–C418. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00095.2007
- Takatsuki, A., Arima, K., and Tamura, G. (1971). Tunicamycin, a new antibiotic. I. Isolation and characterization of tunicamycin. J. Antibiot. (Tokyo) 24, 215–223. doi: 10.7164/antibiotics.24.215
- Triunfo, S., and Lanzone, A. (2014). Impact of overweight and obesity on obstetric outcomes. J. Endocrinol. Invest. doi: 10.1007/s40618-014-0058-9 [Epub ahead of print].
- Tsai, F. C., and Meyer, T. (2012). Ca²⁺ pulses control local cycles of lamellipodia retraction and adhesion along the front of migrating cells. *Curr. Biol.* 22, 837–842. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2012.03.037
- Tsai, F. C., Seki, A., Yang, H. W., Hayer, A., Carrasco, S., Malmersjo, S., et al. (2014). A polarized Ca²⁺, diacylglycerol and STIM1 signalling system regulates directed cell migration. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 16, 133–144. doi: 10.1038/ncb2906
- van Nieuw Amerongen, G. P., Koolwijk, P., Versteilen, A., and Van Hinsbergh, V. W. (2003). Involvement of RhoA/Rho kinase signaling in VEGF-induced endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis *in vitro. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 23, 211–217. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000054198.68894.88
- Vitorino, P., and Meyer, T. (2008). Modular control of endothelial sheet migration. Genes Dev. 22, 3268–3281. doi: 10.1101/gad.1725808
- Wang, S., Park, J. K., and Duh, E. J. (2012). Novel targets against retinal angiogenesis in diabetic retinopathy. *Curr. Diab. Rep.* 12, 355–363. doi: 10.1007/s11892-012-0289-0
- Wei, C., Wang, X., Chen, M., Ouyang, K., Song, L. S., and Cheng, H. (2009). Calcium flickers steer cell migration. *Nature* 457, 901–905. doi: 10.1038/nature07577
- Wei, C., Wang, X., Zheng, M., and Cheng, H. (2012). Calcium gradients underlying cell migration. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 24, 254–261. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2011.12.002
- Westermeier, F., Sáez, P. J., Villalobos-Labra, R., Sobrevia, L., and Farías-Jofré, M. (2014). Programming of fetal insulin resistance in pregnancies with maternal obesity by ER stress and inflammation. *BioMed Res. Int.* 2014:917672. doi: 10.1155/2014/917672
- Westermeier, F., Salomón, C., Gonzalez, M., Puebla, C., Guzmán-Gutierrez, E., Cifuentes, F., et al. (2011). Insulin restores gestational diabetes mellitus-reduced adenosine transport involving differential expression of insulin receptor isoforms in human umbilical vein endothelium. *Diabetes* 60, 1677–1687. doi: 10.2337/db11-0155

- World Health Organ [WHO]. (2003). Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. World Health Organ Tech. Rep. Ser. 916(i–viii), 1–149.
- Wu, J., Rutkowski, D. T., Dubois, M., Swathirajan, J., Saunders, T., Wang, J., et al. (2007). ATF6alpha optimizes long-term endoplasmic reticulum function to protect cells from chronic stress. *Dev. Cell* 13, 351–364. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2007.07.005
- Wu, Z., Zhao, J., Xu, H., Lyv, Y., Feng, X., Fang, Y., et al. (2014). Maternal quercetin administration during gestation and lactation decrease endoplasmic reticulum stress and related inflammation in the adult offspring of obese female rats. *Eur. J. Nutr.* doi: 10.1007/s00394-014-0673i4 [Epub ahead of print].
- Yao, R., Du, Y., Zhang, R., Lin, F., and Luan, J. (2013). A biomimetic physiological model for human adipose tissue by adipocytes and endothelial cell cocultures with spatially controlled distribution. *Biomed. Mater.* 8, 045005. doi: 10.1088/1748-6041/8/4/045005
- Yi, N., Chen, S. Y., Ma, A., Chen, P. S., Yao, B., Liang, T. M., et al. (2012). Tunicamycin inhibits PDGF-BB-induced proliferation and migration of vascular smooth muscle cells through induction of HO-1. *Anat. Rec.* (*Hoboken*) 295, 1462–1472. doi: 10.1002/ar.22539
- Yoon, J. S., Kim, H. M., Yadunandam, A. K., Kim, N. H., Jung, H. A., Choi, J. S., et al. (2013). Neferine isolated from Nelumbo nucifera enhances anti-cancer activities in Hep3B cells: molecular mechanisms of cell cycle arrest, ER stress induced apoptosis and anti-angiogenic response. *Phytomedicine* 20, 1013–1022. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2013.03.024
- Yung, H. W., Charnock-Jones, D. S., and Burton, G. J. (2011). Regulation of AKT phosphorylation at Ser473 and Thr308 by endoplasmic reticulum stress modulates substrate specificity in a severity dependent manner. *PLoS ONE* 6:e17894. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017894

- Zeng, L., Xiao, Q., Chen, M., Margariti, A., Martin, D., Ivetic, A., et al. (2013). Vascular endothelial cell growth-activated XBP1 splicing in endothelial cells is crucial for angiogenesis. *Circulation* 127, 1712–1722. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULA-TIONAHA.112.001337
- Zera, C. A., Seely, E. W., Wilkins-Haug, L. E., Lim, K. H., Parry, S. I., and Mcelrath, T. F. (2014). The association of body mass index with serum angiogenic markers in normal and abnormal pregnancies. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2014.03.020 [Epub ahead of print].
- Zhang, K., and Kaufman, R. J. (2008). From endoplasmic-reticulum stress to the inflammatory response. *Nature* 454, 455–462. doi: 10.1038/nature07203

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 April 2014; accepted: 24 July 2014; published online: 19 August 2014. Citation: Sáez PJ, Villalobos-Labra R, Westermeier F, Sobrevia L and Farías-Jofré M (2014) Modulation of endothelial cell migration by ER stress and insulin resistance: a role during maternal obesity? Front. Pharmacol. **5**:189. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00189 This article was submitted to Cardiovascular and Smooth Muscle Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Sáez, Villalobos-Labra, Westermeier, Sobrevia and Farías-Jofré. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The placental pursuit for an adequate oxidant balance between the mother and the fetus

Emilio A. Herrera^{1,2} *, Bernardo Krause³, German Ebensperger¹, Roberto V. Reyes¹, Paola Casanello^{3,4}, Mauro Parra-Cordero⁵ and Anibal J. Llanos^{1,2}

¹ Laboratorio de Función y Reactividad Vascular, Programa de Fisiopatología, Instituto de Ciencias Biomédicas, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Edited by:

Carlos Alonso Escudero, Universidad del Bío-Bío, Chile

Reviewed by:

Brett M. Mitchell, Texas A&M Health Science Center, USA Carlos Alonso Escudero, Universidad del Bío-Bío, Chile Marcelo Gonzalez, Universidad de Concepción, Chile

*Correspondence:

Emilio A. Herrera, Laboratorio de Función y Reactividad Vascular, Programa de Fisiopatología, Instituto de Ciencias Biomédicas, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Chile, Avenida Salvador 486, Providencia, Santiago 9, Chile e-mail: eherrera@med.uchile.cl The placenta is the exchange organ that regulates metabolic processes between the mother and her developing fetus. The adequate function of this organ is clearly vital for a physiologic gestational process and a healthy baby as final outcome. The umbilico-placental vasculature has the capacity to respond to variations in the materno-fetal milieu. Depending on the intensity and the extensity of the insult, these responses may be immediate-, mediate-, and long-lasting, deriving in potential morphostructural and functional changes later in life. These adjustments usually compensate the initial insults, but occasionally may switch to long-lasting remodeling and dysfunctional processes, arising maladaptation. One of the most challenging conditions in modern perinatology is hypoxia and oxidative stress during development, both disorders occurring in high-altitude and in low-altitude placental insufficiency. Hypoxia and oxidative stress may induce endothelial dysfunction and thus, reduction in the perfusion of the placenta and restriction in the fetal growth and development. This Review will focus on placental responses to hypoxic conditions, usually related with high-altitude and placental insufficiency, deriving in oxidative stress and vascular disorders, altering fetal and maternal health. Although day-to-day clinical practice, basic and clinical research are clearly providing evidence of the severe impact of oxygen deficiency and oxidative stress establishment during pregnancy, further research on umbilical and placental vascular function under these conditions is badly needed to clarify the myriad of questions still unsettled.

Keywords: hypoxia, oxidative stress, placenta, vascular dysfunction, high-altitude

INTRODUCTION

The placenta is the exchange organ between the pregnant woman and her developing fetus. The adequate function of this organ is clearly essential for a proper progress of gestation and a healthy baby as final outcome. As every developing organ, the placenta has an adapting capacity to variations in materno-fetal conditions, with short and long-lasting responses deriving in potential morphostructural and functional changes. These adjustments sometimes compensate the initial triggering insults and occasionally may switch to long-lasting remodeling processes arising maladaptation, affecting its own function and the maternofetal health. Appropriate levels of oxygen and reactive oxygen species are determinants in placental development and function. This review will focus on placental responses to hypoxic environments, usually associated with oxidative stress and vascular functional impairments.

HYPOXIC CONDITIONS DURING DEVELOPMENT

One of the most challenging conditions in modern perinatology is hypoxia during development. This is considered harmful to the fetus due to the short- and longterm devastating effects, particularly in the central nervous and cardiovascular systems, resulting in functional alterations. Furthermore, *in utero* adverse conditions can increase the risk of developing chronic diseases later in life, phenomena known as fetal programming or developmental origins of health and disease-DOHaD (Fowden and Forhead, 2009; Gunn and Bennet, 2009; Li et al., 2012). However, less focus has been put on the placenta and its protective role during development.

² International Center for Andean Studies, Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile

³ División de Obstetricia y Ginecología, Facultad de Medicina, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

⁴ División de Pediatría, Facultad de Medicina, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

⁵ Unidad Materno-Fetal, Hospital Clínico Universidad de Chile, Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Abbreviations: 4HNE, 4-Hydroxynonenal; ADMA, asymmetric dimethylarginine; ANGPT, angiopoietins; BH4, tetrahydrobiopterin; CO, carbon monoxide; DOHaD, developmental origins of health and disease; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; EPO, erythropoietin; ET-1, endothelin-1; GPx, glutathione peroxidase; H₂O₂, hydrogen peroxide; HO, heme oxygenase; HIF, hypoxia-inducible factor; HSP70, heat-shock protein 70; IGF, insulin-like growth factor; IUGR, intrauterine growth restriction; K(V), voltage-gated potassium channel; K+, potassium; NADPH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate; NF-κB, nuclear factor kappaB; NO, nitric oxide; O₂, oxygen; \bullet O2–, superoxide anion; \bullet OH–, hydroxyl radical; PDGFB, platelet-derived growth factor subunit B; PE, preeclampsia; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SGA, small for gestational age fetus; SOD, superoxide dismutase; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor- α ; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; XD, xanthine dehydrogenase; XO, xanthine oxidase.

Hypoxia is defined as a deficient oxygen (O_2) supply for the physiological demands of a tissue. This is a restrictive condition frequently faced during fetal life, either by maternal or umbilicoplacental circumstances, or by environmental hypoxia as seen in highlands.

Nowadays, it is estimated that worldwide there are 150 million newborns per year and 5-10% of them will have low birth weight standardized for gestational age (Alberry and Soothill, 2007; Nardozza et al., 2012). Placental insufficiency leads to fetal growth restriction (IUGR) due to a decreased feto-placental perfusion and restricted oxygen delivery. This situation affects simultaneously O₂ and nutrient supply to the fetus (Baschat, 2011), overlapping conditions that difficult the isolation of the specific effects of O2 deficiency in the determination of vascular impairment. Conversely, altitude decreases environmental pressure and consequently, alveolar PO2, deriving in high altitude hypoxia (Niermeyer et al., 2009). There is no precise data about the number and complications in high altitude pregnancies, but hypoxia-related problems during gestation are dramatically increased above 2500 m (Keyes et al., 2003; Moore et al., 2004; Zamudio, 2007; Julian, 2011). Currently, it is estimated that more than 150 million people live in highlands worldwide (Niermeyer et al., 2009). Of those, 35 million live in the Andean Mountains, in important cities, such as La Paz, capital of Bolivia (Keyes et al., 2003). This has led to an increased clinical and scientific interest in dissecting the different noxas that induce fetal programming (Luo et al., 2006; Franco et al., 2007; Nuyt, 2008; Schleithoff et al., 2012), but few have focus on the lack of oxygen as a main cause.

HYPOXIA AND OXIDATIVE STRESS

One of the mechanisms by which hypoxia induces damage is as a result of the increased generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by an incomplete reduction of oxygen (Abramov et al., 2007; Giussani et al., 2012; Pialoux and Mounier, 2012). ROS are free radicals produced as by-products of oxidation-reduction reactions. There are various intracellular enzymatic pathways that produce ROS in mammals, such as mitochondrial electron transport, NADPH oxidase, the cytochrome P450 monoxygenase system, xanthine oxidase, nitric oxide synthases, cyclooxygenase, and lipoxygenase (Apel and Hirt, 2004; Dowling and Simmons, 2009). Particularly in the vasculature, the main sources of superoxide anion (•O2-) are NADPH oxidase, xanthine oxidase, uncoupled endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and mitochondria (Katusic, 1996; Förstermann and Sessa, 2012). Relatively low concentrations of ROS are necessary to operate as signaling molecules in the normal regulation of cell differentiation and function. However, the increased ROS generation may overwhelm the antioxidant endogenous capacity and determine oxidative stress (Figure 1). For instance, it has been established in several experimental models that ischemia/reperfusion, hypoxia/reoxygenation and even hypoxia itself can promote oxidative stress (Comhair and Erzurum, 2002; Guzy and Schumacker, 2006; Waypa et al., 2006; Behn et al., 2007; Clanton, 2007; Ward, 2007; Loor et al., 2011; Sylvester et al., 2012).

An important source of ROS is the mitochondrial electrons chain. At physiological oxygen levels, it has been suggested that



about 1–4% of the O2 reduced by mitochondria may form \bullet O2- (Li and Shah, 2004). However, under conditions of metabolic perturbation such as hypoxia/reoxygenation (Pearlstein et al., 2002), the percentage of oxygen incompletely reduced can increase, promoting enhanced production of ROS by the mitochondria (Sanjuan-Pla et al., 2005; Guzy and Schumacker, 2006; Loor et al., 2011). Thus, studies have shown that a functional respiratory chain is required and that loss of cytochrome c (complex III), abolishes this ROS signal (Guzy et al., 2005; Guzy and Schumacker, 2006). Outstandingly, the direct addition of ROS such as H₂O₂ overcomes this blockade (Bell et al., 2007). These studies have led to the proposal that mitochondrial complex III is one of the main sources of ROS (Guzy and Schumacker, 2006).

In addition to ROS generated as a "byproduct" of cellular respiration, endogenous production of •O2- also arises from NADPH oxidases (NOX 1, 2, 4, and 5) normally at low levels in smooth muscle and vascular endothelium (van der Vliet, 2008; Rivera et al., 2010). Another source of ROS is cytochrome P450, an enzyme involved in the metabolism of arachidonic acid in the vascular endothelium (Fleming et al., 2001). Super-oxide anion and hydroxyl radical (•OH-) are produced during

the cytochrome P450 reaction cycle when the electrons for the reduction of the central heme iron are transferred to the activated bound O₂ molecule in an NADPH-dependent reaction (Fleming, 2001). Another important source of ROS is xanthine oxidase (XO), a metalloflavoprotein which is generated by the post-translational modification of xanthine dehydrogenase (XD) (Hewinson et al., 2004). Functionally, both XD and XO catalyze oxidation of hypoxanthine to xanthine and xanthine to uric acid, with the generation of O2- (Zhang et al., 1998; Meneshian and Bulkley, 2002). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) may also act as a generator of ROS and is dependent on NOS substrates and cofactors. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase is a calcium-dependent flavoenzyme that generates NO in a process that involves oxidation of the amino acid L-arginine via the reduction of O2 (Cai and Harrison, 2000). Intracellular calcium levels control the eNOS-calmodulin association which is an important stage in the activation of eNOS (Stuehr, 1999). Another protein which can control eNOS activity is heat shock protein 90 (HSP90), a molecular chaperone that increases eNOS activity, possibly by increasing the rate of electron transfer between the two domains of eNOS (Stuehr, 1999). The process of NO production also requires the essential NOS cofactor tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) as it plays a crucial role in coupling the reduction of O₂ to the oxidation of L-arginine as well as maintaining the stability of the NOS dimers (Vasquez-Vivar et al., 2003). If the production or efficiency of BH4 decreases, or if there is a deficiency in the NOS substrate L-arginine, then NOS can become uncoupled resulting in the production of •O2- instead of NO (Lei et al., 2013; Figure 1).

VASCULAR EFFECTS

Most studies on umbilico-placental vascular function are Dopplerbased, therefore non-invasive and mostly present descriptive analysis. Nonetheless, *ex vivo* experimental approaches, such as vascular myography and placenta perfusion, have offered important clues of mechanisms modulating umbilico-placental vascular function in diverse perinatal conditions.

Vascular tone regulation

Vascular tone is dependent on the balance between vasodilator and vasoconstrictive agents. The endothelial-independent NOinduced vascular relaxation has been assessed in normal term placentas (Myatt, 1992; Wareing et al., 2005), and correlates inversely to Doppler pulsatility and resistance indexes (Wareing et al., 2005). Otherwise, in complicated pregnancies with fetal growth restriction umbilical artery pulsatility index inversely correlates with placental eNOS mRNA levels (Giannubilo et al., 2008). In addition, arginase, an endogenous negative regulator of eNOS which counteracts the NOS-dependent relaxation in umbilicoplacental vessels (Krause et al., 2012), is increased by hypoxia in umbilical vein endothelium (Prieto et al., 2011) and in plasma from pre-eclamptic women (Sankaralingam et al., 2010). Furthermore, arginase inhibition restores the impaired NOS-induced relaxation in IUGR umbilical and chorionic arteries (Krause et al., 2013). Another vasodilator suggested to be involved in placental vasodilation is carbon monoxide (CO), which is decreased in preeclampsia and IUGR (Barber et al., 2001). In compensating CO

and NO dysfunction in complicated pregnancies, an up-regulation of H2S has been shown to vasodilate the placental vasculature via potassium channels (Cindrova-Davies et al., 2013). Similar to other oxygen-sensitive vasculature, potassium channels are main determinants of vascular resistance (Wareing and Greenwood, 2011) and vasculogenesis (Brereton et al., 2013) in chorionic plate vessels. Previous studies have not been conclusive for the role of these channels in complicated pregnancies, but some authors suggests that K(V) may be involved in IUGR (Corcoran et al., 2008) and ROS might be regulating their function in the placenta (Mills et al., 2009), elevating vascular resistance. Furthermore, it has been shown that ROS enhanced basal tension and vasoconstriction in response to a thromboxane mimetic (Mills et al., 2009). Although the exact mechanism is unknown, K+ channels may be involved in maintaining a lower membrane potential, and therefore depolarization processes are easy to be activated and induce contraction. However, ROS may as well increase relaxation in response to NO (Mills et al., 2009).

The responses in placental vascular tone to different levels of oxygenation are still under debate and extensively reviewed by Wareing (2014). Some argue similar effects as those observed in the pulmonary bed, where oxygenation promotes vasodilation and others suggest a vasoconstriction response in umbilicoplacental veins (Wareing, 2014). Even more, some authors sustain that vascular reactivity in chorionic arteries is independent of oxygen levels (Cooper et al., 2005; Wareing et al., 2006). The differences found might be dependent on the experimental conditions and the oxygenation levels, where much of these are made under relatively hyperoxic conditions when compared to the ranges of ~15-30 mmHg in vivo PO2 (Wareing, 2014). Furthermore, there is a differential response in the ex vivo experiments depending on the mode of delivery (Mills et al., 2007). Clearly the debate is open, and the responses in hypoxic pathological conditions cannot be predicted. Despite their fundamental importance for normal perfusion of the placenta, still the umbilico-placental vascular reactivity has been poorly studied, particularly in pathological conditions.

Vascular protein expression

The vascular effects on gene expression and cellular responses to hypoxia and oxidative stress are alike, sharing similar effector pathways. For instance, both conditions activate the hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF-1) and therefore induce several proteins associated with remodeling processes. It has been proposed that mitochondria are O₂ sensors and signal HIF-1a stabilization by releasing ROS to the cytoplasm (Simon, 2006). HIF-1 is a transcription factor that is activated under hypoxia (Semenza and Wang, 1992) and regulates over 100 physiologically important genes that may affect the vascular function (Semenza, 2006). HIF-1a is in fact regulating the transcription of many vascular remodeling related genes (Yu et al., 1999; Schofield and Ratcliffe, 2004; Semenza, 2006), leading to increased tone, thickening and stiffening of the vasculature. Increases in HIF-1 and HIF-2 activity induce production of angiogenic growth factors and cytokines in hypoxic cells, such as VEGF, EPO, ANGPT, and PDGFB (Prabhakar and Semenza, 2012). All of these will induce vascular smooth muscle

cell proliferation and a balanced tone towards increased resistance under chronic hypoxia (Prabhakar and Semenza, 2012). In addition, HIFs also play a more general role in the response to a variety of cellular activators and stressors, many of which use ROS as signal transducers (Cash et al., 2007; Görlach and Kietzmann, 2007). Although HIF-1 and HIF-2 may upregulate the expression of pro-angiogenic factors, the first tend to diminish the inflammatory response, whereas the second increases the response (Loboda et al., 2012). Therefore, in endothelial cells, both factors may have opposite effects, probably a fine tuning depending on the oxygen or ROS levels. HIF-3 is a third isoform, which has been less studied but postulated to act as a negative regulator of HIF-mediated transcription (Loboda et al., 2012). Currently, the most studied and with more ascribable roles in vascular expression responses if HIF-1. HIF-1a is increased in high-altitude placentas (Soleymanlou et al., 2005; Zamudio et al., 2007) and has an important role in lowland preeclampsia (Tal, 2012; Akhilesh et al., 2013), such as it has been proposed as a predictive biomarker of late pre-eclampsia (Akhilesh et al., 2013). A recent discussion has proposed that preeclampsia does not lead to hypoxia as has been presumed (Huppertz et al., 2014). In fact, Huppertz et al. (2014) cited three papers where the calculated PO₂ seems to be higher in patients with preeclampsia and/or IUGR. However, no in vivo measurements have been ever done in uterine or placental tissue in complicated pregnancies, so the debate is still open.

Another transcription factor that is activated by hypoxia and oxidative stress is the nuclear factor kappaB (NF-κB) (Haddad, 2004). Although this factor is more related to innate immunity, inflammation, and apoptosis, it regulates genes that induce remodeling processes (Ungvari et al., 2006; Taylor and Cummins, 2009). Thus, NF-KB is involved in angiogenesis of the placenta (Min et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2008). The immune and inflammatory responses induced by NF-kB activation initiates and accelerates vascular remodeling, vascular inflammation, endothelium apoptosis, vascular oxidative stress and impaired NO bioavailability (Gao et al., 2008), which contribute to the blunted vascular function (Foncea et al., 2000; Csiszar et al., 2008). Furthermore, NF-κB may induce tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), which plays a pivotal role in endothelial dysfunction (Gao et al., 2008; Zhang, 2008). It seems that NF-kB-induced local inflammatory reaction may have important placental dysfunctional features, at least in pre-eclampsia (Guedes-Martins et al., 2013). Recent studies have demonstrated that similar oxygen-sensing mechanisms, such as hydroxylases, are determinants on oxygen sensitivity for both HIF and NF-kB-dependent gene expression. Furthermore, there is an extensive degree of cross-talk occurring between NF-KB and HIF (Taylor and Cummins, 2009; Scholz and Taylor, 2013). Therefore, hypoxia and oxidative stress are activating transcription signaling pathways that may end in placental vascular dysfunctions (Figure 1).

HYPOXIA, UMBILICO-PLACENTAL DEFICIENCIES, AND IUGR

Hypoxia and oxidative stress levels in the placenta change along gestation. At initial stages of development, there is a reduced utero-placental vasculature and therefore, a low perfused and oxygenated environment. This hypoxic condition seems to be protective for the placenta and fetus as it is exposed to less oxygen radicals (Jauniaux et al., 2006). However, after trophoblastic invasion and placental development, the fetus and placenta demands for oxygen increases, and are covered by maternal blood supply in the intervillous space (Jauniaux et al., 2006; Schneider, 2011; Murray, 2012). In contrast, placental growth reaches its limits at term and terminal villi become over-crowded with diminished intervillous pore size. This physiologic condition will decrease the intervillous perfusion generating local hypoxia and oxidative stress (Schneider, 2011; Redman et al., 2014). Therefore, in the placental function, there is more chance of hypoxia and oxidative stress near delivery (Figure 2). Environmental hypoxic conditions or maternal problems that decrease PO₂ may anticipate this physiological response to hypoxia in the placental unit. This condition is particularly important in the last trimester of gestation, when overlapping situations as placental and fetal energy demands are dramatically increased and the feto-placental unit respond in order to optimize the allocation of oxygen between competing demands (Schneider, 2011; Murray, 2012). As oxygen is a vital regulator of placental and fetal development (Genbacev et al., 1997; Zamudio et al., 2007), these responses are adaptive for fetal survival with evident restrictions in their demands, as seen in IUGR fetuses (Burton and Jauniaux, 2004; Soleymanlou et al., 2005; Soria et al., 2013).

Reduced fetal growth is well documented under the conditions of chronic hypoxia at high altitude (Keyes et al., 2003; Moore et al., 2004; Zamudio, 2007; Julian, 2011; Soria et al., 2013). In human high-altitude placentas, there are increased nitrotyrosine residues in the syncytiotrophoblast, nitrative stress and lower concentrations of anti-oxidants (Zamudio et al., 2007). These results show that hypoxia is inducing oxidative stress in placentas (Bosco et al., 2012). This is also observed in placentae from lowland women with pre-eclampsia and IUGR (Myatt et al., 2000). Further, maternal exposure to an equivalent level of chronic hypoxia in a rat model, significantly elevate maternal and placental molecular indices of oxidative stress, such as HSP70 and 4HNE (Richter et al., 2012). However, placentas at 3100 m do not increase total oxidative stress at delivery (Zamudio et al., 2007; Tissot van Patot et al., 2010). This was suggested to be a hypoxic preconditioning response that might occur in placentas that develop at high altitude (Tissot van Patot et al., 2010). The differences found in the placental level of oxidative stress might depend on the species, the period of exposure to hypoxia, the severity of the insult and the genetic background of the individual (Jauniaux et al., 2006; Richter et al., 2009, 2012; Tissot van Patot et al., 2010).

Another condition where placenta dysfunction and oxidative stress are directly involved is pre-eclampsia. Pre-eclampsia is a multi-system disorder characterized by high blood pressure and proteinuria in pregnant woman (Sibai, 2005). Although, no clear cause is known to induce this pathology, several proposals point toward an inadequate placentation and placental dysfunction (Jauniaux et al., 2006; Redman et al., 2014). Interestingly, high-altitude populations have increased incidence of pre-eclampsia (Escudero and Calle, 2006; Zamudio, 2007; Julian, 2011; Gonzales, 2012). In fact, this has been replicated in gestational hypoxia inducing preeclamptic-like symptoms in pregnant rats (Zhou et al., 2013).



FIGURE 2 | Theoretical depiction proposing the correlation of **ROS**, **PO**₂ and development of the placenta and the fetus. The intrauterine (utero-placental) ROS formation is a function of PO_2 in which, hypoxia supports elevations in ROS. Furthermore, the placental and fetal weights are closely related and dependent on

increases in PO₂ and limitation of ROS. Changes in any of the four variables, may directly affect the potential maximum amount of the rest of the variables. For instance, a decrease in PO₂ may diminish fetal growth and term weight (IUGR). ROS, reactive oxygen species.

Furthermore, hypoxic stabilization of HIF-1a seems to have an important role in pre-eclampsia pathogenesis (Tal, 2012). Similar as in hypoxic conditions, pre-eclamptic placentas show increased oxidative stress (Vaughan and Walsh, 2012; Redman et al., 2014), potentially contributing to the impairment of placental perfusion by affecting vascular function (Myatt et al., 2000; Richter et al., 2009; Bosco et al., 2012). In pre-eclampsia there is a failure in trophoblast invasion and insufficient modification of spiral arteries, which has been described to lead, although not necessarily, to placental hypoxia (Huppertz et al., 2014). In addition to the functional impairment, the placental vascular bed is greatly reduced in chronic fetal hypoxia (Kuzmina et al., 2005; Sankar et al., 2013). The mechanisms involved will not only impact fetal life, but will have mediate- and long-lasting effects in the newborn (Gheorghe et al., 2007; Fowden and Forhead, 2009; Gunn and Bennet, 2009; Li et al., 2012; Giussani et al., 2012). The programming effects on the feto-placental unit due to intrauterine stress such as hypoxia and the potential mechanisms are currently intensively under research. The proposed main modulating mechanisms are epigenenetic, such as DNA methylation and histone deacetylation, reviewed in this issue by Casanello et al. (2014).

Clearly, the placental and fetal developments are dependent on oxygen availability and ROS restraint. Moreover, the levels of oxygen and ROS are as well dependent on placental function, creating interdependence among these variables and fetal development and growth (**Figure 2**).

CLINICAL EVIDENCE

The combination of fetal biometry and maternal and fetal Doppler provides the best clinical approach, which are complementary to each other to identify small for gestational age fetuses (SGA) as well as those with intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) at risk of adverse outcomes due to placental insufficiency (Figueras and Gardosi, 2011; Parra-Saavedra et al., 2014). Although the precise mechanisms by which placental function is affected remain unknown, there may possibly be a primary defect in placental development as the underlying abnormality. For the vast majority of the IUGR cases, the underlying defect is due to poor trophoblastic invasion of maternal spiral arteries and reduced uteroplacental flow (Brosens et al., 2011; Everett and Lees, 2012). When oxygen delivery to the fetus falls below a critical value, fetal oxygen uptake and glucose transfer are reduced and fetal hypoglycemia leads to gluconeogenesis from hepatic glycogen stores (Economides and Nicolaides, 1989; Nicolini et al., 1989). There is a down-regulation of active placental transport, independent of the presence of hypoxia or the severity of the IUGR and the fetus needs to mobilize other energy sources, resulting in more widespread metabolic changes such as alteration of amino acid metabolism and transport across the placenta (Cetin and Alvino, 2009; Avagliano et al., 2012). Maternal metabolic signals (leptin, insulin, and adiponectin plasma levels) lead to placental regulation of nutrient transport to the fetus (Lager and Powell, 2012) An increasing degrees of fetal metabolic compromise has been documented by cordocentesis in human fetuses showing that some SGA fetuses are hypoxemic, hypercapnic, hyperlacticemic, acidemic, and hypoaminoacidemic (Cetin and Alvino, 2009; Avagliano et al., 2012). In umbilical venous blood, mild hypoxemia may be present in the absence of hypercapnia or acidemia. However, in severe utero-placental insufficiency the fetus cannot compensate hemodynamically and thus, hypercapnia and acidemia increase exponentially. The immediate effect of decreased fetal glucose and amino acids levels is the downregulation of the principal endocrine growth axis involving insulin, IGF I, IGF II and transforming growth factor beta adding negative impact on fetal growth (Randhawa, 2008; Lager and Powell, 2012).

The endothelial regulation of umbilico-placental vascular tone may be abnormal in pregnancies complicated by IUGR. Although the mechanisms may be diverse in the vascular dysfunction, hypoxia and oxidative stress play critical roles. Prostacyclin release during cordocentesis is decreased in pregnancies complicated by IUGR (Rizzo et al., 1996). Elevated levels of ET-1 were found in samples of umbilical venous blood obtained from IUGR pregnancies with abnormal Doppler waveforms (Erdem et al., 2003) and the villous core receptors for ET-1 appear to be functional. On the other hand, nitric oxide is the main vasodilator of the uteroplacental blood flow and it has also been suggested that inhibition of its synthesis reduces basal perfusion and increases flow resistance (Myatt et al., 1997; Parra et al., 2001). However, it has been postulated that the marked hypoxic vasoconstrictive response in pathological pregnancies is mediated by inhibition of potassium channels in small intraplacental vessels (Hampl et al., 2002). Hypoxemic growth-restricted fetuses also show a whole range of haematological abnormalities, including erythroblastemia and thrombocytopenia. Hypoxia is a trigger for erythropoietin release and stimulation of red blood cell production, through both medullary and extramedullary sites, resulting in polycythemia (Pallotto and Kilbride, 2006). Furthermore, there is a reduction in platelet count which inversely correlates with umbilical artery Doppler, and can be explained by placental consumption or dysfunctional erythropoiesis and thrombopoiesis (Baschat et al., 2013).

In IUGR pregnancies, histological studies have shown that the process of spiral artery vascular transformation is incomplete. In a normal pregnancy, the luminal diameter of the spiral arteries is greatly enlarged, and the walls are remodeled such that they contain very little smooth muscle. These changes extend into the vessels to the inner third of the myometrium to provide a low-resistance circuit for perfusion of the intervillous space. These modifications are associated with endovascular invasion of the fetal trophoblast into these maternal vessels. In women with IUGR, endovascular invasion and spiral artery remodeling occur either very superficially or they do not occur, being associated with high resistance to flow in the maternal uterine arteries and relative placental hypoperfusion (Brosens et al., 2011; Everett and Lees, 2012). Increased impedance in the fetal umbilical arteries becomes evident only when at least 60% of the placental vascular bed is obliterated (Chaddha et al., 2004). In pregnancies with IUGR, those with absent end-diastolic frequencies, compared to those with normal Doppler, have more fetal stem vessels with medial hyperplasia and luminal obliteration, and those with reversed end-diastolic flow have more poorly vascularized terminal villi, villous stromal haemorrhage, "haemorrhagic endovasculitis," and abnormally thin-walled fetal stem vessels (Salafia et al., 1997). Absent/reversed end diastolic flow in umbilical artery represents the extreme end of the spectrum and this finding is associated with a high perinatal mortality, particularly after 30 weeks of pregnancy (Parra-Saavedra et al., 2014).

In fetal hypoxemia there is an increase in the blood supply to the brain and reduction in the perfusion of the kidneys, gastrointestinal tract and the lower extremities (the so-called brain sparing effect; Baschat, 2004). Although knowledge of the factors governing circulatory readjustments and their mechanism of action is incomplete, it appears that partial pressures of oxygen and carbon dioxide play a role, presumably through their action on chemoreceptors. This mechanism allows preferential delivery of nutrients and oxygen to vital organs, thereby compensating for diminished placental resources (Vyas et al., 1990). On the other hand, the hemodynamic changes occurring in fetal arterial vessels during hypoxaemia and acidaemia induced by uteroplacental insufficiency are vasoconstriction, expressing as increased impedance to flow in descending aorta and renal artery (Griffin et al., 1984). Therefore, as a consequence of the brain sparing condition, there are selective modifications in cardiac afterload with a decreased left ventricle afterload due to cerebral vasodilatation, and an increased right ventricle afterload due to the systemic and pulmonary vasoconstriction (Groenenberg et al., 1989). Furthermore, hypoxemia may impair myocardial contractility while the polycythemia, which is usually present, may alter blood viscosity and therefore preload (Soothill et al., 1987). Alterations in fetal venous circulation will manifest an increase of reverse flow in the inferior vena cava during atrial contraction, and progressive fetal deterioration, suggesting a higher pressure gradient in the right atrium (Hecher and Hackelöer, 1997). The next stage of this disease is the extension of these abnormal blood velocities to the ductus venosus, rising systolic pressure and reducing diastolic filling as an expression of myocardiac dysfunction (Baschat, 2004). Finally the high venous pressure induces a reduction of velocity at the end of diastole in the umbilical vein, causing typical end diastolic pulsations (Rizzo et al., 1995). The epilogue of these clinical circumstances is cardiovascular impairment and umbilico-placental dysfunction.

CONCLUSION

The full understanding of the umbilico-placental vascular functions will have important implications in developing therapies for oxidative-stress and hypoxia complicated pregnancies. Oxidative stress in chronic hypoxic conditions during gestation arises in multiple organ systems and subcellular compartments. This occurs due to an imbalance between cellular pro-oxidant and/or anti-oxidant detoxifying mechanisms. The umbilico-placental vasculature during pregnancy seems to be particularly affected as highly sensitive territories to changes in levels of oxygen and reactive oxygen species. Although these aspects have suggested the rationale for antioxidant therapy during pregnancy, still there are no effective treatments. Several randomized controlled trials have been performed to determine whether antioxidants supplementation in complicated pregnancies are beneficial, showing no evidence that these supplements may prevent preeclampsia (Poston et al., 2006, 2011; Basaran et al., 2010; Roberts et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2010; Conde-Agudelo et al., 2011; Kalpdev et al., 2011; Rumbold et al., 2011; Polyzos et al., 2012). In marked contrast, animal models and few human experiences have shown effectiveness in the use of different antioxidants preventing pregnancy complications and short- and long-term vascular dysfunction during pathologic pregnancies (Richter et al., 2009; Tara et al., 2010; Parraguez et al., 2011; Giussani et al., 2012; Wibowo et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2013; Kane et al., 2013). Nowadays, it is not recommended the use of antioxidants in pregnancy but the debate is still open and it merits new therapeutical approaches as it is clear that oxidative stress is partly determining complications. Further research on umbilical and placental vascular function under stressed conditions is still required.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors of this manuscript are supported by National Fund for Scientific and Technological Development (FONDECYT-Chile), grant numbers 1110595, 1120605, 1120928, 1130424, 1130801, and 1140647.

REFERENCES

- Abramov, A. Y., Scorziello, A., and Duchen, M. R. (2007). Three distinct mechanisms generate oxygen free radicals in neurons and contribute to cell death during anoxia and reoxygenation. J. Neurosci. 27, 1129–1138. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4468-06.2007
- Akhilesh, M., Mahalingam, V., Nalliah, S., Ali, R. M., Ganesalingam, M., and Haleagrahara, N. (2013). Hypoxia-inducible factor-1α as a predictive marker in pre-eclampsia. *Biomed. Rep.* 1, 257–258.
- Alberry, M., and Soothill, P. (2007). Management of fetal growth restriction. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal. Ed. 92, F62–F67. doi: 10.1136/adc.2005. 082297
- Apel, K., and Hirt, H. (2004). Reactive oxygen species: metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 55, 373–399. doi: 10.1146/annurev.arplant.55.031903.141701
- Avagliano, L., Garò, C., and Marconi, A. M. (2012). Placental amino acids transport in intrauterine growth restriction. J. Pregnancy 2012, 972562. doi: 10.1155/2012/972562
- Barber, A., Robson, S. C., Myatt, L., Bulmer, J. N., and Lyall, F. (2001). Heme oxygenase expression in human placenta and placental bed: reduced expression of placenta endothelial HO-2 in preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction. *FASEB* J. 15, 1158e1168. doi: 10.1096/fj.00-0376com
- Basaran, A., Basaran, M., and Topatan, B. (2010). Combined vitamin C and E supplementation for the prevention of preeclampsia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obstet. Gynecol. Surv.* 65, 653–667. doi: 10.1097/OGX.0b013e3182095366
- Baschat, A. A. (2004). Pathophysiology of fetal growth restriction: implications for diagnosis and surveillance. Obstet. Gynecol. Surv. 59, 617–627. doi: 10.1097/01.OGX.0000133943.54530.76
- Baschat, A. A. (2011). Venous Doppler evaluation of the growthrestricted fetus. *Clin. Perinatol.* 38, 103–112. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2010. 12.001
- Baschat, A. A., Kush, M., Berg, C., Gembruch, U., Nicolaides, K. H., Harman, C. R., et al. (2013). Hematologic profile of neonates with growth restriction is associated with rate and degree of prenatal Doppler deterioration. *Ultrasound Obstet. Gynecol.* 41, 66–72. doi: 10.1002/uog.12322
- Behn, C., Araneda, O. F., Llanos, A. J., Celedón, G., and González, G. (2007). Hypoxia-related lipid peroxidation: evidences, implications and approaches. *Resp. Physiol. Neurobiol.* 158, 143–150. doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2007. 06.001
- Bell, E. L., Klimova, T. A., Eisenbart, J., Moraes, C. T., Murphy, M. P., Budinger, G. R., et al. (2007). The Qo site of the mitochondrial complex III is required for the transduction of hypoxic signaling via reactive oxygen species production. *J. Cell Biol.* 177, 1029–1036. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200609074
- Bosco, C., González, J., Gutiérrez, R., Parra-Cordero, M., Barja, P., and Rodrigo, R. (2012). Oxidative damage to pre-eclamptic placenta: immunohistochemical expression of VEGF, nitrotyrosine residues and von Willebrand factor. *J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal. Med.* 25, 2339–2345. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2012. 695823
- Brereton, M. F., Wareing, M., Jones, R. L., and Greenwood, S. L. (2013). Characterisation of K+ channels in human fetoplacental vascular smooth muscle cells. *PLoS ONE* 8:e57451. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057451
- Brosens, I., Pijnenborg, R., Vercruysse, L., and Romero, R. (2011). The "Great Obstetrical Syndromes" are associated with disorders of deep placentation. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 204, 193–201. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2010. 08.009
- Burton, G. J., and Jauniaux, E. (2004). Placental oxidative stress: from miscarriage to preeclampsia. J. Soc. Gynecol. Invest. 11, 342–352. doi: 10.1016/j.jsgi.2004. 03.003
- Cai, H., and Harrison, D. G. (2000). Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular diseases: the role of oxidant stress. *Circ. Res.* 87, 840–844. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.87.10.840

- Casanello, P., Schneider, D., Herrera, E. A., Uauy, R., and Krause, B. J. (2014). Endothelial heterogeneity in the umbilico-placental unit: DNA methylation as an innuendo of epigenetic diversity. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:49. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00049
- Cash, T. P., Pan, Y., and Simon, M. C. (2007). Reactive oxygen species and cellular oxygen sensing. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 43, 1219–1225. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2007.07.001
- Cetin, I., and Alvino, G. (2009). Intrauterine growth restriction: implications for placental metabolism and transport. A review. *Placenta* 30 (Suppl. A), S77–S82. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2008.12.006
- Chaddha, V., Viero, S., Huppertz, B., Kingdom, J. (2004). Developmental biology of the placenta and the origins of placental insufficiency. *Semin. Fetal Neonatal Med.* 9, 357–369. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2004. 03.006
- Chen, S. U., Lee, H., Chang, D. Y., Chou, C. H., Chang, C. Y., Chao, K. H., et al. (2008). Lysophosphatidic acid mediates interleukin-8 expression in human endometrial stromal cells through its receptor and nuclear factor-kappa B-dependent pathway: a possible role in angiogenesis of endometrium and placenta. *Endocrinology* 149, 5888–5896. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-0314
- Cindrova-Davies, T., Herrera, E. A., Niu, Y., Kingdom, J., Giussani, D. A., and Burton, G. J. (2013). Reduced cystathionine γ-lyase and increased miR-21 expression are associated with increased vascular resistance in growth-restricted pregnancies: hydrogen sulfide as a placental vasodilator. *Am. J. Pathol.* 182, 1448–1458. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.01.001
- Clanton, T. L. (2007). Hypoxia-induced reactive oxygen species formation in skeletal muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 102, 2379–2388. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol. 01298.2006
- Comhair, S. A., and Erzurum, S. C. (2002). Antioxidant responses to oxidantmediated lung diseases. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 283, L246–L255. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00491.2001
- Conde-Agudelo, A., Romero, R., Kusanovic, J. P., and Hassan, S. S. (2011). Supplementation with vitamins C and E during pregnancy for the prevention of preeclampsia and other adverse maternal and perinatal outcomes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 204, 503.e1–503.e12. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2011.02.020. Epub 2011 May 6
- Cooper, E. J., Wareing, M., Greenwood, S. L., and Baker, P. N. (2005). Effects of oxygen tension and normalization pressure on endothelin-induced constriction of human placental chorionic plate arteries. J. Soc. Gynecol. Invest. 12, 488–494. doi: 10.1016/j.jsgi.2005.05.004
- Corcoran, J., Lacey, H., Baker, P. N., and Wareing, M. (2008). Altered potassium channel expression in the human placental vasculature of pregnancies complicated by fetal growth restriction. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 27, 75–86. doi: 10.1080/10641950701826158
- Csiszar, A., Wang, M., Lakatta, E. G., and Ungvari, Z. (2008). Inflammation and endothelial dysfunction during aging: role of NFkappaB. J. Appl. Physiol. 105, 1333–1341. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol. 90470.2008
- Dowling, D. K., and Simmons, L. W. (2009). Reactive oxygen species as universal constraints in life-history evolution. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 276, 1737–1745. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2008.1791
- Economides, D. L., and Nicolaides, K. H. (1989). Blood glucose and oxygen tension levels in small-for-gestational-age fetuses. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 160, 385–389. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(89)90453-5
- Erdem, M., Erdem, A., Erdem, O., Yildirim, G., Memis, L., and Himmetoğlu, O. (2003). Immunohistochemical localization of endothelin-1 in human placenta from normal and growth-restricted pregnancies. *Pediatr. Dev. Pathol.* 6, 307–313. doi: 10.1007/s10024-002-0060-7
- Escudero, C., and Calle, A. (2006). Iron, oxygen and placental development in the etiology of preeclampsia. Effects of high altitude in Ecuador. *Rev. Med. Chil.* 134, 491–498.
- Everett, T. R., and Lees, C. C. (2012). Beyond the placental bed: Placental and systemic determinants of the uterine artery Doppler waveform. *Placenta* 33, 893– 901. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.07.011
- Figueras, F., and Gardosi, J. (2011). Intrauterine growth restriction: new concepts in antenatal surveillance, diagnosis, and management. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 204, 288–300. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2010.08.055
- Fleming, I., Michaelis, U. R., Bredenkotter, D., Fisslthaler, B., Dehghani, F., Brandes, R. P., et al. (2001). Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor synthase

(cytochrome P450 2C9) is a functionally significant source of reactive oxygen species in coronary arteries. *Circ. Res.* 88, 44–51. doi: 10.1161/01.RES. 88.1.44

- Fleming, I. (2001). Cytochrome p450 and vascular homeostasis. *Circ. Res.* 89, 753–762. doi: 10.1161/hh2101.099268
- Foncea, R., Carvajal, C., Almarza, C., and Leighton, F. (2000). Endothelial cell oxidative stress and signal transduction. *Biol. Res.* 33, 89–96. doi: 10.4067/S0716-9760200000200008
- Förstermann, U., and Sessa, W. C. (2012). Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function. *Eur. Heart J.* 33, 829–837. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ ehr304
- Fowden, A. L., and Forhead, A. J. (2009). Hormones as epigenetic signals in developmental programming. *Exp. Physiol.* 94, 607–625. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2008.046359
- Franco, M. C., Akamine, E. H., Rebouças, N., Carvalho, M. H., Tostes, R. C., Nigro, D., et al. (2007). Long-term effects of intrauterine malnutrition on vascular function in female offspring: implications of oxidative stress. *Life Sci.* 80, 709–715. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2006.10.028
- Gao, X., Zhang, H., Schmidt, A. M., and Zhang, C. (2008). AGE/RAGE produces endothelial dysfunction in coronary arterioles in type 2 diabetic mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 295, H491–H498. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00464.2008
- Genbacev, O., Zhou, Y., Ludlow, J. W., and Fisher, S. J. (1997). Regulation of human placental development by oxygen tension. *Science* 277, 1669–1672. doi: 10.1126/science.277.5332.1669
- Gheorghe, C. P., Mohan, S., Oberg, K. C., and Longo, L. D. (2007). Gene expression patterns in the hypoxic murine placenta: a role in epigenesis? *Reprod. Sci.* 14, 223–233. doi: 10.1177/1933719107302860
- Giannubilo, S. R., Menegazzi, M., Tedeschi, E., Bezzeccheri, V., Suzuki, H., and Tranquilli, A. L. (2008). Doppler analysis and placental nitric oxide synthase expression during fetal growth restriction. *J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal. Med.* 21, 617–622. doi: 10.1080/14767050802214774
- Giussani, D. A., Camm, E. J., Niu, Y., Richter, H. G., Blanco, C. E., Gottschalk, R., et al. (2012). Developmental programming of cardiovascular dysfunction by prenatal hypoxia and oxidative stress. *PLoS ONE* 7:e31017. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031017
- Gonzales, G. F. (2012). Impact of high altitude on pregnancy and newborn parameters. *Rev. Peru. Med. Exp. Salud. Publica* 29, 242–249. doi: 10.1590/S1726-46342012000200013
- Görlach, A., and Kietzmann, T. (2007). Superoxide and derived reactive oxygen species in the regulation of hypoxia-inducible factors. *Methods Enzymol.* 435, 421–446. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(07)35022-2
- Griffin, D., Bilardo, K., Masini, L., Diaz-Recasens, J., Pearce, J. M., Willson, K., et al. (1984). Doppler blood flow waveforms in the descending thoracic aorta of the human fetus. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 91, 997–1006. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1984.tb03678.x
- Groenenberg, I. A., Wladimiroff, J. W., and Hop, W. C. (1989). Fetal cardiac and peripheral arterial flow velocity waveforms in intrauterine growth retardation. *Circulation* 80, 1711–1717. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.80.6.1711
- Guedes-Martins, L., Matos, L., Soares, A., Silva, E., and Almeida, H. (2013). AGEs, contributors to placental bed vascular changes leading to preeclampsia. *Free Radic. Res.* 47, 70–80. doi: 10.3109/10715762.2013. 815347
- Gunn, A. J., and Bennet, L. (2009). Fetal hypoxia insults and patterns of brain injury: insights from animal models. *Clin. Perinatol.* 36, 579–593. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2009.06.007
- Guzy, R. D., Hoyos, B., Robin, E., Chen, H., Liu, L., Mansfield, K. D., et al. (2005). Mitochondrial complex III is required for hypoxia-induced ROS production and cellular oxygen sensing. *Cell. Metab.* 1, 401–408. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2005.05.001
- Guzy, R. D., and Schumacker, P. T. (2006). Oxygen sensing by mitochondria at complex III: the paradox of increased reactive oxygen species during hypoxia. *Exp. Physiol.* 91, 807–819. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2006. 033506
- Haddad, J. J. (2004). Oxygen sensing and oxidant/redox-related pathways. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 316, 969–977. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.02.162
- Hampl, V., Bíbová, J., Stranák, Z., Wu, X., Michelakis, E. D., Hashimoto, K., et al. (2002). Hypoxic fetoplacental vasoconstriction in humans is mediated by potassium channel inhibition. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 283, H2440–H2449.

- Hecher, K., and Hackelöer, B. J. (1997). Cardiotocogram compared to Doppler investigation of the fetal circulation in the premature growth-retarded fetus: longitudinal observations. *Ultrasound Obstet. Gynecol.* 9, 152–161. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-0705.1997.09030152.x
- Hewinson, J., Stevens, C. R., and Millar, T. M. (2004). Vascular physiology and pathology of circulating xanthine oxidoreductase: from nucleotide sequence to functional enzyme. *Redox Rep.* 9, 71–79. doi: 10.1179/1351000042 25004797
- Huppertz, B., Weiss, G., and Moser, G. (2014). Trophoblast invasion and oxygenation of the placenta: measurements versus presumptions. J. Reprod. Immunol. 101– 102, 74–79. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2013.04.003
- Jauniaux, E., Poston, L., and Burton, G. J. (2006). Placental-related diseases of pregnancy: Involvement of oxidative stress and implications in human evolution. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 12, 747–755. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dml016
- Jones, M. L., Mark, P. J., Mori, T. A., Keelan, J. A., and Waddell, B. J. (2013). Maternal dietary omega-3 fatty acid supplementation reduces placental oxidative stress and increases fetal and placental growth in the rat. *Biol. Reprod.* 88, 37. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.112.103754
- Julian, C. G. (2011). High altitude during pregnancy. *Clin. Chest Med.* 32, 21–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ccm.2010.10.008
- Kalpdev, A., Saha, S. C., and Dhawan, V. (2011). Vitamin C and E supplementation does not reduce the risk of superimposed PE in pregnancy. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 30, 447–456. doi: 10.3109/10641955.2010.507840
- Kane, A. D., Herrera, E. A., Camm, E. J., and Giussani, D. A. (2013). Vitamin C prevents intrauterine programming of in vivo cardiovascular dysfunction in the rat. *Circ. J.* 77, 2604–2611. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-13-0311
- Katusic, Z. S. (1996). Superoxide anion and endothelial regulation of arterial tone. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 20, 443–448. doi: 10.1016/0891-5849(96)02116-8
- Keyes, L. E., Armaza, J. F., Niermeyer, S., Vargas, E., Young, D. A., and Moore, L. G. (2003). Intrauterine growth restriction, preeclampsia, and intrauterine mortality at high altitude in Bolivia. *Pediatr. Res.* 54, 20–25. doi: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000069846.64389.DC
- Krause, B. J., Costello, P. M., Muñoz-Urrutia, E., Lillycrop, K. A., Hanson, M. A., and Casanello, P. (2013). Role of DNA methyltransferase 1 on the altered eNOS expression in human umbilical endothelium from intrauterine growth restricted fetuses. *Epigenetics* 8, 944–952. doi: 10.4161/ epi.25579
- Krause, B. J., Prieto, C. P., Muñoz-Urrutia, E., San Martín, S., Sobrevia, L., and Casanello, P. (2012). Role of arginase-2 and eNOS in the differential vascular reactivity and hypoxia-induced endothelial response in umbilical arteries and veins. *Placenta* 33, 360–366. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.02.006
- Kuzmina, I. Y., Hubina-Vakulik, G. I., and Burton, G. J. (2005). Placental morphometry and Doppler flow velocimetry in cases of chronic human fetal hypoxia. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 120, 139–145. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2004. 09.001
- Lager, S., and Powell, T. L. (2012). Regulation of nutrient transport across the placenta. J. Pregnancy 2012, 179827. doi: 10.1155/2012/179827
- Lei, H., Luo, S., Qin, H., and Xia, Y. (2013). Molecular mechanisms of endothelial NO synthase uncoupling. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* doi: 10.2174/138161281 13196660746 [Epub ahead of print].
- Li, J. M., and Shah, A. M. (2004). Endothelial cell superoxide generation: regulation and relevance for cardiovascular pathophysiology. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 287, R1014–R1030. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00124.2004
- Li, Y., Gonzalez, P., and Zhang, L. (2012). Fetal stress and programming of hypoxic/ischemic-sensitive phenotype in the neonatal brain: mechanisms and possible interventions. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 98, 145–165. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2012.05.010
- Loboda, A. 1., Jozkowicz, A., and Dulak, J. (2012). HIF-1 versus HIF-2: is one more important than the other? *Vasc. Pharmacol.* 56, 245–251. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2012.02.006
- Loor, G., Kondapalli, J., Iwase, H., Chandel, N. S., Waypa, G. B., Guzy, R. D., et al. (2011). Mitochondrial oxidant stress triggers cell death in simulated ischemia-reperfusion. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1813, 1382–1394. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2010.12.008
- Luo, Z. C., Fraser, W. D., Julien, P., Deal, C. L., Audibert, F., Smith, G. N., et al. (2006). Tracing the origins of "fetal origins" of adult diseases: programming by oxidative stress? *Med. Hypotheses* 66, 38–44. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2005. 08.020

- Meneshian, A., and Bulkley, G. B. (2002). The physiology of endothelial xanthine oxidase: from urate catabolism to reperfusion injury to inflammatory signal transduction. *Microcirculation* 9, 161–175. doi: 10.1038/sj.mn. 7800136
- Mills, T. A., Baker, P. N., and Wareing, M. (2007). The effect of mode of delivery on placental chorionic plate vascular reactivity. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 26, 201–210. doi: 10.1080/10601330701274824
- Mills, T. A., Wareing, M., Shennan, A. H., Poston, L., Baker, P. N., and Greenwood, S. L. (2009). Acute and chronic modulation of placental chorionic plate artery reactivity by reactive oxygen species. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 47, 159–166. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2009.04.019
- Min, J. K., Kim, Y. M., Kim, Y. M., Kim, E. C., Gho, Y. S., Kang I. J, et al. (2003). Vascular endothelial growth factor up-regulates expression of receptor activator of NF-kappa B (RANK) in endothelial cells. Concomitant increase of angiogenic responses to RANK ligand. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 39548–39557. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M300539200
- Moore, L. G., Shriver, M., Bemis, L., Hickler, B., Wilson, M., Brutsaert, T., et al. (2004). Maternal adaptation to high-altitude pregnancy: an experiment of nature–a review. *Placenta* 25, S60–S71. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2004. 01.008
- Murray, A. J. (2012). Oxygen delivery and fetal-placental growth: beyond a question of supply and demand? *Placenta* 33, e16–e22. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.06.006
- Myatt, L. (1992). Control of vascular resistance in the human placenta. *Placenta* 13, 329e341. doi: 10.1016/0143-4004(92)90057-Z
- Myatt, L., Eis, A. L., Brockman, D. E., Greer, I. A., and Lyall, F. (1997). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase in placental villous tissue from normal, pre-eclamptic and intrauterine growth restricted pregnancies. *Hum. Reprod.* 12, 167–172. doi: 10.1093/humrep/12.1.167
- Myatt, L., Kossenjans, W., Sahay, R., Eis, A., and Brockman, D. (2000). Oxidative stress causes vascular dysfunction in the placenta. J. *Matern. Fetal Med.* 9, 79–82. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1520-6661(200001/02)9:1<79::AID-MFM16>3.0.CO;2-O
- Nardozza, L. M., Júnior, E. A., Barbosa, M. M., Caetano, A. C., Lee, D. J., and Moron, A. F. (2012). Fetal growth restriction: current knowledge to the general Obs/Gyn. *Arch. Gynecol. Obstet.* 286, 1–13. doi: 10.1007/s00404-012-2330-6
- Nicolini, U., Hubinont, C., Santolaya, J., Fisk, N. M., Coe, A. M., and Rodeck, C. H. (1989). Maternal-fetal glucose gradient in normal pregnancies and in pregnancies complicated by alloimmunization and fetal growth retardation. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 161, 924–927. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(89) 90753-9
- Niermeyer, S., Andrade Mollinedo, P., and Huicho, L. (2009). Child health and living at high altitude. *Arch. Dis. Child.* 94, 806–811. doi: 10.1136/adc.2008. 141838
- Nuyt, A. M. (2008). Mechanisms underlying developmental programming of elevated blood pressure and vascular dysfunction: evidence from human studies and experimental animal models. *Clin. Sci.* (Lond.) 114, 1–17. doi: 10.1042/CS20070113
- Pallotto, E. K., and Kilbride, H. W. (2006). Perinatal outcome and later implications of intrauterine growth restriction. *Clin. Obstet. Gynecol.* 49, 257–269. doi: 10.1097/00003081-200606000-00008
- Parra, M. C., Lees, C., Mann, G. E., Pearson, J. D., and Nicolaides, K. H. (2001). Vasoactive mediator release by fetal endothelial cells in intrauterine growth restriction and preeclampsia. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 184, 497–502. doi: 10.1067/mob.2001.110311
- Parra-Saavedra, M., Simeone, S., Triunfo, S., Crovetto, F., Botet, F., Nadal, A., et al. (2014). Correlation between placental underperfusion, histologic signs and perinatal morbidity in late-onset small for gestational age fetuses. *Ultrasound Obstet. Gynecol.* doi: 10.1002/uog.13415 [Epub ahead of print].
- Parraguez, V. H., Atlagich, M., Araneda, O., García, C., Muñoz, A., De Los Reyes, M., et al. (2011). Effects of antioxidant vitamins on newborn and placental traits in gestations at high altitude: comparative study in high and low altitude native sheep. *Reprod. Fertil. Dev.* 23, 285–296. doi: 10.1071/RD10016
- Pearlstein, D. P., Ali, M. H., Mungai, P. T., Hynes, K. L., Gewertz, B. L., and Schumacker, P. T. (2002). Role of mitochondrial oxidant generation in endothelial cell responses to hypoxia. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 22, 566–573. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000012262.76205.6A
- Pialoux, V., and Mounier, R. (2012). Hypoxia-induced oxidative stress in health disorders. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2012, 940121. doi: 10.1155/2012/ 940121

- Polyzos, N. P., Tzioras, S., Mauri, D., and Papanikolaou, E. G. (2012). Combined vitamin C and E supplementation for preeclampsia: no significant effect but significant heterogeneity? *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 31, 375–376. doi: 10.3109/10641955.2010.507852
- Poston, L., Briley, A. L., Seed, P. T., Kelly, F. J., and Shennan, A. H. (2006). Vitamins in Pre-eclampsia (VIP) Trial Consortium. Vitamin C and vitamin E in pregnant women at risk for preeclampsia (VIP trial): randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 367, 1145–1154. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06) 68433-X
- Poston, L., Igosheva, N., Mistry, H. D., Seed, P. T., Shennan, A. H., Rana, S., et al. (2011). Role of oxidative stress and antioxidant supplementation in pregnancy disorders. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 94, 1980S–1985S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.110. 001156
- Prabhakar, N. R., and Semenza, G. L. (2012). Adaptive and maladaptive cardiorespiratory responses to continuous and intermittent hypoxia mediated by hypoxia-inducible factors 1 and 2. *Physiol. Rev.* 92, 967–1003. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00030.2011
- Prieto, C. P., Krause, B. J., Quezada, C., San Martin, R., Sobrevia, L., and Casanello, P. (2011). Hypoxia-reduced nitric oxide synthase activity is partially explained by higher arginase-2 activity and cellular redistribution in human umbilical vein endothelium. *Placenta* 32, 932–940. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2011. 09.003
- Randhawa, R. S. (2008). The insulin-like growth factor system and fetal growth restriction. *Pediatr. Endocrinol. Rev.* 6, 235–240.
- Redman, C. W., Sargent, I. L., and Staff, A. C. (2014). IFPA Senior Award Lecture: Making sense of pre-eclampsia – two placental causes of preeclampsia? *Placenta* 35, S20–S25. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2013.12.008
- Richter, H. G., Camm, E. J., Modi, B. N., Naeem, F., Cross, C. M., Cindrova-Davies, T., et al. (2012). Ascorbate prevents placental oxidative stress and enhances birth weight in hypoxic pregnancy in rats. *J. Physiol.* 590, 1377–1387. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.226340
- Richter, H. G., Hansell, J. A., Raut, S., and Giussani, D. A. (2009). Melatonin improves placental efficiency and birth weight and increases the placental expression of antioxidant enzymes in undernourished pregnancy. *J. Pineal. Res.* 46, 357–364. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-079X.2009.00671.x
- Rivera, J., Sobey, C. G., Walduck, A. K., and Drummond, G. R. (2010). Nox isoforms in vascular pathophysiology: insights from transgenic and knockout mouse models. *Redox. Rep.* 15, 50–63. doi: 10.1179/174329210X126505 06623401
- Rizzo, G., Capponi, A., Rinaldo, D., Arduini, D., and Romanini, C. (1996). Release of vasoactive agents during cordocentesis: differences between normally grown and growth-restricted fetuses. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 175, 563–570. doi: 10.1053/ob.1996.v175.a74253
- Rizzo, G., Capponi, A., Soregaroli, M., Arduini, D., and Romanini, C. (1995). Umbilical vein pulsations and acid-base status at cordocentesis in growth-retarded fetuses with absent end-diastolic velocity in umbilical artery. *Biol. Neonat.* 68, 163–168. doi: 10.1159/000244233
- Roberts, J. M., Myatt, L., Spong, C. Y., Thom, E. A., Hauth, J. C., Leveno, K. J., et al. (2010). Vitamins C and E to prevent complications of pregnancy-associated hypertension. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 362, 1282–1291. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0908056
- Rumbold, A., Middleton, P., Pan, N., and Crowther, C. A. (2011). Vitamin supplementation for preventing miscarriage. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 1:CD004073. doi: 10.1002/14651858
- Salafia, C. M., Pezzullo, J. C., Minior, V. K., and Divon, M. Y. (1997). Placental pathology of absent and reversed end-diastolic flow in growth-restricted fetuses. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 90, 830–836. doi: 10.1016/S0029-7844(97)00473-0
- Sanjuan-Pla, A., Cervera, A. M., Apostolova, N., Garcia-Bou, R., Victor, V. M., Murphy, M. P., et al. (2005). A targeted antioxidant reveals the importance of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species in the hypoxic signaling of HIF-1α. FEBS Lett. 579, 2669–2674. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.03.088
- Sankar, K. D., Bhanu, P. S., Ramalingam, K., Kiran, S., and Ramakrishna, B. A. (2013). Histomorphological and morphometrical changes of placental terminal villi of normotensive and preeclamptic mothers. *Anat. Cell. Biol.* 46, 285–290. doi: 10.5115/acb.2013.46.4.285
- Sankaralingam, S., Xu, H., and Davidge, S. T. (2010). Arginase contributes to endothelial cell oxidative stress in response to plasma from women with preeclampsia. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 85, 194–203. doi: 10.1093/cvr/ cvp277

- Schleithoff, C., Voelter-Mahlknecht, S., Dahmke, I. N., and Mahlknecht, U. (2012). On the epigenetics of vascular regulation and disease. *Clin. Epigenetics* 4, 7. doi: 10.1186/1868-7083-4-7
- Schneider, H. (2011). Oxygenation of the placental-fetal unit in humans. *Respir. Physiol. Neurobiol.* 178, 51–58. doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2011.05.009
- Schofield, C. J., and Ratcliffe, P. J. (2004). Oxygen sensing by HIF hydroxylases. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 5, 343–354. doi: 10.1038/nrm1366
- Scholz, C. C., and Taylor, C. T. (2013). Hydroxylase-dependent regulation of the NF-κB pathway. *Biol. Chem.* 394, 479–493. doi: 10.1515/hsz-2012-0338
- Semenza, G. L., and Wang, G. L. (1992). A nuclear factor induced by hypoxia via de novo protein synthesis binds to the human erythropoietin gene enhancer at a site required for transcriptional activation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12, 5447–5454.
- Semenza, G. L. (2006). Regulation of physiological responses to continuous and intermittent hypoxia by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Exp. Physiol.* 91, 803–806. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2006.033498
- Sibai, B. M. (2005). Diagnosis, prevention, and management of eclampsia. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 105, 402–410. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000152351. 13671.99
- Simon, M. C. (2006). Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species are required for hypoxic HIF alpha stabilization. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 588, 165–170. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-34817-9_15
- Soleymanlou, N., Jurisica, I., Nevo, O., Ietta, F., Zhang, X., Zamudio, S., et al. (2005). Molecular evidence of placental hypoxia in preeclampsia. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 90, 4299–4308. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-0078
- Soothill, P. W., Nicolaides, K. H., and Campbell, S. (1987). Prenatal asphyxia, hyperlacticaemia, hypoglycaemia, and erythroblastosis in growth retarded fetuses. *Br. Med. J. (Clin. Res. Ed.)* 294, 1051–1053. doi: 10.1136/bmj.294.6579. 1051
- Soria, R., Julian, C. G., Vargas, E., Moore, L. G., and Giussani, D. A. (2013). Graduated effects of high-altitude hypoxia and highland ancestry on birth size. *Pediatr. Res.* 74, 633–638. doi: 10.1038/pr.2013.150
- Stuehr, D. J. (1999). Mammalian nitric oxide synthases. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1411, 217–230. doi: 10.1016/S0005-2728(99)00016-X
- Sylvester, J. T., Shimoda, L. A., Aaronson, P. I., and Ward, J. P. (2012). Hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction. *Physiol. Rev.* 92, 367–520. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00041.2010
- Tal, R. (2012). The role of hypoxia and hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha in preeclampsia pathogenesis. *Biol. Reprod.* 87, 134. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.112.102723
- Tara, F., Rayman, M. P., Boskabadi, H., Ghayour-Mobarhan, M., Sahebkar, A., Alamdari, D. H., et al. (2010). Prooxidant-antioxidant balance in pregnancy: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial of selenium supplementation. *J. Perinat. Med.* 38, 473–478. doi: 10.1515/jpm. 2010.068
- Taylor, C. T., and Cummins, E. P. (2009). The role of NF-kappaB in hypoxiainduced gene expression. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1177, 178–184. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05024.x
- Tissot van Patot, M. C., Murray, A. J., Beckey, V., Cindrova-Davies, T., Johns, J., Zwerdlinger, L., et al. (2010). Human placental metabolic adaptation to chronic hypoxia, high altitude: hypoxic preconditioning. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 298, R166–R172. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu. 00383.2009
- Ungvari, Z., Wolin, M. S., and Csiszar, A. (2006). Mechanosensitive production of reactive oxygen species in endothelial and smooth muscle cells: role in microvascular remodeling? *Antioxid. Redox. Signal.* 8, 1121–1129. doi: 10.1089/ars.2006.8.1121
- van der Vliet, A. (2008). NADPH oxidases in lung biology and pathology: host defense enzymes, and more. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 44, 938–955. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2007.11.016
- Vasquez-Vivar, J., Kalyanaraman, B., and Martasek, P. (2003). The role of tetrahydrobiopterin in superoxide generation from eNOS: enzymology and physiological implications. *Free Radic. Res.* 37, 121–127. doi: 10.1080/107157602 1000040655
- Vaughan, J. E., and Walsh, S. W. (2012). Activation of NF-κB in placentas of women with preeclampsia. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 31, 243–251. doi: 10.3109/10641955.2011.642436

- Vyas, S., Nicolaides, K. H., Bower, S., and Campbell, S. (1990). Middle cerebral artery flow velocity waveforms in fetal hypoxaemia. *Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 97, 797–803. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1990.tb02573.x
- Ward, J. P. T. (2007). Curiouser and curiouser: the perplexing conundrum of reactive oxygen species and hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction. *Exp. Physiol.* 5, 819–820. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2007.038414
- Wareing, M., Akef, H., Greenwood, S. L., Bugg, G., and Baker, P. N. (2005). Umbilical artery Doppler waveform indices from normal pregnant women are related to vasodilatation of placental chorionic plate small arteries. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 25, 248–252. doi: 10.1080/01443610500060727
- Wareing, M., Greenwood, S. L., and Baker, P. N. (2006). Reactivity of human placental chorionic plate vessels is modified by level of oxygenation: differences between arteries and veins. *Placenta* 27, 42–48. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2004. 11.008
- Wareing, M., and Greenwood, S. L. (2011). Review: Potassium channels in the human fetoplacental vasculature. *Placenta* 32, S203–S206. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2010.12.022
- Wareing, M. (2014). Oxygen sensitivity, potassium channels, and regulation of placental vascular tone. *Microcirculation* 21, 58–66. doi: 10.1111/micc.12069
- Waypa, G. B., Guzy, R., Mungai, P. T., Mack, M. M., Marks, J. D., Roe, M. W., et al. (2006). Increases in mitochondrial reactive oxygen species trigger hypoxiainduced calcium responses in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. *Circ. Res.* 99, 970–978. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000247068.75808.3f
- Wibowo, N., Purwosunu, Y., Sekizawa, A., Farina, A., Idriansyah, L., and Fitriana, I. (2012). Antioxidant supplementation in pregnant women with low antioxidant status. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Res. 38, 1152–1161. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2012.01855.x
- Xu, H., Perez-Cuevas, R., Xiong, X., Reyes, H., Roy, C., Julien, P., et al. (2010). INTAPP study group. An international trial of antioxidants in the prevention of preeclampsia (INTAPP). Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 202, 239.e1–239.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2010.01.050
- Yu, A. Y., Shimoda, L. A., Iyer, N. V., Huso, D. L., Sun, X., McWilliams, R., et al. (1999). Impaired physiological responses to chronic hypoxia in mice partially deficient for hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha. *J. Clin. Invest.* 103, 691–696. doi: 10.1172/JCI5912
- Zamudio, S., Kovalenko, O., Vanderlelie, J., Illsley, N. P., Heller, D., Belliappa, S., et al. (2007). Chronic hypoxia in vivo reduces placental oxidative stress. *Placenta* 28, 846–853. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2006.11.010
- Zamudio, S. (2007). High-altitude hypoxia and preeclampsia. *Front. Biosci.* 12:2967–2977. doi: 10.2741/2286
- Zhang, Z., Blake, D. R., Stevens, C. R., Kanczler, J. M., Winyard, P. G., Symons, M. C., et al. (1998). A reappraisal of xanthine dehydrogenase and oxidase in hypoxic reperfusion injury: the role of NADH as an electron donor. *Free Radic. Res.* 28, 151–164. doi: 10.3109/10715769809065801
- Zhang, C. (2008). The role of inflammatory cytokines in endothelial dysfunction. Basic Res. Cardiol. 103, 398–406. doi: 10.1007/s00395-008-0733-0
- Zhou, J., Xiao, D., Hu, Y., Wang, Z., Paradis, A., Mata-Greenwood, E., et al. (2013). Gestational hypoxia induces preeclampsia-like symptoms via heightened endothelin-1 signaling in pregnant rats. *Hypertension* 62, 599–607. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.01449

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 03 April 2014; accepted: 06 June 2014; published online: 24 June 2014. Citation: Herrera EA, Krause B, Ebensperger G, Reyes RV, Casanello P, Parra-Cordero M and Llanos AJ (2014) The placental pursuit for an adequate oxidant balance between the mother and the fetus. Front. Pharmacol. 5:149. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00149 This article was submitted to Cardiovascular and Smooth Muscle Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Herrera, Krause, Ebensperger, Reyes, Casanello, Parra-Cordero and Llanos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Analysis of homeobox gene action may reveal novel angiogenic pathways in normal placental vasculature and in clinical pregnancy disorders associated with abnormal placental angiogenesis

Padma Murthi^{1,2,3}*[†], Mohamed Abumaree⁴ and Bill Kalionis^{1,2}

¹ Department of Perinatal Medicine, Pregnancy Research Centre, The Royal Women's Hospital, Parkville, VIC, Australia

² Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia

³ NorthWest Academic Centre, The University of Melbourne, St. Albans, VIC, Australia

⁴ College of Science and Health Professions, King Abdullah International Medical Research Center, King Saud bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Rivadh. Saudi Arabia

Edited by:

Carlos Alonso Escudero, Universidad del Bio-Bio, Chile

Reviewed by:

Carlos Alonso Escudero, Universidad del Bio-Bio, Chile Marie Van Dijk, VU University Medical Center. Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Padma Murthi, NorthWest Academic Centre, The University of Melbourne, 176 Furlong Road, St. Albans, VIC 3021, Australia e-mail: padma@unimelb.edu.au

[†]Present address:

Padma Murthi, NorthWest Academic Centre, The University of Melbourne, St. Albans, VIC 3021, Australia

Homeobox genes are essential for both the development of the blood and lymphatic vascular systems, as well as for their maintenance in the adult. Homeobox genes comprise an important family of transcription factors, which are characterized by a well conserved DNA binding motif; the homeodomain. The specificity of the homeodomain allows the transcription factor to bind to the promoter regions of batteries of target genes and thereby regulates their expression. Target genes identified for homeodomain proteins have been shown to control fundamental cell processes such as proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis. We and others have reported that homeobox genes are expressed in the placental vasculature, but our knowledge of their downstream target genes is limited. This review highlights the importance of studying the cellular and molecular mechanisms by which homeobox genes and their downstream targets may regulate important vascular cellular processes such as proliferation, migration, and endothelial tube formation, which are essential for placental vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. A better understanding of the molecular targets of homeobox genes may lead to new therapies for aberrant angiogenesis associated with clinically important pregnancy pathologies, including fetal growth restriction and preeclampsia.

Keywords: homeobox gene, transcription factors, placenta, angiogenesis, endothelial cells, macrovasculature, microvasculature

INTRODUCTION

Placental angiogenesis has become a focus for the development of diagnostic tools and potential therapeutics for pregnancy complications. Strategies for pro-angiogenic therapies are grounded on our knowledge of normal placental angiogenesis and our understanding of the angiogenic pathways that are disrupted in pregnancy pathologies. However, it is clear that our comprehension of normal angiogenesis in the placenta is lacking in comparison with other tissues and organs, such as the cardiovascular system. Furthermore, unique aspects of placental angiogenesis offer the potential for identifying novel angiogenic pathways from which new pro-angiogenic factors could be identified as potential therapeutics for various obstetric complications associated with aberrant angiogenesis. This review summarizes the genetic and molecular aspects of normal placental angiogenesis with a focus on placental endothelial cells. Our laboratory has major interest in understanding the transcriptional control of placental angiogenesis, with a specific focus on a family of transcription factors called "homeobox genes" and their expression in placental endothelial cells.

Homeobox genes play an essential role in regulating the function of vascular systems (Douville and Wigle, 2007). They coordinate the processes required for proper vascular formation during development, as well as the maintenance and repair of the vasculature systems throughout life. Often, homeodomain proteins work in concert within the vascular cells to achieve proper vessel function. Homeobox genes regulate the transcription of genes necessary for many vascular cell processes such as cell migration, invasion, proliferation, and tube formation. Several new downstream targets of specific homeobox genes have been identified in vascular systems in recent years. However, there are many homeobox genes that regulate angiogenesis where we have little or no knowledge of the biological pathways they regulate and their target genes of action. This review focuses on the expression of homeobox genes in placental vascular systems and their potential role in regulating placental angiogenesis.

THE PLACENTA AND ITS VASCULATURE

An efficient and high capacity materno-fetal exchange system is crucial for the growth and development of the fetus and the outcome of a healthy baby (Boyd and Hamilton, 1970). The placenta acts as a conduit between the maternal and fetal circulations and facilitates all gaseous and nutritive transfer between mother and fetus (Page, 1993; Moore and Persaud, 1998). This is achieved through a structural interface consisting of fetoplacental capillaries encased within terminal branches of the placental villous tree (i.e., the terminal villi), which are bathed in maternal blood perfusing into the intervillous spaces (see **Figure 1**; Gude et al., 2004). The metabolic needs of the fetus increase throughout pregnancy and the placenta adjusts to these demands through the continual development and adaptation of the placental villous vasculature thus ensuring sustained fetal growth and well-being (Chaddha et al., 2004).

In early placental development, villous vascularisation is preceded by trophoblast-mediated invasion of maternal uterine spiral arterioles, which establishes a maternal blood supply (Jaffe et al., 1997; Kingdom et al., 2000). The maternal blood filled lacunae then coalesce to create intervillous spaces, interposing pillars of trophoblasts, which gradually collapse and allow entry of blood from the uterine circulation (Lyall, 2005). The placental villous tree begins to form around day 13 post-conception, when remnants of the trophoblastic pillars proliferate into the intervillous spaces (Kingdom et al., 2000). A week later, vascularisation occurs by the *de novo* process of vasculogenesis (Risau, 1997; Kingdom et al., 2000). The villi are invaded by extraembryonic mesenchyme, which differentiates into endothelial and stromal support cells (Charnock-Jones et al., 2004). From these cells, a primitive placental vascular network is assembled and eventually connects with the embryonic circulatory system around day 32 post-conception (Kaufmann et al., 2004).

To perform the exchange functions required of it, the highly immature placental vasculature subsequently undergoes a phase of branching angiogenesis, which dramatically increases the number of villous blood vessels (Kaufmann et al., 2004). During this period, there is a corresponding rise in end-diastolic blood flow velocity, most likely reflective of a rise in fetal blood pressure (Hendricks et al., 1989). The increased villous capillary density improves fetoplacental blood flow to accommodate progressively increased fetal requirements (Ahmed and Perkins, 2000).



Around 26 weeks' gestation, villous vascular development enters the final phase of non-branching angiogenesis, characterized by longitudinal growth of capillaries exceeding that of the villi themselves. The capillary loops bulge into the overlying villous trophoblasts, forming structures called terminal villi (Kingdom et al., 2000). Focal sinusoids, which are unique to the placenta because they possess a continuous endothelium and complete basal lamina, may also form in the fetoplacental capillaries, causing the outer vessel wall to be separated from maternal blood only by a very thin layer of syncytiotrophoblast called the vasculo-syncytial membrane (Burton and Tham, 1992). Terminal villus formation occurs exponentially during the third trimester (Chaddha et al., 2004). The end result of terminal villus formation is a dramatic increase in the surface area to volume ratio (Charnock-Jones, 2002; Chaddha et al., 2004) and the terminal villi form the major sites for diffusional exchange between the maternal and fetal circulations (Kingdom et al., 2000; Charnock-Jones et al., 2004; Kaufmann et al., 2004).

Therefore, the adaptation of the placental vasculature to increasing fetal demands follows two main strategies. Firstly, blood flow per se increases by lowering vascular impedance (Kaufmann et al., 2004). Branching angiogenesis initially creates parallel vessels of reduced mean length, and hence reduced impedance (Kaufmann et al., 2004). As capillaries lengthen due to non-branching angiogenesis, the sinusoids formed in them counterbalance the effect on total fetoplacental vascular impedance (Charnock-Jones, 2002). Secondly, the rate of diffusion across the placenta is improved by an increase in available surface area, and a reduction in villous membrane thickness; the vasculosyncytial membrane separating maternal blood from fetal blood can be as thin as $1-2 \mu m$ (Charnock-Jones, 2002). Angiogenesis and the formation of terminal villi are the main processes that culminate in remodeling the placental vascular bed (Mayhew, 2003).

IMPAIRED ANGIOGENESIS AND PREGNANCY-ASSOCIATED DISORDERS

Villous vascularisation is an important process in organogenesis and is essential for the placenta to function efficiently (Zygmunt et al., 2003). The spectrum of vascular defects associated with clinically significant pregnancy disorders attests to the close relationship between the placental vasculature and embryonic development. Compared with villi obtained from elective terminations, villi from placentae where intrauterine embryonic death and blighted ova was the outcome exhibit aberrant vascular characteristics manifest in significantly lower vascular density, fibrosis, and hydropic degeneration (Meegdes et al., 1988). Placentae from women with diabetes mellitus and gestational diabetes also show villous vascular maldevelopment and studies using light microscopy, electron microscopy and histochemical techniques have shown the length, diameter and surface area of fetoplacental capillaries to be increased (Jacomo et al., 1976; Jones and Fox, 1976; Mayhew et al., 1994). As well, some of the capillaries appear unduly immature (Kami and Mitsui, 1984).

Perhaps the most dramatic, best-characterized changes in the villous vasculature are seen in fetal growth restriction (FGR),

which is a common and clinically significant disorder of pregnancy. FGR is defined as failure of the fetus to achieve genetically determined potential size to an extent where its health is adversely affected (Lin and Santolaya-Forgas, 1998). FGR affects 4-7% of live births in developed countries and contributes significantly to prematurity, perinatal morbidity, and mortality (Wang et al., 2007). Investigations using random block sampling and stereological studies reported reductions in the number, surface area, and volume of terminal villi in FGR-affected placentae, compared with placentae from uncomplicated pregnancies (Biagiotti et al., 1999; Egbor et al., 2006; Biswas et al., 2008; Vedmedovska et al., 2011; Almasry et al., 2012; Almasry and Elfayomy, 2012). Additionally, villous vessels exhibited fewer branches, and a majority of the vessels were slender and uncoiled (Teasdale, 1984; Teasdale and Jean-Jacques, 1988; Jackson et al., 1995; Chen et al., 2002; Mayhew, 2003; Tomas et al., 2010). A failure, or reduced capability, of branching angiogenesis in FGR is strongly associated (Kingdom et al., 2000) with a reduced supply of oxygen and nutrients to the fetus, and subsequent growth delay (Sanchez-Vera et al., 2005; Salafia et al., 2006).

Despite extensive research, it is unknown whether vascular changes cause FGR or whether these changes are a consequence of aberrant biological mechanisms in the FGR-affected placenta (Maulik, 2006; Maulik et al., 2006). Clearly, further research into the molecular regulation of angiogenesis in the placenta is vital.

MOLECULAR REGULATION OF ANGIOGENESIS

Angiogenesis involves distinct changes in the phenotype of endothelial cells, the central cellular organizational units of vascular structures. **Figure 2** shows the two distinct processes of vasculogenesis and angiogenesis involved in fetoplacental vascular development in human pregnancy.

In a multi-step event, quiescent endothelial cells are first activated to re-enter the cell cycle (Myers et al., 2002). As a consequence of increased cellular proliferation, proteolytic enzyme production is up-regulated in order to degrade the basement membrane. The endothelial cells then migrate into the surrounding stroma and gradually assemble into a tube-like capillary structure with a patent lumen. After a new basement membrane is synthesized, pericytes are recruited to the outside of the new capillary to complete the formation of a stable, quiescent vessel (Sato, 2000).

The stimuli for these complex, temporally coordinated changes are communicated from the microenvironment surrounding the endothelial cell surface to the nucleus through multiple signaling pathways (Patel et al., 2005). At the molecular level, the growth factors and receptors that activate these pathways have been extensively studied *in vitro and in vivo* (Arderiu et al., 2007; Winnik et al., 2009). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), placental growth factor (PIGF), and the angiopoietins are considered the most influential factors (Patel et al., 2005). The primary receptors for VEGF are VEGF receptor-1 (VEGFR-1) and VEGF receptor-2 (VEGFR-2), while PIGF only binds to VEGFR-1 (Patel et al., 2005). VEGF has been demonstrated to be a potent stimulator of endothelial cell proliferation, migration, and production of plasminogen activators required for basement membrane digestion (Regnault



et al., 2003; Escudero et al., 2014). Studies of chicken chorioallantoic membranes have shown that VEGF binding to both VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 results in branching angiogenesis, while PIGF binding to VEGFR-1 alone mediates non-branching angiogenesis (Wilting et al., 1996). The angiopoietin family comprises two main factors, angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1) and angiopoietin-2 (Ang-2) and are both antagonistic ligands of a common receptor, the tyrosine-kinase with immunoglobulin-like and epidermal growth factor-like domains-2 (TIE-2). While Ang-1 binding to TIE-2 promotes vascular stabilization, Ang-2 allows vessels to remain in a more plastic state (Kurz et al., 1998).

In normal pregnancies, placental expression of important growth factors correlates with their established roles. For example, expression of VEGF and VEGFR-2 is highest during early gestation, which coincides with vasculogenesis and branching angiogenesis, but expression declines with advancing pregnancy (Jackson et al., 1994). Conversely, PIGF and VEGFR-1 expression is highest toward term, coinciding with non-branching angiogenesis (Clark et al., 1996). A concurrent decrease in Ang-2 expression, and increase in Ang-1 expression at the end of the second trimester, is believed to mediate the transition from branching to non-branching angiogenesis (Geva et al., 2002).

Our knowledge of the molecular regulation of angiogenesis in the placenta is incomplete. Nuclear transcription factors integrate upstream signals generated by the binding of growth factors to their receptors. Transcription factor binding to specific DNA sequences within the promoter regions stimulates or represses expression of batteries of downstream target genes (Hamik et al., 2006). Transcription factors are considered to be the master regulators that determine gene expression profiles that culminate in the activated, angiogenic phenotype. Loss of function studies clearly demonstrate that transcription factors including *TBX4*, *CDX2*, *CDX4*, *HAND1*, *FOXF1*, *CITED2* are required for placental development (Mahlapuu et al., 2001; Cross et al., 2006; van Nes et al., Papaioannou, 2003; Cross, 2006; Preis et al., 2006; van Nes et al., 2006). However, the target genes regulated by these transcription factors are largely undefined. Recent studies have provided evidence for transcriptional control of VEGF signaling by Notch ligand as well as hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF1a) in placental angiogenesis (Fang et al., 2013). Morphological and phenotypic analyses of the human placenta using whole mount immunofluorescence technique were employed to demonstrate that early human placental blood vessels express high levels of the proangiogenic receptors VEGFR1, VEGFR3 and the activated signal transduction and activator of transcription 3 (pSTAT3) suggesting that these molecules play a role in regulation of placental vascular development (Bushway et al., 2014). Thus, an understanding of transcriptional mechanisms would afford a valuable insight into the downstream angiogenic signaling cascades in the placenta, which as yet, remain largely unexplored in the human placenta.

HOMEOBOX GENES

A particular large family of transcription factors that provides a fertile area for studying placental angiogenesis is the homeobox gene family. Characterized by a common 60-amino-acid DNA-binding motif known as the homeodomain, and homeobox genes were first identified in Drosophila through investigations of mutations that gave rise to homeotic transformations (McGinnis and Krumlauf, 1992). Subsequently, it was discovered that three-dimensional patterning and body plan formation during embryogenesis are largely attributable to action of homeobox genes, due to their capacity to spatiotemporally regulate the basic processes of differentiation, proliferation, and migration (Manley and Levine, 1985; Han et al., 1989). Homeobox genes can regulate genes responsible for cell adhesion, migration, proliferation, growth arrest, and the expression of cytokines needed for extracellular matrix interactions (Graba et al., 1997; Svingen and Tonissen, 2006; Hueber et al., 2007) all of which are functions characteristic of the angiogenic phenotype.

HOMEOBOX GENES IN ANGIOGENESIS

Evidence in the literature increasingly supports a substantial role for homeobox genes in general vascular development, and particularly in endothelial cell function (Gorski and Walsh, 2000, 2003; Gorski and Leal, 2003; Douville and Wigle, 2007). A well-known example is Gax, a homeobox gene originally isolated from a rat aortic cDNA library, which is widely expressed in embryonic muscle precursors (Gorski et al., 1993). Initial investigations of the human homolog, Gax, were conducted primarily on vascular smooth muscle cells, where Gax was shown to induce G₁ cell cycle arrest and reduce cell migration (Witzenbichler et al., 1999). Gorski and Leal (2003) subsequently confirmed GAX expression in endothelial cells using immunohistochemical methods on sections of highly capillarised human kidney. Succeeding in vitro investigations revealed that GAX prevented VEGF-induced endothelial cell migration and tube formation through the repression of multiple genes involved in the pro-angiogenic nuclear factor kappa-beta (NFK-B) signaling pathway (Patel et al., 2005). Hence, GAX emerged as an important inhibitor of the angiogenic phenotype. Other less well studied homeobox genes are implicated as positive regulators of angiogenesis. For example, human HOXA9 promotes endothelial cell migration, in part by activating the expression of EphB4; a receptor tyrosine-kinase that shows increased expression in tumor-induced vascularisation (Bruhl et al., 2004).

 $HoxA9^{-/-}$ mouse embryos display a poorer angiogenic response to hypoxia and have decreased numbers of endothelial cell precursors (Rossig et al., 2005). Complementary proangiogenic functions have also been described for the paralogous homeobox genes HoxD3 and HoxB3. HOXD3 not only promotes endothelial cell invasion of the extracellular matrix early in angiogenesis, but also regulates the subsequent capillary morphogenesis of these new vascular sprouts (Douville and Wigle, 2007). Although these findings generally emphasize the multifaceted importance of homeobox genes in angiogenesis, the studies were conducted within the context of embryonic development and/or tumor-induced adult neovascularisation.

Studies by Shaut et al. (2008) have reported that *HoxA13* is essential for placental vascular patterning and labyrinth endothelial specification. In the absence of *HoxA13* function, placental endothelial morphology is altered causing a loss in vessel wall integrity, edema of the embryonic blood vessels and mid-gestational lethality. The authors have also reported on the novel transcriptional program by which *HoxA13* directly regulates *Tie2* and *Foxf1* in the placental labyrinth endothelia, providing a functional explanation for the mid-gestational lethality exhibited by *HoxA13* mutant embryos. However, homeobox gene contribution(s) to extraembryonic angiogenesis, particularly in the human placenta, remains largely unexplored.

HOMEOBOX GENES IN THE PLACENTA

Currently, information about the role of homeobox genes in placental tissues is mainly derived from studying mouse gene knockouts (Rossant and Cross, 2001). For example, targeted deletion of *Esx1* (Fohn and Behringer, 2001) and *Dlx3* (Morasso et al.,

1999) resulted in disruption of the vascular network in the placental labyrinthine layer, which in mice is thought to be functional equivalent of the human placental villi (Cross et al., 2003a,b). Not only were embryos in both cases growth-restricted, but failure to establish an adequate placental circulation in $Dlx3^{-/-}$ mutants resulted in embryonic lethality (Morasso et al., 1999). Together, these studies provide genetic proof that homeobox genes are not only regulators of placental organogenesis but they are also specific regulators of placental vascular development. Furthermore, homeobox genes can directly or indirectly influence fetal viability. We carried out the first screening of a 32-week placental cDNA library for homeobox genes, which led to the isolation of DLX4, MSX2, GAX, and HLX (Quinn et al., 1997; Rajaraman et al., 2008). Immunohistochemical analyses identified the localisation of these homeobox genes in both trophoblasts and endothelial cells of the human placenta (Murthi et al., 2006a; Rajaraman et al., 2008; Chui et al., 2010).

HOMEOBOX GENE EXPRESSION IS ALTERED IN HUMAN FETAL GROWTH RESTRICTION CHARACTERIZED BY IMPAIRED PLACENTAL ANGIOGENESIS

Using a clinically well-defined cohort of idiopathic FGR (n = 25) and gestation-matched control (n = 25) pregnancies, we reported an overall decrease in homeobox gene *HLX* and *ESX1L* expression in all cell types, including endothelial cells, in FGR-affected placentae compared with GMC (Murthi et al., 2006a,b). Subsequently, we also reported that homeobox genes *DLX4* and *DLX3* showed increased expression in FGR-affected placentae (Murthi et al., 2006c; Chui et al., 2012), whereas *GAX* and *MSX2* showed no significant difference. Our studies represented the most comprehensive and extensive analyses of homeobox genes in placental pathologies undertaken. *In situ* mRNA hybridisation and immunohistochemical studies on placental sections localized the expression of these genes not only to placental trophoblasts but also to endothelial cells that comprise the fetal capillaries (Quinn et al., 1998a,b, 2000).

HOMEOBOX GENE EXPRESSION IN PLACENTAL ENDOTHELIAL CELLS

At least two functionally distinct endothelial cell types, macrovascular and microvascular exist within the human placenta (Lang et al., 1993; Ugele and Lange, 2001). Macrovascular endothelial cells [human umbilical vein endothelial cell (HUVEC)] line the large conduit vessels of the umbilical cord and isolated cells from the vein have been used extensively to model vasculogenic and angiogenic processes occurring in tissues such as the placenta (Demir et al., 1989; Wang et al., 2004). Microvascular endothelial cells vascularise the cotyledons of the placenta. It is important to study the microvascular environment of the placenta because in placental disorders such as FGR and PE, structural and vascular changes occur within the microvasculature of the terminal villi that impact on maternal-fetal gas and nutrient exchange (Demir et al., 1989; Kingdom et al., 2000; Dye et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2004). Lang et al. (2003) have reported that distinct morphogenetic, antigenic, and functional characteristics exist between microvascular and macrovascular endothelial cells of the human placenta and demonstrated differences in the secretion of vasoactive substances

and the proliferative response to cytokines between microvascular and macrovascular endothelial cells of the human placenta. The different reactions of microvascular and macrovascular endothelial cells to various stimuli (Lang et al., 2003) are likely to reflect differences in the activation of transcription factors that mediate signal transduction mechanisms in the two cell types.

In addition, several studies have found various morphological, antigenic, growth, and functional differences between the two endothelial cell types in association with pathological conditions (Thorin and Shreeve, 1998; Charnock-Jones et al., 2004; Pollheimer and Knofler, 2005). Therefore, it was concluded that isolated microvascular endothelial cells from the chorionic villi have advantages as a model to study placental vascular development over macrovascular HUVEC.

To isolate and enrich placental microvascular endothelial cells (PLEC), we used a modified methodology based on the perfusionbased technique described by Lang et al. (2003). After cannulation of the chorionic vessels and removal of fetal blood, Lang et al. (2003) introduced proteolytic enzymes into the perfused cotyledon in a specific volume of buffer that was perfused into the placenta at a variable flow rate by employing a gravity feed system. In contrast, our modified methodology involved pumping the enzymes into the vasculature at a constant flow rate for a variable length of time and until no further venous outflow was obtained. This modified technique achieved a controlled delivery of the enzymes and an enriched population of PLEC (Murthi et al., 2007).

Freshly isolated PLEC were used to identify the homeobox genes expressed in the placental microvasculature, and expression of homeobox genes was compared with that of macrovascular HUVEC. Conventional reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was used to detect mRNA levels of homeobox genes *DLX3*, *DLX4*, *MSX2*, *GAX*, and *HLX* (formerly known as *HLX1* or *HB24*) in both PLEC and HUVEC. Our study was the first to show *DLX3*, *DLX4*, and *MSX2* are expressed in macrovascular HUVEC. We also reported that the mRNA levels of *HLX* mRNA in HUVEC were significantly lower compared with PLEC (Murthi et al., 2007). These data provided further evidence of heterogeneity in homeobox gene expression between microvascular PLEC and macrovascular HUVEC, which most likely reflects significant differences in endothelial cell function in the two different cellular environments.

HLX is important in the proliferation and lineage commitment of haematopoietic cells (Deguchi et al., 1992). In the human placenta, *HLX* mRNA expression is restricted to proliferating cell types such as villous cytotrophoblast and extravillous cytotrophoblast cells in the proximal regions of the invading cell columns (Rajaraman et al., 2008). In our study, we showed *HLX* mRNA expression in placental endothelial cells (Murthi et al., 2007), which are also proliferative cell types. Microvascular endothelial cells of the placenta, particularly within the terminal and intermediate villi of term placentae, have a higher level of proliferative activity in comparison with their macrovascular counterparts (Murthi et al., 2007). Moreover, in response to PIGF, PLEC have a significantly greater proliferative activity compared with HUVEC (Lang et al., 2003). *HLX* levels in PLEC are relatively higher than in HUVEC, and PLEC have greater proliferative potential. Taken together, these data suggests a possible role for *HLX* in the proliferative capacity of microvascular endothelial cells. The transcriptional regulation of proliferation, migration, and invasion of PLEC by homeobox genes *DLX3*, *DLX4*, *MSX2*, *GAX*, and *HLX* is yet to be explored.

The reported the co-expression of HLX, MSX2, GAX, and DLX4 in PLEC (Murthi et al., 2007) and this specific combination of homeobox genes may be important in mammals. For example, Hlx is co-expressed with members of the Msx, Gax (also known as Mox) and Dlx families in the mouse embryo. HLX is expressed with MSX2, GAX (also called MOX2) and DLX4 in the trophoblast cell layers of the human placenta (Quinn et al., 1998b). Quinn et al. (2000) predicted that the combination of homeobox genes could play a significant role in the regulation of epithelial-mesenchymal cell interactions in the extraembryonic tissues. Therefore, co-expression of the homeobox genes in both trophoblast and endothelium may be important in the coordination of villous outgrowth and angiogenesis that is seen in the terminal villi and is essential for the efficient functioning of the placenta as it grows. Thus, our study on the homeobox gene expression profiling in placental endothelial cells (Murthi et al., 2007) further emphasized the importance of studying microvascular endothelial cells (i.e., PLEC) as a model for the placental microvascular bed, or other microcirculation systems.

IDENTIFICATION OF NOVEL HOMEOBOX GENES IN PLACENTAL ENDOTHELIAL CELLS

To further expand our knowledge of the repertoire of homeobox genes expressed in placental endothelial cells, in a subsequent study by Murthi et al. (2008) we carried out microarray expression profiling on endothelial cells and analyzed public microarray expression profile databases. We have employed PCR and real-time PCR methods to corroborate the microarray data and to compare relative expression levels of homeobox genes in PLECs and HUVEC.

Microarray expression data as reported in Murthi et al. (2008) suggested that novel homeobox genes are expressed in microvascular placental endothelial cells. These homeobox genes, *HEX*, *PHOX1*, *LIM6*, *HOXB7* and *TGIF*, have not been previously detected in the placenta and were selected because they exhibited the greatest relative expression in the microarray data (Murthi et al., 2008). Novel homeobox genes *TLX1* and *TLX2* homeobox gene expression data was obtained from the GNF Microarray Analysis Data for the Human U95A microarray, Version 2 dataset (http://expression.gnf.org; Su et al., 2002). Homeobox genes *LIM6*, *HOXB7*, *TGIF*, *PHOX1*, and *HEX* were expressed in the endothelial cells of the placenta.

Expression of these homeobox genes in the placenta or in placental endothelial cells has not been previously reported. *HEX* (Nakagawa et al., 2003), *PHOX1/Prx1* (Ihida-Stansbury et al., 2004), and *HOXB7* (Care et al., 2001) homeobox genes have been previously described in endothelial cells from various sources but have not been described in any endothelial cell type and may represent novel endothelial regulatory genes. Validation of high-throughput gene microarray screening data of potentially novel homeobox gene expression in endothelial cells is essential. In our study (Murthi et al., 2008), the



microarray data were further corroborated by independent methods such as RT-PCR and real-time PCR. Thus, our study was the first to demonstrate that the novel homeobox genes *TLX1*, *TLX2*, *PHOX1*, *MEIS2*, and *TGIF* are expressed in PLEC. In addition, in the same study, we have also reported a differential expression of *TLX1*, *TLX2*, *PHOX1*, *MEIS2*, and *TGIF* mRNA levels in macrovascular and microvascular endothelial cells.

Thus, we have identified novel homeobox genes in microvascular endothelial cells, and consistent with our previous studies reported in Murthi et al. (2007), we have shown that homeobox genes are differentially expressed between micro- and

Homeobox genes	Target genes	Regulation	EC function	Reference
Pro-ang0iogenic				
НОХАЗ	uPAR	+	Migration	Mace et al. (2005)
HOXA9	MMP-14	+	MigrationProliferationActivation	Bruhl et al. (2004)
	EphB4	+		Rossig et al. (2005)
	eNOS	+		
	VEGFR2	+		
HOXB5	VEGFR2	+	Activation	Wu et al. (2003)
HOXB3	Ephrin A1	+	Vessel formation	Myers et al. (2000)
HOXD3	Collagen A1	+	Adhesion and migration	Boudreau and Varner (2004)
MEOX2	MLLT7	_	Apoptosis	Wu et al. (2005)
PROX1	Cyclin E1	+	Proliferation	Petrova et al. (2002)
Anti-angiogenic				
HHEX	VEGFR2	_	Activation	Nakagawa etal. (2003)
HOXD10	FGF2	+	Recruitment	Chen et al. (2009)
HOXA5	VEGFR2	+	Adhesion	Arderiu et al. (2007)
	Ephrin A1			
	HIF1a			
MEOX2	P21	+	Cell cycle arrest	Gorski and Leal (2003)

Table 1 Examples of target genes downstream of homeobox genes required for the regulation of endothelial functions	5.
--	----

macrovascular endothelial cells. Our studies also provided further evidence of heterogeneity in homeobox gene expression between PLEC and HUVEC, which reflects the significant differences in endothelial cell function in the two different cellular environments.

In summary, our studies have reported homeobox genes that are novel not only in placental microvascular endothelial cells but also in the macrovascular endothelial cells of the placenta (Murthi et al., 2008). Figure 3 summarizes the association between the detection of homeobox gene expression and the regions of angiogenic potential in the human placenta. In the microvasculature, where angiogenesis is predominant, we have identified increased expression of homeobox genes TLX1, TLX2, and PHOX1. In the macrovasculature, where there is limited angiogenesis, the level of TGIF and MEIS2 are significantly increased suggesting that the heterogeneity in homeobox gene expression between PLEC and HUVEC that could reflect differences in the angiogenic potential in the two different endothelial environments. Functional studies in cultured endothelial cells are underway in our laboratory to determine the role of novel homeobox genes.

DOWNSTREAM TARGETS OF HOMEOBOX GENES

Homeobox genes control transcription by binding to regulatory elements in the promoter regions of target genes. Miano et al. (1996) first reported the expression of several homeobox genes in the cardiovascular and lymphatic vasculature. More recently, several homeobox genes were shown to affect processes in embryonic and adult tissues, including angiogenesis and wound healing (Kachgal et al., 2012). Homeobox genes activate either growth or migration of vascular cells to promote angiogenesis or wound healing or restore and maintain quiescent differentiated tissue function by modulating the expression of pro-angiogenic or antiangiogenic factors. **Table 1** provides examples of downstream target genes of homeobox genes that are required for the regulation of endothelial function in general.

Studies using umbilical or uterine artery Doppler for identifying FGR, in the absence of maternal hypertensive disease, show that maternal serum sFLT-1 is increased in these pregnancies compared with pregnancies of normotensive women delivering average for gestational age infants (Crispi et al., 2006; Stepan et al., 2007; Wallner et al., 2007; Chaiworapongsa et al., 2008, 2013). More recent studies by Borras et al. (2014) have reported that maternal plasma free VEGF (f-VEGF) and s-Flt-1 were significantly higher in FGR compared with controls and the f-VEGF/sFlt-1 quotient was significantly lower in the FGR group compared with controls. Although the VEGF family has important roles in normal and complicated pregnancies, the current predictive value of the VEGF family as biomarkers appears to be limited to early onset preeclampsia (Andraweera et al., 2012).

Studies from our laboratory, using a real-time PCR-based gene profiling, recently identified candidate target genes of homeobox gene *DLX3* as regulators of trophoblast differentiation; *GATA2* and *PPAR* γ (Chui et al., 2013). The expression of *GATA2* and *PPAR* γ were further assessed in placental tissues and showed increased expression in FGR-affected tissues compared with gestation-matched controls. Our studies showed that *DLX3*



orchestrates the expression of multiple regulators of trophoblast differentiation and that expression of these regulatory genes is abnormal in FGR.

Xin et al. (1999) have shown that *PPAR* γ ligands suppress *VEGFR1* and *VEGFR2* expression in HUVECs. Anti-angiogenic actions of 15-lipoxygenase on angiogenesis is regulated by *PPAR* γ and *VEGF* by inhibiting the expression of *VEGFR2* in endothelial cells (Mochizuki and Kwon, 2008; Viita et al., 2008). Because the chemical *PPAR* γ ligands thiazolidinediones have been used widely for the treatment of type 2 diabetic patients, many of whom experience vascular diseases, clarifying the precise role of *PPAR* γ in defective placental angiogenesis may be of clinical significance.

Current studies in our laboratory are also focused on identifying target genes of homeobox genes *TGIF*, *MEIS*, *HOXB7*, and *HHEX* in human placental endothelial cells, which may reveal molecular pathways responsible for fundamental cellular functions such as endothelial cell migration, invasion, proliferation, and tube formation that are important for placental angiogenesis. As depicted in **Figure 4**, in response to angiogenic stimuli or insult, as in the case of FGR or PE, altered expression of homeobox genes in the placental microvascular endothelial may directly or indirectly alter the expression of angiogenic molecules. These angiogenic molecules in turn may regulate genes responsible for cell adhesion, migration, proliferation, growth arrest, and the expression of cytokines needed for extracellular matrix interactions all of which are functions characteristic of the angiogenic phenotype.

CONCLUSION

Clearly, identifying target genes regulated by homeobox genes in placental microvascular endothelial cells will reveal the biological pathways regulated by homeobox genes. These pathways will provide important information on the function of homeobox genes in placental angiogenesis. Although homeobox gene nuclear transcription factors are unlikely to be ideal disease biomarkers or therapeutic targets, their target genes, if secreted, may provide viable biomarkers or diagnostic markers. A better understanding of cellular and molecular mechanisms that regulate homeobox genes in placental endothelial cells may lead to new approaches for correcting aberrant angiogenesis observed in pregnancy pathologies, including FGR and preeclampsia.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, A., and Perkins, J. (2000). Angiogenesis and intrauterine growth restriction. Baillieres Best Pract. Res. Clin. Obstet. Gynaecol. 14, 981–998. doi: 10.1053/beog.2000.0139
- Almasry, S. M., Eldomiaty, M. A., Elfayomy, A. K., Habib, F. A., and Safwat, M. D. (2012). Structural analysis of human placental stem and terminal villi from normal and idiopathic growth restricted pregnancies. *J. Mol. Histol.* 43, 263–271. doi: 10.1007/s10735-012-9405-3
- Almasry, S. M., and Elfayomy, A. K. (2012). Morphometric analysis of terminal villi and gross morphological changes in the placentae of term idiopathic intrauterine growth restriction. *Tissue Cell* 44, 214–219. doi: 10.1016/j.tice.2012.03.006
- Andraweera, P. H., Dekker, G. A., and Roberts, C. T. (2012). The vascular endothelial growth factor family in adverse pregnancy outcomes. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 18, 436–457. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dms011
- Arderiu, G., Cuevas, I., Chen, A., Carrio, M., East, L., and Boudreau, N. J. (2007). HoxA5 stabilizes adherens junctions via increased Akt1. *Cell Adh. Migr.* 1, 185– 195. doi: 10.4161/cam.1.4.5448

- Biagiotti, R., Sgambati, E., and Brizzi, E. (1999). Placental morphometry in pregnancies complicated by intrauterine growth retardation with absent or reversed end diastolic flow in the umbilical artery. *Ital. J. Anat. Embryol.* 104, 201–207.
- Biswas, S., Ghosh, S. K., and Chhabra, S. (2008). Surface area of chorionic villi of placentas: an index of intrauterine growth restriction of fetuses. *J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Res.* 34, 487–493. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2008.00719.x
- Borras, D., Perales-Puchalt, A., Ruiz Sacedón, N., and Perales, A. (2014). Angiogenic growth factors in maternal and fetal serum in pregnancies complicated with intrauterine growth restriction. *J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 34, 218–220. doi: 10.3109/01443615.2013.834304
- Boudreau, N. J., and Varner, J. A. (2004). The homeobox transcription factor Hox D3 promotes integrin alpha5beta1 expression and function during angiogenesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 4862–4868. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M305190200
- Boyd, J. D., and Hamilton, W. J. (1970). *The Human Placenta*. Cambridge, Heffer and Sons.
- Bruhl, T., Urbich, C., Aicher, D., Acker-Palmer, A., Zeiher, A. M., and Dimmeler, S. (2004). Homeobox A9 transcriptionally regulates the EphB4 receptor to modulate endothelial cell migration and tube formation. *Circ. Res.* 94, 743–751. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000120861.27064.09
- Burton, G. J., and Tham, S. W. (1992). Formation of vasculo-syncytial membranes in the human placenta. *J. Dev. Physiol.* 18, 43–47.
- Bushway, M. E., Gerber, S. A., Fenton, B. M., Miller, R. K., Lord, E. M., and Murphy, S. P. (2014). Morphological and phenotypic analyses of the human placenta using whole mount immunofluorescence. *Biol. Reprod.* doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.113.115915 [Epub ahead of print].
- Care, A., Felicetti, F., Meccia, E., Bottero, L., Parenza, M., Stoppacciaro, A., et al. (2001). HOXB7: a key factor for tumor-associated angiogenic switch. *Cancer Res.* 61, 6532–6539.
- Chaddha, V., Viero, S., Huppertz, B., and Kingdom, J. (2004). Developmental biology of the placenta and the origins of placental insufficiency. *Semin. Fetal Neonatal Med.* 9, 357–369. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2004.03.006
- Chaiworapongsa, T., Romero, R., Gotsch, F., Espinoza, J., Nien, J. K., Goncalves, L., et al. (2008). Low maternal concentrations of soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 in preeclampsia and small for gestational age. *J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med.* 21, 41–52. doi: 10.1080/14767050701831397
- Chaiworapongsa, T., Romero, R., Korzeniewski, S. J., Kusanovic, J. P., Soto, E., Lam, J., et al. (2013). Maternal plasma concentrations of angiogenic/antiangiogenic factors in the third trimester of pregnancy to identify the patient at risk for stillbirth at or near term and severe late preeclampsia. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 208, 287 e281–287 e215. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2013.01.016
- Charnock-Jones, D. S. (2002). Soluble flt-1 and the angiopoietins in the development and regulation of placental vasculature. J. Anat. 200, 607–615. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-7580.2002.00063.x
- Charnock-Jones, D. S., Kaufmann, P., and Mayhew, T. M. (2004). Aspects of human fetoplacental vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. I. Molecular regulation. *Placenta* 25, 103–113. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2003.10.004
- Chen, A., Cuevas, I., Kenny, P. A., Miyake, H., Mace, K., Ghajar, C., et al. (2009). Endothelial cell migration and vascular endothelial growth factor expression are the result of loss of breast tissue polarity. *Cancer Res.* 69, 6721–6729. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4069
- Chen, C. P., Bajoria, R., and Aplin, J. D. (2002). Decreased vascularization and cell proliferation in placentas of intrauterine growth-restricted fetuses with abnormal umbilical artery flow velocity waveforms. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 187, 764–769. doi: 10.1067/mob.2002.125243
- Chui, A., Kalionis, B., Abumaree, M., Cocquebert, M., Fournier, T., Evain-Brion, D., et al. (2013). Downstream targets of the homeobox gene DLX3 are differentially expressed in the placentae of pregnancies affected by human idiopathic fetal growth restriction. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 377, 75–83. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.06.032
- Chui, A., Pathirage, N. A., Johnson, B., Cocquebert, M., Fournier, T., Evain-Brion, D., et al. (2010). Homeobox gene distal-less 3 is expressed in proliferating and differentiating cells of the human placenta. *Placenta* 31, 691–697. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2010.05.003
- Chui, A., Tay, C., Cocquebert, M., Sheehan, P., Pathirage, N. A., Donath, S., et al. (2012). Homeobox gene Distal-less 3 is a regulator of villous cytotro-phoblast differentiation and its expression is increased in human idiopathic foetal growth restriction. *J. Mol. Med. (Berl.)* 90, 273–284. doi: 10.1007/s00109-011-0836-1

- Clark, D. E., Smith, S. K., Sharkey, A. M., and Charnock-Jones, D. S. (1996). Localization of VEGF and expression of its receptors flt and KDR in human placenta throughout pregnancy. *Hum. Reprod.* 11, 1090–1098. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a019303
- Crispi, F., Dominguez, C., Llurba, E., Martín-Gallán, P., Cabero, L., and Gratacós, E. (2006). Placental angiogenic growth factors and uterine artery Doppler findings for characterization of different subsets in preeclampsia and in isolated intrauterine growth restriction. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 195, 201–207. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2006.01.014
- Cross, J. C. (2006). Placental function in development and disease. *Reprod. Fertil.* Dev. 18, 71–76. doi: 10.1071/RD05121
- Cross, J. C., Anson-Cartwright, L., and Scott, I. C. (2002). Transcription factors underlying the development and endocrine functions of the placenta. *Recent Prog. Horm. Res.* 57, 221–234. doi: 10.1210/rp.57.1.221
- Cross, J. C., Baczyk, D., Dobric, N., Hemberger, M., Hughes, M., Simmons, D. G., et al. (2003a). Genes, development and evolution of the placenta. *Placenta* 24, 123–130. doi: 10.1053/plac.2002.0887
- Cross, J. C., Simmons, D. G., and Watson, E. D. (2003b). Chorioallantoic morphogenesis and formation of the placental villous tree. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 995, 84–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb03212.x
- Deguchi, Y., Kirschenbaum, A., and Kehrl, J. H. (1992). A diverged homeobox gene is involved in the proliferation and lineage commitment of human hematopoietic progenitors and highly expressed in acute myelogenous leukemia. *Blood* 79, 2841– 2848.
- Demir, R., Kaufmann, P., Castellucci, M., Erbengi, T., and Kotowski, A. (1989). Fetal vasculogenesis and angiogenesis in human placental villi. Acta Anat. (Basel) 136, 190–203. doi: 10.1159/000146886
- Douville, J. M., and Wigle, J. T. (2007). Regulation and function of homeodomain proteins in the embryonic and adult vascular systems. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 85, 55–65. doi: 10.1139/y06-091
- Dye, J., Lawrence, L., Linge, C., Leach, L., Firth, J., and Clark, P. (2004). Distinct patterns of microvascular endothelial cell morphology are determined by extracellular matrix composition. *Endothelium* 11, 151–167. doi: 10.1080/10623320490512093
- Egbor, M., Ansari, T., Morris, N., Green, C. J., and Sibbons, P. D. (2006). Morphometric placental villous and vascular abnormalities in early- and late-onset pre-eclampsia with and without fetal growth restriction. *BJOG* 113, 580–589. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2006.00882.x
- Escudero, C., Celis, C., Saez, T., San Martin, S., Valenzuela, F. J., Aguayo, C., et al. (2014). Increased placental angiogenesis in late and early onset pre-eclampsia is associated with differential activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2. *Placenta* 35, 207–215. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014.01.007
- Fang, Y., Yu, S., Ma, Y., Sun, P., Ma, D., Ji, C., et al. (2013). Association of Dll4/notch and HIF-1a -VEGF signaling in the angiogenesis of missed abortion. *PLoS ONE* 8:e70667. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070667
- Fohn, L. E., and Behringer, R. R. (2001). ESX1L, a novel X chromosome-linked human homeobox gene expressed in the placenta and testis. *Genomics* 74, 105– 108. doi: 10.1006/geno.2001.6532
- Geva, E., Ginzinger, D. G., Zaloudek, C. J., Moore, D. H., Byrne, A., and Jaffe, R.
 B. (2002). Human placental vascular development: vasculogenic and angiogenic (branching and nonbranching) transformation is regulated by vascular endothelial growth factor-A, angiopoietin-1, and angiopoietin-2. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 87, 4213–4224. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-020195
- Gorski, D. H., and Leal, A. J. (2003). Inhibition of endothelial cell activation by the homeobox gene Gax. J. Surg. Res. 111, 91–99. doi: 10.1016/S0022-4804(03) 00042-8
- Gorski, D. H., LePage, D. F., Patel, C. V., Copeland, N. G., Jenkins, N. A., and Walsh, K. (1993). Molecular cloning of a diverged homeobox gene that is rapidly downregulated during the G0/G1 transition in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13, 3722–3733.
- Gorski, D. H., and Walsh, K. (2000). The role of homeobox genes in vascular remodeling and angiogenesis. *Circ. Res.* 87, 865–872. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.87.10.865
- Gorski, D. H., and Walsh, K. (2003). Control of vascular cell differentiation by homeobox transcription factors. *Trends Cardiovasc. Med.* 13, 213–220. doi: 10.1016/S1050-1738(03)00081-1
- Graba, Y., Aragnol, D., and Pradel, J. (1997). Drosophila Hox complex downstream targets and the function of homeotic genes. Bioessays 19, 379–388. doi: 10.1002/bies.950190505

- Gude, N. M., Roberts, C. T., Kalionis, B., and King, R. G. (2004). Growth and function of the normal human placenta. *Thromb. Res.* 114, 397–407. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2004.06.038
- Hamik, A., Wang, B., and Jain, M. K. (2006). Transcriptional regulators of angiogenesis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 26, 1936–1947. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000232542.42968.e3
- Han, K., Levine, M. S., and Manley, J. L. (1989). Synergistic activation and repression of transcription by *Drosophila* homeobox proteins. *Cell* 56, 573–583. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(89)90580-1
- Hendricks, S. K., Sorensen, T. K., Wang, K. Y., Bushnell, J. M., Seguin, E. M., and Zingheim, R. W. (1989). Doppler umbilical artery waveform indices – normal values from fourteen to forty-two weeks. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 161, 761–765. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(89)90397-9
- Hueber, S. D., Bezdan, D., Henz, S. R., Blank, M., Wu, H., and Lohmann, I. (2007). Comparative analysis of Hox downstream genes in *Drosophila*. *Development* 134, 381–392. doi: 10.1242/dev.02746
- Ihida-Stansbury, K., McKean, D. M., Gebb, S. A., Martin, J. F., Stevens, T., Nemenoff, R., et al. (2004). Paired-related homeobox gene Prx1 is required for pulmonary vascular development. *Circ. Res.* 94, 1507–1514. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000130656.72424.20
- Jackson, M. R., Carney, E. W., Lye, S. J., and Ritchie, J. W. (1994). Localization of two angiogenic growth factors (PDECGF and VEGF) in human placentae throughout gestation. *Placenta* 15, 341–353. doi: 10.1016/0143-4004(94) 90002-7
- Jackson, M. R., Walsh, A. J., Morrow, R. J., Mullen, J. B., Lye, S. J., and Ritchie, J. W. (1995). Reduced placental villous tree elaboration in small-for-gestationalage pregnancies: relationship with umbilical artery Doppler waveforms. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 172(2Pt 1), 518–525. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(95)90566-9
- Jacomo, K. H., Benedetti, W. L., Sala, M. A., and Alvarez, H. (1976). Pathology of the trophoblast and fetal vessels of the placenta in maternal diabetes mellitus. *Acta Diabetol. Lat.* 13, 216–235. doi: 10.1007/BF02581119
- Jaffe, R., Jauniaux, E., and Hustin, J. (1997). Maternal circulation in the firsttrimester human placenta – myth or reality? *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 176, 695–705. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(97)70572-6
- Jones, C. J., and Fox, H. (1976). Placental changes in gestational diabetes. An ultrastructural study. Obstet. Gynecol. 48, 274–280.
- Kachgal, S., Mace, K. A., and Boudreau, N. J. (2012). The dual roles of homeobox genes in vascularization and wound healing. *Cell Adh. Migr.* 6, 457–470. doi: 10.4161/cam.22164
- Kami, K., and Mitsui, T. (1984). Ultrastructural observations of chorionic villi at term in diabetic women. *Tokai J. Exp. Clin. Med.* 9, 53–67.
- Kaufmann, P., Mayhew, T. M., and Charnock-Jones, D. S. (2004). Aspects of human fetoplacental vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. II. Changes during normal pregnancy. *Placenta* 25, 114–126. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2003.10.009
- Kingdom, J., Huppertz, B., Seaward, G., and Kaufmann, P. (2000). Development of the placental villous tree and its consequences for fetal growth. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 92, 35–43. doi: 10.1016/S0301-2115(00)00423-1
- Kurz, H., Wilting, J., Sandau, K., and Christ, B. (1998). Automated evaluation of angiogenic effects mediated by VEGF and PIGF homo- and heterodimers. *Microvasc. Res.* 55, 92–102. doi: 10.1006/mvre.1997.2051
- Lang, I., Hartmann, M., Blaschitz, A., Dohr, G., Skofitsch, G., and Desoye, G. (1993). Immunohistochemical evidence for the heterogeneity of maternal and fetal vascular endothelial cells in human full-term placenta. *Cell Tissue Res.* 274, 211–218. doi: 10.1007/BF00318740
- Lang, I., Pabst, M. A., Hiden, U., Blaschitz, A., Dohr, G., Hahn, T., et al. (2003). Heterogeneity of microvascular endothelial cells isolated from human term placenta and macrovascular umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 82, 163–173. doi: 10.1078/0171-9335-00306
- Lin, C. C., and Santolaya-Forgas, J. (1998). Current concepts of fetal growth restriction: part I. Causes, classification, and pathophysiology. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 92, 1044–1055. doi: 10.1016/S0029-7844(98)00328-7
- Lyall, F. (2005). Priming and remodelling of human placental bed spiral arteries during pregnancy – a review. *Placenta* 26(Suppl. A), S31–S36. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2005.02.010
- Mace, K. A., Hansen, S. L., Myers, C., Young, D. M., and Boudreau, N. (2005). HOXA3 induces cell migration in endothelial and epithelial cells promoting angiogenesis and wound repair. *J. Cell Sci.* 118(Pt 12), 2567–2577. doi: 10.1242/jcs.02399

- Mahlapuu, M., Ormestad, M., Enerbäck, S., and Carlsson, P. (2001). The forkhead transcription factor Foxf1 is required for differentiation of extra-embryonic and lateral plate mesoderm. *Development* 128, 155–166.
- Manley, J. L., and Levine, M. S. (1985). The homeo box and mammalian development. *Cell* 43, 1–2. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(85) 90002-9
- Maulik, D. (2006). Fetal growth restriction: the etiology. Clin. Obstet. Gynecol. 49, 228–235. doi: 10.1097/00003081-200606000-00006
- Maulik, D., Frances Evans, J., and Ragolia, L. (2006). Fetal growth restriction: pathogenic mechanisms. *Clin. Obstet. Gynecol.* 49, 219–227. doi: 10.1097/00003081-200606000-00005
- Mayhew, T. M. (2003). Changes in fetal capillaries during preplacental hypoxia: growth, shape remodelling and villous capillarization in placentae from highaltitude pregnancies. *Placenta* 24, 191–198. doi: 10.1053/plac.2002.0895
- Mayhew, T. M., Sorensen, F. B., Klebe, J. G., and Jackson, M. R. (1994). Growth and maturation of villi in placentae from well-controlled diabetic women. *Placenta* 15, 57–65. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(05)80236-X
- McGinnis, W., and Krumlauf, R. (1992). Homeobox genes and axial patterning. *Cell* 68, 283–302. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(92)90471-N
- Meegdes, B. H., Ingenhoes, R., Peeters, L. L., and Exalto, N. (1988). Early pregnancy wastage: relationship between chorionic vascularization and embryonic development. *Fertil. Steril.* 49, 216–220.
- Miano, J. M., Firulli, A. B., Olson, E. N., Hara, P., Giachelli, C. M., and Schwartz, S. M. (1996). Restricted expression of homeobox genes distinguishes fetal from adult human smooth muscle cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 900–905. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.2.900
- Mochizuki, N., and Kwon, Y. G. (2008). 15-lipoxygenase-1 in the vasculature: expanding roles in angiogenesis. *Circ. Res.* 102, 143–145. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRE-SAHA.107.170191
- Moore, K. L., and Persaud T. V. N. (1998). *The Developing Human Clinically Oriented Embryology*, 6th Edn. philadelphia, PA: WB Saunders.
- Morasso, M. I., Grinberg, A., Robinson, G., Sargent, T. D., and Mahon, K. A. (1999). Placental failure in mice lacking the homeobox gene Dlx3. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 96, 162–167. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.1.162
- Murthi, P., Doherty, V., Said, J., Donath, S., Brennecke, S. P., and Kalionis, B. (2006a). Homeobox gene HLX1 expression is decreased in idiopathic human fetal growth restriction. Am. J. Pathol. 168, 511–518. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2006. 050637
- Murthi, P., Doherty, V. L., Said, J. M., Donath, S., Brennecke, S. P., and Kalionis, B. (2006b). Homeobox gene ESX1L expression is decreased in human preterm idiopathic fetal growth restriction. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 12, 335–340. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gal037
- Murthi, P., Said, J. M., Doherty, V. L., Donath, S., Nowell, C. J., Brennecke, S. P., et al. (2006c). Homeobox gene DLX4 expression is increased in idiopathic human fetal growth restriction. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 12, 763–769. doi: 10.1093/molehr/ gal087
- Murthi, P., Hiden, U., Rajaraman, G., Liu, H., Borg, A. J., Coombes, F., et al. (2008). Novel homeobox genes are differentially expressed in placental microvascular endothelial cells compared with macrovascular cells. *Placenta* 29, 624–630. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2008.04.006
- Murthi, P., So, M., Gude, N. M., Doherty, V. L., Brennecke, S. P., and Kalionis, B. (2007). Homeobox genes are differentially expressed in macrovascular human umbilical vein endothelial cells and microvascular placental endothelial cells. *Placenta* 28, 219–223. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2006.02.012
- Myers, C., Charboneau, A., and Boudreau, N. (2000). Homeobox B3 promotes capillary morphogenesis and angiogenesis. J. Cell Biol. 148, 343–351. doi: 10.1083/jcb.148.2.343
- Myers, C., Charboneau, A., Cheung, I., Hanks, D., and Boudreau, N. (2002). Sustained expression of homeobox D10 inhibits angiogenesis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 161, 2099–2109. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64488-4
- Naiche, L. A., and Papaioannou, V. E. (2003). Loss of Tbx4 blocks hindlimb development and affects vascularization and fusion of the allantois. *Development* 130, 2681–2693. doi: 10.1242/dev.00504
- Nakagawa, T., Abe, M., Yamazaki, T., Miyashita, H., Niwa, H., Kokubun, S., et al. (2003). HEX acts as a negative regulator of angiogenesis by modulating the expression of angiogenesis-related gene in endothelial cells in vitro. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 23, 231–237. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000052670. 55321.87

- Page, K. (1993). The Physiology of the Human Placenta. London: UCL Press Limited.
- Patel, S., Leal, A. D., and Gorski, D. H. (2005). The homeobox gene Gax inhibits angiogenesis through inhibition of nuclear factor-kappaB-dependent endothelial cell gene expression. *Cancer Res.* 65, 1414–1424. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3431
- Petrova, T. V., Makinen, T., Mäkelä, T. P., Saarela, J., Virtanen, I., Ferrell, R. E., et al. (2002). Lymphatic endothelial reprogramming of vascular endothelial cells by the Prox-1 homeobox transcription factor. *EMBO J.* 21, 4593–4599. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdf470
- Pollheimer, J., and Knofler, M. (2005). Signalling pathways regulating the invasive differentiation of human trophoblasts: a review. *Placenta* 26(Suppl. A), S21–S30. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2004.11.013
- Preis, J. I., Wise, N., Solloway, M. J., Harvey, R, P., Sparrow, D. B., Dunwoodie, S. L., et al. (2006). Generation of conditional Cited2 null alleles. *Genesis* 44, 579–583. doi: 10.1002/dvg.20251
- Quinn, L. M., Johnson, B. V., Nicholl, J., Sutherland, G. R., and Kalionis, B. (1997). Isolation and identification of homeobox genes from the human placenta including a novel member of the Distal-less family, DLX4. *Gene* 187, 55–61. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1119(96)00706-8
- Quinn, L. M., Kilpatrick, L. M., Latham, S. E., and Kalionis, B. (1998a). Homeobox genes DLX4 and HB24 are expressed in regions of epithelial-mesenchymal cell interaction in the adult human endometrium. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 4, 497–501. doi: 10.1093/molehr/4.5.497
- Quinn, L. M., Latham, S. E., and Kalionis, B. (1998b). A distal-less class homeobox gene, DLX4, is a candidate for regulating epithelial-mesenchymal cell interactions in the human placenta. *Placenta* 19, 87–93. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(98) 90103-5
- Quinn, L. M., Latham, S. E., and Kalionis, B. (2000). The homeobox genes MSX2 and MOX2 are candidates for regulating epithelial-mesenchymal cell interactions in the human placenta. *Placenta* 21(Suppl. A), S50–S54. doi: 10.1053/plac. 1999.0514
- Rajaraman, G., Murthi, P., Quinn, L., Brennecke, S. P., and Kalionis, B. (2008). Homeodomain protein HLX is expressed primarily in cytotrophoblast cell types in the early pregnancy human placenta. *Reprod. Fertil. Dev.* 20, 357–367. doi: 10.1071/RD07159
- Regnault, T. R., de Vrijer, B., Galan, H. L., Davidsen, M. L., Trembler, K. A., Battaglia, F. C., et al. (2003). The relationship between transplacental O2 diffusion and placental expression of PIGF, VEGF and their receptors in a placental insufficiency model of fetal growth restriction. *J. Physiol.* 550(Pt 2), 641–656. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2003.039511
- Risau, W. (1997). Mechanisms of angiogenesis. Nature 386, 671–674. doi: 10.1038/386671a0
- Rossant, J., and Cross, J. C. (2001). Placental development: lessons from mouse mutants. Nat. Rev. Genet. 2, 538–548. doi: 10.1038/35080570
- Rossig, L., Urbich, C., Brühl, T., Dernbach, E., Heeschen, C., Chavakis, E., et al. (2005). Histone deacetylase activity is essential for the expression of HoxA9 and for endothelial commitment of progenitor cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 201, 1825–1835. doi: 10.1084/jem.20042097
- Salafia, C. M., Charles, A. K., and Maas, E. M. (2006). Placenta and fetal growth restriction. *Clin. Obstet. Gynecol.* 49, 236–256. doi: 10.1097/00003081-200606000-00007
- Sanchez-Vera, I., Bonet, B., Viana, M., Quintanar, A., and López-Salva, A. (2005). Increased low-density lipoprotein susceptibility to oxidation in pregnancies and fetal growth restriction. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 106, 345–351. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000171112.95083.86
- Sato, Y. (2000). Molecular mechanism of angiogenesis transcription factors and their therapeutic relevance. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 87, 51–60. doi: 10.1016/S0163-7258(00)00067-X
- Shaut, C. A., Keene, D. R., Sorensen, L. K., Li, D. Y., and Stadler, H. S. (2008). HOXA13 Is essential for placental vascular patterning and labyrinth endothelial specification. *PLoS Genet.* 4: e1000073. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000073
- Stepan, H., Unversucht, A., Wessel, N., and Faber, R. (2007). Predictive value of maternal angiogenic factors in second trimester pregnancies with abnormal uterine perfusion. *Hypertension* 49, 818–824. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000258404.21552.a3
- Su, A. I., Cooke, M. P., Ching, K. A., Hakak, Y., Walker, J. R., Wiltshire, T., et al. (2002). Large-scale analysis of the human and mouse transcriptomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 4465–4470. doi: 10.1073/pnas.012025199

- Svingen, T., and Tonissen, K. F. (2006). Hox transcription factors and their elusive mammalian gene targets. *Heredity* (*Edinb.*) 97, 88–96. doi: 10.1038/sj.hdy.6800847
- Teasdale, F. (1984). Idiopathic intrauterine growth retardation: histomorphometry of the human placenta. *Placenta* 5, 83–92. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(84)80051-X
- Teasdale, F., and Jean-Jacques, G. (1988). Intrauterine growth retardation: morphometry of the microvillous membrane of the human placenta. *Placenta* 9, 47–55. doi: 10.1016/0143-4004(88)90072-0
- Thorin, E., and Shreeve, S. M. (1998). Heterogeneity of vascular endothelial cells in normal and disease states. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 78, 155–166. doi: 10.1016/S0163-7258(98)00005-9
- Tomas, S. Z., Roje, D., Prusac, I. K., Tadin, I., and Capkun, V. (2010). Morphological characteristics of placentas associated with idiopathic intrauterine growth retardation: a clinicopathologic study. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 152, 39–43. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2010.05.006
- Ugele, B., and Lange, F. (2001). Isolation of endothelial cells from human placental microvessels: effect of different proteolytic enzymes on releasing endothelial cells from villous tissue. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim.* 37, 408–413. doi: 10.1290/1071-2690(2001)037<0408:IOECFH>2.0.CO;2
- van Nes, J., de Graaff, W., Lebrin, F., Gerhard, M., Beck, F., and Deschamps, J. (2006). The Cdx4 mutation affects axial development and reveals an essential role of Cdx genes in the ontogenesis of the placental labyrinth in mice. *Development* 133, 419–428. doi: 10.1242/dev.02216
- Vedmedovska, N., Rezeberga, D., Teibe, U., Melderis, I., and Donders, G. G. (2011). Placental pathology in fetal growth restriction. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 155, 36–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2010.11.017
- Viita, H., Markkanen, J., Eriksson, E., Nurminen, M., Kinnunen, K., Babu, M., et al. (2008). 15-lipoxygenase-1 prevents vascular endothelial growth factor A- and placental growth factor-induced angiogenic effects in rabbit skeletal muscles via reduction in growth factor mRNA levels, NO bioactivity, and downregulation of VEGF receptor 2 expression. *Circ. Res.* 102, 177–184. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.107.155556
- Wallner, W., Sengenberger, R., Strick, R., Strissel, P. L., Meurer, B., Beckmann, M. W. et al. (2007). Angiogenic growth factors in maternal and fetal serum in pregnancies complicated by intrauterine growth restriction. *Clin. Sci. (Lond.)* 112, 51–57. doi: 10.1042/CS20060161
- Wang, X., Athayde, N., and Trudinger, B. (2004). Microvascular endothelial cell activation is present in the umbilical placental microcirculation in fetal placental vascular disease. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 190, 596–601. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2003.09.021
- Wang, Y., Tasevski, V., Wallace, E. M., Gallery, E. D., and Morris, J. M. (2007). Reduced maternal serum concentrations of angiopoietin-2 in the first trimester precede intrauterine growth restriction associated with placental insufficiency. *BJOG* 114, 1427–1431. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2007.01511.x

- Wilting, J., Birkenhager, R., Eichmann, A., Kurz, H., Martiny-Baron, G., Marmé, D., et al. (1996). VEGF121 induces proliferation of vascular endothelial cells and expression of flk-1 without affecting lymphatic vessels of chorioallantoic membrane. *Dev. Biol.* 176, 76–85. doi: 10.1006/dbio.1996.9993
- Winnik, S., Klinkert, M., Kurz, H., Zoeller, C., Heinke, J., Wu, Y., et al. (2009). HoxB5 induces endothelial sprouting in vitro and modifies intussusceptive angiogenesis in vivo involving angiopoietin-2. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 83, 558–565. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvp133
- Witzenbichler, B., Kureishi, Y., Luo, Z., Le Roux, A., Branellec, D., and Walsh, K. (1999). Regulation of smooth muscle cell migration and integrin expression by the Gax transcription factor. *J. Clin. Invest.* 104, 1469–1480. doi: 10.1172/ JCI7251
- Wu, Y., Moser, M., Bautch, V. L., and Patterson, C. (2003). HoxB5 is an upstream transcriptional switch for differentiation of the vascular endothelium from precursor cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 23, 5680–5691. doi: 10.1128/MCB.23.16.5680-5691.2003
- Wu, Z., Guo, H., Chow, N., Sallstrom, J., Bell, R. D., Deane, R., et al. (2005). Role of the MEOX2 homeobox gene in neurovascular dysfunction in Alzheimer disease. *Nat. Med.* 11, 959–965. doi: 10.1038/nm1287
- Xin, X., Yang, S., Kowalski, J., and Gerritsen, M. E. (1999). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma ligands are potent inhibitors of angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 9116–9121. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274. 13.9116
- Zygmunt, M., Herr, F., Münstedt, K., Lang, U., and Liang, O. D. (2003). Angiogenesis and vasculogenesis in pregnancy. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 110(Suppl. 1), S10–S18. doi: 10.1016/S0301-2115(03)00168-4

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 08 April 2014; accepted: 14 May 2014; published online: 04 June 2014. Citation: Murthi P, Abumaree M and Kalionis B (2014) Analysis of homeobox gene action may reveal novel angiogenic pathways in normal placental vasculature and in clinical pregnancy disorders associated with abnormal placental angiogenesis. Front. Pharmacol. 5:133. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00133

This article was submitted to Cardiovascular and Smooth Muscle Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Murthi, Abumaree and Kalionis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.


The therapeutic potential of antioxidants, ER chaperones, NO and H₂S donors, and statins for treatment of preeclampsia

Tereza Cindrova-Davies*

Centre for Trophoblast Research and Department of Physiology, Development and Neuroscience, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK

Edited by:

Carlos Alonso Escudero, Universidad del Bío-Bío, Chile

Reviewed by: Carmen Martínez, Université d'Angers, France Brett Mitchell, Texas A&M Health Science Center, USA

*Correspondence:

Tereza Cindrova-Davies, Centre for Trophoblast Research and Department of Physiology, Development and Neuroscience, University of Cambridge, Downing Street, Cambridge, CB2 3EG, UK e-mail: tc269@cam.ac.uk

Preeclampsia is a complex multifactorial disease. Placental oxidative stress, a result of deficient spiral artery remodeling, plays an important role in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia. Antiangiogenic factors secreted from malperfused placenta are instrumental in mediating maternal endothelial dysfunction and consequent symptoms of preeclampsia; the mechanism is likely to involve increased ET-1 secretion and reduced NO bioavailability. Therapeutic interventions so far remain only experimental and there is no established remedy for the treatment of preeclampsia. This review concentrates on the evidence for the therapeutic potential of antioxidants, ER chaperones, NO and H₂S donors, and statins. These compounds display pleitropic antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and proangiogenic effects in animal and in vitro studies. Although clinical trials on the use of antioxidant vitamins in pregnancy proved largely unsuccessful, the scope for their use still exists given the beneficial cardioprotective effects of antioxidant-rich Mediterranean diet, periconceptual vitamin use and the synergistic effect of vitamin C and L-arginine. Encouraging clinical evidence exists for the use of NO donors, and a clinical trial is underway testing the effect of statins in treatment of preeclampsia. H₂S recently emerged as a novel therapeutic agent for cardiovascular disease, and its beneficial effects were also tested in animal models of preeclampsia. It is risky to prescribe any medication to pregnant women on a large scale, and any future therapeutic intervention has to be well tested and safe. Many of the compounds discussed could be potential candidates.

Keywords: preeclampsia, angiogenesis, antioxidants, ER chaperones, NO, H_2S , statins

THE SYNDROME OF PREECLAMPSIA

Preeclampsia affects 3–5% of all pregnancies. The traditional definition of preeclampsia as *de novo* onset of hypertension and proteinuria after 20 weeks of gestation has been recently modified by the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists in recognition of the syndromic nature of preeclampsia. In the absence of proteinuria, preeclampsia is diagnosed as hypertension in association with thrombocytopenia, impaired liver function, new development of renal insufficiency, pulmonary edema, or new-onset cerebral or visual disturbances (American College of Obstetricians Gynecologists [ACOG], 2013). Hypertension, proteinuria, edema, and other systemic manifestations of the syndrome of preeclampsia are the direct consequences of maternal endothelial dysfunction. The syndrome is a major cause of maternal and fetal morbidity and mortality, and results in mild to severe microangiopathy of target organs, including the brain, liver, kidney, and placenta (Sibai et al., 2005). Severe maternal complications include seizures (eclampsia), stroke, renal failure, liver failure, and/or rupture, HELLP syndrome (hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, and low platelets), and death (Young et al., 2010). Fetal complications include prematurity due to preterm delivery, fetal growth restriction, fetal/neonatal hypoxic neurological injury, perinatal death, and long-term cardiovascular morbidity associated with low birth weight (Sibai et al., 2005).

Preeclampsia (PE) is a complex multifactorial disease; many factors, including genetic predisposition, immunological interactions, maternal endothelial function and environmental factors interact and culminate in the disease manifestation. In recent

Abbreviations: ADMA, asymmetric dimethylarginine; AKT, serine/threoninespecific protein kinase; ALK1 and ALK5, TGF-B receptors type I; ARE, antioxidant responsive element; ATF6, activating transcription factor 6; CBS, cystathionine β-synthase; CO, carbon monoxide; CSE, cystathionine γ-lyase; CTT, cholesterol treatment trialists; CV, cardiovascular; DAMPs, damage-associated molecular pattern; EDF, end diastolic flow; eIF2a, eukaryotic initiation factor 2a; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; ET-1, endothelin-1; GPx, glutathione peroxidase; GRP78, 78 kDa glucose-regulated protein, also known as binding immunoglobulin protein (BiP) or heat shock 70 kDa protein 5 (HSPA5); GSS, glutathione S-transferase; H₂S, hydrogen sulfide; HELLP syndrome, hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes and low platelets; HO-1, heme oxygenase; HIF-1a, hypoxia-induced factor; HR, hypoxiareoxygenation; ICAM, intercellular adhesion molecule; I/R, ischemia-reperfusion; IRE1, inositol-requiring enzyme 1; IUGR, intrauterine growth restriction; LDL, low density lipoprotein; NADPH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate; NFκB, nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells; NO, nitric oxide; Nrf2, nuclear factor E2-related factor-2; p38 MAPK, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase; PE, preeclampsia; PERK, PRKR-like ER kinase; PlGF, placental growth factor; ROS, reactive oxygen species; RUPP, reduced uterine perfusion pressure; sEng, soluble TGF-β co-receptor endoglin; sFlt1, soluble VEGF receptor 1, also referred to as soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase; SGA, small for gestational age; SOD, superoxide dismutase; StAmP trial, Statins to ameliorate early onset preeclampsia; TLR, Toll-like receptors; TUDCA, Tauroursodeoxycholic acid, bile salt; UDCA, ursodeoxycholic acid, bile salt; UPR, Unfolded Protein Response; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule 1; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; XBP-1, X-box binding protein-1.

years, PE is commonly subdivided into early and late-onset, as the two conditions seem to have different underlying etiologies. Both early and late onset diseases present with abnormal placental perfusion and oxidative stress, however, poor placentation and deficient conversion of maternal spiral arteries only underlie the pathology of the early onset disease, whilst the late onset condition is associated with normal uterine spiral artery conversion and normally grown baby (Huppertz, 2008). Redman recently proposed a novel hypothesis for the pathology of late-onset PE, suggesting an intrinsic cause due to microvillous overcrowding, as placental growth reaches its functional limit. In both conditions, oxidatively stressed syncytiotrophoblast over-secrets proteins that perturb maternal angiogenic balance (Redman et al., 2014). Abnormal placentation is recognized as a main prerequisite for the pathogenesis of early onset preeclampsia. The disease seems to progress in two stages; in stage I (preclinical), poor development of the early placenta leads to deficient remodeling of maternal spiral arteries and consequent ischemia-reperfusion type injury of the placenta and oxidative stress. In stage II (clinical), the ischemic/malperfused placenta triggers the secretion of a mixture of placental factors, including antiangiogenic factors, proinflammatory cytokines and apoptotic debris that culminate in an enhanced maternal inflammatory response and in turn induce systemic endothelial dysfunction and the maternal syndrome of preeclampsia (Roberts and Cooper, 2001; Redman and Sargent, 2005).

In conditions of PE and IUGR which result in fetal hypoxia, there is a tendency to refer to fetoplacental hypoxia as the underlying cause. This concept has been challenged by several groups who advocate caution when interpreting results from pregnancies complicated by PE and IUGR (Kingdom and Kaufmann, 1997; Mayhew et al., 2004; Huppertz et al., 2014). These studies suggest that late-onset PE and late onset IUGR with present end diastolic flow (EDF) are associated with ischemic uteroplacental hypoxia in which the delivery of blood to the intervillous space is compromised due to deficient trophoblast invasion. This placental malperfusion results in ischemia-reperfusion injury affecting trophoblast and vascular endothelium, however fetal extraction of O₂ is not compromised and there is evidence of increased placental branching angiogenesis (Mayhew et al., 2004). In contrast, pregnancies complicated by early onset PE, which is usually accompanied with early onset IUGR with absent/reversed EDF are often referred to as 'placental hyperoxia' due to compromised fetoplacental blood flow which fails to extract oxygen from the intervillous space, leading to poor fetal oxygenation and higher than normal intervillous oxygen levels (postplacental hypoxia; Kingdom and Kaufmann, 1997; Mayhew et al., 2004).

Medical intervention in preeclampsia remains limited, centering on management of maternal hypertension and systemic complications, seizure prevention with magnesium sulfate, and delivering the fetus before term as a measure of treating maternal effects and preventing further growth restriction. However, any benefits this confers are offset by the complications of prematurity. Hence, identifying interventions that would modulate the pathological processes involved in the disease pathogenesis are key to intervening effectively in preeclampsia to improve maternal and fetal prognosis. This review will focus on the role of angiogenic and antiangiogenic factors in mediating maternal endothelial dysfunction and explore some therapeutic strategies aimed at targeting these factors in order to reverse/ameliorate the disease pathology.

EVIDENCE FOR THE ROLE OF ANGIOGENIC FACTORS IN PREECLAMPSIA

Placental vasculature is plastic and changes constantly throughout pregnancy to facilitate the rapid growth, and supply the increasing metabolic needs of the growing fetus (Charnock-Jones et al., 2004). Normal placental development is regulated by proangiogenic and antiangiogenic factors. The processes of vasculogenesis, de novo formation of blood vessels from precursor cells, and angiogenesis, creation of vessels from pre-existing vessels, are critical in the fetal and placental development for effective transport of oxygen, nutrients and fetal growth and development (Charnock-Jones et al., 2004). In contrast, angiogenesis is a rare event in adult vascular networks under physiological conditions, being limited to organs of the female reproductive tract (endometrium, ovary, placenta). Appearance of new blood vessel growth in other organs is regarded as pathological, and can be involved in conditions such as wound healing, tumor growth, and retinopathy.

Placental abnormalities lead to secretion of a mixture of proteins that stimulate maternal endothelium and result in the disease presentation. Recently, circulating antiangiogenic proteins, soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1 [VEGF-R1, also referred to as soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase (sFlt1)] and soluble TGF-B co-receptor endoglin (sEng), have been implicated in the pathogenesis of many of the maternal features of preeclampsia. We will first consider the role of proangiogenic factors, VEGF and transforming growth factor (TGF- β), and their receptors in vascular homeostasis (Table 1). VEGFs are a family of secreted dimeric glycoproteins involved in vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. In humans and other mammals, VEGF-A (referred here as VEGF) and its placental homologue placental growth factor (PlGF) are the most important members with proangiogenic activity (Keck et al., 1989; Leung et al., 1989; Maglione et al., 1991). VEGF promotes survival and proliferation of endothelial cells and induces vascular permeability (Keck et al., 1989; Leung et al., 1989). Two VEGF receptors, VEGF-R1 (Flt-1) and VEGF-R2 (Flk-1/KDR) are present on endothelial cells. VEGF binds to both receptors whilst PIGF homodimers bind exclusively to VEGF-R1. VEGF-R2 it thought to primarily mediate the actions of VEGF on endothelial cells. The function of VEGF-R1 is less well defined, although it is thought to modulate VEGF-R2 signaling. Another function of VEGF-R1 is to act as a decoy receptor (sFlt-1), sequestering VEGF from VEGF-R2 binding (Table 1; Park et al., 1994; Waltenberger et al., 1994; Keyt et al., 1996). TGF-β is another important molecule involved in angiogenesis, it has been implicated in the development of the vasculature (Oshima et al., 1996). TGF-β signals via binding to both type I (ALK1 and ALK5) and type II receptors. In addition, TGF-B signaling in the vasculature involves coreceptors that act to modulate its effects. Endoglin (CD105) is a TGF- β coreceptor expressed by endothelial cells and placental syncytiotrophoblast. TGF-β effects

Molecules	Function and changes in pathological conditions Factors			
Angiogenic				
VEGF-A	Potent angiogenic protein and trophic cytokine essential for endothelial integrity			
	Free VEGF concentration decreased in preeclamptic women at disease presentation and even before the onset of disease			
	(Maynard et al., 2003; Taylor et al., 2003; Levine et al., 2004)			
PIGF	Key molecule in angiogenesis and vasculogenesis, in particular during embryogenesis. The main source of PIGF during pregnance is the placental trophoblast			
	Reduced in maternal plasma in preeclampsia (Maynard et al., 2003; Taylor et al., 2003; Levine et al., 2004)			
TGF-β	Important molecule involved in angiogenesis, it has been implicated in the development of the vasculature (Oshima et al., 1996).			
	In vitro effects are concentration-dependent, inducing proliferation and migration of endothelial cells at low doses (ALK1			
	mediated), and inhibiting proliferation and migration of endothelial cells at high doses (via ALK5; Goumans et al., 2002). Importan			
	modulator of VEGF signaling, further linking TGF- β to angiogenesis (Shao et al., 2009)			
Receptors				
VEGF-R1 (Flt-1)	All members of the VEGF family stimulate cellular responses by binding to tyrosine kinase receptors (the VEGF-Rs) on the cell			
	surface, causing them to dimerize and become activated through transphosphorylation			
VEGF-R2 (Flk-1)	VEGF-A binds to VEGF-R1 (FIt-1) and VEGF-R2 (KDR/FIk-1), whilst PIGF only binds to VEGF-R1. VEGF-R2 appears to mediate almost			
	all of the known cellular responses to VEGF. The function of VEGF-R1 is less well defined, although it is thought to modulate			
	VEGF-R2 signaling. Another function of VEGFR-1 is to act as a decoy receptor (sFIt-1), sequestering VEGF from VEGF-R2 binding			
	(Park etal., 1994; Waltenberger etal., 1994; Keyt etal., 1996)			
TGF-βRI (ALK1,5)	TGF-β signals via binding to both type I (ALK1 and ALK5) and type II receptors. In addition, TGF-β signaling in the vasculature			
TGF-βRII	involves coreceptors, e.g., endoglin (CD105), that act to modulate its effects. Endoglin is a membrane glycoprotein expressed by			
Endoglin (CD105)	endothelial cells and placental syncytiotrophoblast. It has a crucial role in angiogenesis, therefore, making it an important protein			
	for tumor growth, survival and metastasis of cancer cells to other locations in the body (Goumans et al., 2002; Shao et al., 2009).			
Antiangiogenic	Factors			
sFlt-1	Formed by alternative splicing of the pre-mRNA encoding VEGF-R1. It can bind circulating VEGF and PIGF as it lacks the			
	cytoplasmic and transmembrane domain, thus preventing their interactions with endogenous receptors. Increased in maternal			
	plasma in preeclampsia (Taylor et al., 2003; Levine et al., 2004, 2006; Chaiworapongsa et al., 2005; Steinberg et al., 2009)			
sEng	Reduces endothelial tube formation in vitro and leads to increased capillary permeability. It blocks TGF-B1-induced vasodilation			
	through interference of TGF-\$1 binding to its receptor (Venkatesha et al., 2006). sEng is elevated in the sera of preeclamptic			
	women, its circulating levels increase markedly beginning 2-3 months before the onset of preeclampsia, concentrations			
	correlating with disease severity (Levine et al., 2006)			

Table 1 | A brief description of function of angiogenic and antiangiogenic growth factors and their receptors in pregnancy.

in vitro seem concentration-dependent, inducing proliferation and migration of endothelial cells at low doses (ALK1 mediated), and inhibiting proliferation and migration of endothelial cells at high doses (via ALK5; Goumans et al., 2002). In addition, TGF- β is an important modulator of VEGF signaling, further linking TGF- β to angiogenesis (**Table 1**; Shao et al., 2009).

The vascular endothelium relies on proangiogenic factors. Release of placentally derived antiangiogenic factors into maternal circulation is thus likely to cause angiogenic factor imbalance, leading to endothelial dysfunction that manifests as the symptoms of preeclampsia. Two such factors, sFlt-1 and sEng, have been implicated in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia (**Table 1**). Soluble Flt-1 is formed by alternative splicing of the pre-mRNA encoding VEGF-R1. It can bind circulating VEGF and PIGF as it lacks the cytoplasmic and transmembrane domain, thus preventing their interactions with endogenous receptors. Soluble endoglin receptor sEng reduces endothelial tube formation *in vitro* and leads to increased capillary permeability. It blocks TGF- β 1-induced vasodilation through interference of TGF- β 1 binding to its receptor, this effect is likely to involve NO (Venkatesha et al., 2006).

Let us now consider the clinical and experimental evidence for the role of angiogenic factor imbalance in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia. The circulating levels of two placental-derived antiangiogenic factors, sFlt-1 and sEng, are elevated in the circulation of women with preeclampsia, and may begin to rise even before the onset of clinical symptoms, whereas the circulating concentrations of VEGF and PIGF are reduced in preeclamptic women at disease presentation and even before the onset of clinical symptoms (Taylor et al., 2003; Levine et al., 2004, 2006; Chaiworapongsa et al., 2005; Steinberg et al., 2009). The levels of circulating sFlt-1 increase and PlGF decrease during the last two months of pregnancy in normotensive women, however, these changes are significantly more pronounced in women who later develop preeclampsia and occur on average about 5 weeks before the onset of the disease (Levine et al., 2004). sEng is elevated in the sera of preeclamptic women, its circulating levels increase markedly beginning 2-3 months before the onset of preeclampsia, concentrations correlating with disease severity (Levine et al., 2006). However, it should be noted that despite the strong evidence linking angiogenic factor imbalance with PE, not all preeclamptic patients present with increased sFlt-1 and decreased VEGF/PlGF levels, and other mechanisms such as inflammation, oxidative stress, immunological interactions, maternal endothelial function, etc. also play an important role in the pathophysiology of this multifactorial disease.

Animal studies provide strong evidence linking sFlt-1 to the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Although animal models do not develop preeclampsia, exogenous administration of sFlt-1 to pregnant rats induces some of the symptoms similar to the preeclamptic phenotype, including hypertension, proteinuria, and glomerular endotheliosis (Maynard et al., 2003). Similarly, glomerular endotheliosis and proteinuria can be induced in non-pregnant mice using antibodies against VEGF (Sugimoto et al., 2003), or by reducing glomerular VEGF levels by 50% (Eremina et al., 2003). In addition, administration of sFlt-1 can block VEGF and PIGF-induced microvascular relaxation of rat renal arterioles in vitro (Maynard et al., 2003). These studies all demonstrate that abnormal inhibition of endogenous VEGF activity can induce maternal preeclampsia-like symptoms. Similarly, administration of a therapeutic VEGF neutralizing antibody leads to renal pathology which can be replicated in adult animals by conditional gene targeting (Eremina et al., 2008). sFlt-treated animals do not develop additional symptoms of PE such as hemolysis and thrombocytopenia, seen in the HELLP syndrome. However, co-administration of sFlt-1 with sEng amplifies the symptoms, resulting in severe PE and/or HELLP syndrome, suggesting that these two placentaderived factors could act in concert to induce severe preeclampsia (Venkatesha et al., 2006). We have shown similar synergistic effects between sFlt-1 and TNF-a. sFlt-1 sensitized endothelial cells to pro-inflammatory factors, increasing endothelial cell activation, as measured by increases in endothelial intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM1), vascular cell adhesion molecule 1, endothelin 1 (ET-1), von Willebrand factor and leukocyte adhesion, and led to reduction of AKT Ser473 and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) Ser¹¹⁷⁷ phosphorylation (Cindrova-Davies et al., 2011). The survival of endothelial cells in vivo under non-pathological conditions is critically dependent on autocrine VEGF signaling. Endothelial specific ablation of VEGF results in progressive endothelial degeneration and sudden death of mutant animals (Lee et al., 2007), whilst autocrine VEGF is necessary for the survival of hematopoietic stem cells (Gerber et al., 2002), demonstrating that paracrine actions of VEGF are not sufficient to maintain the target cells. Thus, in preeclampsia the elevated circulating sFlt-1 is able to act in a dominant-negative fashion at the endothelial cell surface, blocking these autocrine signals (Cindrova-Davies et al., 2011).

LINKING ANTIANGIOGENIC FACTORS WITH ENDOTHELIAL DYSFUNCTION

Maternal symptoms of preeclampsia present as a consequence of maternal endothelial cell dysfunction, not due to dysregulation of maternal angiogenesis. Secretion of antiangiogenic factors from the placenta can adversely affect maternal endothelial function. The higher relative concentrations of the antiangiogenic factors are thought to potentiate vascular endothelial cell injury in the liver, kidney, brain, and the placenta itself, and thus trigger the symptoms of preeclampsia. Placental oxidative stress due to malperfusion is now commonly considered as the underlying source for antiangiogenic factors which are at the root of the symptomatic phase of preeclampsia. However, the mechanism linking the angiogenic imbalance with endothelial dysfunction is still under investigation. Endothelin-1 (ET-1), a potent vasoconstrictor and pressor agent involved in the regulation of blood pressure, has been shown to play a crucial role in the development of hypertension in experimental animal models of placental hypoxia/ischemia (George and Granger, 2011). Long-term infusion of ET-1 into sheep also induced preeclampsia-like symptoms, i.e., hypertension, proteinuria, and decreased uteroplacental blood flow (Greenberg et al., 1997). In addition, several studies have reported elevated levels of plasma ET-1 in preeclamptic pregnant women, compared to controls (Taylor et al., 1990; Nova et al., 1991; Baksu et al., 2005).

The expression of VEGF and sFlt-1 can be regulated by the hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1), a key component of a widely operative transcriptional response activated by hypoxia. Hypoxia increases HIF-1a stability, but it can also be up-regulated under non-hypoxic conditions by inflammatory cytokines or microtubule-depolymerising agents involving the NF-KB pathway (Jung et al., 2003). HIF-1-mediated sFlt-1 secretion can by induced in placental explants by hypoxia or hypoxia-reoxygenation (HR) in vitro (Achmad et al., 1997; Nagamatsu et al., 2004; Cindrova-Davies et al., 2007; Cudmore et al., 2007; Cindrova-Davies, 2009). These in vitro effects can be blocked by anti-oxidant vitamins, inhibitors of the p38 MAPK and NF-kB pathways, and by overexpression of the heme oxygenase (HO-1)/CO, suggesting the involvement of oxidative stress, NF-kB, p38 signaling and HO-1 in sFlt-1 and HIF-1α regulation (Cindrova-Davies, 2009). sEng inhibits TGF-β signaling in the vasculature, which includes effects on activation of eNOS and vasodilation. It has been postulated that increased circulating levels of sFlt-1 lead to reduction of VEGF and NOS, thus reducing NO production. Administration of sFlt-1 to pregnant rats induced hypertension and significantly increased the production of prepro-ET message levels in the renal cortex. The hypertensive response could be abolished with coadministration of an ETA antagonist (Murphy et al., 2010). Administration of sFlt-1 to pregnant animals thus impairs VEGF-R2-mediated NO production, reducing NO

bioavailability, thereby increasing systemic peripheral resistance and inducing hypertension. NO bioavailability may be further reduced by increased oxidative stress, and leads to enhanced ET-1 production and increased blood pressure (George and Granger, 2011).

Differences have been reported in the oxygen sensing ability of early vs. late onset PE. Rolfo et al. (2010) reported a disruption of oxygen sensing in early onset disease but not in the late-onset, and they speculate this contributes to decreased HIF-1a hydroxylation and breakdown, leading to its accumulation in early onset PE (Rolfo et al., 2010). As mentioned previously, hypoxia is disputed by many as the leading cause of placental pathologies. Instead, ischemia-reperfusion (Hung et al., 2002; Burton et al., 2009) or hyperoxia (Kingdom and Kaufmann, 1997; Huppertz et al., 2014) have been proposed as the underlying etiological factors in PE. Nevertheless, all these conditions lead to generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which can increase HIF-1 α levels and stability. In addition, HIF-1a can be stabilized under normoxic conditions by other mechanisms such as components of the immune system, especially inflammatory cytokines, and hormones (Zhou and Brüne, 2006). Preeclampsia is a condition of excessive inflammatory responses mediated by syncytiotrophoblast microparticles, pathogens and DAMPs (damage-associated molecular pattern), which activate toll-like receptors (TLR) and through binding to immune cells promote persistent inflammatory conditions in this syndrome (Laresgoiti-Servitje, 2010). TNF-α can promote the release of sFlt-1 (Parrish et al., 2010), and similarly, AT1 autoantibodies can promote the secretion of sEng and sFlt-1 through TNF-α-mediated mechanisms (Zhou et al., 2008; Irani et al., 2010).

OXIDATIVE STRESS AND ANTIOXIDANTS

Strong evidence exists that generation of placental oxidative stress is a key intermediary event in the pathology of preeclampsia (Hubel, 1999; Redman and Sargent, 2000; Burton and Jauniaux, 2004). It is thought that deficient conversion of the uterine spiral arteries and subsequent impaired perfusion of the placenta provides the initiating insult (Brosens et al., 2002). In early gestation of normal pregnancy, the spiral arteries undergo substantial remodeling by invasive extravillous trophoblasts, which penetrate into the myometrium and convert muscular spiral arteries into flaccid tubes with no muscularis or elastic lamina, capable of supplying the hugely expanded blood flow of the third trimester placenta. In contrast, the remodeling is minimal in PE, only affecting the decidual segments of the spiral arteries, which retain their highresistance (Brosens et al., 2002). Maternal blood thus enters the intervillous space at a higher pressure and a faster rate, in a pulsatile jet-like manner, exposing placental villi to fluctuating oxygen concentrations, which contributes to the ischemia-reperfusion (I/R) type injury of the placenta (Jauniaux et al., 1994, 1995; Burton and Hung, 2003). The resulting oxidative stress is thought to induce the placenta to release a mixture of factors, including inflammatory cytokines, antiangiogenic factors, and apoptotic debris, which culminates in an enhanced maternal inflammatory response and endothelial dysfunction (Roberts, 1998; Redman and Sargent, 2005).

The role of oxidative stress in mediating PE pathophysiology is supported by reports of significantly decreased levels of antioxidant vitamins C, A, E, B-carotene, glutathione levels, and iron-binding capacity in the maternal circulation of women with preeclampsia. There is also evidence of diminished superoxide dismutase (SOD) levels and activity in the maternal and placental compartments of preeclamptic women, indicative of decreased total antioxidant protective capacity in preeclampsia (Walsh, 1998). In the experimental model of reduced uterine perfusion pressure (RUPP) of placental ischemia-induced hypertension, treatment with vitamins C and E did not decrease blood pressure, while the SOD mimetic Tempol attenuated RUPP hypertension. Interestingly, treatment with an NADP(H) oxidase inhibitor attenuated but did not normalize hypertension, suggesting other ROS-generating pathways (Gilbert et al., 2008; Sedeek et al., 2008). Challenging placental explants with hypoxiareoxygenation (HR) or hypoxia in vitro induced sFlt-1 expression via HIF-1a upregulation (Ahmad and Ahmed, 2004; Nagamatsu et al., 2004; Cindrova-Davies et al., 2007). We showed that administration of vitamins C and E can block HR-mediated sFlt-1 secretion, via inhibition of p38 and NF-kB signaling pathways (Cindrova-Davies et al., 2007; Cindrova-Davies, 2009). Similarly, the *in vivo* challenge of labor results in increased oxidative stress, and increased expression of HIF-1 α , sFlt-1 and VEGF (Cindrova-Davies et al., 2007).

The regulatory role of oxidative stress in the I/R-type injury in preeclampsia and cardiovascular disease, together with encouraging in vitro and ex vivo data introduced the hypothesis that antioxidant vitamins might play an important role in the treatment of the ischemic disease pathology. However, despite encouraging in vitro data and cohort trials, clinical trials aimed to treat women at risk of preeclampsia with vitamins C and E (Poston et al., 2006; Rumbold et al., 2006) showed no reduction in the incidence of the disease. These results are disappointing. Periconceptional use of vitamins in women is associated with lower rates of severe preterm births and extreme SGA, which seems to suggest that vitamin use might be effective during conception and early pregnancy (Catov et al., 2007), and that the clinical trial administration of vitamins occurred too late in pregnancy to reverse already established disease pathology. The outcome could also be affected by the composition of natural vs. synthetic vitamins, as evidence exists that healthy Mediterranean diet lowers the incidence of preterm birth (Haugen et al., 2008) and coronary heart disease (Aravanis et al., 1970). Synergy between different mediators may also be important in disease treatment. Recent clinical trial found that whilst antioxidant vitamins alone did not have a protective effect for prevention of PE, there was a synergistic effect between L-arginine and vitamin C, reducing the incidence of PE in these patients (Vadillo-Ortega et al., 2011). Endogenous NADPH oxidase and manganese SOD are required to maintain VEGF signaling and vascular homeostasis (Abid et al., 2001, 2007). Interestingly, despite no effect of the vitamin trials on lowering the incidence of preeclampsia, antioxidant supplementation led to a significant decrease in the plasma concentration of sFlt-1 and an increase in the plasma concentration of PIGF (Poston et al., 2011), matching our in vitro findings and confirming the beneficial effect of antioxidants on VEGF

signaling. Antioxidant vitamins could interfere with the normal physiological roles of VEGF and there seems to be a scope for potential use of antioxidants in preventing or ameliorating preeclampsia.

NO SUPPLEMENTATION

Endothelium plays a crucial role in regulating vascular tone. In preeclamptic patients, endothelial activation is manifested by increased expression of markers of endothelial activation, including VCAM, endothelin, von Willebrand Factor, and thrombomodulin (Mutter and Karumanchi, 2008). Nitric oxide (NO), hydrogen sulfide (H₂S), and carbon monoxide (CO) are three gaseous vasodilators that maintain the vascular tone. NO release from endothelial cells counter-balances the vasoconstriction produced by the sympathetic nervous system and the renin-angiotensin system. In addition, NO exerts many vasoprotective and antiatherosclerotic properties, including protection from thrombosis, reduction of adhesion molecule expression and leukocyte adhesion. NO is produced by nitric oxide synthase (NOS), using L-arginine as a substrate. In addition, endogenously produced methylated amino acids such as asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) can act as competitive inhibitors, and their secretion is increased in patients with cardiovascular disease and renal failure (Schnabel et al., 2005), as well as in women with high resistance placental circulation at risk of preeclampsia, IUGR, or both (Savvidou et al., 2003).

NO formation was found to be impaired in women with preeclampsia and gestational hypertension, compared to healthy pregnant controls. A negative correlation exists between plasma nitrite levels and sFlt-1 and sEng, suggesting an inhibitory effect of the angiogenic factors on NO formation (Sandrim et al., 2008). Given the important role of NO in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia, much research has concentrated on targeting the NO pathway as a potential therapy for preeclampsia. These include organic nitrates and S-nitrosothiols (e.g., S-nitrosoglutathione), L-arginine, inhibitors of cGMP breakdown (e.g., sildenafil), and other novel inhibitors of NO donor metabolism. This topic has been reviewed extensively by Johal et al. (2013). S-nitroglutathione (GSNO), endogenous S-nitrosothiol found ubiquitously in tissue, has been infused in women with preeclampsia and it has been shown to target not only the endothelial dysfunction, but also reduce platelet aggregation and activation, reduce sEng, and improve utero-placental perfusion with no adverse side effects, making it a good potential candidate for PE therapy (de Belder et al., 1995; Lees et al., 1996; Johal et al., 2013). The effects of supplementation with NO precursor, L-arginine, have been studied in several clinical trials. A recent randomized control trial of high risk pregnant women showed that dietary supplementation with a combination of L-arginine and antioxidants was associated with a significant reduction in the incidence of preeclampsia, compared to antioxidants alone or placebo prevention of preeclampsia (Vadillo-Ortega et al., 2011). These are encouraging results although they have to be interpreted with caution, given that the effects of L-arginine alone were not studied, and as such it is difficult to dissect out the relative contributions of L-arginine and antioxidants in reducing the incidence of the disease. These encouraging results were echoed in a recent systematic review of randomized trials focused on the role of L-arginine in the prevention of preeclampsia (Dorniak-Wall et al., 2014). The authors analyzed 7 randomized controlled trials testing the effects of L-arginine in pregnant women, and they reported L-arginine supplementation was associated with a significant reduction in the risk of preeclampsia in pregnant women with either established hypertension or who were considered at risk of preeclampsia (Dorniak-Wall et al., 2014).

The mechanism of the beneficial effect of L-arginine supplementation has been studied in pregnant rats in whom preeclampsia-like phenotype was induced with sFlt-1 administration (Murphy et al., 2011). sFlt-1 infusion into pregnant rats induced hypertension associated with reductions in circulating levels of VEGF, significant proteinuria, and endothelial dysfunction, as marked by a 3.5% increase in renal cortical pro-ET mRNA expression (Maynard et al., 2005; Gilbert et al., 2007; Murphy et al., 2010, 2011). Administration of L-arginine decreased sFlt-1 hypertension but had no effect on the blood pressure response in non-pregnant rats. In addition, L-arginine abolished the sFlt-mediated expression of renal cortical prepro-ET, suggesting that a reduction in NO synthesis may play an important role in the enhanced ET-1 production in response to sFlt-1 hypertension in pregnant rats (Murphy et al., 2011). These data are supported by previous studies, which showed a link between reduced NO production and enhanced ET-1 production (Kourembanas et al., 1993; Edwards et al., 1996). It has been postulated that increased circulating levels of sFlt-1 lead to reduction of VEGF and NOS, thus reducing NO production (George and Granger, 2011).

ER STRESS AND ER STRESS INHIBITORS

Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) processes all secreted proteins, facilitating folding and post-translational modifications. Accumulation of misfolded proteins leads to activation of ER stress response pathways, collectively known as the Unfolded Protein Response (UPR). The aim of the UPR is to restore homeostasis by inhibiting translation of non-essential proteins, increasing the capacity of the chaperone and folding machinery, and stimulating degradation of misfolded proteins. Failure of the mechanism results in activation of apoptotic pathways. ER stress is a major regulator of cell homeostasis (Xu et al., 2005; Cullinan and Diehl, 2006; Yoshida, 2007). The UPR is initiated by three transmembrane sensors normally held inactive by binding of the principal ER chaperone, GRP78. These sensors are PERK (PRKR-like ER kinase) that phosphorylates eukaryotic initiation factor 2α (eIF2 α) to inhibit translation, ATF6 (activating transcription factor 6) and IRE1 (inositol-requiring enzyme 1). ATF6 is cleaved to produce an active transcription factor, while IRE1 splices the mRNA encoding XBP-1 (X-box binding protein-1) to produce a second transcription factor. These factors have overlapping functions, and both upregulate ER chaperone proteins, including GRP78, and degradation pathways (Xu et al., 2005; Cullinan and Diehl, 2006; Yoshida, 2007). In addition, ER stress can generate and accumulate ROS, thus promoting oxidative stress. Activation of the NF-kB pathway links increased oxidative stress, ER stress and inflammation. NF-kB can be activated by an increase in ER stress via PERK-eIF2 α activation or IRE1 α autophosphorylation. This effect can be blocked by both calcium chelators and antioxidants, suggesting NF- κ B activation could be a result of the oxidative stress arising from excessive protein folding and/or ER-stress mediated Ca²⁺ leakage (Zhang and Kaufman, 2008).

Disorders of ER function are recognized to underlie many diverse pathologies, including diabetes and neurodegenerative diseases, and therapeutic interventions targeting it are being devised (Hetz et al., 2013). ER stress also seems instrumental in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia and IUGR (Yung et al., 2008, 2012). Use of ER chaperones proved a beneficial therapy for treatment of type 2 diabetes as it restored systemic insulin sensitivity, normalized hyperglycemia, resolved fatty liver disease, and enhanced insulin action in various tissues (Ozcan et al., 2006). Similarities exist between preeclampsia and metabolic syndrome, including dyslipidemia, inflammation, insulin resistance, oxidative stress and ER stress. We have demonstrated an increased expression of ET-1 and sFlt-1 in HR-treated placental explants (Cindrova-Davies et al., 2007; Cindrova-Davies, 2009). Conditioned medium from HR explants induced ER stress in JEG-3 cells, which was abolished by an ET-1 neutralizing antibody (Jain et al., 2012). Administration of ER chaperone TUDCA to placental explants challenged with HR reduced the levels of endothelin-1 (ET-1) in these explants, and it reduced the protein levels of sFlt-1 (unpublished observations). These data suggest that restoring ER function could also offer a therapeutic benefit for the treatment of preeclampsia. The ER chaperones are endogenously produced bile salts ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA, TUDCA). The chaperones have excellent in vivo safety profiles and their use has been approved in clinical trials for the treatment of urea-cycle disorders, thalassemia and cystic fibrosis (Ozcan et al., 2006), and they are currently used to treat intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (Geenes and Williamson, 2009).

STATINS

Preeclampsia has been associated with dyslipidemia, and there is evidence of increased antibodies for oxidized form of LDL in patients with preeclampsia, which is consistent with oxidative stress, and it is analogous to changes described in atherosclerosis (Branch et al., 1994). Although preeclampsia is unique to pregnancy, there are many biological and pathological similarities, as well as risk factors (e.g., hypertension, obesity, dyslipidemia, diabetes, etc.) with adult cardiovascular disease. The mechanism underlying both atherosclerosis (Hansson, 2005) and preeclampsia (Roberts and Cooper, 2001; Redman and Sargent, 2005) is initiated by underlying endothelial dysfunction and inflammation, which lead to disease progression and manifestation. Pregnancy is often viewed as a stress test, and preeclampsia an early manifestation of CV disease. In fact, women who develop preeclampsia have a two- to threefold risk of hypertension, ischemic stroke and heart disease in later life (van Pampus and Aarnoudse, 2005; McDonald et al., 2008), and the risk is further increased with the severity of the disease, and early manifestation before 34 weeks gestation (Mongraw-Chaffin et al., 2010). Given the analogies between the two diseases, some remedies and treatments used

to prevent and treat cardiovascular disease have been tested in preeclampsia.

Natural and synthetic statins (or 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutarylcoenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors) are the most commonly prescribed classes of medication worldwide, used in primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular mortality and other cardiovascular events through lipid-lowering remedy, as well as many pleiotropic effects, including endothelial protection, antioxidant properties, anti-inflammatory, antithrombotic and proangiogenic effects (Costantine and Cleary, 2013; Girardi, 2014). The beneficial effects of statins in the treatment of cardiovascular disease have been confirmed by recent meta-analysis of individual data from 90,000 individuals in 14 randomized trials of statin therapy vs. placebo, called the Cholesterol Treatment Trialists' (CTT) Collaboration (Baigent et al., 2005). The CTT concluded that statin therapy can safely reduce the 5-year incidence of major coronary events, coronary revascularization, and stroke by about one fifth per mmol/L reduction in LDL cholesterol, largely irrespective of the initial lipid profile or other presenting characteristics (Baigent et al., 2005).

The effect of pravastatin administration in pregnancy has been tested in many rodent models of preeclampsia. Treatment with pravastatin significantly reduced maternal sFlt-1 levels, lowered blood pressure, improved the vascular profile, and prevented kidney injury (Ahmed et al., 2010; Costantine et al., 2010; Fox et al., 2011; Kumasawa et al., 2011; Saad et al., 2014). In addition, pravastatin also prevented the incidence of intrauterine growth restriction, without any adverse effects on pregnancy. In a mouse model of preeclampsia using placenta-specific lentiviral vector expression of sFlt-1, Kumasawa et al. elegantly demonstrated that pravastatin administration decreased sFlt-1 but importantly increased PIGF, thus restoring the angiogenic balance (Kumasawa et al., 2011). Pravastatin effects could be reproduced by administration of PIGF, which reduced sFlt-1 levels, ameliorated hypertension, glomerular endotheliosis, and proteinuria in the mice, suggesting that the beneficial effect of pravastatin on improving preeclampsia-like symptoms is mediated by increasing PIGF levels, which counteracts sFlt-1-mediated effects (Kumasawa et al., 2011). In addition, statins also exert protective effects on the endothelium and ameliorate preeclampsia symptoms by increasing the release of vasodilators NO (Redecha et al., 2009; Fox et al., 2011) and CO (Cudmore et al., 2007; Muchova et al., 2007). Pravastatin treatment of mice destined to develop preeclampsia using sFlt-1 overexpression increased eNOS protein expression in the vasculature (Fox et al., 2011), whilst pravastatin improved pregnancy outcome by increasing plasma NO levels in CBAxDBA/2 mice destined to develop recurrent miscarriage and IUGR (Redecha et al., 2009). Treatment of mice with statins resulted in increased HO-1 activity and increased CO release from tissues, as well as increased levels of plasma antioxidants (Muchova et al., 2007). Statins also induced the expression of HO-1 and inhibited sFlt-1 secretion in placental explants (Cudmore et al., 2007). These studies provide further evidence of a pleiotropic role of pravastatin in preventing the vascular dysfunction.

Given the encouraging evidence of the beneficial effects of statins on the prevention of cardiovascular disease in humans

and of preeclampsia in animal models, the ability of pravastatin to restore angiogenic balance is currently being tested in the first randomized placebo controlled StAmP trial (Statins to ameliorate early onset preeclampsia) in the UK. The aim of the trial is to establish if pravastatin can lead to a significant reduction in circulating antiangiogenic factors and alleviate the severity of early onset preeclampsia. The pleiotropic anti-inflammatory, anti-thrombotic, antioxidant and vascular protective effects suggest that statins might be a good therapeutic option to prevent preeclampsia.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS – H₂S DONORS

Endogenous H₂S plays an important role in regulating physiological processes such as blood flow, vasodilation, arterial diameter, and leukocyte adhesion (Wang, 2009). Endogenous production is catalyzed by cystathionine β -synthase (CBS) and cystathionine γ -lyase (CSE). H₂S is produced in the cardiovascular system by CSE, using cysteine as a substrate. It acts as a vasodilator, being able to hyperpolarize and relax SMCs by opening KATP channels (Zhao et al., 2001). Unlike NO and CO, which mediate vasorelaxation largely by cGMP pathway activation, the vasorelaxant effect of H₂S is independent of cGMP pathway (Zhao et al., 2001). In addition, NO effects depend largely on the endothelial function integrity, whereas H₂S is an endothelium-independent vasodilator and exerts its direct effect on SMCs. CSE knockout mice have markedly reduced serum H₂S levels, which results in pronounced hypertension and diminished vasodilation, providing direct evidence that H₂S is a potent vasodilator that can influence blood pressure (Yang et al., 2008). Similarly, genetic deficiency of CBS leads to homocysteinemia, which is associated with endothelial dysfunction and hypertension (Miles and Kraus, 2004). We reported reduced CSE expression in IUGR cases, as well as PE cases that were accompanied by abnormal UA Doppler profiles, and this could be recapitulated by subjecting placental explants to HR. In addition, we demonstrated a potent vasodilatory effect of an H₂S donor in perfused placentas, capable of K_{ATP} dependent-reduction of placental vascular resistance. Reduced bioavailability of H₂S may thus be implicated in placental vasoconstriction (Cindrova-Davies et al., 2013). In addition to being a potent vasodilator, many animal studies also showed a protective role of H₂S donors against ischemia-reperfusion injury and inflammation (Bos et al., 2009, 2013; Sodha et al., 2009). The pro-survival pathways AKT, PKC, and ERK1/2 have been identified as H₂S targets conferring its anti-apoptotic effects during reperfusion injury (Hu et al., 2008; Yong et al., 2008). Additionally, H₂S can promote direct anti-apoptotic signaling during ischemiareperfusion by activating eNOS and thus inducing NO (Yong et al., 2008), and H₂S promotes DNA binding and transcriptional activation of anti-apoptotic genes regulated by NF- κ B (Sen et al., 2012). The antioxidant properties of H₂S can be mediated via two distinct mechanisms; by acting as a direct scavenger of ROS and by up-regulating antioxidant defenses. H₂S may up-regulate endogenous antioxidants through a nuclear factor E2-related factor-2 (Nrf2; Calvert et al., 2009). Nrf2 binds the antioxidant responsive element (ARE) found in the promoter region of antioxidant genes, including heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), thioredoxin, thioredoxin reductase, glutathione reductase, glutathione peroxidase (GPx), glutathione S-transferase (GSS), and catalase and is thus an important factor in controlling cardiac cellular susceptibility to reactive oxygen and nitrogen species-induced cytotoxicity (Zhu et al., 2005). Garlic oil can also promote Nrf-2 activation, further supporting the role for Nrf2 as the mediator of H₂Sinduced antioxidant effects (Fisher et al., 2007). Additionally, CSE expression appears to be a critical component of the cytoprotective ATF4 transcriptional response; CSE deficiency increases sensitivity to apoptosis induced by ER stressors and homocysteine, indicating the importance of GSH up-regulation through the transsulfuration pathway to promote survival (Dickhout et al., 2012). H₂S also exerts important proangiogenic effects (Cai et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2010; Bir et al., 2012; Holwerda et al., 2014). H₂S promotes proliferation, adhesion, migration and tube-like structure formation of endothelial cells in vitro via AKT pathway phosphorylation. It also stimulates angiogenesis in vivo at physiologically relevant doses (Cai et al., 2007). NO-H₂S crosstalk seems critical in mediating these effects (Bir et al., 2012; Coletta et al., 2012). H₂S therapy restores blood flow to ischemic tissues in a NO-dependent manner, by stimulating NOS expression and HIF-1a and VEGF expression and activity (Bir et al., 2012).

Consistent with these roles of H₂S, the consumption of garlic is negatively correlated with the progression of CV disease, and causes a lower incidence of hypertension, enhances antioxidants and inhibits platelet aggregation (Banerjee and Maulik, 2002). It has been shown that the biological production of H₂S from garlicderived organic polysulfides mediates the major beneficial effects of garlic-rich diets, specifically on CV disease and more broadly on overall health (Benavides et al., 2007). In animal models of hypoxic pulmonary hypertension, H₂S could reverse structural remodeling changes in pulmonary vessels of rats exposed to chronic HR (Hongfang et al., 2006). H₂S therapy also protected against acute myocardial ischemia/reperfusion (Calvert et al., 2009), and attenuated cardiac dysfunction following heart failure (Kondo et al., 2013; Polhemus et al., 2013). Recent animal studies have focused on the use of "medical food," i.e., drugs derived from natural sources such as garlic, as a cardioprotective therapy for heart failure. These include diallyl trisulfide (DATS; Polhemus et al., 2013), a long acting H₂S donor derived from garlic, and sulfurreleasing "medical food" SG-1002 (Kondo et al., 2013), which is currently in clinical trials. Similar results have been reported in the placental field recently. Holwerda et al. (2014) evaluated the therapeutic effect of an H₂S donor in an animal model of sFlt-induced hypertension. They reported a significant reduction in blood pressure, and proteinuria, as well as concomitant reduction in sFlt-1 levels and increase in free maternal VEGF concentrations in the treated group of animals (Holwerda et al., 2014). Wang et al. (2013) demonstrated that CSE enzyme inhibition in pregnant mice induced hypertension, increased sFlt-1 and sEng levels, caused placental abnormalities and compromised fetal growth. H₂S donor therapy reduced the levels of the antiangiogenic factors and restored fetal growth, adding further weight to the evidence that a dysfunctional CSE/H2S pathway may contribute to the pathogenesis of preeclampsia (Wang et al., 2013), and that H₂S donor therapy could have beneficial effects on prevention of preeclampsia.



chaperones, NO, and H₂S donors and statins. Deficient conversion of spiral arteries leads to fluctuations in O₂ concentration and triggers ischemia-reperfusion type injury of the placenta and consequent oxidative stress and ER stress. ROS activate various stress pathways, including

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Therapeutic interventions to treat preeclampsia remain largely experimental and there is no established remedy for the treatment of this multifactorial disease. This review concentrated on the evidence for the therapeutic potential of antioxidants, ER chaperones, NO and H₂S donors, and statins. Mechanistic effects of these compounds on the signaling pathways involved in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia, are summarized in Figure 1. Antioxidants, ER chaperones, NO donors, statins and H₂S donors display pleitropic antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and pro-angiogenic effects in animal and in vitro studies. Encouraging clinical evidence exists for the use of NO donors, and a clinical trial is currently underway testing the effect of statins in treatment of preeclampsia. Although clinical trials on the use of antioxidant vitamins in pregnancy proved largely unsuccessful, the scope for their use still exists given the beneficial cardioprotective effects of antioxidant-rich Mediterranean diet, periconceptual vitamin use and the synergistic effect of vitamin C and L-arginine. H₂S recently emerged as a novel therapeutic agent for cardiovascular disease and its effects are being tested.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to acknowledge the support of the Wellcome Trust (084804/2/08/Z) and the guidance and mentoring of Professors Graham J. Burton and D. Stephen Charnock-Jones.

REFERENCES

Abid, M. R., Spokes, K. C., Shih, S. C., and Aird, W. C. (2007). NADPH oxidase activity selectively modulates vascular endothelial growth factor signaling pathways. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 35373–35385. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M702175200

statins all display pleitrophic effects, targeting inflammatory, stress,

antioxidant pathways, as well as VEGF and NO signaling.

- Abid, M. R., Tsai, J. C., Spokes, K. C., Deshpande, S. S., Irani, K., and Aird, W. C. (2001). Vascular endothelial growth factor induces manganesesuperoxide dismutase expression in endothelial cells by a Rac1-regulated NADPH oxidase-dependent mechanism. *FASEB J.* 15, 2548–2550.
- Achmad, T., Winterscheidt, A., Lindemann, C., and Rao, G. S. (1997). Oxidized low density lipoprotein acts on endothelial cells in culture to enhance endothelin secretion and monocyte migration. *Methods Find. Exp. Clin. Pharmacol.* 19, 153–159.
- Ahmad, S., and Ahmed, A. (2004). Elevated placental soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 inhibits angiogenesis in preeclampsia. *Circ. Res.* 95, 884–891.
- Ahmed, A., Singh, J., Khan, Y., Seshan, S. V., and Girard, G. (2010). A new mouse model to explore therapies for preeclampsia. *PLoS ONE* 5:e13663. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013663
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (2013). Hypertension in pregnancy. DNLM: 1. Hypertension, Pregnancy-Induced-Practice Guideline. Washington: LoCCiP Data.
- Aravanis, C., Corcondilas, A., Dontas, A. S., Lekos, D., and Keys, A. (1970). Coronary heart disease in seven countries. IX. The Greek islands of Crete and Corfu. *Circulation* 41(Suppl. 4), 188–1100.
- Baigent, C., Keech, A., Kearney, P. M., Blackwell, L., Buck, G., Pollicino, C., et al. (2005). Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective metaanalysis of data from 90,056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. *Lancet* 366, 1267–1278. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67394-1
- Baksu, B., Davas, I., Baksu, A., Akyol, A., and Gulbaba, G. (2005). Plasma nitric oxide, endothelin-1 and urinary nitric oxide and cyclic guanosine monophosphate levels

in hypertensive pregnant women. Int. J. Gynaecol. Obstet. 90, 112-117. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2005.04.018

- Banerjee, S. K., and Maulik, S. K. (2002). Effect of garlic on cardiovascular disorders: a review. *Nutr. J.* 1, 4. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-1-4
- Benavides, G. A., Squadrito, G. L., Mills, R. W., Patel, H. D., Isbell, T. S., Patel, R. P., et al. (2007). Hydrogen sulfide mediates the vasoactivity of garlic. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 17977–17982. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705710104
- Bir, S. C., Kolluru, G. K., McCarthy, P., Shen, X., Pardue, S., Pattillo, C. B., et al. (2012). Hydrogen sulfide stimulates ischemic vascular remodeling through nitric oxide synthase and nitrite reduction activity regulating hypoxia-inducible factorlalpha and vascular endothelial growth factor-dependent angiogenesis. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 1, e004093. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.112.004093
- Bos, E. M., Leuvenink, H. G., Snijder, P. M., Kloosterhuis, N. J., Hillebrands, J. L., Leemans, J. C., et al. (2009). Hydrogen sulfide-induced hypometabolism prevents renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 20, 1901–1905. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2008121269
- Bos, E. M., Wang, R., Snijder, P. M., Boersema, M., Damman, J., Fu, M., et al. (2013). Cystathionine gamma-lyase protects against renal ischemia/reperfusion by modulating oxidative stress. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 24, 759–770. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2012030268
- Branch, D. W., Mitchell, M. D., Miller, E., Palinski, W., and Witztum, J. L. (1994). Pre-eclampsia and serum antibodies to oxidised low-density lipoprotein. *Lancet* 343, 645–646. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(94)92639-5
- Brosens, J. J., Pijnenborg, R., and Brosens, I. A. (2002). The myometrial junctional zone spiral arteries in normal and abnormal pregnancies: a review of the literature. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 187, 1416–1423. doi: 10.1067/mob.2002. 127305
- Burton, G. J., and Hung, T.-H. (2003). Hypoxia-reoxygenation: a potential source of placental oxidative stress in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. *Fetal Maternal Med. Rev.* 14, 97–117. doi: 10.1017/S0965539503001049
- Burton, G. J., and Jauniaux, E. (2004). Placental oxidative stress: from miscarriage to preeclampsia. J. Soc. Gynecol. Investig. 11, 342–352. doi: 10.1016/j.jsgi.2004.03.003
- Burton, G. J., Woods, A. W., Jauniaux, E., and Kingdom, J. C. (2009). Rheological and physiological consequences of conversion of the maternal spiral arteries for uteroplacental blood flow during human pregnancy. *Placenta* 30, 473–482. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.02.009
- Cai, W. J., Woods, A. W., Jauniaux, E., and Kingdom, J. C. (2007). The novel proangiogenic effect of hydrogen sulfide is dependent on Akt phosphorylation. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 76, 29–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2007.05.026
- Calvert, J. W., Jha, S., Gundewar, S., Elrod, J. W., Ramachandran, A., Pattillo, C. B., et al. (2009). Hydrogen sulfide mediates cardioprotection through Nrf2 signaling. *Circ. Res.* 105, 365–374. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109.199919
- Catov, J. M., Bodnar, L. M., Ness, R. B., Markovic, N., and Roberts, J. M. (2007). Association of periconceptional multivitamin use and risk of preterm or small-for-gestational-age births. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 166, 296–303. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwm071
- Chaiworapongsa, T., Romero, R., Kim, Y. M., Kim, G. J., Kim, M. R., Espinoza, J., et al. (2005). Plasma soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 concentration is elevated prior to the clinical diagnosis of pre-eclampsia. *J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal. Med.* 17, 3–18. doi: 10.1080/14767050400028816
- Charnock-Jones, D. S., Kaufmann, P., and Mayhew, T. M. (2004). Aspects of human fetoplacental vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. I. Molecular regulation. *Placenta* 25, 103–113. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2003.10.004
- Cindrova-Davies, T., Herrera, E. A., Niu, Y., Kingdom, J., Giussani, D. A., and Burton, G. J. (2013). Reduced cystathionine gamma-lyase and increased miR-21 expression are associated with increased vascular resistance in growth-restricted pregnancies: hydrogen sulfide as a placental vasodilator. *Am. J. Pathol.* 182, 1448– 1458. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.01.001
- Cindrova-Davies, T. (2009). Gabor Than Award Lecture 2008: pre-eclampsia from placental oxidative stress to maternal endothelial dysfunction. *Placenta* 30(Suppl. A), S55–S65. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2008.11.020
- Cindrova-Davies, T., Sanders, D. A., Burton, G. J., and Charnock-Jones, D. S. (2011). Soluble, F. L.T1 sensitizes endothelial cells to inflammatory cytokines by antagonizing VEGF receptor-mediated signalling. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 89, 671–679. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvq346
- Cindrova-Davies, T., Spasic-Boskovic, O., Jauniaux, E., Charnock-Jones, D. S., and Burton, G. J. (2007). Nuclear factor-kappa B, p38, and stress-activated protein

kinase mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways regulate proinflammatory cytokines and apoptosis in human placental explants in response to oxidative stress: effects of antioxidant vitamins. *Am. J. Pathol.* 170, 1511–1520. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007.061035

- Cindrova-Davies, T., Yung, H. W., Johns, J., Spasic-Boskovic, O., Korolchuk, S., Jauniaux, E., et al. (2007). Oxidative stress, gene expression, and protein changes induced in the human placenta during labor. *Am. J. Pathol.* 171, 1168–1179. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007.070528
- Coletta, C., Papapetropoulos, A., Erdelyi, K., Olah, G., Módis, K., Panopoulos, P., et al. (2012). Hydrogen sulfide and nitric oxide are mutually dependent in the regulation of angiogenesis and endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 9161–9166. doi: 10.1073/pnas.12029 16109
- Costantine, M. M., and Cleary, K. (2013). Pravastatin for the prevention of preeclampsia in high-risk pregnant women. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 121(Pt 1), 349–353. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e31827d8ad5
- Costantine, M. M., Tamayo, E., Lu, F., Bytautiene, E., Longo, M., Hankins, G. D., et al. (2010). Using pravastatin to improve the vascular reactivity in a mouse model of soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1-induced preeclampsia. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 116, 114–120. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181e10ebd
- Cudmore, M., Ahmad, S., Al-Ani, B., Fujisawa, T., Coxall, H., Chudasama, K., et al. (2007). Negative regulation of soluble Flt-1 and soluble endoglin release by heme oxygenase-1. *Circulation* 115, 1789–1797. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATION-AHA.106.660134
- Cullinan, S. B., and Diehl, J. A. (2006). Coordination of ER and oxidative stress signaling: the PERK/Nrf2 signaling pathway. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 38, 317– 332. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2005.09.018
- de Belder, A., Lees, C., Martin, J., Moncada, S., and Campbell, S. (1995). Treatment of HELLP syndrome with nitric oxide donor. *Lancet* 345, 124–125. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(95)90088-8
- Dickhout, J. G., Carlisle, R. E., Jerome, D. E., Mohammed-Ali, Z., Jiang, H., Yang, G. (2012). Integrated stress response modulates cellular redox state via induction of cystathionine gamma-lyase: cross-talk between integrated stress response and thiol metabolism. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 7603–7614. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111. 304576
- Dorniak-Wall, T., Grivell, R. M., Dekker, G. A., Hague, W., and Dodd, J. M. (2014). The role of L-arginine in the prevention and treatment of pre-eclampsia: a systematic review of randomised trials. *J. Hum. Hypertens.* 28, 230–235. doi: 10.1038/jhh.2013.100
- Edwards, D. L., Arora, C. P., Bui, D. T., and Castro, L. C. (1996). Longterm nitric oxide blockade in the pregnant rat: effects on blood pressure and plasma levels of endothelin-1. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 175, 484–488. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(96)70166-7
- Eremina, V., Jefferson, J. A., Kowalewska, J., Hochster, H., Haas, M., Weisstuch, J., et al. (2008). VEGF inhibition and renal thrombotic microangiopathy. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 358, 1129–1136. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0707330
- Eremina, V., Sood, M., Haigh, J., Nagy, A., Lajoie, G., Ferrara, N., et al. (2003). Glomerular-specific alterations of VEGF-A expression lead to distinct congenital and acquired renal diseases. *J. Clin. Invest.* 111, 707–716. doi: 10.1172/JCI 17423
- Fisher, C. D., Augustine, L. M., Maher, J. M., Nelson, D. M., Slitt, A. L., Klaassen, C. D., et al. (2007). Induction of drug-metabolizing enzymes by garlic and allyl sulfide compounds via activation of constitutive androstane receptor and nuclear factor E2-related factor 2. *Drug. Metab. Dispos.* 35, 995–1000. doi: 10.1124/dmd.106.014340
- Fox, K. A., Longo, M., Tamayo, E., Kechichian, T., Bytautiene, E., Hankins, G. D., et al. (2011). Effects of pravastatin on mediators of vascular function in a mouse model of soluble Fms-like tyrosine kinase-1-induced preeclampsia. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 205, 366e1–366e5. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2011.06.083
- Geenes, V., and Williamson, C. (2009). Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 15, 2049–2066. doi: 10.3748/wjg.15.2049
- George, E. M., and Granger, J. P. (2011). Endothelin: key mediator of hypertension in preeclampsia. Am. J. Hypertens. 24, 964–969. doi: 10.1038/ajh. 2011.99
- Gerber, H. P., Malik, A. K., Solar, G. P., Sherman, D., Liang, X. H., Meng, G., et al. (2002). VEGF regulates haematopoietic stem cell survival by an internal autocrine loop mechanism. *Nature* 417, 954–958. doi: 10.1038/nature 00821

- Gilbert, J. S., Babcock, S. A., and Granger, J. P. (2007). Hypertension produced by reduced uterine perfusion in pregnant rats is associated with increased soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 expression. *Hypertension* 50, 1142–1147. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.096594
- Gilbert, J. S., Ryan, M. J., LaMarca, B. B., Sedeek, M., Murphy, S. R., and Granger, J. P. (2008). Pathophysiology of hypertension during preeclampsia: linking placental ischemia with endothelial dysfunction. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 294, H541–H550. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.01113.2007
- Girardi, G. (2014). Can statins prevent pregnancy complications? J. Reprod. Immunol. 101–102, 161–167. doi:10.1016/j.jri.2013.07.005
- Goumans, M. J., Valdimarsdottir, G., Itoh, S., Rosendahl, A., Sideras, P., and Ten Dijke, P. (2002). Balancing the activation state of the endothelium via two distinct TGF-beta type I receptors. *EMBO J.* 21, 1743–1753. doi: 10.1093/emboj/21. 7.1743
- Greenberg, S. G., Baker, R. S., Yang, D., and Clark, K. E. (1997). Effects of continuous infusion of endothelin-1 in pregnant sheep. *Hypertension* 30, 1585–1590. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.30.6.1585
- Hansson, G. K. (2005). Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 352, 1685–1695. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra043430
- Haugen, M., Meltzer, H. M., Brantsaeter, A. L., Mikkelsen, T., Osterdal, M. L., Alexander, J., et al. (2008). Mediterranean-type diet and risk of preterm birth among women in the Norwegian, Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa): a prospective cohort study. *Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand.* 87, 319–324. doi: 10.1080/00016340801899123
- Hetz, C., Chevet, E., and Harding, H. P. (2013). Targeting the unfolded protein response in disease. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 12, 703–719. doi: 10.1038/ nrd3976
- Holwerda, K. M., Burke, S. D., Faas, M. M., Zsengeller, Z., Stillman, I. E., Kang, P. M., et al. (2014). Hydrogen sulfide attenuates sFlt1-induced hypertension and renal damage by upregulating vascular endothelial growth factor. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 25, 717–725. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2013030291
- Hongfang, J., Bailin, C., Bin, Z., Chunyu, Z., Xinmin, L., Weijin, Z., et al. (2006). Effects of hydrogen sulfide on hypoxic pulmonary vascular structural remodeling. *Life Sci.* 78, 1299–1309. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2005.07.009
- Hu, Y., Chen, X., Pan, T. T., Neo, K. L., Lee, S. W., Khin, E. S., et al. (2008). Cardioprotection induced by hydrogen sulfide preconditioning involves activation of ERK and PI3K/Akt pathways. *Pflugers Arch.* 455, 607–616. doi: 10.1007/s00424-007-0321-4
- Hubel, C. A. (1999). Oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 222, 222–235. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1373.1999.d01-139.x
- Hung, T. H., Skepper, J. N., Charnock-Jones, D. S., and Burton, G. J. (2002). Hypoxia-reoxygenation: a potent inducer of apoptotic changes in the human placenta and possible etiological factor in preeclampsia. *Circ. Res.* 90, 1274–1281. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000024411.22110.AA
- Huppertz, B. (2008). Placental origins of preeclampsia: challenging the current hypothesis. *Hypertension* 51, 970–975. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSION-AHA.107.107607
- Huppertz, B., Weiss, G., and Moser, G. (2014). Trophoblast invasion and oxygenation of the placenta: measurements versus presumptions. J. Reprod. Immunol. 101– 102, 74–79. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2013.04.003
- Irani, R., Zhang, Y., Zhou, C. C., Blackwell, S. C., Hicks, M. J., Ramin, S. M., et al. (2010). Autoantibody-mediated angiotensin receptor activation contributes to preeclampsia through tumor necrosis factor-alpha signaling. *Hypertension* 55, 1246–1253. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.150540
- Jain, A., Olovsson, M., Burton, G. J., and Yung, H. W. (2012). Endothelin-1 induces endoplasmic reticulum stress by activating the PLC-IP(3) pathway: implications for placental pathophysiology in preeclampsia. *Am. J. Pathol.* 180, 2309–2320. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.03.005
- Jauniaux, E., Jurkovic, D., and Campbell, S. (1995). Current topic: in vivo investigation of the placental circulations by Doppler echography. *Placenta* 16, 323–331. doi: 10.1016/0143-4004(95)90089-6
- Jauniaux, E., Ramsay, B., and Campbell, S. (1994). Ultrasonographic investigation of placental morphologic characteristics and size during the second trimester of pregnancy. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 170(Pt 1), 130–137. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(94)70397-3
- Johal, T., Lees, C. C., Everett, T. R., and Wilkinson, I. B. (2013). The nitric oxide pathway and possible therapeutic options in pre-eclampsia. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* doi: 10.1111/bcp.12301 [Epub ahead of print].

- Jung, Y.-J., Isaacs, J. S., Lee, S., Trepel, J., Liu, Z. G., and Neckers, L. (2003). Hypoxia-inducible factor induction by tumour necrosis factor in normoxic cells requires receptor-interacting protein-dependent nuclear factor kappaB activation. *Biochem. J.* 370, 1011–1017. doi: 10.1042/BJ200 21279
- Jung, Y.-J., Isaacs, J. S., Lee, S., Trepel, J., and Neckers, L. (2003). Microtubule disruption utilizes an NFkappa B-dependent pathway to stabilize HIFlalpha protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 7445–7452. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M2098 04200
- Jung, Y.-J., Jennifer, S., Sunmin, I., Jane, L., Trepel, L., and Neckers, N. (2003). IL-1b mediated up-regulation of HIF-1a via an NFkB/COX-2 pathway identifies HIF-1 as a critical link between inflammation and oncogenesis. *FASEB J.* 17, 2115–2117.
- Keck, P. J., Hauser, S. D., Krivi, G., Sanzo, K., Warren, T., Feder, J., et al. (1989). Vascular permeability factor, an endothelial cell mitogen related to PDGF. *Science* 246, 1309–1312. doi: 10.1126/science.2479987
- Keyt, B. A., Nguyen, H. V., Berleau, L. T., Duarte, C. M., Park, J., Chen, H., et al. (1996). Identification of vascular endothelial growth factor determinants for binding KDR and FLT-1 receptors. Generation of receptor-selective VEGF variants by site-directed mutagenesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 5638–5646. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.10.5638
- Kingdom, J. C., and Kaufmann, P. (1997). Oxygen and placental villous development: origins of fetal hypoxia. *Placenta* 18, 613–621; discussion 623–626. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(97)90000-X
- Kondo, K., Bhushan, S., King, A. L., Prabhu, S. D., Hamid, T., Koenig, S., et al. (2013). H(2)S protects against pressure overload-induced heart failure via upregulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation* 127, 1116–1127. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.000855
- Kourembanas, S., McQuillan, L. P., Leung, G. K., and Faller, D. V. (1993). Nitric oxide regulates the expression of vasoconstrictors and growth factors by vascular endothelium under both normoxia and hypoxia. J. Clin. Invest. 92, 99–104. doi: 10.1172/JCI116604
- Kumasawa, K., Ikawa, M., Kidoya, H., Hasuwa, H., Saito-Fujita, T., Morioka, Y., et al. (2011). Pravastatin induces placental growth factor (PGF) and ameliorates preeclampsia in a mouse model. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 1451–1455. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1011293108
- Laresgoiti-Servitje, E. (2010). A leading role for the immune system in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia. J. Leukoc. Biol. 94, 247–257. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1112603
- Lee, S., Chen, T. T., Barber, C. L., Jordan, M. C., Murdock, J., Desai, S., et al. (2007). Autocrine VEGF signaling is required for vascular homeostasis. *Cell* 130, 691–703. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.06.054
- Lees, C., Langford, E., Brown, A. S., de Belder, A., Pickles, A., Martin, J. F., et al. (1996). The effects of S-nitrosoglutathione on platelet activation, hypertension, and uterine and fetal Doppler in severe preeclampsia. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 88, 14–19. doi: 10.1016/0029-7844(96)00070-1
- Leung, D. W., Cachianes, G., Kuang, W. J., Goeddel, D. V., and Ferrara, N. (1989). Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. *Science* 246, 1306–1309. doi: 10.1126/science.2479986
- Levine, R. J., Lam, C., Qian, C., Yu, K. F., Maynard, S. E., Sachs, B. P., et al. (2006). Soluble endoglin and other circulating antiangiogenic factors in preeclampsia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 355, 992–1005. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa055352
- Levine, R. J., Maynard, S. E., Qian, C., Lim, K.-H, England, L. J., Yu, K. F., et al. (2004). Circulating angiogenic factors and the risk of preeclampsia. N. Engl. J. Med. 350, 672–683. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa031884
- Maglione, D., Guerriero, V., Viglietto, G., Delli-Bovi, P., and Persico, M. G. (1991). Isolation of a human placenta cDNA coding for a protein related to the vascular permeability factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 9267–9271. doi: 10.1073/pnas.88.20.9267
- Mayhew, T. M., Charnock-Jones, D. S., and Kaufmann, P. (2004). Aspects of human fetoplacental vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. III. Changes in complicated pregnancies. *Placenta* 25, 127–139. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2003.10.010
- Maynard, S. E., Min, J. Y., Merchan, J., Lim, K. H., Li, J., Mondal, S., et al. (2003). Excess placental soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt1) may contribute to endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, and proteinuria in preeclampsia. *J. Clin. Invest.* 111, 649–658. doi: 10.1172/JCI17189
- Maynard, S. E., Venkatesha, S., Thadhani, R., and Karumanchi, S. A. (2005). Soluble Fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 and endothelial dysfunction in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Pediatr. Res.* 57(Pt 2), 1R–7R. doi: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000159567.85157.B7

- McDonald, S. D., Malinowski, A., Zhou, Q., Yusuf, S., and Devereaux, P. J. (2008). Cardiovascular sequelae of preeclampsia/eclampsia: a systematic review and meta-analyses. *Am. Heart J.* 156, 918–930. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2008. 06.042
- Miles, E. W., and Kraus, J. P. (2004). Cystathionine beta-synthase: structure, function, regulation, and location of homocystinuria-causing mutations. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 29871–29874. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R400005200
- Mongraw-Chaffin, M. L., Cirillo, P. M., and Cohn, B. A. (2010). Preeclampsia and cardiovascular disease death: prospective evidence from the child health and development studies cohort. *Hypertension* 56, 166–171. doi: 10.1161/HYPER-TENSIONAHA.110.150078
- Muchova, L., Wong, R. J., Hsu, M., Morioka, I., Vitek, L., Zelenka, J., et al. (2007). Statin treatment increases formation of carbon monoxide and bilirubin in mice: a novel mechanism of in vivo antioxidant protection. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 85, 800–810. doi: 10.1139/Y07-077
- Murphy, S. R., Babbette, B., LaMarca D., Cockrell, K., and Granger, J. P. (2010). Role of endothelin in mediating soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1-induced hypertension in pregnant rats. *Hypertension* 55, 394–398. doi: 10.1161/HYPER-TENSIONAHA.109.141473
- Murphy, S. R., LaMarca, B., Cockrell, K., Arany, M., and Granger, J. P. (2011). L-arginine supplementation abolishes the blood pressure and endothelin response to chronic increases in plasma sFlt-1 in pregnant rats. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 302, R259–R263. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.003 19.2011
- Mutter, W. P., and Karumanchi, S. A. (2008). Molecular mechanisms of preeclampsia. *Microvasc. Res.* 75, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2007.04.009
- Nagamatsu, T., Fujii, T., Kusumi, M., Zou, L., Yamashita, T., Osuga, Y., et al. (2004). Cytotrophoblasts up-regulate soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 expression under reduced oxygen: an implication for the placental vascular development and the pathophysiology of preeclampsia. *Endocrinology* 145, 4838–4845. doi: 10.1210/en.2004-0533
- Nova, A., Sibai, B. M., Barton, J. R., Mercer, B. M., and Mitchell, M. D. (1991). Maternal plasma level of endothelin is increased in preeclampsia. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 165, 724–727. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(91)90317-K
- Oshima, M., Oshima, H., and Taketo, M. M. (1996). TGF-beta receptor type II deficiency results in defects of yolk sac hematopoiesis and vasculogenesis. *Dev. Biol.* 179, 297–302. doi: 10.1006/dbio.1996.0259
- Ozcan, U., Yilmaz, E., Ozcan, L., Furuhashi, M., Vaillancourt, E., Smith, R. O., et al. (2006). Chemical chaperones reduce ER stress and restore glucose homeostasis in a mouse model of type 2 diabetes. *Science* 313, 1137–1140. doi: 10.1126/science.1128294
- Park, J. E., Chen, H. H., Winer, J., Houck, K. A., and Ferrara, N. (1994). Placenta growth factor. Potentiation of vascular endothelial growth factor bioactivity, in vitro and in vivo, and high affinity binding to Flt-1 but not to Flk-1/KDR. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269, 25646–25654.
- Parrish, M., Murphy, S. R., Rutland, S., Wallace, K., Wenzel, K., Wallukat, G., et al. (2010). The effect of immune factors, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and agonistic autoantibodies to the angiotensin II type I receptor on soluble fms-like tyrosine-1 and soluble endoglin production in response to hypertension during pregnancy. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 23, 911–916. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2010.70
- Polhemus, D., Kondo, K., Bhushan, S., Bir, S. C., Kevil, C. G., Murohara, T., et al. (2013). Hydrogen sulfide attenuates cardiac dysfunction following heart failure via induction of angiogenesis. *Circ. Heart Fail.* 6, 1077–1086. doi: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.113.000299
- Poston, L., Briley, A. L., Seed, P. T., Kelly, F. J., and Shennan, A. H. (2006). Vitamin, C. and vitamin E in pregnant women at risk for pre-eclampsia (VIP trial): randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 367, 1145–1154. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68433-X
- Poston, L., Igosheva, N., Mistry, H. D., Seed, P. T., Shennan, A. H., Rana, S., et al. (2011). Role of oxidative stress and antioxidant supplementation in pregnancy disorders. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 94(Suppl.), 1980S–1985S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.110.001156
- Redecha, P., van Rooijen, N., Torry, D., and Girardi, G. (2009). Pravastatin prevents miscarriages in mice: role of tissue factor in placental and fetal injury. *Blood* 113, 4101–4109. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-12-194258
- Redman, C. W. G., and Sargent, I. L. (2000). Placental debris, oxidative stress and pre-eclampsia. *Placenta* 21, 597–602. doi: 10.1053/plac. 2000.0560

- Redman, C. W., and Sargent, I. L. (2005). Latest advances in understanding preeclampsia. *Science* 308, 1592–1594. doi: 10.1126/science.1111726
- Redman, C. W., Sargent, I. L., and Staff, A. C. (2014). IFPA Senior Award Lecture: making sense of pre-eclampsia - two placental causes of preeclampsia? *Placenta* 35(Suppl.), S20–S25. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2013.12.008
- Roberts, J. M. (1998). Endothelial dysfunction in preeclampsia. Semin. Reprod. Endocrinol. 16, 5–15. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-1016248
- Roberts, J. M., and Cooper, D. W. (2001). Pathogenesis and genetics of pre-eclampsia. *Lancet* 357, 53–56. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00) 03577-7
- Rolfo, A., Many, A., Racano, A., Tal, R., Tagliaferro, A., Letta, F., et al. (2010). Abnormalities in oxygen sensing define early and late onset preeclampsia as distinct pathologies. *PLoS ONE* 5:e13288. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 13288
- Rumbold, A. R., Crowther, C. A., Haslam, R. R., Dekker, G. A., and Robinson, J. S. (2006). Vitamins, C. and E and the risks of preeclampsia and perinatal complications. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 354, 1796–1806. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 054186
- Saad, A. F., Kechichian, T., Yin, H., Sbrana, E., Longo, M., Wen, M., et al. (2014). Effects of pravastatin on angiogenic and placental hypoxic imbalance in a mouse model of preeclampsia. *Reprod. Sci.* 21, 138–145. doi: 10.1177/19337191134 92207
- Sandrim, V. C., Palei, A. C., Metzger, I. F., Gomes, V. A., Cavalli, R. C., Tanus-Santos, J. E., et al. (2008). Nitric oxide formation is inversely related to serum levels of antiangiogenic factors soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 and soluble endogline in preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 52, 402–407. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.108.115006
- Savvidou, M. D., Hingorani, A. D., Tsikas, D., Frölich, J. C., Vallance, P., Nicolaides, K. H., et al. (2003). Endothelial dysfunction and raised plasma concentrations of asymmetric dimethylarginine in pregnant women who subsequently develop pre-eclampsia. *Lancet* 361, 1511–1517. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03) 13177-7
- Schnabel, R., Blankenberg, S., Lubos, E., Lackner, K. J., Rupprecht, H. J., Espinola-Klein, C., et al. (2005). Asymmetric dimethylarginine and the risk of cardiovascular events and death in patients with coronary artery disease: results from the AtheroGene Study. *Circ. Res.* 97, e53–e59. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000181286.44222.61
- Sedeek, M., Gilbert, J. S., LaMarca, B. B., Sholook, M., Chandler, D. L., et al. (2008). Role of reactive oxygen species in hypertension produced by reduced uterine perfusion in pregnant rats. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 21, 1152–1156. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2008.239
- Sen, N., Paul, B. D., Gadalla, M. M., Mustafa, A. K., Sen, T., Xu, R., et al. (2012). Hydrogen sulfide-linked sulfhydration of NF-kappaB mediates its antiapoptotic actions. *Mol. Cell* 45, 13–24. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.10.021
- Shao, E. S., Lin, L., Yao, Y., and Boström, K. I. (2009). Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor is coordinately regulated by the activin-like kinase receptors 1 and 5 in endothelial cells. *Blood* 114, 2197–2206. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-01-199166
- Sibai, B., Dekker, G., and Kupferminc, M. (2005). Pre-eclampsia. *Lancet* 365, 785–799. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)17987-2
- Sodha, N. R., Clements, R. T., Feng, J., Liu, Y., Bianchi, C., Horvath, E. M., et al. (2009). Hydrogen sulfide therapy attenuates the inflammatory response in a porcine model of myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.* 138, 977–984. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2008.08.074
- Steinberg, G., Khankin, E. V., and Karumanchi, S. A. (2009). Angiogenic factors and preeclampsia. *Thromb. Res.* 123(Suppl. 2), S93–S99. doi: 10.1016/S0049-3848(09)70020-9
- Sugimoto, H., Hamano, Y., Charytan, D., Cosgrove, D., Kieran, M., Sudhakar, A., et al. (2003). Neutralization of circulating vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) by anti-VEGF antibodies and soluble VEGF receptor 1 (sFlt-1) induces proteinuria. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 12605–12608. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C3000 12200
- Taylor, R. N., Grimwood, J., Taylor, R. S., McMaster, M. T., Fisher, S. J., North, R. A., et al. (2003). Longitudinal serum concentrations of placental growth factor: evidence for abnormal placental angiogenesis in pathologic pregnancies. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 188, 177–182. doi: 10.1067/mob.2003.111
- Taylor, R. N., Varma, M., Teng, N. N., and Roberts, J. M. (1990). Women with preeclampsia have higher plasma endothelin levels than women with normal

pregnancies. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 71, 1675–1677. doi: 10.1210/jcem-71-6-1675

- Vadillo-Ortega, F., Perichart-Perera, O., Espino, S., Avila-Vergara, M. A., Ibarra, I., Ahued, R., et al. (2011). Effect of supplementation during pregnancy with L-arginine and antioxidant vitamins in medical food on pre-eclampsia in high risk population: randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* 342, d2901. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d2901
- van Pampus, M. G., and Aarnoudse, J. G. (2005). Long-term outcomes after preeclampsia. *Clin. Obstet. Gynecol.* 48, 489–494. doi: 10.1097/01.grf.0000160316.67359.3d
- Venkatesha, S., Toporsian, M., Lam, C., Hanai, J., Mammoto, T., Kim, Y. M., et al. (2006). Soluble endoglin contributes to the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Nat. Med.* 12, 642–649. doi: 10.1038/nm1429
- Walsh, S. W. (1998). Maternal-placental interactions of oxidative stress and antioxidants in preeclampsia. *Semin. Reprod. Endocrinol.* 16, 93–104. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-1016256
- Waltenberger, J., Claesson-Welsh, L., Siegbahn, A., Shibuya, M., and Heldin, C. H. (1994). Different signal transduction properties of KDR and Flt1, two receptors for vascular endothelial growth factor. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 26988–26995.
- Wang, K., Ahmad, S., Cai, M., Rennie, J., Fujisawa, T., Crispi, F., et al. (2013). Dysregulation of hydrogen sulfide producing enzyme cystathionine gamma-lyase contributes to maternal hypertension and placental abnormalities in preeclampsia. *Circulation* 127, 2514–2522. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113. 001631
- Wang, M. J., Cai, W. J., Li, N., Ding, Y. J., Chen, Y., Zhu, Y. C., et al. (2010). The hydrogen sulfide donor NaHS promotes angiogenesis in a rat model of hind limb ischemia. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 12, 1065–1077. doi: 10.1089/ars. 2009.2945
- Wang, R. (2009). Is H2S a stinky remedy for atherosclerosis? Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 29, 156–157. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.180190
- Xu, C., Bailly-Maitre, B., and Reed, J. C. (2005). Endoplasmic reticulum stress: cell life and death decisions. J. Clin. Invest. 115, 2656–2664. doi: 10.1172/JCI26373
- Yang, G., Wu, L., Jiang, B., Yang, W., Qi, J., Cao, K., et al. (2008). H2S as a physiologic vasorelaxant: hypertension in mice with deletion of cystathionine gamma-lyase. *Science* 322, 587–590. doi: 10.1126/science.1162667
- Yong, Q. C., Tang, Z. H., Xie, W., Shen, X. T., Liu, M. H., Peng, X. P., et al. (2008). Endogenous hydrogen sulphide mediates the cardioprotection induced by ischemic postconditioning. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 295, H1330– H1340. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00244.2008
- Yoshida, H. (2007). ER stress and diseases. *FEBS J*. 274, 630–658. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2007.05639.x
- Young, B. C., Levine, R. J., and Karumanchi, S. A. (2010). Pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Annu. Rev. Pathol. 5, 173–192. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-121808-102149

- Yung, H. W., Calabrese, S., Hynx, D., Hemmings, B. A., Cetin, I., Charnock-Jones, D. S., et al. (2008). Evidence of placental translation inhibition and endoplasmic reticulum stress in the etiology of human intrauterine growth restriction. *Am. J. Pathol.* 173, 451–462. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2008.071193
- Yung, H. W., Hemberger, M., Watson, E. D., Senner, C. E., Jones, C. P., Kaufman, R. J., et al. (2012). Endoplasmic reticulum stress disrupts placental morphogenesis: implications for human intrauterine growth restriction. *J. Pathol.* 228, 554–564. doi: 10.1002/path.4068
- Zhang, K., and Kaufman, R. J. (2008). From endoplasmic-reticulum stress to the inflammatory response. *Nature* 454, 455–462. doi: 10.1038/nature 07203
- Zhao, W., Zhang, J., Lu, Y., and Wang, R. (2001). The vasorelaxant effect of H(2)S as a novel endogenous gaseous K(ATP) channel opener. *EMBO J.* 20, 6008–6016. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.21.6008
- Zhou, C., Ahmad, S., Mi, T., Abbasi, S., Xia, L., Day, M. C. (2008). Autoantibody from women with preeclampsia induces soluble Fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 production via angiotensin type 1 receptor and calcineurin/nuclear factor of activated T-cells signaling. *Hypertension* 51, 1010–1019. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSION-AHA.107.097790
- Zhou, J., and Brüne, B. (2006). Cytokines and hormones in the regulation of hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1alpha). *Cardiovasc. Hematol. Agents Med. Chem.* 4, 189–197. doi: 10.2174/187152506777698344
- Zhu, H., Itoh, K., Yamamoto, M., Zweier, J. L., and Li, Y. (2005). Role of Nrf2 signaling in regulation of antioxidants and phase 2 enzymes in cardiac fibroblasts: protection against reactive oxygen and nitrogen species-induced cell injury. *FEBS Lett.* 579, 3029–3036. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.04.058

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 March 2014; accepted: 02 May 2014; published online: 27 May 2014. Citation: Cindrova-Davies T (2014) The therapeutic potential of antioxidants, ER chaperones, NO and H_2S donors, and statins for treatment of preeclampsia. Front. Pharmacol. 5:119. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00119

This article was submitted to Cardiovascular and Smooth Muscle Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Cindrova-Davies. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Enrique Guzmán-Gutiérrez^{1,2}*, Carlos Veas², Andrea Leiva³, Carlos Escudero^{1,4} and Luis Sobrevia^{3,5}*

¹ Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health, Universidad San Sebastián, Concepción, Chile

² Facultad de Ciencias de la Salud, Universidad San Sebastián, Concepción, Chile

³ Cellular and Molecular Physiology Laboratory, Division of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, School of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

⁴ Vascular Physiology Laboratory, Group of Investigation in Tumor Angiogenesis, Department of Basic Sciences, University of Bío-Bío, Chillán, Chile

⁵ University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research, Faculty of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University of Queensland, Herston, QL, Australia

Edited by:

Bimal Malhotra, Pfizer, USA

Reviewed by:

Martin C. Michel, Boehringer Ingelheim Pharma GmbH & Co KG, Germany Carlos F. Sánchez-Ferrer, Universidad Autonoma de Madrid, Spain

*Correspondence:

Enrique Guzmán-Gutiérrez, Facultad de Ciencias de la Salud, Universidad San Sebastián, General Cruz 1577, Concepción 4081322, Chile e-mail: enrique.guzman@uss.cl; Luis Sobrevia, Cellular and Molecular Physiology Laboratory, Division of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, School of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, PO. Box 114-D, Santiago, Chile e-mail: sobrevia@med.puc.cl

Synthesis of thyroid hormones, thyroxine (T_4) and tri-iodothyronine (T_3) , in the human fetus starts from 17 to 19th weeks of gestation. Despite the majority of normal pregnant women reaching adequate levels of circulating thyroid hormones, in some cases, women with normal pregnancies have low level of free T_4 during first trimester of pregnancy, suggesting that T₄ action may be compromised in those women and their fetuses. In addition, pathological low levels of thyroid hormones are detected in isolated maternal hypothyroxemia (IMH) and clinical hypothyroidism. Nevertheless, human placenta regulates T_3/T_4 concentration in the fetal circulation by modulating the expression and activity of both thyroid hormone transporters (THT) and deiodinases. Then, placenta can control the availability of T₃/T₄ in the feto-placental circulation, and therefore may generate an adaptive response in cases where the mother courses with low levels of T₄. In addition, T_3/T_4 might control vascular response in the placenta, in particularly endothelial cells may induce the synthesis and release of vasodilators such as nitric oxide (NO) or vasoconstrictors such as endothelin-1 mediated by these hormones. On the other hand, low levels of T₄ have been associated with increase in gestational diabetes (GD) markers. Since GD is associated with impaired placental vascular function characterized by increased NO synthesis in placental arteries and veins, as well as elevated placental angiogenesis, it is unknown whether reduced T₄ level at the maternal circulation could result in an altered placental endothelial function during GD. In this review, we analyze available information regarding thyroid hormones and endothelial dysfunction in GD; and propose that low maternal levels of T₄ observed in GD may be compensated by increased placental availability of T_3/T_4 via elevation in the activity of THT and/or reduction in deiodinases in the feto-placental circulation.

Keywords: thyroxine, gestational diabetes, endothelial dysfunction, pregnancy

INTRODUCTION

Thyroid gland produces tetra-iodothyronine (T_4 or thyroxine) and tri-iodothyronine (T_3). In the human fetus, the synthesis of these hormones starts from 17 to 19th weeks of gestation (wg), therefore it is well accepted that before this period, the circulating T_3/T_4 in the fetus depends on the maternal levels of these hormones (Pérez-López, 2007). Thus, an altered function of the thyroid gland at the maternal side could prejudice physiological levels of T_3/T_4 at the fetal circulation, and impair fetal growth and development. Worldwide studies indicate that ~10% of women may have hypothyroidism in their childbearing age (Mosso et al., 2012; Khalid et al., 2013; Ohashi et al., 2013). It has been also described that ~35 or ~3% of women with an apparent normal pregnancy have clinical hypothyroidism or exhibit maternal hypothyroxemia (low level of free T_4), respectively (Mosso et al., 2012), both maternal conditions associated with several alterations

in the fetus development (Parkes et al., 2012). Nevertheless, isolated maternal hypothyroxemia (IMH), a pathological condition manifested during pregnancy (Sahay and Nagesh, 2012), have been associated with occurrence of gestational diabetes (GD; Olivieri et al., 2000), pre-eclampsia (Sardana et al., 2009), or intrauterine growth restriction, IUGR; Chan et al., 2006). Moreover, pregnant women with IMH have higher risk (fourfold) to develop insulin resistance and GD (Karakosta et al., 2012; Tudela et al., 2012). In fact, reduced T₄ level in the maternal circulation is associated with an increase in the incidence of GD pregnancies (Olivieri et al., 2000; Tudela et al., 2012) and with altered development of the central nervous system in children from pregnancies affected by these diseases (Smallridge and Ladenson, 2001; Casey et al., 2005). In addition, an incidence as high as \sim 70% of women coursing with pregnancies affected with GD exhibit IMH (Olivieri et al., 2000).

Gestational diabetes (GD) is associated with higher synthesis and release of vasodilators such as nitric oxide (NO) in the human fetal endothelium from GD (described as altered endothelial function) (De Vriese et al., 2000; Guzmán-Gutiérrez et al., 2011; Westermeier et al., 2011; Salomón et al., 2012). In addition, thyroid hormones are also involved in NO synthesis and release (Napoli et al., 2001; Fazio et al., 2004), but the potential contribution of reduced circulating T₄ on deregulation of fetal endothelial function seen in GD pregnancies is unclear. We here analyze the available information regarding the potential relationship between maternal and fetal thyroid hormones with the occurrence of endothelial dysfunction in GD. We propose that the low maternal levels of T₄ seen in GD may be compensated by higher placental availability of thyroid hormones via elevation in the activity of placental thyroid hormone transport and metabolism.

OVERVIEW OF SYNTHESIS AND RELEASE OF THYROID HORMONES

The thyroid hormones 3,5,3',5'-tetraiodothyronine (T₄ or thyroxine) and 3,5,3'-triiodothyronine (T₃) are synthesized in the thyroid gland and is regulated by hypothalamus/pituitary/thyroid axis by a negative feedback. In this regulatory axis, hypothalamus releases thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH), which interacts with TRH receptors in thyrotropin cells in the pituitary gland to release thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH). In turn, TSH is the main regulator of the release of thyroid hormones leading to TSH receptor (TSHr) activation and increased iodo (iodide) uptake in the thyroid gland (Szkudlinski et al., 2002).

Iodide intracellular uptake is mediated by cotransport with sodium (Na^+/I^-) in the basal membrane of follicular cells in the thyroid gland. In these cells, iodides are oxidized by thyroid peroxidase (TPO) in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. Iodine (oxidized iodine) binds to thyroxine residues belong to the tiroglobulins (Tg), then tyroxine residues can be mono (MIT), di (DIT), tri (T_3), or tetra-iodinated (T_4) (Sugenoya et al., 1984; Rousset, 1991). The release of thyroid hormones through the basolateral membrane in thyroid gland follicular cells requires endocytosis of iodinated Tg at the apical side of these cells. The Tg is then incorporated into phagolysosomes and digested by proteolytic proteins, with MIT and DIT being re-uptaked into Tg; however, T3 and T4 are released toward circulation (Rousset, 1991). T₄ is the main thyroid hormone released by thyroid gland follicular cells (\sim 40-fold compared with T₃) and is almost all (99.97%) bound to thyroxine binding globulin (TBG), albumin and pre-albumin in the circulation. In addition, free T_3 accounts for ~0.3% and the rest is bound to TBG and albumin.

Free T_3 is the hormone with biological activity and is the active form of thyroid hormones. It is derived from 5'-deiodination of free T_4 via iodothyronine deiodinases located in the target tissues (Sugenoya et al., 1984; Rousset, 1991; Schussler, 2000; Bianco and Kim, 2006). Deiodinases are grouped in three subtypes: I, II, and III (or D1, D2, and D3, respectively), all of which are involved in the regulation of T_3 activity (Bianco and Kim, 2006; Darras and Van Herck, 2012). For instance, D2 is specific to generate T_3 from T_4 ; however, D3 generates DIT from T_3 , and reverse T_3 (r T_3 , inactive form of T_3) from T_4 (Kilby et al., 2005). D1 has been reported as an enzyme that is much less active compared with the other forms (Bianco and Kim, 2006; Dentice and Salvatore, 2011; Darras and Van Herck, 2012).

VASCULAR EFFECTS OF THYROID HORMONES

Thyroid hormones reduce peripheral vascular resistance by promoting relaxation in human and murine vascular smooth-muscle cells (Klemperer et al., 1995; Ojamaa et al., 1996; Park et al., 1997), and improve vascular reactivity by endothelium-dependent and -independent mechanisms (Napoli et al., 2001; Fazio et al., 2004). In rat, T₄ released from the mesenteric arteries increases vasorelaxation when administrated at supraphysiological concentrations (Zwaveling et al., 1997). Moreover, T₃ and T₄ improve fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2) expression, a recognized proangiogenic factor, in cultures of ECV304 cells (Davis et al., 2004). Interestingly, human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) exposed to high T_3 levels exhibit high expression of endothelin-1 (vasoconstrictor) and fibronectin (profibrotic molecule), suggesting that pathological conditions such as hyperthyroidism could be associated with vasoconstriction (Baumgartner-Parzer et al., 1997; Diekman et al., 2001).

In addition, there is evidence that vasoconstriction associated with high levels of thyroid hormones may result from a non-genomic action, which seems mediated by $\alpha v\beta 3$ integrin as reported in HUVEC (Luidens et al., 2010). In this regard, $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin is a membrane protein that should active the phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase and protein kinase B/Akt (PI3K/Akt) pathway in this cell type (Hiroi et al., 2006; Luidens et al., 2010). Nevertheless, in another study HUVEC and bovine aortic endothelial cells (BAEC) seems to respond to T₃ by increasing the phosphorylation of serine¹¹⁷⁷ (Ser¹¹⁷⁷; Ser¹¹⁷⁷-eNOS) at the endothelial nitric oxide synthase isotype (eNOS) in a timeand concentration-dependent manner (Hiroi et al., 2006). Similar results were seen in vascular smooth-muscle cells from rat thoracic aortae where T₃ increases Ser¹¹⁷⁷-eNOS via PI3K/Akt pathway inducing eNOS, inducible (iNOS) and neuronal (nNOS) NOS expression. Thus, it is likely that T3 increases NOS expression via a genomic and a non-genomic (i.e., via αvβ3 integrin) action (Carrillo-Sepúlveda et al., 2010). Therefore, the thyroid hormone concentration is a determinant factor involved in the modulation of vascular function (Figure 1). However, there is not information addressing thyroid hormone effects on the human feto-placental vasculature.

HUMAN THYROID HORMONES IN PREGNANCY

Human fetal thyroid hormones are secreted from the 17 to 19 wg, indicating that the fetus requires thyroid hormones delivery from the mother during the first and beginning of the second trimester of pregnancy (Pérez-López, 2007). Pregnant women have TSH and free T_4 levels that are normal and comparable to those in non-pregnant women; however, in the first trimester of pregnancy, there is an increase in the maternal free T_4 level most likely in response to chorionic gonadotropin hormone (hCG; Fantz et al., 1999; Pérez-López,



2007). It has been shown that increased hCG level leads to reduced hypothalamus/pituitary/thyroid axis activity, but improved thyroid hormones delivery to the fetus in the first trimester of pregnancy (Fantz et al., 1999; Pérez-López, 2007; Chan et al., 2009). In this period, the concentration of free T_4 in the fetal circulation corresponds to a third of the level found in the maternal circulation (Chan et al., 2009). This phenomenon results from a reduced concentration of the TBG binding protein in the fetal circulation, which leads to a free T₄ concentration enough to exert its biological effects in embryonic tissues (Kilby et al., 2005; Chan et al., 2009). In the second trimester of pregnancy, free T_4 levels in the fetal circulation corresponds to about half of the concentration detected in the maternal circulation (Kilby et al., 2005; Chan et al., 2009). Therefore, it seems clear that thyroid hormone levels are regulated by the placenta tissue (Burrow et al., 1994). Thus, a role of this organ is crucial in the delivery of T₄ to the fetus.

THYROID HORMONES METABOLISM IN THE HUMAN PLACENTA

In addition to the paracrine effect of hCG on the hypothalamus/pituitary/thyroid axis, the human placenta regulates directly the thyroid hormone concentration in the fetal circulation by modulation of thyroid hormone transporters (THT), and by thyroid hormones metabolism mediated by deiodinases (Burrow et al., 1994). THT are located at the apical and basolateral membranes of the cytotrophoblasts, syncytiotrophoblast and microvascular endothelial cells (James et al., 2007). There are several THT, including monocarboxylate transporters (MCT), where MCT8 and MCT10 are the main forms. Moreover, a role has been reported for L-amino acid transporters (LAT) and organic anion transporter polypeptides system (OATPs), which operates with less selectivity for T₄ (James et al., 2007). Also in the human placenta MCT8 (Park and Chatterjee, 2005), MCT10, LAT1, LAT2 (Friesema et al., 2003), OATP1A2 and OATP4A1 (Hagenbuch and Meier, 2003; Hagenbuch, 2007) have been identified, but no studies addressing the role of these membrane transporters in any pathology of pregnancy have been documented. Moreover, D2 (located at the endoplasmatic reticulum) and D3 (located at the plasma membrane with a cytoplasmic active site; Koopdonk-Kool et al., 1996; Stulp et al., 1998; Chan et al., 2003) have been identified. D2 and D3 are referred as major factors controlling transplacental transport of T₄ to the fetus (Mortimer et al., 1996). Interestingly, D2 and D3 expression is up regulated by T₃ (Chan et al., 2003). In addition, since changes in the level of T₃/T₄ cause altered THT expression (Mortimer et al., 1996), modulation of D2/D3 and THT expression by T3/T4 could be a phenomenon serving as a defense mechanism for the fetus in pregnancies where the mother courses with hypothyroxemia.

ISOLATED MATERNAL HYPOTHYROXEMIA AND CLINICAL HYPOTHYROIDISM

The pathologies associated with low levels of free T₄ correspond to IMH and clinical hypothyroidism. IMH (1-2% of normal pregnancies) is characterized by low free T_4 (<10th percentile in normal range), but normal TSH level. Instead, clinical hypothyroidism characterizes by high levels of TSH, but low levels of free T₄ (Casey et al., 2005). In another pathological condition referred as "low T₃ syndrome," an increase in the expression of the membrane transporters MCT8 is reported, which could be a compensatory response to low levels of thyroid hormones (Mebis et al., 2009). The latter seems paralleled by an increase in the D1 and D2 levels as reported in human skeletal muscle and liver (Peeters et al., 2003; Weetman et al., 2003). While, using a knockout mice model for MCT8 ($Mct8^{-/-}$) an increase in the plasma free T₄ and T₃ levels, and D1 and D2 expression and activity in the liver was shown (Dumitrescu et al., 2006). Therefore, these results support the fact that low levels of T₄ lead to changes in the THT and deiodinase expression and activity in target organs. However, there is no information addressing this possibility in the human placenta from pregnancies coursing with maternal hypothyroxemia.

On the other hand, minor changes such as D2 gene polymorphism (Thr92Ala) are associated with human type 2 diabetes mellitus and insulin resistance (Mentuccia et al., 2002). In this regard, despite there is not information regarding D2 gene polymorphism in women coursing with pregnancies without a diagnosis of thyroid gland pathology, a negative correlation between free T₄ level and metabolic markers of GD and insulin resistance (i.e., degree of glycosylated HbA_{1c}, fasting insulin, and HOMA-IR) has been shown (Bassols et al., 2011). Then, it is proposed that a potential relationship between low maternal free T₄ levels and occurrence of GD and perhaps its complications including endothelial dysfunction exists.

MATERNAL T₄ LEVEL AND GD

GD is a disease coursing with glucose intolerance first recognized or manifested during pregnancy [Metzger et al., 2007; Reece et al., 2009; American Diabetes Association [ADA], 2012]. This pathology accounts for \sim 5% of pregnant women worldwide and it is associated with high risk of fetal perinatal alterations (e.g., macrosomia, insulin resistance) and higher incidence of diseases in the adulthood (e.g., GD, obesity, dyslipidemia, hypertension, metabolic syndrome) (Poston, 2010; Negrato et al., 2012). GD is associated with reduced maternal circulating T₄ levels in the first trimester of pregnancy. To date, 5% of women coursing with GD pregnancies have been shown to correlate with IMH (Krcma et al., 2010). In addition, free T₄ levels are lower in women with GD pregnancy compared with women with normal pregnancies (Velkoska-Nakova et al., 2010) and a reduced free T₄ level is shown in 70% of patients with GD pregnancies (Olivieri et al., 2000). Therefore, maternal hypothyroxemia could be associated with GD.

Other pathologies associated with low levels of free T_4 , such as clinical hypothyroidism (i.e., low free T_4 and high TSH levels), also have been associated with GD. Indeed, 6–15% of

GD pregnancies are associated with hypothyroidism (Velkoska-Nakova et al., 2010; Tudela et al., 2012; Stohl et al., 2013). Moreover, if pregnant women have hypothyroidism, they have 4.3-fold higher risk for developing GD (Karakosta et al., 2012). There are no publications addressing the T_4 plasma levels at the fetal circulation in a pregnancy coursing with GD. However, since GD courses with endothelial dysfunction (De Vriese et al., 2000; Westermeier et al., 2011; Guzmán-Gutiérrez et al., 2011, 2014; Salomón et al., 2012) and thyroid hormones modulate endothelial function (Napoli et al., 2001; Fazio et al., 2004), it is likely that a low free T_4 level at the maternal circulation eventually could result in altered endothelial function in GD pregnancies.

GD AND ENDOTHELIAL DYSFUNCTION

One of the main alterations detected in GD pregnancies is the associated endothelial dysfunction of the fetoplacental circulation (De Vriese et al., 2000; Guzmán-Gutiérrez et al., 2011, 2014; Westermeier et al., 2011; Salomón et al., 2012). Since the vasculature in the human placenta lacks innervation (Marzioni et al., 2004), several local metabolic mechanisms, such as synthesis and release of vasoactive molecules (e.g., NO, adenosine) (Vásquez et al., 2004; Guzmán-Gutiérrez et al., 2011, 2014; Sobrevia et al., 2011) or release of nanovesicles (e.g., exosomes), most likely mediating autocrine and/or paracrine modulation of vasculature (Salomon et al., 2013), could lead to acute and rapid modulation of vascular tone in this vascular bed (Guzmán-Gutiérrez et al., 2011, 2014; Burnstock and Novak, 2013).

Arteries and veins in the human placenta from pregnancies with GD exhibit increased NO synthesis (Figueroa et al., 2000). Furthermore, similar results were early reported in primary cultures of HUVEC from pregnant women diagnosed with GD (Sobrevia et al., 1995). Therefore, it has been proposed that vascular dysfunction in GD could result from a functional dissociation between NO synthesis and its bioavailability in the human placental circulation (Guzmán-Gutiérrez et al., 2011, 2014; Sobrevia et al., 2011). Even when endothelial dysfunction, referred to as an alteration of NO synthesis and the uptake of cationic amino acid L-arginine (i.e., L-arginine/NO pathway), is associated with GD, a clear mechanism behind these effects of GD is still unavailable (Guzmán-Gutiérrez et al., 2014).

HUMAN PLACENTA ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION AND T4 IN GD: A HYPOTHESIS TO BE TESTED

In normal pregnancies maternal free T_4 is taken up by THT by the syncytiotrophoblast, where it is metabolized by D2 and D3 to be converted into T_3 or rT_3 , respectively. T_4 is then released via THT at the basolateral membrane of the syncytiotrophoblast into the intervillous space from where it is taken up by the microvascular endothelial cells via THT. In these cells a fraction of T_4 is metabolized again to produce T_3 and rT_3 via D2 and D3, respectively (**Figure 2**). As a result of this process, T_4 and T_3 are released into the fetal blood. However, currently there is no information regarding transport of thyroid hormones across the human placenta in GD pregnancies. We propose that low levels of T_4 , lead to an increase in the number and activity of



THT membrane transporters available at the plasma membrane of the human placental endothelial cells, and reduced deiodinase expression and activity, in order to supply T_4 necessities associated with fetal development in GD. These changes could constitute a mechanism by which the endothelium from the human placenta intends to maintain normal intracellular and circulating levels of T_4 in the fetus. The latter would be potentially reached by a greater delivery of maternal T_4 to the fetal blood.

FINAL COMMENTS AND CONCLUSION

Based on what was described in this review, our central research questions are: (1) is a low level of free T_4 in the maternal circulation associated with GD? (2) is GD a disease associated with increased placental THT, but reduced deiodinase expression and activity? and (3) would the potential changes caused by reduced free T_4 level in the maternal circulation and altered THT and deiodinases in the placenta in GD lead to placental endothelial dysfunction? Furthermore, nothing is known regarding the feto-placental vascular function/dysfunction in pregnancies where the mother courses with hypothyroxemia. Despite many benefits for using human placental tissue after birth, we acknowledge that information behind cellular mechanisms and adaptative response occurred at the beginning of pregnancy is difficult to

extrapolate; however, it offers a good approximation for studying consequences of human pathologies. Potential more complex models, might include analysis of placentas collected from animal deficient in leptin receptor (db/+), since they develop GD during pregnancy (Bobadilla et al., 2010), offering a model that may to understand molecular mechanisms of THT and deiodinases in first trimester of pregnancy. Moreover, a therapeutical approach of pregnant women coursing with hypothyroxemia targeted to improve free T₄ circulating levels will likely reduce the risk of developing GD and the deleterious consequences of this disease in the feto-placental endothelial function. We also speculate that a normalization of free T₄ levels in the first trimester of pregnancy could reduce the risk to face GD-associated complication.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Enrique Guzmán-Gutiérrez and Luis Sobrevia generated the text and figures, Carlos Veas, Andrea Leiva, and Carlos Escudero contributed for design of text.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by Fondo Nacional de Desarrollo Científico y Tecnológico (FONDECYT; grant numbers 1140586, 11110059, 1110977, 1100684, 3130583), Chile; Programa de Investigación Interdisciplinario (PIA) from Comisión Nacional de Investigación en Ciencia y Tecnología (CONICYT; grant number Anillos ACT-73); International NETWORK program from CONICYT (grant number 130102), and Dirección General de Investigación Universidad San Sebastián, Chile.

REFERENCES

- American Diabetes Association [ADA]. (2012). Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care* 35, S64–S71.
- Bassols, J., Prats-Puig, A., Soriano-Rodríguez, P., García-González, M. M., Reid, J., Martínez-Pascual, M., et al. (2011). Lower free thyroxin associates with a less favorable metabolic phenotype in healthy pregnant women. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 96, 3717–3723. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-1784
- Baumgartner-Parzer, S. M., Wagner, L., Reining, G., Sexl, V., Nowotny, P., Müller, M., et al. (1997). Increase by tri-iodothyronine of endothelin-1, fibronectin and von Willebrand factor in cultured endothelial cells. *J. Endocrinol.* 154, 231–239. doi: 10.1677/joe.0.1540231
- Bianco, A. C., and Kim, B. W. (2006). Deiodinases: implications of the local control of thyroid hormone action. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 2571–2579. doi: 10.1172/JCI 29812
- Bobadilla, R. A., van Bree, R., Vercruysse, L., Pijnenborg, R., and Verhaeghe, J. (2010). Placental effects of systemic tumour necrosis factor- α in an animal model of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Placenta* 31, 1057–1063. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2010.09.017
- Burnstock, G., and Novak, I. (2013). Purinergic signalling and diabetes. *Purinergic Signal.* 9, 307–324. doi: 10.1007/s11302-013-9359-2
- Burrow, G. N., Fisher, D. A., and Larsen, P. R. (1994). Maternal and fetal thyroid function. N. Engl. J. Med. 331, 1072–1078. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199410203311608
- Carrillo-Sepúlveda, M. A., Ceravolo, G. S., Fortes, Z. B., Carvalho, M. H., Tostes, R. C., Laurindo, F. R., et al. (2010). Thyroid hormone stimulates NO production via activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway in vascular myocytes. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 85, 560–570. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvp304
- Casey, B. M., Dashe, J. S., Wells, C. E., McIntire, D. D., Byrd, W., Leveno, K. J., et al. (2005). Subclinical hypothyroidism and pregnancy outcomes. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 105, 239–245. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000152345.99421.22
- Chan, S. Y., Franklyn, J. A., Pemberton, H. N., Bulmer, J. N., Visser, T. J., McCabe, C. J., et al. (2006). Monocarboxylate transporter 8 expression in the human placenta: the effects of severe intrauterine growth restriction. *J. Endocrinol.* 189, 465–471. doi: 10.1677/joe.1.06582
- Chan, S. Y., Vasilopoulou, E., and Kilby, M. D. (2009). The role of the placenta in thyroid hormone delivery to the fetus. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Endocrinol. Metab.* 5, 45–54. doi: 10.1038/ncpendmet1026
- Chan, S., Kachilele, S., Hobbs, E., Bulmer, J. N., Boelaert, K., McCabe, C. J., et al. (2003). Placental iodothyronine deiodinase expression in normal and growthrestricted human pregnancies. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 88, 4488–4495. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-030228
- Darras, V. M., and Van Herck, S. L. (2012). Iodothyronine deiodinase structure and function: from ascidians to humans. J. Endocrinol. 215, 189–206. doi: 10.1530/JOE-12-0204
- Davis, F. B., Mousa, S. A., O'Connor, L., Mohamed, S., Lin, H. Y., Cao, H. J., et al. (2004). Proangiogenic action of thyroid hormone is fibroblast growth factordependent and is initiated at the cell surface. *Circ. Res.* 94, 1500–1506. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000130784.90237.4a
- De Vriese, A. S., Verbeuren, T. J., Van de Voorde, J., Lameire, N. H., and Vanhoutte, P. M. (2000). Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 130, 963–974. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0703393
- Dentice, M., and Salvatore, D. (2011). Deiodinases: the balance of thyroid hormone: local impact of thyroid hormone inactivation. *J. Endocrinol.* 209, 273–282. doi: 10.1530/JOE-11-0002
- Diekman, M. J., Zandieh-Doulabi, B., Platvoet-TerSchiphorst, M., Fliers, E., Bakker, O., and Wiersinga, W. M. (2001). The biological relevance of thyroid hormone receptors in immortalized human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *J. Endocrinol.* 168, 427–433. doi: 10.1677/joe.0.1680427
- Dumitrescu, A. M., Liao, X. H., Weiss, R. E., Millen, K., and Refetoff, S. (2006). Tissue-specific thyroid hormone deprivation and excess in monocarboxylate transporter (mct) 8-deficient mice. *Endocrinology* 147, 4036–4043. doi: 10.1210/en.2006-0390

- Fantz, C. R., Dagogo-Jack, S., Ladenson, J. H., and Gronowski, A. M. (1999). Thyroid function during pregnancy. *Clin. Chem.* 45, 2250–2258.
- Fazio, S., Palmieri, E. A., Lombardi, G., and Biondi, B. (2004). Effects of thyroid hormone on the cardiovascular system. *Recent Prog. Horm. Res.* 59, 31–50. doi: 10.1210/rp.59.1.31
- Figueroa, R., Martinez, E., Fayngersh, R. P., Tejani, N., Mohazzab-H, K. M., and Wolin, M. S. (2000). Alterations in relaxation to lactate and H2O2 in human placental vessels from gestational diabetic pregnancies. *Am. J. Physiol.* 278, H706– H713.
- Friesema, E. C., Ganguly, S., Abdalla, A., Manning-Fox, J. E., Halestrap, A. P., and Visser, T. J. (2003). Identification of monocarboxylate transporter 8 as a specific thyroid hormone transporter. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 40128–40135. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M300909200
- Guzmán-Gutiérrez, E., Abarzúa, F., Belmar, C., Nien, J. K., Ramírez, M. A., Arroyo, P., et al. (2011). Functional link between adenosine and insulin: a hypothesis for fetoplacental vascular endothelial dysfunction in gestational diabetes. *Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol.* 9, 750–762. doi: 10.2174/15701611179 7484062
- Guzmán-Gutiérrez, E., Arroyo, P., Salsoso, R., Fuenzalida, B., Sáez, T., Leiva, A., et al. (2014). Role of insulin and adenosine in the human placenta microvascular and macrovascular endothelial cell dysfunction in gestational diabetes mellitus. *Microcirculation* 21, 26–37. doi: 10.1111/micc.12077
- Hagenbuch, B. (2007). Cellular entry of thyroid hormones by organic anion transporting polypeptides. *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 21, 209–221. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2007.03.004
- Hagenbuch, B., and Meier, P. J. (2003). The superfamily of organic anion transporting polypeptides. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1609, 1–18. doi: 10.1016/S0005-2736(02)00633-8
- Hiroi, Y., Kim, H. H., Ying, H., Furuya, F., Huang, Z., Simoncini, T., et al. (2006). Rapid nongenomic actions of thyroid hormone. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 14104–14109. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0601600103
- James, S. R., Franklyn, J. A., and Kilby, M. D. (2007). Placental transport of thyroid hormone. *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 21, 253–264. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2007.03.001
- Karakosta, P., Alegakis, D., Georgiou, V., Roumeliotaki, T., Fthenou, E., Vassilaki, M., et al. (2012). Thyroid dysfunction and autoantibodies in early pregnancy are associated with increased risk of gestational diabetes and adverse birth outcomes. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 97, 4464–4472. doi: 10.1210/jc. 2012-2540
- Khalid, A. S., Joyce, C., and O'Donoghue, K. (2013). Prevalence of subclinical and undiagnosed overt hypothyroidism in a pregnancy loss clinic. *Ir. Med. J.* 106, 107–110.
- Kilby, M. D., Barber, K., Hobbs, E., and Franklyn, J. A. (2005). Thyroid hormone action in the placenta. *Placenta* 26, 105–113. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2004. 08.004
- Klemperer, J. D., Klein, I., Gomez, M., Helm, R. E., Ojamaa, K., Thomas, S. J., et al. (1995). Thyroid hormone treatment after coronary-artery bypass surgery. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 333, 1522–1527. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199512073332302
- Koopdonk-Kool, J. M., de Vijlder, J. J., Veenboer, G. J., Ris-Stalpers, C., Kok, J. H., Vulsma, T., et al. (1996). Type II and type III deiodinase activity in human placenta as a function of gestational age. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 81, 2154–2158.
- Krcma, M., Dvorakova, E., Cechurova, D., Vokurkova, L., and Rusavy, Z. (2010). Isolated maternal hypothyroxinemia in women with gestational diabetes mellitus and its connection to necessity of insulinotherapy. *Endocr. Abs.* 22, P840. [Abstract].
- Luidens, M. K., Mousa, S. A., Davis, F. B., Lin, H. Y., and Davis, P. J. (2010). Thyroid hormone and angiogenesis. *Vasc. Pharmacol.* 52, 142–145. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2009.10.007
- Marzioni, D., Tamagnone, L., Capparuccia, L., Marchini, C., Amici, A., Todros, T., et al. (2004). Restricted innervation of uterus and placenta during pregnancy: evidence for a role of the repelling signal Semaphorin 3A. *Dev. Dyn.* 231, 839–848. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.20178
- Mebis, L., Paletta, D., Debaveye, Y., Ellger, B., Langouche, L., D'Hoore, A., et al. (2009). Expression of thyroid hormone transporters during critical illness. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 161, 243–250. doi: 10.1530/EJE-09-0290
- Mentuccia, D., Proietti-Pannunzi, L., Tanner, K., Bacci, V., Pollin, T. I., Poehlman, E. T., et al. (2002). Association between a novel variant of the human type 2 deiodinase gene Thr92Ala and insulin resistance: evidence of interaction with the

Trp64Arg variant of the beta-3-adrenergic receptor. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 51, 880–883. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.3.880

- Metzger, B. E., Buchanan, T. A., Coustan, D. R., de Leiva, A., Dunger, D. B., Hadden, D. R., et al. (2007). Summary and recommendations of the Fifth International Workshop-Conference on Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Care*. 30, S251– S260. doi: 10.2337/dc07-s225
- Mortimer, R., Galligan, J., Cannell, G., Addison, R., and Roberts, M. (1996). Maternal to fetal thyroxine transmission in the human term placenta is limited by inner ring deiodination. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 81, 2247–2249. doi: 10.1210/jcem.81.6.8964859
- Mosso, M. L., Martínez, G. A., Rojas, M. P., Margozzini, P., Solari, S., Lyng, T., et al. (2012). Frequency of subclinical thyroid problems among women during the first trimester of pregnancy. *Rev. Med. Chil.* 140, 1401–1408. doi: 10.4067/S0034-98872012001100004
- Napoli, R., Biondi, B., Guardasole, V., Matarazzo, M., Pardo, F., Angelini, V., et al. (2001). Impact of hyperthyroidism and its correction on vascular reactivity in humans. *Circulation* 104, 3076–3080. doi: 10.1161/hc5001.100621
- Negrato, C. A., Montenegro, R. M. Jr., Von Kostrisch, L. M., Guedes, M. F., Mattar, R., and Gomes, M. B. (2012). Insulin analogues in the treatment of diabetes in pregnancy. *Arq. Bras. Endocrinol. Metabol.* 56, 405–414. doi: 10.1590/S0004-27302012000700001
- Ohashi, M., Furukawa, S., Michikata, K., Kai, K., Sameshima, H., and Ikenoue, T. (2013). Risk-based screening for thyroid dysfunction during pregnancy. *J. Pregnancy* 2013, 619718. doi: 10.1155/2013/619718
- Ojamaa, K., Klemperer, J. D., and Klein, I. (1996). Acute effects of thyroid hormone on vascular smooth muscle. *Thyroid* 6, 505–512. doi: 10.1089/thy.1996. 6.505
- Olivieri, A., Valensise, H., Magnani, F., Medda, E., De Angelis, S., D'Archivio, M., et al. (2000). High frequency of antithyroid autoantibodies in pregnant women at increased risk of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 143, 741–747. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1430741
- Park, K. W., Dai, H. B., Ojamaa, K., Lowenstein, E., Klein, I., and Sellke, F. W. (1997). The direct vasomotor effect of thyroid hormones on rat skeletal muscle resistance arteries. *Anesth. Analg.* 85, 734–738.
- Park, M., and Chatterjee, K. (2005). Genetics of congenital hypothyroidism. J. Med. Genet. 42, 379–389. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2004.024158
- Parkes, I. L., Schenker, J. G., and Shufaro, Y. (2012). Thyroid disorders during pregnancy. *Gynecol. Endocrinol.* 28, 993–998. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2012. 692001
- Peeters, R. P., Wouters, P. J., Kaptein, E., van Toor, H., Visser, T. J., and Van den Berghe, G. (2003). Reduced activation and increased inactivation of thyroid hormone in tissues of critically ill patients. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88, 3202–3211. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-022013
- Pérez-López, F. R. (2007). Iodine and thyroid hormones during pregnancy and postpartum. *Gynecol. Endocrinol.* 23, 414–428. doi: 10.1080/095135907014 64092
- Poston, L. (2010). Developmental programming and diabetes the human experience and insight from animal models. *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 24, 541–552. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2010.05.007
- Reece, E. A., Leguizamón, G., and Wiznitzer, A. (2009). Gestational diabetes: the need for a common ground. *Lancet* 373, 1789–1797. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60515-8
- Rousset, B. A. (1991). Intracellular traffic and proteolytic cleavage of thyroglobulin, the thyroid prohormone. *Ann. Endocrinol.* 52, 355–360.
- Sahay, R. K., and Nagesh, V. S. (2012). Hypothyroidism in pregnancy. Ind. J. Endocrinol. Metab. 16, 364–370. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.95667
- Salomon, C., Kobayashi, M., Ashman, K., Sobrevia, L., Mitchell, M. D., and Rice, G. E. (2013). Hypoxia-induced changes in the bioactivity of cytotrophoblastderived exosomes. *PLoS ONE* 8:e79636. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0079636
- Salomón, C., Westermeier, F., Puebla, C., Arroyo, P., Guzmán-Gutiérrez, E., Pardo, F., et al. (2012). Gestational diabetes reduces adenosine transport in human placental microvascular endothelium, an effect reversed by insulin. *PLoS ONE*. 7:e40578. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0040578
- Sardana, D., Nanda, S., and Kharb, S. (2009). Thyroid hormones in pregnancy and preeclampsia. J. Turk. Ger. Gynecol. Assoc. 10, 68–171.
- Schussler, G. C. (2000). The thyroxine-binding proteins. *Thyroid* 10, 141–149. doi: 10.1089/thy.2000.10.141

- Smallridge, R. C., and Ladenson, P. W. (2001). Hypothyroidism in pregnancy: consequences to neonatal health. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86, 2349–2353. doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.6.7577
- Sobrevia, L., Abarzúa, F., Nien, J. K., Salomón, C., Westermeier, F., Puebla, C., et al. (2011). Review: differential placental macrovascular and microvascular endothelial dysfunction in gestational diabetes. *Placenta* 32, S159–S164. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2010.12.011
- Sobrevia, L., Cesare, P., Yudilevich, D. L., and Mann, G. E. (1995). Diabetes-induced activation of system y+ and nitric oxide synthase in human endothelial cells: association with membrane hyperpolarization. *J. Physiol.* 489, 183–192.
- Stohl, H. E., Ouzounian, J., Rick, A. M., Hueppchen, N. A., and Bienstock, J. L. (2013). Thyroid disease and gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM): is there a connection? *J. Matern. Fetal. Neonat. Med.* 26, 1139–1142. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2013.773309
- Stulp, M. R., de Vijlder, J. J., and Ris-Stalpers, C. (1998). Placental iodothyronine deiodinase III and II ratios, mRNA expression compared to enzyme activity. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 142, 67–73. doi: 10.1016/S0303-7207(98)00118-X
- Sugenoya, A., Yamada, Y., Kaneko, G., Kobayashi, M., Miyakawa, M., and Iida, F. (1984). In vitro study on release of thyroid hormone in solitary autonomously functioning thyroid nodules using cell culture method. *Endocrinol. Jpn.* 31, 749– 753. doi: 10.1507/endocrj1954.31.749
- Szkudlinski, M. W., Fremont, V., Ronin, C., and Weintraub, B. D. (2002). Thyroid-stimulating hormone and thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor structure-function relationships. *Physiol. Rev.* 82, 473–502. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00031.2001
- Tudela, C. M., Casey, B. M., McIntire, D. D., and Cunningham, F. G. (2012). Relationship of subclinical thyroid disease to the incidence of gestational diabetes. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 119, 983–988. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e318250aeeb
- Vásquez, G., Sanhueza, F., Vásquez, R., González, M., San Martín, R., Casanello, P., et al. (2004). Role of adenosine transport in gestational diabetesinduced L-arginine transport and nitric oxide synthesis in human umbilical vein endothelium. *J. Physiol.* 560, 111–122 doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004. 068288
- Velkoska-Nakova, V., Krstevska, B., Dimitrovski, Ch., Simeonova, S., Hadzi-Lega, M., and Serafimoski, V. (2010). Prevalence of thyroid dysfunction and autoimmunity in pregnant women with gestational diabetes and diabetes type 1. *Prilozi* 31, 51–59.
- Weetman, A. P., Shepherdley, C. A., Mansell, P., Ubhi, C. S., and Visser, T. J. (2003). Thyroid over-expression of type 1 and type 2 deiodinase may account for the syndrome of low thyroxine and increasing triiodothyronine during propylthiouracil treatment. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 149, 443–447. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.14 90443
- Westermeier, F., Salomón, C., González, M., Puebla, C., Guzmán-Gutiérrez, E., Cifuentes, F., et al. (2011). Insulin restores gestational diabetes mellitus-reduced adenosine transport involving differential expression of insulin receptor isoforms in human umbilical vein endothelium. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 60, 1677–1687. doi: 10.2337/db11-0155
- Zwaveling, J., Pfaffendorf, M., and van Zwieten, P. A. (1997). The direct effects of thyroid hormones on rat mesenteric resistance arteries. *Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol.* 11, 41–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-8206.1997.tb00167.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 March 2014; accepted: 21 May 2014; published online: 06 June 2014. Citation: Guzmán-Gutiérrez E, Veas C, Leiva A, Escudero C and Sobrevia L (2014) Is a low level of free thyroxine in the maternal circulation associated with altered endothelial function in gestational diabetes? Front. Pharmacol. 5:136. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00136

This article was submitted to Cardiovascular and Smooth Muscle Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Guzmán-Gutiérrez, Veas, Leiva, Escudero and Sobrevia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Impaired adenosine-mediated angiogenesis in preeclampsia: potential implications for fetal programming

Carlos Escudero¹*, James M. Roberts², Leslie Myatt³ and Igor Feoktistov^{4,5}

¹ Vascular Physiology Laboratory, Group of Investigation in Tumor Angiogenesis, Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health, Department of Basic Sciences, Faculty of Sciences, Universidad del Bío-Bío, Chillán, Chile

- ² Magee-Womens Research Institute, Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Sciences, Department of Epidemiology and Clinical and Translational Science Institute, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA
- ³ Center for Pregnancy and Newborn Research, University of Texas Health Science Center, San Antonio, TX, USA
- ⁴ Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Department of Medicine, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN, USA
- ⁵ Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN, USA

Edited by:

Issy Laher, University of British Columbia, Canada

Reviewed by:

Stephen C. Land, University of Dundee, UK Loren P. Thompson, University of Maryland, Baltimore, USA Norma Beatriz Ojeda, University of Mississippi Medical Center, USA Brett M. Mitchell, Texas A&M Health Science Center, USA

*Correspondence:

Carlos Escudero, Vascular Physiology Laboratory, Group of Investigation in Tumor Angiogenesis, Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health, Department of Basic Sciences, Faculty of Sciences, Universidad del Bío-Bío, Chillán, Chile e-mail: cescudero@ubiobio.cl

Preeclampsia is a pregnancy-specific syndrome, defined by such clinical hallmarks as the onset of maternal hypertension and proteinuria after 20 weeks of gestation. The syndrome is also characterized by impaired blood flow through the utero-placental circulation and relative placental ischemia, which in turn, may generate feto-placental endothelial dysfunction. Endothelial dysfunction in offspring born from preeclamptic pregnancies has been associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease, including hypertension, later in life. Interestingly, diminished endothelial function, manifested by low angiogenic capacity, leads to hypertension in animal studies. Recently, we have shown that the adenosine receptor A_{2A}/nitric oxide/vascular endothelial growth factor axis is reduced in human umbilical vein endothelial cells derived from preeclamptic pregnancies, an effect correlated with gestational age at onset of preeclampsia. We and others suggested that impaired vascular function might be associated with high cardiovascular risk in offspring exposed to pregnancy diseases. However, we are not aware of any studies that examine impaired adenosine-mediated angiogenesis as a possible link to hypertension in offspring born from preeclamptic pregnancies. In this review, we present evidence supporting the hypothesis that reduced adenosine-mediated angiogenesis during preeclamptic pregnancies might be associated with development of hypertension in the offspring.

Keywords: adenosine receptors, angiogenesis, placenta, preeclampsia, programming

INTRODUCTION

Preeclampsia is a major cause of maternal and infant morbidity and mortality worldwide (Xiong et al., 2002; Duley, 2009). Stillbirth is more common in preeclamptic pregnancies, and one third of infants of preeclamptic women exhibit growth restriction. Furthermore, the appropriate management of preeclampsia (i.e., delivery of women with increasingly severe disease) is responsible for 8% of preterm births, with attendant increased morbidity and mortality (Sibai et al., 2005; Villar et al., 2006). In the last 30 years, it has become evident that the fetal intrauterine environment has long-lasting consequences for the infant. Low or high birth weight, prematurity, gestational diabetes, and hypertension not only have an impact on perinatal outcomes; they also have long-term consequences, increasing the risk of neurological disability, obesity, and cardiovascular disease in adult life (Gluckman and Hanson, 2004; Hanson and Gluckman, 2008; Krause et al., 2009). The multiorgan dysfunction syndrome associated with preeclampsia could, directly or indirectly, affect the intrauterine environment.

The underlying pathophysiology of preeclampsia includes dysregulation of endothelial function in both the maternal and the feto-placental circulation (Roberts and Escudero, 2012). Several groups have suggested that long-term complications in offspring from preeclamptic pregnancies might be associated with loss of the endothelium's ability to regulate vascular tone by synthesizing vasoactive molecules. However, the endothelium is also responsible for the generation of new vessels through the process of angiogenesis. Imbalance of angiogenic factors (i.e., reduction in the activity of pro-angiogenic factors in association with high activity/expression of the anti-angiogenic factors) is a well-characterized feature of preeclampsia. The implication of this imbalance for the occurrence of long-term complications in offspring from preeclamptic pregnancies is not yet clear. Since adequate formation of blood vessels is required for controlling blood pressure and for tissue repair, it is likely

Abbreviations: NECA, 5'-*N*-ethylcarboxamido-adenosine; AP-1, Activator protein 1; AR, adenosine receptor; $A_{2A}AR$, adenosine receptor A_{2B} ; bFGF, basic fibroblast growth factor; EOPE, early-onset preeclampsia; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; EPC, endothelial progenitor cells; hENT1, equilibrative nucleotide transporter type 1; hENT2, equilibrative nucleotide transporter type 2; Epac, exchange protein activated by cAMP ; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; hPMEC, human placental microvascular endothelial cell; HUVEC, human umbilical vein endothelial cell; HIF-1 α , hypoxia inducible factor type 1 α ; IL-8, interleukin 8; LOPE, late-onset preeclampsia; MAPK, mitogenactivated protein kinase; LLC, mouse Lewis lung carcinoma; NO, nitric oxide; PKA, protein kinase 4; sFlt-1, soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor type 1 or soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1; sEnd, soluble endoglin; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor.

that impaired angiogenesis may contribute to future cardiovascular risk in the newborn "exposed" to preeclampsia *in utero*.

Adenosine is a naturally occurring nucleoside, which is increased in the feto-placental circulation with preeclampsia (Yoneyama et al., 1996; Escudero et al., 2009; Espinoza et al., 2011). It plays an important role in controlling the production and action of pro-angiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), as well as anti-angiogenic factors including soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 (sFlt-1; George et al., 2010) and, through this mechanism, may control placental angiogenesis (Escudero et al., 2012). Therefore, it is plausible that dysfunctional adenosine-mediated angiogenesis *in utero* and after birth may contribute to long-term complications in offspring from preeclamptic pregnancies.

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF PREECLAMPSIA: CURRENT HYPOTHESES

Preeclampsia has been defined by the onset of hypertension and proteinuria after 20 weeks of gestation and is additionally characterized by maternal endothelial dysfunction (Roberts et al., 1989). However, recently The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists has stated that proteinuria is no longer absolutely required for diagnosis of preeclampsia (ACOG, Task Force of Hypertension in Pregnancy, 2013). Alternatively, diagnosis may be established by the presence of hypertension associated with thrombocytopenia (platelet count less than 100.000/ μ L), impaired liver functions (elevated blood concentrations of liver transaminases up to twice the normal concentration), development of renal insufficiency (serum creatinine concentration greater than 1.1 mg/dL or a doubling of the serum creatinine concentration in the absence of other renal diseases), pulmonary edema, or new-onset cerebral or visual disturbances.

Current thinking on the pathophysiology of preeclampsia suggests that impaired invasion of trophoblastic cells into the maternal vascular bed leads to aberrant transformation of uterine resistance vessels to large diameter capacitance vessels (Burton et al., 2009a,b). This reduces maternal blood flow to the placenta and generates relative ischemia. Failure to increase the terminal caliber of the spiral arteries results in increased velocity of blood entering the intervillus space, with consequent shear stress on the fetal villus trophoblast (Burton et al., 2009b), leading to cell damage, detachment, and the release of cell fragments into the maternal circulation (Tannetta et al., 2013). These fragments contain elements that may impair maternal endothelial function and generate a vicious cycle that will chronically affect maternal and feto-placental endothelial function.

Among molecules released from the placenta, sFlt-1 has become a focus of study in preeclampsia. It is increased in the blood of women prior to and during clinical preeclampsia and has the potential to blunt angiogenic responses. Importantly, reduction of the plasma level of sFlt-1 in women with preterm preeclampsia using dextran sulfate apheresis has been reported to reduce proteinuria and blood pressure and prolong pregnancy by 23 days without apparent adverse events for mother or fetus (Thadhani et al., 2011). Moreover, the injection of mice with adenovirus expressing sFlt-1 results in pathophysiological findings resembling preeclampsia (Maynard et al., 2003; Bytautiene et al., 2011; Murphy et al., 2012). This animal model has been employed to study not only the pathophysiology of preeclampsia but also vascular alterations in the offspring (Lu et al., 2007a; Byers et al., 2009; Bytautiene et al., 2011).

DEVELOPMENTAL ORIGINS OF ADULT DISEASE AFTER PREECLAMPSIA

The fetal programming hypothesis proposes that chronic diseases may originate through adaptations of the fetus to an adverse intrauterine environment. These adaptations may include changes in the vascular, metabolic, or endocrine systems. Those changes permanently affect function in adult life.

Numerous epidemiological studies suggest an important role for the adverse intrauterine environment in the development of schizophrenia, depression, cardiovascular diseases, stroke, diabetes, cancer, pulmonary hypertension, osteoporosis, polycystic ovarian syndrome, and other conditions in adult life. These observational relationships are supported by animal experiments in which effects on fetal growth via manipulation of maternal nutrition or reduction of blood flow to the placenta (by various approaches) result in obesity, increased blood pressure, and other cardiovascular abnormalities in the offspring later in life (Hanson and Gluckman, 2008; Glover, 2011; Davis et al., 2012b). Applying this concept to preeclampsia brings in a number of other insults which may trigger programming. These include increased oxidative stress and elevated concentration of anti-angiogenic factors, which can also result in growth restriction or premature deliveries.

PREECLAMPSIA AND LONG-TERM ADVERSE OUTCOMES IN THE OFFSPRING

Many epidemiological studies (Kajantie et al., 2009; Wu et al., 2009, 2011; Davis et al., 2012a,b; Lawlor et al., 2012) indicate that preeclampsia is associated with long-term adverse outcomes in the offspring. The majority of studies (Palti and Rothschild, 1989; Seidman et al., 1991; Tenhola et al., 2003, 2006; Vatten et al., 2003; Swarup et al., 2005; Hiller et al., 2007; Oglaend et al., 2009; Kvehaugen et al., 2010; Lazdam et al., 2010; Palmsten et al., 2010; Lawlor et al., 2012), but not all (Ounsted et al., 1983; Jayet et al., 2010; Belfort et al., 2012; Lawlor et al., 2012) report that children and adolescents who were exposed to preeclampsia or hypertension in pregnancy exhibit higher systolic and diastolic blood pressure compared with non-exposed children or adolescents. These studies were reviewed in a recent meta-analysis (Davis et al., 2012a), which included individuals aged 4-30 years, born at term from preeclamptic pregnancies. This meta-analysis concluded that offspring born from preeclamptic women had ~ 2 mm Hg greater systolic and ~1.3 mm Hg greater diastolic blood pressure than individuals born from normotensive pregnancies. Interestingly, according to their prediction, "if the 2.4 mmHg difference in systolic blood pressure tracks into adulthood (Chen and Wang, 2008), this difference would be associated with an \sim 8% increased risk of mortality from ischemic heart disease and 12% increased risk from stroke" (Davis et al., 2012a). Based on a study in a large population of preeclamptic pregnancies, Kajantie et al. (2009) reported that the risk for stroke in subjects born from preeclamptic pregnancies was twice that of controls born from normotensive pregnancies. Other studies have described an increased risk for pulmonary hypertension (Jayet et al., 2010), metabolic and endocrine disease (Wu et al., 2009, 2011), depression (Tuovinen et al., 2010), cerebral palsy (Szymonowicz and Yu, 1987), poor cognitive outcome (Cheng et al., 2004), or intellectual disabilities (Griffith et al., 2011) in children born of preeclamptic pregnancies compared to non-exposed children.

These clinical and epidemiological observations are supported by a recent review of animal models of preeclampsia (Davis et al., 2012b), including those generated by systemic hypoxia, by mechanical reduction of maternal uterine artery blood flow, in genetically modified animals lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), or by overexpression of sFlt-1 by infection with adenovirus carrying this protein. Notwithstanding differences in design and outcome of these models, the conclusion was that "animal studies support the potential relevance of these insults to programming of offspring blood pressure."

Although fetal programming by preeclampsia is suggested by human and animal studies, it is not easy to determine whether preeclampsia per se leads to high cardiovascular risk in the offspring or whether related factors, such as intrauterine growth restriction or preterm delivery, contribute. To allay these concerns, most studies have excluded individuals exposed to preterm delivery or intrauterine growth restriction associated with preeclampsia. Interestingly, the risks for hypertension, impaired neurological function, and stroke in offspring from preeclamptic pregnancies remain significant (Kajantie et al., 2009; Tuovinen et al., 2010, 2012). Moreover, a study performed in brothers exposed, or not, to preeclampsia suggested that impaired vessel function was associated with preeclampsia per se rather than genetic predisposition (Jayet et al., 2010). It is plausible, then, that exposure to preeclampsia in utero can predispose to adverse outcomes later in life.

Understanding the underlying mechanisms might suggest interventions to prevent the occurrence of future chronic disease in offspring exposed to preeclampsia. Several groups (Jayet et al., 2010; Lazdam et al., 2010; Kvehaugen et al., 2011; Davis et al., 2012a,b; Lawlor et al., 2012), including ours (Escudero and Sobrevia, 2008; Escudero et al., 2012), have presented evidence of endothelial dysfunction in the feto-placental circulation in preeclampsia, which may be a precursor to the longterm complications observed in offspring born of preeclamptic pregnancies.

ENDOTHELIAL DYSFUNCTION AND IMPAIRED ANGIOGENESIS IN OFFSPRING BORN FROM PREECLAMPTIC PREGNANCIES

Endothelial dysfunction is a pathological state characterized by an imbalance between vasodilators and vasoconstrictors produced by (or acting on) the endothelium (Brunner et al., 2005). Infants born of preeclamptic pregnancies have evidence of endothelial dysfunction shortly after delivery and months to years later (Davis et al., 2012a,b; Sobrevia et al., 2012; Wadsack et al., 2012). For instance, reduced flow-mediated vasodilatation (a hallmark of endothelial dysfunction) has been reported in children born from preeclamptic pregnancies as compared to children born from normotensive pregnancies (Jayet et al., 2010; Lazdam et al., 2010; Kvehaugen et al., 2011; Davis et al., 2012b). In animal studies using mice, male offspring born from mothers with preeclamptic-like syndrome, generated by administration of adenovirus carrying sFlt-1, exhibited high blood pressure (Lu et al., 2007a,b) and increased vascular reactivity (Byers et al., 2009; Bytautiene et al., 2011) compared to controls.

It is also clear that endothelial cells are main contributors to angiogenesis (Shibuya, 2006; Escudero et al., 2009), which leads to the growth of new blood vessels from pre-existing ones. The endothelium participates in angiogenesis through several processes, which include cell proliferation/migration, tube formation, as well as synthesis and release of pro-angiogenic factors including VEGF (Shibuya, 2013). In addition, neovasculogenesis, a process of blood vessel formation occurring by de novo production of endothelial cells, can occur not only at the embryonic stage but also in adult life (Risau, 1997). Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) play a critical role in postnatal blood vessel formation and vascular homeostasis. In preeclampsia, impaired feto-placental angiogenesis (Escudero et al., 2009, 2012, 2014) and neovasculogenesis (due to the reduced number of EPCs found in umbilical cord blood (Kwon et al., 2007; Xia et al., 2007; Monga et al., 2012) may be a result of endothelial dysfunction.

Reduced placental levels of several pro-angiogenic factors have been reported in the feto-placental circulation in early-onset preeclampsia (EOPE) when these are compared to late-onset preeclampsia (LOPE) or to age-matched controls (Gellhaus et al., 2006; Junus et al., 2012). Microarray analysis reveals lower expression of at least two angiogenesis-associated transcripts (Egfl7 and Acvrl1) in EOPE compared to LOPE or age-matched controls (Junus et al., 2012). Recently, we have reported that the proliferation/migration of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) is reduced in EOPE compared to LOPE or controls, whereas cells from LOPE exhibit elevated proliferation/migration compared to controls (Escudero et al., 2012). These reports suggest that angiogenesis could be modified in the feto-placental circulation in preeclampsia.

The mechanisms underlying impaired neovascularization in feto-placental circulation during preeclampsia are under investigation and may be associated with the reduced numbers of EPCs observed in umbilical blood (Kwon et al., 2007; Xia et al., 2007; Monga et al., 2012), an increase in circulating anti-angiogenic factors such as sFlt-1 (Staff et al., 2005; Tsao et al., 2005) and soluble endoglin (sEnd; Staff et al., 2007), or reduced expression and activity of pro-angiogenic signals such as VEGF (Lyall et al., 1997; Andraweera et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012) or adenosine (Escudero et al., 2012). As presented in **Figure 1**, this imbalance is manifested mainly by elevation of sFlt-1and sEnd, associated with reduced numbers of EPCs, which may nullify pro-angiogenic signals from VEGF and placental growth factor (PIGF).

Several prior studies have examined feto-placental tissue; however, few studies (see for instance Staff et al., 2005; Tsao et al., 2005; Kvehaugen et al., 2010, 2011) have assessed endothelial dysfunction postnatally in newborn infants or children exposed to



expression and/or action of pro-angiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), placental growth factor (PIGF), adenosine, nitric oxide (NO), angiopoietin 1 (Ang1) and 2 (Ang2), and angiopoietin tyrosine kinase (Tie2), as well as reduction in the number of endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) exhibited in umbilical blood derived from preeclamptic pregnancies. On the other hand, elevated levels of anti-angiogenic factors such as soluble receptor type 1 of VEGF (sFIt-1) and soluble endoglin receptor (sEnd) have been also reported in umbilical circulation from preeclampsia.

preeclampsia. Considering that placental blood vessels on the fetal side form a continuous network with fetal systemic circulation, it is pertinent to ask whether offspring exposed to preeclampsia exhibit endothelial dysfunction and impaired angiogenesis after birth.

To the best of our knowledge, there is no direct answer to this question. However, indirect evidence includes increased concentrations of sFlt-1 in the fetus from preeclamptic pregnancies as measured in umbilical cord blood (Staff et al., 2005; Tsao et al., 2005). Offspring with high blood pressure whose parents also had high blood pressure showed fewer capillaries in the dorsum of the finger compared with either offspring with low blood pressure whose parents were either normotensive or hypertensive or hypertensive offspring whose parents were normotensive (Noon et al., 1997). More recently, Yu et al. (2012) reported that children born from preeclamptic pregnancies exhibited a 45% reduction in the risk of retinopathy of prematurity, a well-described example of pathological angiogenesis in premature infants, compared to preterm babies born from normotensive pregnancies. Moreover, Stark et al. (2009), studying blood flow immediately after birth in the microcirculation of children born from preeclamptic pregnancies, found altered fetal microvascular structure and function, particularly in male newborns.

In animal studies, at postnatal day 7, rat pups from spontaneously hypertensive mothers, exposed to hypoxic-ischemic brain injury, exhibited less brain damage than pups from normotensive mothers (Letourneur et al., 2012). Interestingly, this apparently protective phenomenon was associated with deficits in motor coordination and spatial learning in pups from hypertensive, compared to normotensive mothers. These results could be interpreted as a consequence of impaired angiogenesis. This could reduce the area of the lesion but also impair tissue recovery after ischemic insult in the brain. Therefore, it is plausible that offspring born from preeclamptic pregnancies may exhibit reduced angiogenic processes after birth, which may lead to cardiovascular complications later in life.

The latter concept is supported by the following findings: (1) VEGFR2 gene expression decreases with development (Greene et al., 2011). Also, vessel branching in the brain increases until 10 days postpartum and stabilizes to adult levels between days 10 and 25 in mice (Harb et al., 2013); (2) mature (4-5 month old) mouse brains lose their ability to undergo angiogenesis in response to hypoxia (Harb et al., 2013), suggesting that the process of angiogenesis, even in stressful conditions, is limited after birth; (3) VEGF production and activity are both impaired in the feto-placental circulation during preeclampsia (Lyall et al., 1997; Andraweera et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012); (4) Inhibition of angiogenesis with humanized antibodies targeting VEGF or orally active small tyrosine kinase inhibitors targeting VEGF receptors is commonly associated with severe hypertension (Lankhorst et al., 2013); (5) Loss of microvessel growth has been reported to precede elevations in blood pressure (Murfee and Schmid-Schonbein, 2008); (6) Programming of elevated blood pressure in the offspring has been associated with a reduced angiogenic capacity of vessels cultured in vitro (Pladys et al., 2005). Taking all these data into account, we believe that abnormal angiogenic processes present after birth in offspring born from preeclamptic pregnancies may contribute to elevation in blood pressure later in life.

OVERVIEW OF ADENOSINE RECEPTORS ADENOSINE RECEPTORS AND ANGIOGENESIS

Adenosine is a purinergic nucleoside which controls several physiological processes, including angiogenesis and vasculogenesis. Adenosine activates a family of G-coupled adenosine receptors, A_1AR , $A_{2A}AR$, $A_{2B}AR$, and A_3AR (Olah and Stiles, 2000; Jacobson and Gao, 2006). All of the adenosine receptors have been implicated in the modulation of angiogenesis (see **Table 1**). Briefly, stimulation of A_1AR on embryonic EPCs promotes their adherence to the vascular endothelium, suggesting an important role for this receptor subtype in vasculogenesis (Ryzhov et al., 2008). A_1AR have also been reported to upregulate VEGF production from monocytes, thus promoting angiogenesis (Clark et al., 2007).

Depending on the tissue or cell studied, $A_{2A}AR$ and $A_{2B}AR$ can play a dominant role in the regulation of angiogenic factors. For example, $A_{2B}AR$ upregulates the pro-angiogenic factors VEGF, basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), insulinlike factor-1, and interleukin 8 (IL-8) in human microvascular endothelial cells (Grant et al., 1999; Feoktistov et al., 2002). Conversely, $A_{2A}AR$ is reported to upregulate VEGF in macrophages (Leibovich et al., 2002; Pinhal-Enfield et al., 2003). Stimulation of A₃AR in mast cells and some tumors can result in upregulation of pro-angiogenic factors, complementing the actions of adenosine mediated via $A_{2B}AR$ (Feoktistov et al., 2003). Of interest, stimulation of $A_{2A}AR$ in HMEC-1 inhibits the release of the antiangiogenic factor thrombospondin 1, providing yet another means by which adenosine may regulate angiogenesis (Desai et al., 2005; see **Table 1**).

While $A_{2A}AR$ and $A_{2B}AR$ have been shown to mediate the proliferative actions of adenosine in human retinal microvascular endothelial cells (Grant et al., 1999, 2001), HUVEC (Feoktistov et al., 2004; Escudero et al., 2012), or porcine coronary artery and rat aortic endothelial cells (Dubey et al., 2002), it remains unclear whether A_1AR and A_3AR are functionally expressed and what role, if any, they play in endothelial cells (Wyatt et al., 2002; Schaddelee et al., 2003).

ADENOSINE RECEPTORS AND INTRACELLULAR PATHWAYS DURING ANGIOGENESIS

Although some data suggest that cAMP may play a role in the pro-angiogenic effects of adenosine in certain cells (Takagi et al., 1996), other studies show that upregulation of angiogenic factors is mediated via coupling to Gq, possibly involving mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways (Grant et al., 1999, 2001; Feoktistov et al., 2002; Ryzhov et al., 2014). Further studies, using HMEC-1 demonstrated that adenosine receptor-dependent upregulation of VEGF production was associated with an increase in VEGF transcription, activator protein 1 (AP-1) activity and transcription factor JunB (JunB) accumulation (Ryzhov et al., 2014).

Mechanistically, $A_{2B}AR$ which are coupled to both Gs and Gq proteins (Feoktistov and Biaggioni, 1995) increase JunB protein levels and VEGF production via stimulation of protein lipase C and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), which are possibly linked by the calcium diacylglycerol guanine nucleotide exchange factor (CalDAG-GEF)–Ras-proximate-1 (Rap1) pathway (Ryzhov et al., 2014). These effects were protein kinase A (PKA)-independent because the PKA inhibitors had no effect on the $A_{2B}AR$ -dependent increase in JunB protein levels and VEGF production. Because VEGF secretion and reporter promoter activity induced by the adenosine analog 5'-*N*-ethylcarboxamido-adenosine (NECA) were inhibited by the expression of a dominant, negative JunB or by JunB knockdown, these data suggest an important role for the A_{2B}

Table 1 | Summary of participation of adenosine receptor in angiogenesis using human cells.

AR	K _d (nM)	Angiogenic process	Cell type	Reference
A ₁	3–30	û Migration	EPC	Ryzhov et al. (2008)
A _{2A}	1–20	VEGF expression	Macrophages	Pinhal-Enfield etal. (2003), Ernens etal. (2010)
		ulletThrombospondin 1 expression	HMVEC	Desai et al. (2005)
		↓ sFlt-1 release	Macrophages	Leonard et al. (2011)
		企 mFlt-1 expression	Macrophages	Leonard et al. (2011)
		$\boldsymbol{\Omega}$ Proliferation/migration and VEGF expression	HUVEC	Escudero et al. (2012)
A _{2B}	5.000-20.000	û Permeability	HUVEC-PMN	Lennon et al. (1998)
		☆ VEGF expression	HMVEC	Ryzhov et al. (2014)
		① Migration	HREC	Afzal et al. (2003)
		☆ VEGF, IL-8 and bFGF expression	HMEC-1	Feoktistov et al. (2002)
		û Migration	EPC	Rolland-Turner et al. (2013)
		☆ VEGF and IL-8 expression	Foam cell	Gessi et al. (2010)
		☆ IL-8 secretion	Melanoma cells, HT29	Merighi et al. (2007, 2009)
		☆ VEGF expression	HUVEC under hypoxia	Feoktistov et al. (2004)
		☆VEGF and IL-8 expression	HMEC-1	Feoktistov et al. (2003)
		û Proliferation/migration and tube formation and VEGF expression	HREC	Grant et al. (1999, 2001)
A ₃	> 1.000		HUVEC	Kim et al. (2013)
		☆VEGF and IL-8 expression	Foam cell	Gessi et al. (2010)
		☆ VEGF and IL-8 expression	Melanoma cells	Merighi et al. (2009)
		爺VEGF expression	HT29	Merighi et al. (2007)
		û Angiopoietin-2 expression	HMEC-1	Feoktistov et al. (2003)

K_d (nM) for adenosine. VEGF; vascular endothelial growth factor; sFlt-1, soluble; mFlt-1, membrane-linked receptor type 1 for VEGF; IL-8, Interleukin 8; bFGF; basic fibroblast growth factor; HMVEC, human microvascular endothelial cells; HUVEC, human umbilical vein endothelial cells; PMN, polymorphonuclear leukocyte; HREC, human retinal endothelial cells; HMEC-1, human microvascular endothelial cell line 1; EPC, endothelial progenitor cells; HT-29, human colon adenocarcinoma. Increase (ψ) of pro or anti-angiogenic processes; AR, adenosine receptor.

receptor-dependent upregulation of JunB in VEGF production in various cell types, including endothelial cells (Ryzhov et al., 2014).

Another study, in HUVEC, reported that adenosine-mediated activation of ERK may involve an exchange protein activated by cAMP (Epac), a component of a family of cAMP-activated guanine nucleotide exchange factors for Rap GTPases (Fang and Olah, 2007). Thus, A_{2B}AR, coupled to G α_s promotes activation of adenylyl cyclase and an increase in intracellular cAMP. In turn, cAMP activates Epac 1, which may then activate a cascade of RapGTPase, B-Raf, and finally, ERK (Fang and Olah, 2007), demonstrating an alternative pathway for ERK activation involved in upregulation of pro-angiogenic proteins.

In addition to JunB, the mediators downstream of ERK and p38 MAPK activation may include molecules such as hypoxia inducible factor type 1 α (HIF-1 α) and/or nitric oxide (NO). Using foam cells generated in vitro, Gessi et al. (2010) found that activation of A3AR, A2BAR, and to a lesser extent, the A_{2A} subtypes were associated with the production of VEGF induced by adenosine and hypoxia. This last effect was dependent on activation of ERK, p38 MAPK, Akt, and HIF-1a. Furthermore, adenosine has been reported to increase the synthesis of the angiogenic modulator NO in some, but not all, cultured endothelial cells (Sobrevia et al., 1996; Li et al., 1998; Wyatt et al., 2002). Whether, adenosine receptor-mediated activation of ERK-MAPK-HIF-1a increases NO is unknown. But, it has been reported that NO promotes a regulatory loop with ERK activation/deactivation (Schieke et al., 1999) and stabilization of HIF-1a and promotes HIF-1a binding to DNA (Kimura et al., 2000).

EXPRESSION OF ADENOSINE RECEPTORS IN ENDOTHELIAL CELLS DURING HYPOXIA

The expression of adenosine receptor subtypes and their function are subject to dynamic regulation by hypoxia (Bshesh et al., 2002; Eltzschig et al., 2003; Feoktistov et al., 2004). Because the $A_{2B}AR$ promoter contains a functional binding site for HIF-1 α (Kong et al., 2006), the onset of hypoxia strongly induces $A_{2B}AR$ expression in different cell types including human dermal microvascular endothelial cells (Eltzschig et al., 2003), and HUVEC (Feoktistov et al., 2004). In addition, elevated expression of $A_{2A}AR$ has also been reported after exposure to hypoxia in human placental homogenate (Von Versen-Hoynck et al., 2009), fetal chromaffin-derived cell line (Brown et al., 2011), and human lung endothelial cells, while no evidence of $A_{2A}AR$ upregulation was seen in mouse endothelial cells (Ahmad et al., 2009).

Interestingly, despite the fact that all adenosine receptors contain a hypoxia response element in their promoters (St. Hilaire et al., 2009), regulation via HIF is differentially modulated. Whereas $A_{2B}AR$ is regulated by HIF-1 α , $A_{2A}AR$ is regulated by HIF-2 α , suggesting that transcriptional regulation might be part of the switch of $A_{2A}AR$ toward $A_{2B}AR$ expression observed in HUVEC exposed to hypoxia (Feoktistov et al., 2004). This switch may have important functional implications for regulation of angiogenesis. For example, in HUVEC,

adenosine does not stimulate VEGF secretion under normoxic conditions, but hypoxia increases the expression of $A_{2B}AR$, which are then able to stimulate VEGF release (Feoktistov et al., 2004). Therefore, we could speculate that switching the expression of adenosine receptor toward $A_{2B}AR$ rather than $A_{2A}AR$ during hypoxia in the endothelium may offer some advantages in the angiogenic process, since high levels of adenosine may downregulate activation and/or expression of $A_{2B}AR$ as mechanisms of desensitization. But at the same time, upregulation of $A_{2B}AR$ will enhance or maintain the pro-angiogenic capacity of adenosine in conditions were high levels of this autocoid are expected. It is likely that this phenomenon may occur in preeclampsia.

ADENOSINE, ANGIOGENESIS, AND PREECLAMPSIA ADENOSINE LEVELS DURING PREECLAMPSIA

The plasma level of adenosine is finely regulated by a series of enzymes responsible for synthesis and catabolism (see details in Escudero and Sobrevia, 2009). Compared with non-pregnant women, normal, pregnant women exhibit increased synthesis, but reduced catabolism, of adenosine (Yoneyama et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2007). Several studies have described high adenosine levels in both maternal (Yoneyama et al., 2001, 2002a,b,c) and fetal blood (Yoneyama et al., 1996; Espinoza et al., 2011; Escudero and Sobrevia, 2012) during preeclampsia, particularly in severe preeclampsia, compared with normal pregnancies (Yoneyama et al., 1996; Espinoza et al., 2011; Escudero and Sobrevia, 2012). Unexpectedly, these high levels are associated with high adenosine catabolism via adenosine deaminase 2 (ADA2; Yoneyama et al., 2002a; Kafkasli et al., 2006) as well as elevated adenosine uptake (Escudero et al., 2008). The causes and consequences of a high extracellular adenosine level in both maternal and fetal circulation during preeclampsia are unclear; however, it may be explained by an adaptive mechanism (Casanello et al., 2007; Escudero and Sobrevia, 2008, 2009, 2012; Escudero et al., 2009) associated with vasodilation or angiogenesis in preeclamptic placenta as occurs in other tissues, such as heart, muscle, or brain, in unfavorable conditions such as hypoxia (Eckle et al., 2007; Loffler et al., 2007).

The levels of adenosine in umbilical vein blood in preeclampsia (1.7 vs. 0.5 µmol/L, preeclampsia vs. normal pregnancy; Yoneyama et al., 1996; Espinoza et al., 2011) and in the culture medium of human placental microvascular endothelial cells (hPMEC) from preeclamptic pregnancies (2.7 vs. $0.6 \,\mu$ mol/L) are at least three times higher than in normal pregnancy (Escudero et al., 2008), making it likely that, in preeclampsia, all adenosine receptors are likely to be stimulated (Jacobson and Gao, 2006). However, only a few reports have described the effect of preeclampsia on the expression and function of adenosine receptors (Escudero et al., 2008, 2012; Kim et al., 2008; Von Versen-Hoynck et al., 2009). Thus, reduced expression of A2AAR, without changes in A2BAR (Escudero et al., 2008), was found in hPMEC isolated from preeclamptic placentas, whereas reduced A2AAR (Escudero et al., 2012) but higher A2BAR (Acurio et al., 2014) expression levels were found in HUVEC from preeclampsia. Yet, increased levels of all adenosine receptors have been reported in placental homogenate from preeclamptic placentas compared with normal pregnancy (Von Versen-Hoynck et al., 2009).

ADENOSINE RECEPTOR ACTIVATION IN PREECLAMPSIA

It has been shown that activation of $A_{2A}AR$ leads to reduction in adenosine uptake by the equilibrative nucleotide transporter type 1 (hENT1) and hENT2, whereas $A_{2B}AR$ activation increases hENT2-mediated adenosine transport in cells from preeclamptic placentas (Escudero et al., 2008). Therefore, during preeclampsia, activation of adenosine receptors may control adenosine transport and, hence, extracellular adenosine levels. However, because adenosine levels are increased despite the elevation of total adenosine uptake, it is expected that the production of adenosine from sources such ATP or cell debris is higher in preeclampsia than in normal pregnancy (Spaans et al., 2014).

Recently, we observed reduced protein abundance of A2AAR in HUVEC derived from EOPE, but non-significant changes in LOPE, compared with cells from normal pregnancy. These findings were associated with a basal (i.e., without any treatment) reduction in cell migration/proliferation of HUVEC in EOPE compared with normal pregnancy or LOPE (Escudero et al., 2012). In addition, CGS-21680 (an A2AAR agonist) and NECA significantly increased HUVEC migration/proliferation in normal pregnancy, LOPE, and EOPE. However, considering that cells from EOPE exhibited the lowest migration/proliferation in the basal conditions, the magnitude of response to both adenosine receptor agonists in migration and proliferation tends to be higher in cells from EOPE than those from others groups. In agreement with these results, VEGF expression was significantly lower in HUVEC from EOPE, but higher in LOPE, compared to normal pregnancy. Also, CGS-21680 increases the protein abundance of VEGF in normal and EOPE-derived cells, an effect blocked by the A2AAR antagonist ZM-241385. Nevertheless, CGS-21680 did not affect VEGF expression in HUVEC from LOPE, but ZM-241385 led to a reduction (41 \pm 6%, p < 0.05) in the level of this protein compared to corresponding levels at basal condition, suggesting that A_{2A}AR is activated at basal condition in LOPE. Thus, A2AAR-mediated HUVEC proliferation and migration was associated with VEGF synthesis in normal pregnancy, LOPE, and EOPE.

To elucidate potential intracellular pathways related to A_{2A}AR activation, we determined that CGS-21680 increased the synthesis of NO as evidenced by activation of eNOS (i.e., the p-eNOS/eNOS ratio) and nitrite and nitrotyrosine levels in HUVEC from normal pregnancies and EOPE, but not in LOPE. The stimulatory effect observed in normal and EOPE cells was blocked by ZM-241385 co-incubation. In contrast, ZM-241385 reduced NO synthesis in LOPE cells compared to non-treated controls. Furthermore, using the non-selective nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, L-NAME, we found a significant reduction in the HUVEC migration/proliferation responses and VEGF protein levels in cells from normal pregnancies and LOPE, but not in EOPE cells stimulated with CGS-21680.

Thus, our study demonstrated that activation of $A_{2A}AR$ is associated with the following cascade: eNOS activation (i.e., ser¹¹⁷⁷ phosphorylation), NO synthesis, nitrotyrosine formation, VEGF expression, and cell proliferation/migration in normal pregnancy. However, cells derived from EOPE and LOPE were different in several aspects. Whereas EOPE cells exhibited low $A_{2A}AR$ expression and reduction of NO/VEGF synthesis and cell proliferation/migration; LOPE cells demonstrated increased cell proliferation/migration, mediated in part through the same pathway (see **Figure 2**). Existence of this pathway was recently confirmed using selective shRNA for $A_{2A}AR$ in HUVEC. Knockdown of $A_{2A}AR$ was associated with reduced formation of intracellular cAMP, NO metabolites, VEGF protein level, and the capacity for tube formation compared with controls (unpublished results).

As stated before, adenosine-dependent angiogenesis can be regulated by all four adenosine receptors. There is little information on the role of $A_{2B}AR$ in the angiogenic process during preeclampsia, whereas the participation of A_1AR and A_3AR in this process is unknown. In primary cultures of hPMEC, a cell type with high pro-angiogenic capacity compared to HUVEC (Dye et al., 2004), we found that $A_{2B}AR$ may be constitutively activated in cells from preeclamptic placentas, since the use of $A_{2A}/A_{2B}AR$ inhibitors in non-stimulated cells decreases adenosine uptake (Escudero et al., 2008). More recently, we found that activation of $A_{2B}AR$ in HUVEC accounts for at least 30% of the pro-proliferative response mediated by adenosine or NECA (Acurio et al., 2014). These data agree with prior reports (Feoktistov et al., 2002, 2004) that exposure of HUVEC to hypoxia increases the expression of $A_{2B}AR$, which is then able to stimulate VEGF release.

HYPOTHESIS FOR A ROLE FOR ADENOSINE IN PREECLAMPSIA

In view of available information, we can speculate that during preeclampsia, a condition associated with reduction in the expression and activity of A2AAR, a compensatory increase in the expression and/or activity of A2BAR occurs that tends to compensate the impaired adenosine-mediated pro-angiogenic process. Moreover, since adenosine is pro-angiogenic, the reduction in A2AAR expression and down activation of A2AAR-dependent intracellular pathway might be part of the apparent "adenosine paradox," in which increased adenosine levels do not stimulate angiogenesis in preeclampsia. The mechanism underlying this phenomenon is unclear, but may be associated with the capacity of adenosine to regulate the expression of its receptors, as exhibited in cells such as cardiomyocytes (Headrick et al., 2013) or PC12 cells (Saitoh et al., 1994). In particular, PC12 exposure to A2AAR agonists reduces ADORA2 gene expression (Saitoh et al., 1994), suggesting a transcriptional regulation of A2AAR by adenosine. Whether similar regulation is present in endothelium is unknown, but this is a possible mechanism for the pathophysiological deregulation observed in preeclampsia.

Although the intracellular signaling pathway related to adenosine receptor activation is an area of active research, only our recent study suggested a potential adenosine receptor-dependent mechanism in preeclampsia. On the basis of this study, we propose a model (**Figure 2**), in which low expression of $A_{2A}AR$ in EOPE leads to reduction in NO and VEGF expression (Escudero et al., 2012). The implication of these alterations for feto-placental angiogenesis is poorly understood, but might involve changes in the activation of HIF (Kimura et al., 2002) and changes in the promoter activity of several proteins, including anti-angiogenic factors such as thrombospondin 2 (MacLauchlan et al., 2011) or



pro-angiogenic factors like VEGF (Kimura et al., 2002; Feoktistov et al., 2004). Considering that NO can cause nitration of tyrosine residues on HIF-1 α (Riano et al., 2011), and may contribute to stabilization, we propose that the reduced adenosine-mediated NO synthesis observed in EOPE might be associated with impaired HIF-dependent VEGF expression (see **Figure 3**). Clearly, more studies are necessary to understand all the processes involved in these alterations.

Another question that needs to be answered is whether impaired adenosine-mediated angiogenesis in the feto-placental circulation of preeclamptic pregnancies persists after birth. In this context, Coney and Marshall (2010) have demonstrated that prenatal hypoxia has long-lasting effects on vascular function in the skeletal muscle of adult male rats. In particular, in a group of adult males, they investigated how chronic systemic hypoxia in utero (CHU) affects the cardiovascular response evoked by acute, systemic hypoxia. One of the most intriguing results was the fact that the overall magnitude of vasodilator response evoked in muscle by acute systemic hypoxia is similar in CHU and normoxic rats, but the mechanisms underlying the response appear to be different. Thus, they conclude that, whereas in normoxia, vasodilatory response is associated with the activation of endothelial A1AR and NO-dependent effects, in CHU, participation of A1AR is limited, and vasodilatory response in the muscle is replaced by factors other than adenosine. Moreover, it has been reported that mice deficient in A2AAR (KO-A2AAR) exhibit no significant difference in systemic blood pressure compared to wild-type animals, but they do develop pulmonary artery hypertension and pulmonary vascular remodeling (Xu et al., 2011). Thus, these studies demonstrate how the adenosine-impaired angiogenesis and vascular remodeling observed in pathological pregnancies such as preeclampsia may be related to future cardiovascular risk.

CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

That fetuses exposed to preeclampsia are at increased risk to develop hypertension later in life has been associated with the occurrence of endothelial dysfunction. Since the endothelium is one of the main factors in the normal process of angiogenesis, an impaired endothelial/angiogenic response in offspring from preeclamptic pregnancies may constitute the underlying mechanism associated with hypertension. On the other hand, preeclampsia is associated with elevated levels of adenosine and low expression and response of $A_{2A}AR$, but high expression of $A_{2B}AR$, defects that might be involved in abnormal placental and newborn angiogenic processes. Then, adenosine may constitute a potential new target for improving placental angiogenesis. Furthermore, impairment of those mechanisms may contribute to susceptibility to cardiovascular diseases, including hypertension, in children exposed to preeclampsia.

As presented in this review, there are many questions that need to be answered regarding adenosine-mediated angiogenesis in preeclampsia. Therefore, future studies should consider at least the following inquires. Why $A_{2A}AR$ expression is reduced in



preeclampsia? Future studies should consider analysis of translational and transcriptional regulation of A2AAR expression in endothelial cells derived from preeclampsia. Also, it should be determined whether the reduction in total A2AAR levels observed in preeclampsia, leads to a reduction in the cell surface expression and in the activation of this receptor. Studies are also needed to investigate how cross-talk between intracellular pathways related to adenosine receptor activation might change during preeclampsia; and how these phenomena might generate a compensatory response via other adenosine receptors including A2BAR. As highlighted in this review, it is also necessary to determine whether adenosine-mediated angiogenesis is present after birth in newborns and children exposed to preeclampsia. These studies are difficult to perform in humans due to ethical and technical issues; but certainly animal models might help. Mice deficient in each one of the adenosine receptors have been developed, providing an excellent model to address these last questions. We hope that this review will contribute to awareness, within the scientific community, of this important issue and stimulate further investigation in this area.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to the midwives and medical staff in the Obstetric and Gynecology Department of Hospital Clinico Herminda Martin in Chillan, Chile. They thank all research staff of the Vascular Physiology Laboratory and the Group of Investigation of Tumor Angiogenesis (GIANT) of the Universidad del Bio Bio for their technical support. They also appreciate the technical support given by researchers in the Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health (GRIVAS Health) and the editorial help given by Mr. Bruce Campbell and Ms. Lee Rager from the Magee-Womens Research Institute. Fondecyt Regular 1100684, Conicyt 79112027, DIUBB 122109 GI/EF, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute R01HL095787, and National Cancer Institute R01CA138923 supported this work.

REFERENCES

- ACOG, Task Force of Hypertension in Pregnancy. (2013). *Hypertension in Pregnancy.* Washington. American College of Obstetrician and Gynecologists.
- Acurio, J., Troncoso, F., Bertoglia, P., Salomon, C., Aguayo, C., Sobrevia, L., et al. (2014). Potential role of A2B adenosine receptors on proliferation/migration of fetal endothelium derived from pre-eclamptic pregnancies. *BioMed Res. Int.* 2014:274507. doi: 10.1155/2014/274507
- Afzal, A., Shaw, L. C., Caballero, S., Spoerri, P. E., Lewin, A. S., Zeng, D., et al. (2003). Reduction in preretinal neovascularization by ribozymes that cleave the A2B adenosine receptor mRNA. *Circ. Res.* 93, 500–506. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000091260.78959.BC
- Ahmad, A., Ahmad, S., Glover, L., Miller, S. M., Shannon, J. M., Guo, X., et al. (2009). Adenosine A2A receptor is a unique angiogenic target of HIF-2alpha in pulmonary endothelial cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 10684–10689. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901326106

- Andraweera, P. H., Dekker, G. A., Laurence, J. A., and Roberts, C. T. (2012). Placental expression of VEGF family mRNA in adverse pregnancy outcomes. *Placenta* 33, 467–472. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.02.013
- Belfort, M. B., Gillman, M. W., and Mccormick, M. C. (2012). Prenatal and perinatal predictors of blood pressure at school age in former preterm, low birth weight infants. J. Perinatol. 32, 265–269. doi: 10.1038/jp.2011.88
- Brown, S. T., Reyes, E. P., and Nurse, C. A. (2011). Chronic hypoxia upregulates adenosine 2A receptor expression in chromaffin cells via hypoxia inducible factor-2alpha: role in modulating secretion. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 412, 466– 472. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.07.122
- Brunner, H., Cockcroft, J. R., Deanfield, J., Donald, A., Ferrannini, E., Halcox, J., et al. (2005). Endothelial function and dysfunction. Part II: association with cardiovascular risk factors and diseases. A statement by the Working Group on Endothelins and Endothelial Factors of the European Society of Hypertension. *J. Hypertens.* 23, 233–246. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200502000-00001
- Bshesh, K., Zhao, B., Spight, D., Biaggioni, I., Feokistov, I., Denenberg, A., et al. (2002). The A2A receptor mediates an endogenous regulatory pathway of cytokine expression in THP-1 cells. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 72, 1027–1036.
- Burton, G. J., Charnock-Jones, D. S., and Jauniaux, E. (2009a). Regulation of vascular growth and function in the human placenta. *Reproduction* 138, 895–902. doi: 10.1530/REP-09-0092
- Burton, G. J., Woods, A. W., Jauniaux, E., and Kingdom, J. C. (2009b). Rheological and physiological consequences of conversion of the maternal spiral arteries for uteroplacental blood flow during human pregnancy. *Placenta* 30, 473–482. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.02.009
- Byers, B. D., Betancourt, A., Lu, F., Hankins, G. D., Longo, M., Saade, G. R., et al. (2009). The effect of prepregnancy obesity and sFlt-1-induced preeclampsia-like syndrome on fetal programming of adult vascular function in a mouse model. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 200, 432.e431–e437. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2009.01.044
- Bytautiene, E., Tamayo, E., Kechichian, T., Drever, N., Gamble, P., Hankins, G. D., et al. (2011). Prepregnancy obesity and sFlt1-induced preeclampsia in mice: developmental programming model of metabolic syndrome. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 204, 398.e1–398.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2011.02.031
- Casanello, P., Escudero, C., and Sobrevia, L. (2007). Equilibrative nucleoside (ENTs) and cationic amino acid (CATs) transporters: implications in foetal endothelial dysfunction in human pregnancy diseases. *Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol.* 5, 69–84. doi: 10.2174/157016107779317198
- Chen, X., and Wang, Y. (2008). Tracking of blood pressure from childhood to adulthood: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. *Circulation* 117, 3171–3180. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.730366
- Cheng, S. W., Chou, H. C., Tsou, K. I., Fang, L. J., and Tsao, P. N. (2004). Delivery before 32 weeks of gestation for maternal pre-eclampsia: neonatal outcome and 2-year developmental outcome. *Early Hum. Dev.* 76, 39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2003.10.004
- Clark, A. N., Youkey, R., Liu, X., Jia, L., Blatt, R., Day, Y. J., et al. (2007). A1 adenosine receptor activation promotes angiogenesis and release of VEGF from monocytes. *Circ. Res.* 101, 1130–1138. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.107.150110
- Coney, A. M., and Marshall, J. M. (2010). Effects of maternal hypoxia on muscle vasodilatation evoked by acute systemic hypoxia in adult rat offspring: changed roles of adenosine and A1 receptors. *J. Physiol.* 588, 5115–5125. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2010.198275
- Davis, E. F., Lazdam, M., Lewandowski, A. J., Worton, S. A., Kelly, B., Kenworthy, Y., et al. (2012a). Cardiovascular risk factors in children and young adults born to preeclamptic pregnancies: a systematic review. *Pediatrics* 129, e1552–e1561. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-3093
- Davis, E. F., Newton, L., Lewandowski, A. J., Lazdam, M., Kelly, B. A., Kyriakou, T., et al. (2012b). Pre-eclampsia and offspring cardiovascular health: mechanistic insights from experimental studies. *Clin. Sci.* 123, 53–72. doi: 10.1042/CS20110627
- Desai, A., Victor-Vega, C., Gadangi, S., Montesinos, M. C., Chu, C. C., and Cronstein, B. N. (2005). Adenosine A2A receptor stimulation increases angiogenesis by down-regulating production of the antiangiogenic matrix protein thrombospondin 1. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 67, 1406–1413. doi: 10.1124/mol.104.007807
- Dubey, R. K., Gillespie, D. G., and Jackson, E. K. (2002). A(2B) adenosine receptors stimulate growth of porcine and rat arterial endothelial cells. *Hypertension* 39, 530–535. doi: 10.1161/hy0202.103075
- Duley, L. (2009). The global impact of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Semin. Perinatol. 33, 130–137. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2009.02.010

- Dye, J., Lawrence, L., Linge, C., Leach, L., Firth, J., and Clark, P. (2004). Distinct patterns of microvascular endothelial cell morphology are determined by extracellular matrix composition. *Endothelium* 11, 151–167. doi: 10.1080/10623320490512093
- Eckle, T., Krahn, T., Grenz, A., Kohler, D., Mittelbronn, M., Ledent, C., et al. (2007). Cardioprotection by ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73) and A2B adenosine receptors. *Circulation* 115, 1581–1590. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.669697
- Eltzschig, H. K., Ibla, J. C., Furuta, G. T., Leonard, M. O., Jacobson, K. A., Enjyoji, K., et al. (2003). Coordinated adenine nucleotide phosphohydrolysis and nucleoside signaling in posthypoxic endothelium: role of ectonucleotidases and adenosine A2B receptors. J. Exp. Med. 198, 783–796. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030891
- Ernens, I., Leonard, F., Vausort, M., Rolland-Turner, M., Devaux, Y., and Wagner, D. R. (2010). Adenosine up-regulates vascular endothelial growth factor in human macrophages. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 392, 351–356. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.01.023
- Escudero, C., Bertoglia, P., Hernadez, M., Celis, C., Gonzalez, M., Aguayo, C., et al. (2012). Impaired A(2A) adenosine receptor/nitric oxide/VEGF signaling pathway in fetal endothelium during late- and early-onset preeclampsia. *Purinergic Signal.* doi: 10.1007/s11302-012-9341-4
- Escudero, C., Casanello, P., and Sobrevia, L. (2008). Human equilibrative nucleoside transporters 1 and 2 may be differentially modulated by A2B adenosine receptors in placenta microvascular endothelial cells from pre-eclampsia. *Placenta* 29, 816–825. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2008.06.014
- Escudero, C., Celis, C., Saez, T., San Martin, S., Valenzuela, F. J., Aguayo, C., et al. (2014). Increased placental angiogenesis in late and early onset pre-eclampsia is associated with differential activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2. *Placenta* 35, 207–215. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014.01.007
- Escudero, C., Puebla, C., Westermeier, F., and Sobrevia, L. (2009). Potential cell signalling mechanisms involved in differential placental angiogenesis in mild and severe pre-eclampsia. *Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol.* 7, 475–485. doi: 10.2174/157016109789043865
- Escudero, C., and Sobrevia, L. (2008). A hypothesis for preeclampsia: adenosine and inducible nitric oxide synthase in human placental microvascular endothelium. *Placenta* 29, 469–483. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2008.02.008
- Escudero, C., and Sobrevia, L. (2009). "Understanding physiological significance of high extracellular adenosine levels in feto-placental circulation in preeclamptic pregnancies," in *Membrane Transporters and Receptors in Disease*, eds L. Sobrevia and P. Casanello (Kerala, India: Research Signpost), 27–51.
- Escudero, C., and Sobrevia, L. (2012). Adenosine plasma levels in the fetoplacental circulation in preeclampsia. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 206, e5–e6. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2011.12.032
- Espinoza, J., Espinoza, A. F., and Power, G. G. (2011). High fetal plasma adenosine concentration: a role for the fetus in preeclampsia? *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 205, 485.e24–485.e27. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2011.06.034
- Fang, Y., and Olah, M. E. (2007). Cyclic AMP-dependent, protein kinase A-independent activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 following adenosine receptor stimulation in human umbilical vein endothelial cells: role of exchange protein activated by cAMP 1 (Epac1). J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 322, 1189–1200. doi: 10.1124/jpet.107.119933
- Feoktistov, I., and Biaggioni, I. (1995). Adenosine A2b receptors evoke interleukin-8 secretion in human mast cells. An enprofylline-sensitive mechanism with implications for asthma. J. Clin. Invest. 96, 1979–1986. doi: 10.1172/JCI118245
- Feoktistov, I., Goldstein, A. E., Ryzhov, S., Zeng, D., Belardinelli, L., Voyno-Yasenetskaya, T., et al. (2002). Differential expression of adenosine receptors in human endothelial cells: role of A2B receptors in angiogenic factor regulation. *Circ. Res.* 90, 531–538. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000012203.21416.14
- Feoktistov, I., Ryzhov, S., Goldstein, A. E., and Biaggioni, I. (2003). Mast cell-mediated stimulation of angiogenesis: cooperative interaction between A2B and A3 adenosine receptors. *Circ. Res.* 92, 485–492. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000061572.10929.2D
- Feoktistov, I., Ryzhov, S., Zhong, H., Goldstein, A. E., Matafonov, A., Zeng, D., et al. (2004). Hypoxia modulates adenosine receptors in human endothelial and smooth muscle cells toward an A2B angiogenic phenotype. *Hypertension* 44, 649–654. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000144800.21037.a5
- Gellhaus, A., Schmidt, M., Dunk, C., Lye, S. J., Kimmig, R., and Winterhager, E. (2006). Decreased expression of the angiogenic regulators CYR61 (CCN1) and NOV (CCN3) in human placenta is associated with pre-eclampsia. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 12, 389–399. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gal044

- George, E. M., Cockrell, K., Adair, T. H., and Granger, J. P. (2010). Regulation of sFlt-1 and VEGF secretion by adenosine under hypoxic conditions in rat placental villous explants. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 299, R1629–R1633. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00330.2010
- Gessi, S., Fogli, E., Sacchetto, V., Merighi, S., Varani, K., Preti, D., et al. (2010). Adenosine modulates HIF-1{alpha}, VEGF, IL-8, and foam cell formation in a human model of hypoxic foam cells. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 30, 90–97. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.194902
- Glover, V. (2011). Annual research review: prenatal stress and the origins of psychopathology: an evolutionary perspective. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 52, 356–367. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02371.x
- Gluckman, P. D., and Hanson, M. A. (2004). Living with the past: evolution, development, and patterns of disease. *Science* 305, 1733–1736. doi: 10.1126/science.1095292
- Grant, M. B., Davis, M. I., Caballero, S., Feoktistov, I., Biaggioni, I., and Belardinelli, L. (2001). Proliferation, migration, and ERK activation in human retinal endothelial cells through A(2B) adenosine receptor stimulation. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 42, 2068–2073.
- Grant, M. B., Tarnuzzer, R. W., Caballero, S., Ozeck, M. J., Davis, M. I., Spoerri, P. E., et al. (1999). Adenosine receptor activation induces vascular endothelial growth factor in human retinal endothelial cells. *Circ. Res.* 85, 699–706. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.85.8.699
- Greene, J. M., Dunaway, C. W., Bowers, S. D., Rude, B. J., Feugang, J. M., and Ryan, P. L. (2011). In vivo monitoring of fetoplacental Vegfr2 gene activity in a murine pregnancy model using a Vegfr2-luc reporter gene and bioluminescent imaging. *Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol.* 51. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-9-51
- Griffith, M. I., Mann, J. R., and Mcdermott, S. (2011). The risk of intellectual disability in children born to mothers with preeclampsia or eclampsia with partial mediation by low birth weight. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 30, 108–115. doi: 10.3109/10641955.2010.507837
- Hanson, M. A., and Gluckman, P. D. (2008). Developmental origins of health and disease: new insights. *Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 102, 90–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-7843.2007.00186.x
- Harb, R., Whiteus, C., Freitas, C., and Grutzendler, J. (2013). In vivo imaging of cerebral microvascular plasticity from birth to death. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 33, 146–156. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2012.152
- Headrick, J. P., Ashton, K. J., Rose'meyer, R. B., and Peart, J. N. (2013). Cardiovascular adenosine receptors: expression, actions and interactions. *Pharmacol. Ther.* doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2013.06.002
- Hiller, J. E., Crowther, C. A., Moore, V. A., Willson, K., and Robinson, J. S. (2007). Calcium supplementation in pregnancy and its impact on blood pressure in children and women: follow up of a randomised controlled trial. *Aust. N. Z. J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 47, 115–121. doi: 10.1111/j.1479-828X.2007. 00696.x
- Jacobson, K. A., and Gao, Z. G. (2006). Adenosine receptors as therapeutic targets. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 5, 247–264. doi: 10.1038/nrd1983
- Jayet, P. Y., Rimoldi, S. F., Stuber, T., Salmon, C. S., Hutter, D., Rexhaj, E., et al. (2010). Pulmonary and systemic vascular dysfunction in young offspring of mothers with preeclampsia. *Circulation* 122, 488–494. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULA-TIONAHA.110.941203
- Junus, K., Centlow, M., Wikstrom, A. K., Larsson, I., Hansson, S. R., and Olovsson, M. (2012). Gene expression profiling of placentae from women with earlyand late-onset pre-eclampsia: down-regulation of the angiogenesis-related genes ACVRL1 and EGFL7 in early-onset disease. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 18, 146–155. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gar067
- Kafkasli, A., Karabulut, A. B., Atmaca, R., and Laurini, R. (2006). Clinical correlation between adenosine deaminase activity and pre-eclampsia severity. J. Int. Med. Res. 34, 247–255. doi: 10.1177/147323000603400303
- Kajantie, E., Eriksson, J. G., Osmond, C., Thornburg, K., and Barker, D. J. (2009). Pre-eclampsia is associated with increased risk of stroke in the adult offspring: the Helsinki birth cohort study. *Stroke* 40, 1176–1180. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.538025
- Kim, G. D., Oh, J., Jeong, L. S., and Lee, S. K. (2013). Thio-Cl-IB-MECA, a novel A(3) adenosine receptor agonist, suppresses angiogenesis by regulating PI3K/AKT/mTOR and ERK signaling in endothelial cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 437, 79–86. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.06.040
- Kim, S. C., Park, M. J., Joo, B. S., Joo, J. K., Suh, D. S., and Lee, K. S. (2012). Decreased expressions of vascular endothelial growth factor and visfatin in the

placental bed of pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Res. 38, 665–673. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2011.01773.x

- Kim, Y. H., Hwang, H. S., Kim, Y. T., Kim, H. S., and Park, Y. W. (2008). Modulation of matrix metalloproteinase secretion by adenosine A3 receptor in preeclamptic villous explants. *Reprod. Sci.* 15, 939–949. doi: 10.1177/1933719108322431
- Kimura, H., Ogura, T., Kurashima, Y., Weisz, A., and Esumi, H. (2002). Effects of nitric oxide donors on vascular endothelial growth factor gene induction. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 296, 976–982. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(02)02029-6
- Kimura, H., Weisz, A., Kurashima, Y., Hashimoto, K., Ogura, T., D'acquisto, F., et al. (2000). Hypoxia response element of the human vascular endothelial growth factor gene mediates transcriptional regulation by nitric oxide: control of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 activity by nitric oxide. *Blood* 95, 189–197.
- Kong, T., Westerman, K. A., Faigle, M., Eltzschig, H. K., and Colgan, S. P. (2006). HIF-dependent induction of adenosine A2B receptor in hypoxia. *FASEB J.* 20, 2242–2250. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-6419com
- Krause, B., Sobrevia, L., and Casanello, P. (2009). Epigenetics: new concepts of old phenomena in vascular physiology. *Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol.* 7, 513–520. doi: 10.2174/157016109789043883
- Kvehaugen, A. S., Andersen, L. F., and Staff, A. C. (2010). Anthropometry and cardiovascular risk factors in women and offspring after pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia or diabetes mellitus. *Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand.* 89, 1478–1485. doi: 10.3109/00016349.2010.500368
- Kvehaugen, A. S., Dechend, R., Ramstad, H. B., Troisi, R., Fugelseth, D., and Staff, A. C. (2011). Endothelial function and circulating biomarkers are disturbed in women and children after preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 58, 63–69. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.172387
- Kwon, J. Y., Maeng, Y. S., Kwon, Y. G., Kim, Y. H., Kang, M. H., and Park, Y. W. (2007). Decreased endothelial progenitor cells in umbilical cord blood in severe preeclampsia. *Gynecol. Obstet. Invest.* 64, 103–108. doi: 10.1159/000100081
- Lankhorst, S., Kappers, M. H., Van Esch, J. H., Danser, A. H., and Van Den Meiracker, A. H. (2013). Hypertension during vascular endothelial growth factor inhibition: focus on nitric oxide, endothelin-1, and oxidative stress. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* doi: 10.1089/ars.2013.5244
- Lawlor, D. A., Macdonald-Wallis, C., Fraser, A., Nelson, S. M., Hingorani, A., Davey Smith, G., et al. (2012). Cardiovascular biomarkers and vascular function during childhood in the offspring of mothers with hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: findings from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. *Eur. Heart J.* 33, 335–345. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehr300
- Lazdam, M., De La Horra, A., Pitcher, A., Mannie, Z., Diesch, J., Trevitt, C., et al. (2010). Elevated blood pressure in offspring born premature to hypertensive pregnancy: is endothelial dysfunction the underlying vascular mechanism? *Hypertension* 56, 159–165. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.150235
- Lee, S. J., Hwang, H. S., Kim, B. N., Kim, M. A., Lee, J. W., Park, Y. W., et al. (2007). Changes in serum adenosine deaminase activity during normal pregnancy. J. Korean Med. Sci. 22, 718–721. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2007.22.4.718
- Leibovich, S. J., Chen, J. F., Pinhal-Enfield, G., Belem, P. C., Elson, G., Rosania, A., et al. (2002). Synergistic up-regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in murine macrophages by adenosine A(2A) receptor agonists and endotoxin. *Am. J. Pathol.* 160, 2231–2244. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)61170-4
- Lennon, P. F., Taylor, C. T., Stahl, G. L., and Colgan, S. P. (1998). Neutrophil-derived 5'-adenosine monophosphate promotes endothelial barrier function via CD73mediated conversion to adenosine and endothelial A2B receptor activation. J. Exp. Med. 188, 1433–1443. doi: 10.1084/jem.188.8.1433
- Leonard, F., Devaux, Y., Vausort, M., Ernens, I., Rolland-Turner, M., and Wagner, D. R. (2011). Adenosine modifies the balance between membrane and soluble forms of Flt-1. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 90, 199–204. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0910505
- Letourneur, A., Freret, T., Roussel, S., Boulouard, M., Divoux, D., Toutain, J., et al. (2012). Maternal hypertension during pregnancy modifies the response of the immature brain to hypoxia-ischemia: sequential MRI and behavioral investigations. *Exp. Neurol.* 233, 264–272. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2011. 10.014
- Li, J., Fenton, R. A., Wheeler, H. B., Powell, C. C., Peyton, B. D., Cutler, B. S., et al. (1998). Adenosine A2a receptors increase arterial endothelial cell nitric oxide. *J. Surg. Res.* 80, 357–364. doi: 10.1006/jsre.1998.5439
- Loffler, M., Morote-Garcia, J. C., Eltzschig, S. A., Coe, I. R., and Eltzschig, H. K. (2007). Physiological roles of vascular nucleoside transporters. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27, 1004–1013. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.106.126714

- Lu, F., Bytautiene, E., Tamayo, E., Gamble, P., Anderson, G. D., Hankins, G. D., et al. (2007a). Gender-specific effect of overexpression of sFlt-1 in pregnant mice on fetal programming of blood pressure in the offspring later in life. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 197, 418.e1–e418.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2007.06.064
- Lu, F., Longo, M., Tamayo, E., Maner, W., Al-Hendy, A., Anderson, G. D., et al. (2007b). The effect of over-expression of sFlt-1 on blood pressure and the occurrence of other manifestations of preeclampsia in unrestrained conscious pregnant mice. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 196, 396.e1–396.e7; discussion 396.e397. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2006.12.024
- Lyall, F., Young, A., Boswell, F., Kingdom, J. C., and Greer, I. A. (1997). Placental expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in placentae from pregnancies complicated by pre-eclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction does not support placental hypoxia at delivery. *Placenta* 18, 269–276. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(97)80061-6
- MacLauchlan, S., Yu, J., Parrish, M., Asoulin, T. A., Schleicher, M., Krady, M. M., et al. (2011). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase controls the expression of the angiogenesis inhibitor thrombospondin 2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, E1137–E1145. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1104357108
- Maynard, S. E., Min, J. Y., Merchan, J., Lim, K. H., Li, J., Mondal, S., et al. (2003). Excess placental soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt1) may contribute to endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, and proteinuria in preeclampsia. *J. Clin. Invest.* 111, 649–658. doi: 10.1172/JCI17189
- Merighi, S., Benini, A., Mirandola, P., Gessi, S., Varani, K., Simioni, C., et al. (2007). Caffeine inhibits adenosine-induced accumulation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha, vascular endothelial growth factor, and interleukin-8 expression in hypoxic human colon cancer cells. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 72, 395–406. doi: 10.1124/mol.106.032920
- Merighi, S., Simioni, C., Gessi, S., Varani, K., Mirandola, P., Tabrizi, M. A., et al. (2009). A(2B) and A(3) adenosine receptors modulate vascular endothelial growth factor and interleukin-8 expression in human melanoma cells treated with etoposide and doxorubicin. *Neoplasia* 11, 1064–1073.
- Monga, R., Buck, S., Sharma, P., Thomas, R., and Chouthai, N. S. (2012). Effect of preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction on endothelial progenitor cells in human umbilical cord blood. *J. Matern Fetal Neonatal. Med.* 25, 2385–2389. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2012.697228
- Murfee, W. L., and Schmid-Schonbein, G. W. (2008). Chapter 12. Structure of microvascular networks in genetic hypertension. *Methods Enzymol.* 444, 271–284. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(08)02812-7
- Murphy, S. R., Lamarca, B., Cockrell, K., Arany, M., and Granger, J. P. (2012). L-Arginine supplementation abolishes the blood pressure and endothelin response to chronic increases in plasma sFlt-1 in pregnant rats. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 302, R259–R263. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu. 00319.2011
- Noon, J. P., Walker, B. R., Webb, D. J., Shore, A. C., Holton, D. W., Edwards, H. V., et al. (1997). Impaired microvascular dilatation and capillary rarefaction in young adults with a predisposition to high blood pressure. *J. Clin. Invest.* 99, 1873–1879. doi: 10.1172/JCI119354
- Oglaend, B., Forman, M. R., Romundstad, P. R., Nilsen, S. T., and Vatten, L. J. (2009). Blood pressure in early adolescence in the offspring of preeclamptic and normotensive pregnancies. *J. Hypertens.* 27, 2051–2054. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e328330052a
- Olah, M. E., and Stiles, G. L. (2000). The role of receptor structure in determining adenosine receptor activity. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 85, 55–75. doi: 10.1016/S0163-7258(99)00051-0
- Ounsted, M., Cockburn, J., Moar, V. A., and Redman, C. W. (1983). Maternal hypertension with superimposed pre-eclampsia: effects on child development at 71/2 years. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 90, 644–649. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1983.tb09283.x
- Palmsten, K., Buka, S. L., and Michels, K. B. (2010). Maternal pregnancy-related hypertension and risk for hypertension in offspring later in life. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 116, 858–864. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181f3a1f9
- Palti, H., and Rothschild, E. (1989). Blood pressure and growth at 6 years of age among offsprings of mothers with hypertension of pregnancy. *Early Hum. Dev.* 19, 263–269. doi: 10.1016/0378-3782(89)90061-3
- Pinhal-Enfield, G., Ramanathan, M., Hasko, G., Vogel, S. N., Salzman, A. L., Boons, G. J., et al. (2003). An angiogenic switch in macrophages involving synergy between Toll-like receptors 2, 4, 7, and 9 and adenosine A(2A) receptors. *Am. J. Pathol.* 163, 711–721. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63698-X

- Pladys, P., Sennlaub, F., Brault, S., Checchin, D., Lahaie, I., Le, N. L., et al. (2005). Microvascular rarefaction and decreased angiogenesis in rats with fetal programming of hypertension associated with exposure to a low-protein diet in utero. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 289, R1580–R1588. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00031.2005
- Riano, A., Ortiz-Masia, D., Velazquez, M., Calatayud, S., Esplugues, J. V., and Barrachina, M. D. (2011). Nitric oxide induces HIF-1alpha stabilization and expression of intestinal trefoil factor in the damaged rat jejunum and modulates ulcer healing. J. Gastroenterol. 46, 565–576. doi: 10.1007/s00535-011-0374-1
- Risau, W. (1997). Mechanisms of angiogenesis. Nature 386, 671-674. doi: 10.1038/386671a0
- Roberts, J. M., and Escudero, C. (2012). The placenta in preeclampsia. *Hypertens*. *Pregnancy* 2, 72–83. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2012.01.001
- Roberts, J. M., Taylor, R. N., Musci, T. J., Rodgers, G. M., Hubel, C. A., and Mclaughlin, M. K. (1989). Preeclampsia: an endothelial cell disorder. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 161, 1200–1204. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(89)90665-0
- Rolland-Turner, M., Goretti, E., Bousquenaud, M., Leonard, F., Nicolas, C., Zhang, L., et al. (2013). Adenosine stimulates the migration of human endothelial progenitor cells. Role of CXCR4 and microRNA-150. *PLoS ONE* 8:e54135. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054135
- Ryzhov, S., Biktasova, A., Goldstein, A. E., Zhang, Q., Biaggioni, I., Dikov, M. M., et al. (2014). Role of JunB in adenosine A2B receptor-mediated vascular endothelial growth factor production. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 85, 62–73. doi: 10.1124/mol.113.088567
- Ryzhov, S., Solenkova, N. V., Goldstein, A. E., Lamparter, M., Fleenor, T., Young, P. P., et al. (2008). Adenosine receptor-mediated adhesion of endothelial progenitors to cardiac microvascular endothelial cells. *Circ. Res.* 102, 356–363. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.107.158147
- Saitoh, O., Saitoh, Y., and Nakata, H. (1994). Regulation of A2a adenosine receptor mRNA expression by agonists and forskolin in PC12 cells. *Neuroreport* 5, 1317– 1320. doi: 10.1097/00001756-199406270-00005
- Schaddelee, M. P., Voorwinden, H. L., Van Tilburg, E. W., Pateman, T. J., Ijzerman, A. P., Danhof, M., et al. (2003). Functional role of adenosine receptor subtypes in the regulation of blood–brain barrier permeability: possible implications for the design of synthetic adenosine derivatives. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 19, 13–22. doi: 10.1016/S0928-0987(03)00034-4
- Schieke, S. M., Briviba, K., Klotz, L. O., and Sies, H. (1999). Activation pattern of mitogen-activated protein kinases elicited by peroxynitrite: attenuation by selenite supplementation. *FEBS Lett.* 448, 301–303. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(99)00372-5
- Seidman, D. S., Laor, A., Gale, R., Stevenson, D. K., Mashiach, S., and Danon, Y. L. (1991). Pre-eclampsia and offspring's blood pressure, cognitive ability and physical development at 17-years-of-age. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 98, 1009–1014. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1991.tb15339.x
- Shibuya, M. (2006). Differential roles of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 and receptor-2 in angiogenesis. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 39, 469–478. doi: 10.5483/BMBRep.2006.39.5.469
- Shibuya, M. (2013). Vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptor system: physiological functions in angiogenesis and pathological roles in various diseases. *J. Biochem.* 153, 13–19. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvs136
- Sibai, B., Dekker, G., and Kupferminc, M. (2005). Pre-eclampsia. *Lancet* 365, 785–799. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)17987-2
- Sobrevia, L., Guzmán-Gutiérrez, E., Westermeier, F., Salomón, C., Arroyo, P., Palacios, E., et al. (2012). "Fetoplacental vascular pathophysiology in preeclampsia," in *Recent Research Developments in Physiology*, ed. L. Sobrevia (India: Research Signpost), 105–158.
- Sobrevia, L., Nadal, A., Yudilevich, D. L., and Mann, G. E. (1996). Activation of L-arginine transport (system y+) and nitric oxide synthase by elevated glucose and insulin in human endothelial cells. *J. Physiol.* 490(Pt 3), 775–781.
- Spaans, F., Vos, P. D., Bakker, W. W., Van Goor, H., and Faas, M. M. (2014). Danger signals from ATP and adenosine in pregnancy and preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 63, 1154–1160. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.03240
- St. Hilaire, C., Carroll, S. H., Chen, H., and Ravid, K. (2009). Mechanisms of induction of adenosine receptor genes and its functional significance. J. Cell Physiol. 218, 35–44. doi: 10.1002/jcp.21579
- Staff, A. C., Braekke, K., Harsem, N. K., Lyberg, T., and Holthe, M. R. (2005). Circulating concentrations of sFlt1 (soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1) in fetal and maternal serum during pre-eclampsia. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 122, 33–39. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2004.11.015

- Staff, A. C., Braekke, K., Johnsen, G. M., Karumanchi, S. A., and Harsem, N. K. (2007). Circulating concentrations of soluble endoglin (CD105) in fetal and maternal serum and in amniotic fluid in preeclampsia. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 197, 176.e1–176.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2007.03.036
- Stark, M. J., Clifton, V. L., and Wright, I. M. (2009). Neonates born to mothers with preeclampsia exhibit sex-specific alterations in microvascular function. *Pediatr. Res.* 65, 292–295. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e318193edf1
- Swarup, J., Balkundi, D., Sobchak Brozanski, B., Roberts, J. M., and Yanowitz, T. D. (2005). Effect of preeclampsia on blood pressure in newborn very low birth weight infants. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 24, 223–234. doi: 10.1080/1064195 0500281209
- Szymonowicz, W., and Yu, V. Y. (1987). Severe pre-eclampsia and infants of very low birth weight. Arch. Dis. Child. 62, 712–716. doi: 10.1136/adc. 62.7.712
- Takagi, H., King, G. L., Robinson, G. S., Ferrara, N., and Aiello, L. P. (1996). Adenosine mediates hypoxic induction of vascular endothelial growth factor in retinal pericytes and endothelial cells. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 37, 2165–2176.
- Tannetta, D. S., Dragovic, R. A., Gardiner, C., Redman, C. W., and Sargent, I. L. (2013). Characterisation of syncytiotrophoblast vesicles in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia: expression of flt-1 and endoglin. *PLoS ONE* 8:e56754. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056754
- Tenhola, S., Rahiala, E., Halonen, P., Vanninen, E., and Voutilainen, R. (2006). Maternal preeclampsia predicts elevated blood pressure in 12-year-old children: evaluation by ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. *Pediatr. Res.* 59, 320–324. doi: 10.1203/01.pdr.0000196734.54473.e3
- Tenhola, S., Rahiala, E., Martikainen, A., Halonen, P., and Voutilainen, R. (2003). Blood pressure, serum lipids, fasting insulin, and adrenal hormones in 12-yearold children born with maternal preeclampsia. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88, 1217–1222. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-020903
- Thadhani, R., Kisner, T., Hagmann, H., Bossung, V., Noack, S., Schaarschmidt, W., et al. (2011). Pilot study of extracorporeal removal of soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 in preeclampsia. *Circulation* 124, 940–950. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULA-TIONAHA.111.034793
- Tsao, P. N., Wei, S. C., Su, Y. N., Chou, H. C., Chen, C. Y., and Hsieh, W. S. (2005). Excess soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 and low platelet counts in premature neonates of preeclamptic mothers. *Pediatrics* 116, 468–472. doi: 10.1542/peds.2004-2240
- Tuovinen, S., Raikkonen, K., Kajantie, E., Pesonen, A. K., Heinonen, K., Osmond, C., et al. (2010). Depressive symptoms in adulthood and intrauterine exposure to pre-eclampsia: the Helsinki Birth Cohort Study. *BJOG* 117, 1236–1242. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2010.02634.x
- Tuovinen, S., Raikkonen, K., Pesonen, A. K., Lahti, M., Heinonen, K., Wahlbeck, K., et al. (2012). Hypertensive disorders in pregnancy and risk of severe mental disorders in the offspring in adulthood: the Helsinki Birth Cohort Study. J. Psychiatr. Res. 46, 303–310. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011. 11.015
- Vatten, L. J., Romundstad, P. R., Holmen, T. L., Hsieh, C. C., Trichopoulos, D., and Stuver, S. O. (2003). Intrauterine exposure to preeclampsia and adolescent blood pressure, body size, and age at menarche in female offspring. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 101, 529–533. doi: 10.1016/S0029-7844(02) 02718-7
- Villar, J., Carroli, G., Wojdyla, D., Abalos, E., Giordano, D., Ba'aqeel, H., et al. (2006). Preeclampsia, gestational hypertension and intrauterine growth restriction, related or independent conditions? *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 194, 921–931. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2005.10.813
- Von Versen-Hoynck, F., Rajakumar, A., Bainbridge, S. A., Gallaher, M. J., Roberts, J. M., and Powers, R. W. (2009). Human placental adenosine receptor expression is elevated in preeclampsia and hypoxia increases expression of the A2A receptor. *Placenta* 30, 434–442. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.02.004
- Wadsack, C., Desoye, G., and Hiden, U. (2012). The feto-placental endothelium in pregnancy pathologies. Wien. Med. Wochenschr. 162, 220–224. doi: 10.1007/s10354-012-0075-2

- Wu, C. S., Nohr, E. A., Bech, B. H., Vestergaard, M., Catov, J. M., and Olsen, J. (2009). Health of children born to mothers who had preeclampsia: a population-based cohort study. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 201, 269.e1–269.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2009.06.060
- Wu, C. S., Nohr, E. A., Bech, B. H., Vestergaard, M., Catov, J. M., and Olsen, J. (2011). Diseases in children born to mothers with preeclampsia: a populationbased sibling cohort study. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 204, 157.e1–157.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2010.08.046
- Wyatt, A. W., Steinert, J. R., Wheeler-Jones, C. P., Morgan, A. J., Sugden, D., Pearson, J. D., et al. (2002). Early activation of the p42/p44MAPK pathway mediates adenosine-induced nitric oxide production in human endothelial cells: a novel calcium-insensitive mechanism. *FASEB J.* 16, 1584–1594. doi: 10.1096/fj.01-0125com
- Xia, L., Zhou, X. P., Zhu, J. H., Xie, X. D., Zhang, H., Wang, X. X., et al. (2007). Decrease and dysfunction of endothelial progenitor cells in umbilical cord blood with maternal pre-eclampsia. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Res. 33, 465–474. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2007.00555.x
- Xiong, X., Demianczuk, N. N., Saunders, L. D., Wang, F. L., and Fraser, W. D. (2002). Impact of preeclampsia and gestational hypertension on birth weight by gestational age. Am. J. Epidemiol. 155, 203–209. doi: 10.1093/aje/155.3.203
- Xu, M. H., Gong, Y. S., Su, M. S., Dai, Z. Y., Dai, S. S., Bao, S. Z., et al. (2011). Absence of the adenosine A2A receptor confers pulmonary arterial hypertension and increased pulmonary vascular remodeling in mice. *J. Vasc. Res.* 48, 171–183. doi: 10.1159/000316935
- Yoneyama, Y., Sawa, R., Suzuki, S., Otsubo, Y., Miura, A., Kuwabara, Y., et al. (2002a). Serum adenosine deaminase activity in women with pre-eclampsia. *Gynecol. Obstet. Invest.* 54, 164–167. doi: 10.1159/000067885
- Yoneyama, Y., Sawa, R., Suzuki, S., Shin, S., Power, G. G., and Araki, T. (1996). The relationship between uterine artery Doppler velocimetry and umbilical venous adenosine levels in pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 174, 267–271. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(96)70406-4
- Yoneyama, Y., Suzuki, S., Sawa, R., Kiyokawa, Y., Power, G. G., and Araki, T. (2001). Plasma adenosine levels and P-selectin expression on platelets in preeclampsia. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 97, 366–370. doi: 10.1016/S0029-7844(00)01184-4
- Yoneyama, Y., Suzuki, S., Sawa, R., Takeuchi, T., Kobayashi, H., Takei, R., et al. (2000). Changes in plasma adenosine concentrations during normal pregnancy. *Gynecol. Obstet. Invest.* 50, 145–148. doi: 10.1159/000010313
- Yoneyama, Y., Suzuki, S., Sawa, R., Yoneyama, K., Power, G. G., and Araki, T. (2002b). Increased plasma adenosine concentrations and the severity of preeclampsia. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 100, 1266–1270. doi: 10.1016/S0029-7844(02)02247-0
- Yoneyama, Y., Suzuki, S., Sawa, R., Yoneyama, K., Power, G. G., and Araki, T. (2002c). Relation between adenosine and T-helper 1/T-helper 2 imbalance in women with preeclampsia. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 99, 641–646. doi: 10.1016/S0029-7844(02)01657-5
- Yu, X. D., Branch, D. W., Karumanchi, S. A., and Zhang, J. (2012). Preeclampsia and retinopathy of prematurity in preterm births. *Pediatrics* 130, e101–e107. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-3881

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 13 March 2014; accepted: 16 May 2014; published online: 05 June 2014. Citation: Escudero C, Roberts JM, Myatt L and Feoktistov I (2014) Impaired adenosinemediated angiogenesis in preeclampsia: potential implications for fetal programming. Front. Pharmacol. **5**:134. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00134

This article was submitted to Cardiovascular and Smooth Muscle Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Escudero, Roberts, Myatt and Feoktistov. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Endothelial heterogeneity in the umbilico-placental unit: DNA methylation as an innuendo of epigenetic diversity

Paola Casanello^{1,2}, Daniela Schneider¹, Emilio A. Herrera³, Ricardo Uauy² and Bernardo J. Krause¹*

¹ Division of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, School of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

² Division of Paediatrics, School of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

³ Programa de Fisiopatología, Laboratorio de Función y Reactividad Vascular, Instituto de Ciencias Biomédicas, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Chile,

Santiago, Chile

Edited by:

Carlos Alonso Escudero, Universidad del Bio Bio, Chile

Reviewed by:

Norma Beatriz Ojeda, University of Mississippi Medical Center, USA Carlos Alonso Escudero, Universidad del Bio Bio, Chile

*Correspondence:

Bernardo J. Krause, Division of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, School of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Marcoleta 391, 8330024 Santiago, Chile e-mail: bjkrause@uc.cl The endothelium is a multifunctional heterogeneous tissue playing a key role in the physiology of every organ. To accomplish this role the endothelium presents a phenotypic diversity that is early prompted during vascular development, allowing it to cope with specific requirements in a time- and site-specific manner. During the last decade several reports show that endothelial diversity is also present in the umbilico-placental vasculature, with differences between macro- and microvascular vessels as well as arterial and venous endothelium. This diversity is evidenced in vitro as a higher angiogenic capacity in the microcirculation; or disparity in the levels of several molecules that control endothelial function (i.e., receptor for growth factors, vasoactive mediators, and adhesion molecules) which frequently are differentially expressed between arterial and venous endothelium. Emerging evidence suggests that endothelial diversity would be prominently driven by epigenetic mechanisms which also control the basal expression of endothelial-specific genes. This review outlines evidence for endothelial diversity since early stages of vascular development and how this heterogeneity is expressed in the umbilico-placental vasculature. Furthermore a brief picture of epigenetic mechanisms and their role on endothelial physiology emphasizing new data on umbilical and placental endothelial cells is presented. Unraveling the role of epigenetic mechanisms on long term endothelial physiology and its functional diversity would contribute to develop more accurate therapeutic interventions. Altogether these data show that micro-versus macro-vascular, or artery versus vein comparisons are an oversimplification of the complexity occurring in the endothelium at different levels, and the necessity for the future research to establish the precise source of cells which are under study.

Keywords: endothelial, epigenetics, artery, vein, placenta, umbilical

INTRODUCTION

Since the discovery of the role of endothelium on vascular tone regulation at the beginning of 1980s, a countless number of studies have shown the plethora of remarkable functions that this tissue has in vascular physiology. Notably significant advances in understanding the role of endothelium have used human umbilical and placental vessels as experimental models, which is also applied to the knowledge regarding endothelial diversity. The diversity of functions that the endothelium exerts (i.e., regulation of vessel tone, angiogenesis, immune cell adhesion and migration, exchange, and haemostasis) associates with specific "zones" of the vasculature, suggesting that endothelial cells present a phenotypic heterogeneity that supports this functional diversity (Atkins et al., 2011). From the molecular point of view endothelial cells in vivo express several proteins which allow to distinguish between arterial and venous endothelial cells and some of these patterns are preserved in vitro, suggesting that long term endothelial physiology is importantly influenced by epigenetic mechanisms (Matouk and Marsden, 2008; Aird, 2012).

ORIGINS OF ENDOTHELIAL CELLS

Vasculogenesis is the process by which vessels are formed from mesenchymal-derived hemangioblasts which differentiate into endothelial cells (Demir et al., 2007). Current evidence shows that initial stages of vascular development are determined by genetic factors (le Noble et al., 2008; Atkins et al., 2011). These processes require the expression of VEGF (Shalaby et al., 1995) and activation of downstream mitogenic effectors (Parenti et al., 1998; Shizukuda et al., 1999). However, the site from which the vascular progenitors for placental and embryo vasculogenesis emerge is still debated. It is accepted that in the embryo vascular progenitors emerge from intra- and extra-embryonic mesodermal tissues (Jin and Patterson, 2009), whilst in the placenta they arise from the extra-embryonic mesoderm (Chaddha et al., 2004). However, there is growing evidence for a crucial role of the yolk sac in embryo and placental vascular development (Freyer and Renfree, 2009). Indeed, using a sodium-calcium exchanger (Ncx-1) knockout mice which fails to initiate cardiac contraction Lux et al. (2008) showed that all the hematopoietic progenitor cells emerge from the yolk sac. The origin of placental endothelial cells could have an important impact on its vascular physiology because arterial-venous identity is early established by environmental cues which could have diverse effects depending on the localization in the embryo.

Growth and consolidation of the placental vascular tree occurs by angiogenesis. In this process single vessels are formed by endothelial precursor cells (EPCs) which differentiate into endothelial cells, and/or proliferate from endothelial cells. These vessels can spread in two ways, (1) non-branching angiogenesis, which implies an increase in the length of the villous vessels, and (2) branching angiogenesis, in which multiple short capillary loops are formed (Demir et al., 2007), increasing the vascular surface area. After these processes have taken place, the vessels mature and their structures stabilize. Additional maturation and specialization in the vascular system are influenced by environmental signals, such as blood flow, oxygen tension, oxidative stress, and epigenetic factors (le Noble et al., 2008; Atkins et al., 2011). All these factors have been implicated in the development and function of the human placenta (Fowden et al., 2008; Burton, 2009; Dennery, 2010). Thus, angiogenesis is a complex process which involves genetic, epigenetic and environmental commands in the development and establishment of the vasculature.

EPIGENETICS OVERVIEW

During the last decade, the study of genome-environment interactions has revealed a plethora of mechanisms that modulate short and long term cellular physiology. These mechanisms involve mainly epigenetic processes which control chromatin accessibility in a gene- and cell-specific manner. Definition of epigenetics is still under debate mainly due to the several molecular mechanisms that it comprises and the heritability of these changes in an organism and its progeny; however, a simple and broad definition considers epigenetic mechanisms as "chromosome-based mechanisms that change the phenotypic plasticity in a cell or organism" (Krause et al., 2009; Gibney and Nolan, 2010).

Epigenetic mechanisms affect chromatin structure and gene expression regulating DNA and histone interactions, and the translation and stability of mRNA. Epigenetic markers such as DNA methylation, histone deacetylation, and other repressive histone post-translational modifications (PTMs) alter the structure of the chromatin, generating regions with a "closed chromatin" conformation. Conversely, DNA demethylation (potentially driven by the oxidation of methylated cytosines and their replacement by base excision repair; Kohli and Zhang, 2013), ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling, histone acetylation (Ac), and other permissive histone PTMs, convert the closed chromatin into an "open chromatin" conformation allowing binding of transcription factors and the RNA polymerase II (Figure 1). As an additional epigenetic mechanism, the presence of noncoding RNAs can post-transcriptionally repress gene expression. Detailed reviews of the diverse epigenetic mechanisms and their effects on gene expression are available (Klose and Bird, 2006;



Kouzarides, 2007; Wang et al., 2007a,b; Kaikkonen et al., 2011; Kohli and Zhang, 2013).

From a developmental perspective epigenetic mechanisms allow the generation of diverse cell phenotypes and functions of an organism from a single genome, and respond to a range of environmental fluctuations. This issue is especially evident in organs and tissues whose structure and function are under constant change across lifespan, such as the cardiovascular system (Aird, 2012). Nonetheless, placental vasculature may also be programmed by epigenetic mechanisms, which are currently under restless research.

EPIGENETICS IN ENDOTHELIAL PHYSIOLOGY AND PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

Vascular development, endothelial differentiation and function require a fine epigenetic tuning (Table 1). Initial steps of vascular development in the embryo seem to be influenced by both genetic and environmental stimuli which drive the emergence of two different populations of endothelial cells (Atkins et al., 2011). Differentiation of embryonic stem cells and EPCs into endothelial cells requires the participation of histone deacetylases (HDAC), lysine demethylases (KDM) and reduced DNA methylation in the promoter region of endothelial-specific genes (Rossig et al., 2005; Zeng et al., 2006; Lagarkova et al., 2008; Banerjee and Bacanamwo, 2010; Ohtani et al., 2011). Conversely, differentiated endothelial cells can be reprogramed to a pseudoembryonic stem cell phenotype increasing the DNA methylation status of endothelial-specific genes (Lagarkova et al., 2010). In endothelial cells, activating histone PTM, such as acetylation of H3 and H4 and methylation of H3K4, control the basal expression of vWF (Peng and Jahroudi, 2003), NOTCH4 (Wu et al., 2005), VEGF receptor 1 (Dutta et al., 2008), endomucin (Kanki et al., 2011), and eNOS (Fish et al., 2005; Gan et al., 2005).

On the other hand, HDAC activity is required for an adequate vascular integrity (Chang et al., 2006) preventing short term endothelial proliferation and angiogenesis (Ha et al., 2008; Jin et al., 2011), whilst calmodulin-lysine *N*-methyltransferase (KMT) activity has the opposite effect (Diehl et al., 2007). However, long term HDAC activity promotes angiogenesis in response to VEGF (Deroanne et al., 2002) and hypoxia (Kim et al., 2001) increasing the expression of VEGF (Ruchko et al., 2009) and eNOS (Rossig et al., 2002). Similarly, HDAC activity is increased in response to shear stress (Illi et al., 2003) improving cell survival (Zampetaki et al., 2010) and eNOS expression (Wang et al., 2010). Noteworthy, the epigenetic regulation of NOS3 gene has been extensively studied in endothelial and non-endothelial cells, showing that endothelial cells have a distinctive pattern of DNA methylation and histone PTMs (Fish and Marsden, 2006). Fish et al. (2007) reported that the decreased expression of eNOS in HUVEC exposed to acute hypoxia is controlled by the overexpression of a natural *cis*-antisense non-coding RNA called sONE, and changes in histone PTMs which occur specifically at the eNOS promoter (Fish et al., 2010). Additionally, abrogation of NOS3 promoter DNA methylation increases basal eNOS mRNA expression *in vitro*, and protects against hind-limb ischemic injury *in vivo* (Rao et al., 2011).

Several studies show that epigenetic mechanisms participate in the increased risk of developing vascular diseases. In humans, endothelial cells from atherosclerotic plaques have decreased levels of estrogen receptor β along with increased DNA methylation at the promoter region of this gene, compared with those from non-atherosclerotic plaque regions (Kim et al., 2007). Deficiency of a specific KDM, lysine-specific demethylase-1 (LSD1, KDM1a), associates with decreased expression of eNOS and NO-dependent vasodilation, as well as, salt sensitive hypertension (Pojoga et al., 2011). In newborn rats with persistent pulmonary hypertension, the increased expression of eNOS mRNA is accompanied by augmented levels of acetylated H3 and H4 in the NOS3 gene promoter (Xu et al., 2010). Alternatively, cultured endothelial cells exposed to elevated levels of homocysteine, which relates with increased cardiovascular risk, present decreased proliferation and increased levels of oxidative stress. In both cases homocysteine acts inducing specific hypomethylation of the gene promoters for the cell cycle regulator cyclin A (Jamaluddin et al., 2007) and the pro-oxidant protein p66shc (Kim et al., 2011). Additionally, high glucoseinduced endothelial dysfunction requires the participation of HAT (Chen et al., 2010) and KMT (El-Osta et al., 2008), generating important epigenomic changes (Pirola et al., 2011), which can persist several days after the exposure to the noxa (El-Osta et al., 2008).

Notably, vascular physiology is also influenced by epigenetic mechanisms occurring in smooth muscle cells (SMCs). Development of vascular dysfunction is accompanied by changes in SMC phenotype, which shift from a "contractile" to a "synthetic" and

Mechanism	Process	Reference
DNA methylation	In vitro and in vivo progenitor endothelial cells differentiation	Chan etal. (2004), Lagarkova etal. (2008), Ohtani etal.
	Activation of tissue-specific genes	(2011), Rao et al. (2011)
	Ischemia-induced neo-vascularization	
Histone acetylation	Hypoxia-, VEGF- and shear stress- induced angiogenesis	Kim etal. (2001), Deroanne etal. (2002), Rossig etal.
	VEGF-induced progenitor endothelial cells differentiation	(2002), Peng and Jahroudi (2003), Illi et al. (2005),
	Basal endothelial cell-specific genes	Zeng et al. (2006), Wu et al. (2005)
Other histone PTMs	Progenitor endothelial cells differentiation	Ohtani et al. (2011), Fish et al. (2010)
	Hypoxia induced eNOS down-regulation	

Table 1 | Effect of DNA methylation and histone post-translational modifications (PTMs) on endothelial cell physiology.

"pro-inflammatory" phenotype with long term consequences in the contractile properties of vessels (Owens et al., 2004; Orr et al., 2010). Increasing data shows that this "phenotypic switching" requires the participation of epigenetic mechanisms which establish an altered SMC function (Alexander and Owens, 2012).

PHENOTYPIC AND EPIGENETIC DIVERSITY IN THE UMBILICO-PLACENTAL ENDOTHELIUM

Pioneer studies by Lang et al. (1993) demonstrated that micro- and macrovascular umbilico-placental endothelium present different immunoreactivity to diverse molecular markers for endothelial cells, suggesting the presence of a phenotypic endothelial diversity in the placenta. Additional evidence from cultured human endothelial cells isolated from the placental microcirculation (PLEC) and the umbilical vein (HUVEC) show that microvascular endothelial cells express higher levels of vascular mediators (angiotensin II, endothelin, and thromboxane; Lang, 2003). Also a differential pattern of homeobox genes (Murthi et al., 2007, 2008) and higher cholesterol transport capacity (Stefulj et al., 2009) in PLEC compared to HUVEC has been shown.

Notably, studies on endothelial cells from arteries and veins have revealed important differences between arterial and venous cells at the same vascular level. In fact the higher mitogenic response observed in PLEC (Lang, 2003) may reflect the combination of a high response to VEGF present in arterial PLEC (PLAEC) and to PIGF in venous endothelial cells (PLVEC; Lang et al., 2008). A transcriptomic analysis between PLAEC and PLVEC showed that they have differential expression of more than 3,000 genes (Lang et al., 2008). Similarly there is a differential expression of eNOS, a key vascular gene, between micro- and macrovascular, and venous and arterial endothelium (Andersen et al., 2009; Krause et al., 2012) being more homogenous at the arterial side (Andersen et al., 2009). This opens the queries about the differences initially reported between micro- and macrovascular endothelium reflecting an endothelial diversity between large and small vessels, and whether they include variances between arteries and veins.

Several studies comparing simultaneously umbilical arterial (HUAEC) and venous (HUVEC) endothelium support the concept that these cells are not a homogenous population, and the necessity of clarifying the precise source of cells when the term "macrovasculature" is used. A general characterization shows that there is a different profile of phospholipids with higher levels of arachidonic acid-related species and heterogeneous expression pattern of selenoproteins (Miller et al., 2002) in HUAEC compared to HUVEC (Takamura et al., 1990). Alongside the classical molecular markers for arterial endothelium, cultured HUAEC express higher levels of PAI 1 (Gallicchio et al., 1994), Cx40 (Van Rijen et al., 1997), 17β-HSD2 (Simard et al., 2011), and VCAM-1 (Egorova et al., 2012); and lower levels of von Willebrand Factor (Shahani et al., 2010) and estrogen receptors beta (ERB; Simard et al., 2011) compared with HUVEC. On the other hand expressions of pro-constrictive mediators such as angiotensin converting enzyme (Ito et al., 2002) and ET-1 (Egorova et al., 2012) are different in HUVEC relative to HUAEC. Furthermore, expression and activity of eNOS are higher in freshly isolated HUVEC than HUAEC (Andersen et al., 2009) and this expression pattern is also observed in cells cultured up to third passage (Krause et al., 2012). Whether these differences reflects the physiology of umbilical (and potentially placental) arteries and veins, and how they are preserved *in vitro* need further examination. Two recent reports show that the differential gene expression between HUAEC and HUVEC is partially controlled by specific transcription factors. Overexpression of the venous-specific nuclear receptor COUP-TFII in HUAEC decreases the expression of arterial markers (i.e., Hey2, EphrinB2 and NICD4), and its down-regulation in HUVEC increases the expression of arterial markers such as VEGF-A, Dll and EphrinB2 (Korten et al., 2013). Moreover, *in vitro* simultaneous overexpression of eight arterial-specific transcription factors turns the HUVEC transcriptome into a HUAEC-like pattern (Aranguren et al., 2013).

Therefore, the phenotypic diversity in the umbilico-placental circulation is apparently commanded, at least in part, by an equivalent diversity in epigenetic mechanisms.

ENDOTHELIAL DIVERSITY AND ANGIOGENESIS

In terms of angiogenesis, microvascular endothelial cells present a higher mitogenic response to VEGF, PIGF (Lang, 2003; Lang et al., 2008), and prokineticin 1 (Brouillet et al., 2010) compared with HUVEC, along with an increased expression of pro-angiogenic HOX genes (i.e., TLX1, TLX2, and PHOX1; Murthi et al., 2008). These data are in agreement with the notion that placental angiogenic capacity is augmented in microvascular vessels compared to endothelial cells from larger vessels. However, it is also possible to find significant differences in the angiogenic response in endothelial cells from umbilical arteries and veins. In vivo VEGFR3, which is commonly expressed in lymphatic endothelium or during active angiogenesis (Koch and Claesson-Welsh, 2012), is absent in HUAEC but expressed in HUVEC (Veikkola et al., 2003). Moreover in vitro chemotaxis induced by VEGFA or FGF2 is higher in HUVEC compared to HUAEC (Barkefors et al., 2008), and netrin-1 prevents the VEGF-induced migration in HUAEC without effect on HUVEC (Lu et al., 2004). Further studies are needed to address the effects and the role on placental physiology of this increased angiogenic response observed in HUVEC.

ENDOTHELIAL DIVERSITY IN RESPONSE TO STRESS

Placental vascular and endothelial physiology, similar to adult vasculature, are importantly influenced by stimuli such as altered shear stress and oxygen levels whose effects are apparently different between arteries and veins. Normally arterial endothelium is exposed to higher shear stress and therefore it is plausible to predict a stronger response to increasing stress. In fact pulsatile shear stress increases the expression of arterial markers (i.e., Hey1, Hey1, and ephrinB2) in HUAEC but decreases the expression of venous markers (COUP-TFII) in HUVEC (Buschmann et al., 2010). Laminar shear stress have similar effects on the expression of arterial-venous markers in these cells, and increases the levels of *S*-nitrosylated proteins (Hoffmann et al., 2003) endothelin-1, VCAM, and vWF (Egorova et al., 2012) in HUAEC compared to HUVEC. Whether these differences are observed in microvascular endothelial cells remains to be determined.

Some evidence regarding the effects of low oxygen levels on endothelial function in placental large and small vessels, as well as arteries and veins, show a differential vascular response to hypoxia throughout the placenta (Krause et al., 2011, 2012). On the other hand placental endothelium is importantly exposed to low oxygen levels and oxidative stress which are negative regulator of placental angiogenesis (Burton et al., 2009). A reduction in oxygen levels from 21 to 12% O₂decreases placental venous microvascular endothelial cells viability with no effect on their arterial counterparts (Lassance et al., 2012), and PLAEC exposed to 3% O₂ show an increased mitogenic response to VEGFA and FGF2 compared to cells cultured at $21\% O_2$ (Wang et al., 2009). This higher response to VEGFA and FGF2 is also observed in HUAEC exposed to physiological levels of oxygen (3-5% O₂; Jiang et al., 2013). Additionally, hypoxia (1% O₂) increases the expression of the pro-angiogenic factor protease-activated receptor 2 in HUVEC and this effect is higher in HUAEC (Svensson et al., 2011).

Altogether these data show that venous-arterial endothelial phenotypic diversity occurs among umbilical and placental vessels (**Figure 2**). Further studies should include control comparison between arterial and venous endothelial cells from the same branching level to rule out potential differences attributable to arteries and veins rather than micro- and macrovascular vessels. It is worth to note that most of the differences occurring among these cells types could be reverted by genetic manipulation. However, its persistence *in vitro* suggests that additional mechanisms controlling gene expression should be operating, arguing for a crucial role for epigenetics in this process.



FIGURE 2 | Phenotypic diversity in the umbilico-placental

endothelium. Umbilical (macrovascular) and placental (microvascular) endothelial cells present a phenotypic diversity characterized by a differential response to angiogenic factors and gene expression of key endothelial genes. In the figure thickness of the triangle denotes deferential relative expression (or response) regarding arteries or veins at each level. Square text box includes common traits between macro- and micro-vascular arterial or venous endothelial cells. 11β-HSD1, 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 1; 17β-HSD2, 17β hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2; ARG2, arginase-2 gene; Cx40, conexin-40; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; ET-1, endothelin-1; KDR, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor 2; NOS3, eNOS gene; PAI 1, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1; PIGF, placental growth factor; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule 1.

EPIGENETIC AND PLACENTAL ENDOTHELIAL DIVERSITY

Compelling evidence shows the fundamental role of epigenetics controlling the endothelial-specific gene expression, however, the next frontier is to determine how epigenetic mechanisms influence the endothelial functional diversity. Two recent reports studying placental and umbilical endothelial cells suggest the presence of significant differences in the DNA methylation of gene promoters which could be responsible for the differential gene expression present in these cells.

A comparison of the genome-wide DNA methylation profile in PLAEC and PLVEC show that venous endothelial cells present lower levels of global methylation compared to PLAEC (Joo et al., 2013) which could reflect the immature phenotype of PLVEC (Lang et al., 2008). Further analysis show the presence of several genes which are differentially methylated between PLAEC and PLVEC, and some of them present an inverse correlation between the level of methylation and the gene expression. Notably those genes are considered endothelial markers and play a key role in vascular physiology, such as eNOS, vWF, Conexin40, VEGFR1, VEGFC, and angiopiotein-1. However, there are endothelial genes whose promoters do not present any correlation between methylation levels and gene expression, such as VEGFR2, Hey2, NOTCH, EphB2, and EphB4 (Joo et al., 2013).

Conversely, the comparison of DNA methylation status of NOS3 (eNOS) and ARG2 (arginase-2) promoters by pyrosequencing in HUAEC, PLAEC and HUVEC, suggest the presence of site-specific differences between these cells. Methylation status at NOS3 promoter in umbilical and placental endothelial cells showed differences in three specific CpG between arterial and venous endothelial cells (Krause et al., 2013). Two of these differentially methylated CpGs correspond to the reported hypoxia response element (-5369 and -5375; Coulet et al., 2003) which regulates the response to hypoxia and show lower methylation levels in PLAEC and HUAEC compared to HUVEC. Whether this variation participates in the differential regulation of eNOS expression in response to hypoxia that has been reported between HUAEC and HUVEC (Krause et al., 2012) needs to be addressed. An additional differentially methylated CpG is located at -352from the transcription starting site, showing a higher methylation pattern in arterial relative to venous cells. Moreover the methylation status at this CpG suggests an inverse correlation between DNA methylation and eNOS expression, which is higher in HUVEC (lower methylation levels) compared to HUAEC (Krause et al., 2012, 2013). It is also reported that CpG – 352 is differentially methylated between HUVEC and human dermal microvascular endothelial cells (Chan et al., 2004), having the later a methylation status comparable to that found in HUAEC and PLAEC, which suggest that CpG -352 might play a role in the differential regulation of basal eNOS expression in arterial and venous endothelial cells. Krause et al. (2013) compared the NOS3 promoter DNA methylation status between control and endothelial cells isolated from pregnancies with intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR). Remarkably changes in DNA methylation in IUGR cells are restricted to those CpGs that are differentially methylated in normal endothelial cells. In fact, IUGR HUAEC and PLAEC present similar changes at CpGs -5375 (increased methylation) and -352 (decreased methylation) compared with normal cells, and these methylation levels are comparable to that find in normal HUVEC. Conversely, changes in the DNA methylation status of IUGR HUVEC where at CpGs -5369 (decreased methylation) and -352 (increased methylation), and they are comparable to those find in normal HUAEC and PLAEC. The methylation levels at CpG -352 in IUGR HUAEC and HUVEC are also related with the levels of mRNA for eNOS (Krause et al., 2013), reinforcing the potential importance of CpG -352 in the regulation of basal eNOS expression. Finally analysis of methylation status of ARG2 promoter in HUAEC, PLAEC, and HUVEC show a single difference between PLAEC and HUVEC, however, it is still unknown if there is a correlation with arginase-2 expression and activity.

DNA methylation is one of the main epigenetic mechanisms that controls long term gene expression, showing a high reproducibility after every cellular replication and this characteristic is driven by the activity of DNA methyltransferase-1 (DNMT1). In IUGR HUAEC and HUVEC DNMT1 silencing shows a differential effect, reducing and increasing basal eNOS expression, respectively (Krause et al., 2013). Silencing of DNMT1 restores to normal eNOS mRNA levels in IUGR HUAEC and HUVEC, and this effect is not observed on arginase-2 expression where it further increases its expression in IUGR HUVEC, without any effect in IUGR HUAEC (Krause et al., 2013). This suggests that DNA methylation (Jamaluddin et al., 2007; Banerjee and Bacanamwo, 2010; Kim et al., 2011) and other epigenetic mechanisms (Kim et al., 2001; Deroanne et al., 2002; Fish et al., 2010) control gene expression in endothelial cells in a gene-specific manner.

Although the studies in PLAEC and PLVEC (Joo et al., 2013), and in HUAEC and HUVEC (Krause et al., 2013) used two different approaches to analyze the DNA methylation patterns, there are some similarities in the outcomes. First, both studies show that methylation status of NOS3 proximal promoter inversely correlates with the levels of mRNA for eNOS, and this occurs in cells exposed for several days to culture conditions. Second, PLAEC and PLVEC show differential levels arginase-2 expression without differences in the DNA methylation in ARG2 promoter, whilst in control and IUGR HUAEC differences in DNA methylation are not associated to difference in arginase-2 expression. Finally, DNMT1 silencing in IUGR cells normalize eNOS expression but not arginase-2 expression.

CONCLUSION

Altogether these seminal data show that epigenetic mechanisms could be responsible for the phenotypic diversity of endothelial cells in the umbilico-placental unit, and these mechanisms would be operating in a cell- and gene-specific manner. The current research on the area is offering novel data about potential mechanisms but still further studies are required to have a comprehensive picture of the additional epigenetic mechanisms controlling the gene expression in physiological and pathophysiological conditions and its consequences in umbilico-placental functions.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work was funded by FONDECYT 1110595, 1120928, 1130801.

REFERENCES

- Aird, W. C. (2012). Endothelial cell heterogeneity. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2:a006429. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006429
- Alexander, M. R., and Owens, G. K. (2012). Epigenetic control of smooth muscle cell differentiation and phenotypic switching in vascular development and disease. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 74, 13–40. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-012110-142315
- Andersen, M. R., Simonsen, U., Uldbjerg, N., Aalkjaer, C., and Stender, S. (2009). Smoking cessation early in pregnancy and birth weight, length, head circumference, and endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity in umbilical and chorionic vessels: an observational study of healthy singleton pregnancies. *Circulation* 119, 857–864. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.755769
- Aranguren, X. L., Agirre, X., Beerens, M., Coppiello, G., Uriz, M., Vandersmissen, I., et al. (2013). Unraveling a novel transcription factor code determining the human arterial-specific endothelial cell signature. *Blood* 122, 3982–3992. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-02-483255
- Atkins, G. B., Jain, M. K., and Hamik, A. (2011). Endothelial differentiation: molecular mechanisms of specification and heterogeneity. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 31, 1476–1484. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.111.228999
- Banerjee, S., and Bacanamwo, M. (2010). DNA methyltransferase inhibition induces mouse embryonic stem cell differentiation into endothelial cells. *Exp. Cell Res.* 316, 172–180. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2009.08.011
- Barkefors, I., Le Jan, S., Jakobsson, L., Hejll, E., Carlson, G., Johansson, H., et al. (2008). Endothelial cell migration in stable gradients of vascular endothelial growth factor A and fibroblast growth factor 2: effects on chemotaxis and chemokinesis. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 13905–13912. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M704917200
- Brouillet, S., Hoffmann, P., Benharouga, M., Salomon, A., Schaal, J. P., Feige, J. J., et al. (2010). Molecular characterization of EG-VEGF-mediated angiogenesis: differential effects on microvascular and macrovascular endothelial cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 21, 2832–2843. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E10-01-0059
- Burton, G. J. (2009). Oxygen, the Janus gas; its effects on human placental development and function. J. Anat. 215, 27–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7580.2008.00978.x
- Burton, G. J., Charnock-Jones, D. S., and Jauniaux, E. (2009). Regulation of vascular growth and function in the human placenta. *Reproduction* 138, 895–902. doi: 10.1530/REP-09–0092
- Buschmann, I., Pries, A., Styp-Rekowska, B., Hillmeister, P., Loufrani, L., Henrion, D., et al. (2010). Pulsatile shear and Gja5 modulate arterial identity and remodeling events during flow-driven arteriogenesis. *Development* 137, 2187–2196. doi: 10.1242/dev.045351
- Chaddha, V., Viero, S., Huppertz, B., and Kingdom, J. (2004). Developmental biology of the placenta and the origins of placental insufficiency. *Semin. Fetal Neonatal Med.* 9, 357–369. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2004.03.006
- Chan, Y., Fish, J. E., D'abreo, C., Lin, S., Robb, G. B., Teichert, A. M., et al. (2004). The cell-specific expression of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase: a role for DNA methylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 35087–35100. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M4050 63200
- Chang, S., Young, B. D., Li, S., Qi, X., Richardson, J. A., and Olson, E. N. (2006). Histone deacetylase 7 maintains vascular integrity by repressing matrix metalloproteinase 10. *Cell* 126, 321–334. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.05.040
- Chen, S., Feng, B., George, B., Chakrabarti, R., Chen, M., and Chakrabarti, S. (2010). Transcriptional coactivator p300 regulates glucose-induced gene expression in endothelial cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 298, E127–E137. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00432.2009
- Coulet, F., Nadaud, S., Agrapart, M., and Soubrier, F. (2003). Identification of hypoxia-response element in the human endothelial nitric-oxide synthase gene promoter. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 46230–46240. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M305420200
- Demir, R., Seval, Y., and Huppertz, B. (2007). Vasculogenesis and angiogenesis in the early human placenta. Acta Histochem. 109, 257–265. doi: 10.1016/j.acthis.2007.02.008
- Dennery, P. A. (2010). Oxidative stress in development: nature or nurture? *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 49, 1147–1151. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.07.011
- Deroanne, C. F., Bonjean, K., Servotte, S., Devy, L., Colige, A., Clausse, N., et al. (2002). Histone deacetylases inhibitors as anti-angiogenic agents altering vascular endothelial growth factor signaling. *Oncogene* 21, 427–436. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1205108
- Diehl, F., Rossig, L., Zeiher, A. M., Dimmeler, S., and Urbich, C. (2007). The histone methyltransferase MLL is an upstream regulator of endothelial-cell sprout formation. *Blood* 109, 1472–1478. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-08-039651

- Dutta, D., Ray, S., Vivian, J. L., and Paul, S. (2008). Activation of the VEGFR1 chromatin domain: an angiogenic signal-ETS1/HIF-2alpha regulatory axis. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 25404–25413. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M804349200
- Egorova, A. D., Deruiter, M. C., De Boer, H. C., Van De Pas, S., Gittenberger-De Groot, A. C., Van Zonneveld, A. J., et al. (2012). Endothelial colony-forming cells show a mature transcriptional response to shear stress. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim.* 48, 21–29. doi: 10.1007/s11626-011-9470-z
- El-Osta, A., Brasacchio, D., Yao, D., Pocai, A., Jones, P. L., Roeder, R. G., et al. (2008). Transient high glucose causes persistent epigenetic changes and altered gene expression during subsequent normoglycemia. *J. Exp. Med.* 205, 2409–2417. doi: 10.1084/jem.20081188
- Fish, J. E., and Marsden, P. A. (2006). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase: insight into cell-specific gene regulation in the vascular endothelium. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 63, 144–162. doi: 10.1007/s00018-005-5421-8
- Fish, J. E., Matouk, C. C., Rachlis, A., Lin, S., Tai, S. C., D'abreo, C., et al. (2005). The expression of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase is controlled by a cell-specific histone code. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 24824–24838. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M502115200
- Fish, J. E., Matouk, C. C., Yeboah, E., Bevan, S. C., Khan, M., Patil, K., et al. (2007). Hypoxia-inducible expression of a natural cis-antisense transcript inhibits endothelial nitric-oxide synthase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 15652–15666. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M608318200
- Fish, J. E., Yan, M. S., Matouk, C. C., St Bernard, R., Ho, J. J., Gavryushova, A., et al. (2010). Hypoxic repression of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase transcription is coupled with eviction of promoter histones. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 810–826. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.067868
- Fowden, A. L., Forhead, A. J., Coan, P. M., and Burton, G. J. (2008). The placenta and intrauterine programming. J. Neuroendocrinol. 20, 439–450. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2008.01663.x
- Freyer, C., and Renfree, M. B. (2009). The mammalian yolk sac placenta. *J. Exp. Zool. B Mol. Dev. Evol.* 312, 545–554. doi: 10.1002/jez.b.21239
- Gallicchio, M., Argyriou, S., Ianches, G., Filonzi, E. L., Zoellner, H., Hamilton, J. A., et al. (1994). Stimulation of PAI-1 expression in endothelial cells by cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. *Arterioscler. Thromb.* 14, 815–823. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.14.5.815
- Gan, Y., Shen, Y. H., Wang, J., Wang, X., Utama, B., and Wang, X. L. (2005). Role of histone deacetylation in cell-specific expression of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 16467–16475. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M412960200
- Gibney, E. R., and Nolan, C. M. (2010). Epigenetics and gene expression. *Heredity* (*Edinb.*) 105, 4–13. doi: 10.1038/hdy.2010.54
- Ha, C. H., Jhun, B. S., Kao, H. Y., and Jin, Z. G. (2008). VEGF stimulates HDAC7 phosphorylation and cytoplasmic accumulation modulating matrix metalloproteinase expression and angiogenesis. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 28, 1782–1788. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.172528
- Hoffmann, J., Dimmeler, S., and Haendeler, J. (2003). Shear stress increases the amount of S-nitrosylated molecules in endothelial cells: important role for signal transduction. *FEBS Lett.* 551, 153–158. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(03)00917-7
- Illi, B., Nanni, S., Scopece, A., Farsetti, A., Biglioli, P., Capogrossi, M. C., et al. (2003). Shear stress-mediated chromatin remodeling provides molecular basis for flow-dependent regulation of gene expression. *Circ. Res.* 93, 155–161. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000080933.82105.29
- Illi, B., Scopece, A., Nanni, S., Farsetti, A., Morgante, L., Biglioli, P., et al. (2005). Epigenetic histone modification and cardiovascular lineage programming in mouse embryonic stem cells exposed to laminar shear stress. *Circ. Res.* 96, 501–508. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000159181.06379.63.
- Ito, M., Itakura, A., Ohno, Y., Nomura, M., Senga, T., Nagasaka, T., et al. (2002). Possible activation of the renin-angiotensin system in the fetoplacental unit in preeclampsia. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 87, 1871–1878. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.4.8422
- Jamaluddin, M. D., Chen, I., Yang, F., Jiang, X., Jan, M., Liu, X., et al. (2007). Homocysteine inhibits endothelial cell growth via DNA hypomethylation of the cyclin A gene. *Blood* 110, 3648–3655. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-06-096701
- Jiang, Y. Z., Wang, K., Li, Y., Dai, C. F., Wang, P., Kendziorski, C., et al. (2013). Enhanced cellular responses and distinct gene profiles in human fetoplacental artery endothelial cells under chronic low oxygen. *Biol. Reprod.* 89, 133. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.113.110551
- Jin, G., Bausch, D., Knightly, T., Liu, Z., Li, Y., Liu, B., et al. (2011). Histone deacetylase inhibitors enhance endothelial cell sprouting angiogenesis in vitro. *Surgery* 150, 429–435. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2011.07.001

- Jin, S. W., and Patterson, C. (2009). The opening act: vasculogenesis and the origins of circulation. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 29, 623–629. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.161539
- Joo, J. E., Hiden, U., Lassance, L., Gordon, L., Martino, D. J., Desoye, G., et al. (2013). Variable promoter methylation contributes to differential expression of key genes in human placenta-derived venous and arterial endothelial cells. *BMC Genomics* 14:475. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-14-475
- Kaikkonen, M. U., Lam, M. T., and Glass, C. K. (2011). Non-coding RNAs as regulators of gene expression and epigenetics. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 90, 430–440. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr097
- Kanki, Y., Kohro, T., Jiang, S., Tsutsumi, S., Mimura, I., Suchiro, J., et al. (2011). Epigenetically coordinated GATA2 binding is necessary for endotheliumspecific endomucin expression. *EMBO J.* 30, 2582–2595. doi: 10.1038/emboj. 2011.173
- Kim, C. S., Kim, Y. R., Naqvi, A., Kumar, S., Hoffman, T. A., Jung, S. B., et al. (2011). Homocysteine promotes human endothelial cell dysfunction via sitespecific epigenetic regulation of p66shc. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 92, 466–475. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr250
- Kim, J., Kim, J. Y., Song, K. S., Lee, Y. H., Seo, J. S., Jelinek, J., et al. (2007). Epigenetic changes in estrogen receptor beta gene in atherosclerotic cardiovascular tissues and in-vitro vascular senescence. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1772, 72–80. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2006.10.004
- Kim, M. S., Kwon, H. J., Lee, Y. M., Baek, J. H., Jang, J. E., Lee, S. W., et al. (2001). Histone deacetylases induce angiogenesis by negative regulation of tumor suppressor genes. *Nat. Med.* 7, 437–443. doi: 10.1038/86507
- Klose, R. J., and Bird, A. P. (2006). Genomic DNA methylation: the mark and its mediators. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 31, 89–97. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2005.12.008
- Koch, S., and Claesson-Welsh, L. (2012). Signal transduction by vascular endothelial growth factor receptors. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2:a006502. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006502
- Kohli, R. M., and Zhang, Y. (2013). TET enzymes, TDG and the dynamics of DNA demethylation. *Nature* 502, 472–479. doi: 10.1038/nature12750
- Korten, S., Brunssen, C., Poitz, D. M., Grossklaus, S., Brux, M., Schnittler, H. J., et al. (2013). Impact of Hey2 and COUP-TFII on genes involved in arteriovenous differentiation in primary human arterial and venous endothelial cells. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 108, 362. doi: 10.1007/s00395-013-0362-0.
- Kouzarides, T. (2007). Chromatin modifications and their function. *Cell* 128, 693–705. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.005
- Krause, B., Sobrevia, L., and Casanello, P. (2009). Epigenetics: new concepts of old phenomena in vascular physiology. *Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol.* 7, 513–520. doi: 10.2174/157016109789043883
- Krause, B. J., Costello, P. M., Munoz-Urrutia, E., Lillycrop, K. A., Hanson, M. A., and Casanello, P. (2013). Role of DNA methyltransferase 1 on the altered eNOS expression in human umbilical endothelium from intrauterine growth restricted fetuses. *Epigenetics* 8, 944–952. doi: 10.4161/epi.25579
- Krause, B. J., Hanson, M. A., and Casanello, P. (2011). Role of nitric oxide in placental vascular development and function. *Placenta* 32:797–805. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2011.06.025
- Krause, B. J., Prieto, C. P., Munoz-Urrutia, E., Martin, S. S., Sobrevia, L., and Casanello, P. (2012). Role of arginase-2 and eNOS in the differential vascular reactivity and hypoxia-induced endothelial response in umbilical arteries and veins. *Placenta* 33:360–366. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.02.006
- Lagarkova, M. A., Shutova, M. V., Bogomazova, A. N., Vassina, E. M., Glazov, E. A., Zhang, P., et al. (2010). Induction of pluripotency in human endothelial cells resets epigenetic profile on genome scale. *Cell Cycle* 9, 937–946. doi: 10.4161/cc.9.5.10869
- Lagarkova, M. A., Volchkov, P. Y., Philonenko, E. S., and Kiselev, S. L. (2008). Efficient differentiation of hESCs into endothelial cells in vitro is secured by epigenetic changes. *Cell Cycle* 7, 2929–2935. doi: 10.4161/cc.7.18.6700
- Lang, I. (2003). Heterogeneity of microvascular endothelial cells isolated from human term placenta and macrovascular umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 82, 163–173. doi: 10.1078/0171-9335-00306
- Lang, I., Hartmann, M., Blaschitz, A., Dohr, G., Skofitsch, G., and Desoye, G. (1993). Immunohistochemical evidence for the heterogeneity of maternal and fetal vascular endothelial cells in human full-term placenta. *Cell Tissue Res.* 274, 211–218. doi: 10.1007/BF00318740
- Lang, I., Schweizer, A., Hiden, U., Ghaffari-Tabrizi, N., Hagendorfer, G., Bilban, M., et al. (2008). Human fetal placental endothelial cells have a mature arterial

and a juvenile venous phenotype with adipogenic and osteogenic differentiation potential. *Differentiation* 76, 1031–1043. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-0436.2008. 00302.x

- Lassance, L., Miedl, H., Konya, V., Heinemann, A., Ebner, B., Hackl, H., et al. (2012). Differential response of arterial and venous endothelial cells to extracellular matrix is modulated by oxygen. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* doi: 10.1007/s00418-012-0917-4 [Epub ahead of print].
- le Noble, F., Klein, C., Tintu, A., Pries, A., and Buschmann, I. (2008). Neural guidance molecules, tip cells, and mechanical factors in vascular development. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 78, 232–241. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvn058
- Lu, X., Le Noble, F., Yuan, L., Jiang, Q., De Lafarge, B., Sugiyama, D., et al. (2004). The netrin receptor UNC5B mediates guidance events controlling morphogenesis of the vascular system. *Nature* 432, 179–186. doi: 10.1038/nature03080
- Lux, C. T., Yoshimoto, M., Mcgrath, K., Conway, S. J., Palis, J., and Yoder, M. C. (2008). All primitive and definitive hematopoietic progenitor cells emerging before E10 in the mouse embryo are products of the yolk sac. *Blood* 111, 3435– 3438. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-08-107086
- Matouk, C. C., and Marsden, P. A. (2008). Epigenetic regulation of vascular endothelial gene expression. *Circ. Res.* 102, 873–887. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRE-SAHA.107.171025
- Miller, S., Walker, S. W., Arthur, J. R., Lewin, M. H., Pickard, K., Nicol, F., et al. (2002). Selenoprotein expression in endothelial cells from different human vasculature and species. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1588, 85–93. doi: 10.1016/S0925-4439(02)00143-6
- Murthi, P., Hiden, U., Rajaraman, G., Liu, H., Borg, A. J., Coombes, F., et al. (2008). Novel homeobox genes are differentially expressed in placental microvascular endothelial cells compared with macrovascular cells. *Placenta* 29, 624–630. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2008.04.006
- Murthi, P., So, M., Gude, N. M., Doherty, V. L., Brennecke, S. P., and Kalionis, B. (2007). Homeobox genes are differentially expressed in macrovascular human umbilical vein endothelial cells and microvascular placental endothelial cells. *Placenta* 28, 219–223. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2006.02.012
- Ohtani, K., Vlachojannis, G. J., Koyanagi, M., Boeckel, J. N., Urbich, C., Farcas, R., et al. (2011). Epigenetic regulation of endothelial lineage committed genes in pro-angiogenic hematopoietic and endothelial progenitor cells. *Circ. Res.* 109, 1219–1229. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.247304
- Orr, A. W., Hastings, N. E., Blackman, B. R., and Wamhoff, B. R. (2010). Complex regulation and function of the inflammatory smooth muscle cell phenotype in atherosclerosis. J. Vasc. Res. 47, 168–180. doi: 10.1159/000250095
- Owens, G. K., Kumar, M. S., and Wamhoff, B. R. (2004). Molecular regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation in development and disease. *Physiol. Rev.* 84, 767–801. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00041.2003.
- Parenti, A., Morbidelli, L., Cui, X. L., Douglas, J. G., Hood, J. D., Granger, H. J., et al. (1998). Nitric oxide is an upstream signal of vascular endothelial growth factor-induced extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 activation in postcapillary endothelium. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 4220–4226. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.7.4220
- Peng, Y., and Jahroudi, N. (2003). The NFY transcription factor inhibits von Willebrand factor promoter activation in non-endothelial cells through recruitment of histone deacetylases. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 8385–8394. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M213156200
- Pirola, L., Balcerczyk, A., Tothill, R. W., Haviv, I., Kaspi, A., Lunke, S., et al. (2011). Genome-wide analysis distinguishes hyperglycemia regulated epigenetic signatures of primary vascular cells. *Genome Res.* 21, 1601–1615. doi: 10.1101/gr.116095.110
- Pojoga, L. H., Williams, J. S., Yao, T. M., Kumar, A., Raffetto, J. D., Do Nascimento, G. R., et al. (2011). Histone demethylase LSD1 deficiency during high-salt diet is associated with enhanced vascular contraction, altered NO-cGMP relaxation pathway, and hypertension. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 301, H1862– H1871. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00513.2011
- Rao, X., Zhong, J., Zhang, S., Zhang, Y., Yu, Q., Yang, P., et al. (2011). Loss of methyl-CpG-binding domain protein 2 enhances endothelial angiogenesis and protects mice against hind-limb ischemic injury. *Circulation* 123, 2964–2974. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.966408
- Rossig, L., Li, H., Fisslthaler, B., Urbich, C., Fleming, I., Forstermann, U., et al. (2002). Inhibitors of histone deacetylation downregulate the expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and compromise endothelial cell function in vasorelaxation and angiogenesis. *Circ. Res.* 91, 837–844. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000037983.07158.B1

- Rossig, L., Urbich, C., Bruhl, T., Dernbach, E., Heeschen, C., Chavakis, E., et al. (2005). Histone deacetylase activity is essential for the expression of HoxA9 and for endothelial commitment of progenitor cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 201, 1825–1835. doi: 10.1084/jem.20042097
- Ruchko, M. V., Gorodnya, O. M., Pastukh, V. M., Swiger, B. M., Middleton, N. S., Wilson, G. L., et al. (2009). Hypoxia-induced oxidative base modifications in the VEGF hypoxia-response element are associated with transcriptionally active nucleosomes. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 46, 352–359. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.09.038
- Shahani, T., Lavend'homme, R., Luttun, A., Saint-Remy, J. M., Peerlinck, K., and Jacquemin, M. (2010). Activation of human endothelial cells from specific vascular beds induces the release of a FVIII storage pool. *Blood* 115, 4902–4909. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-07-232546
- Shalaby, F., Rossant, J., Yamaguchi, T. P., Gertsenstein, M., Wu, X. F., Breitman, M. L., et al. (1995). Failure of blood-island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. *Nature* 376, 62–66. doi: 10.1038/376062a0
- Shizukuda, Y., Tang, S., Yokota, R., and Ware, J. A. (1999). Vascular endothelial growth factor-induced endothelial cell migration and proliferation depend on a nitric oxide-mediated decrease in protein kinase Cdelta activity. *Circ. Res.* 85, 247–256. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.85.3.247
- Simard, M., Drolet, R., Blomquist, C. H., and Tremblay, Y. (2011). Human type 2 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase in umbilical vein and artery endothelial cells: differential inactivation of sex steroids according to the vessel type. *Endocrine* 40, 203–211. doi: 10.1007/s12020-011-9519-5
- Stefulj, J., Panzenboeck, U., Becker, T., Hirschmugl, B., Schweinzer, C., Lang, I., et al. (2009). Human endothelial cells of the placental barrier efficiently deliver cholesterol to the fetal circulation via ABCA1 and ABCG1. *Circ. Res.* 104, 600–608. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.185066
- Svensson, K. J., Kucharzewska, P., Christianson, H. C., Skold, S., Lofstedt, T., Johansson, M. C., et al. (2011). Hypoxia triggers a proangiogenic pathway involving cancer cell microvesicles and PAR-2-mediated heparin-binding EGF signaling in endothelial cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 13147–13152. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1104261108
- Takamura, H., Kasai, H., Arita, H., and Kito, M. (1990). Phospholipid molecular species in human umbilical artery and vein endothelial cells. J. Lipid Res. 31, 709–717.
- Van Rijen, H., Van Kempen, M. J., Analbers, L. J., Rook, M. B., Van Ginneken, A. C., Gros, D., et al. (1997). Gap junctions in human umbilical cord endothelial cells contain multiple connexins. *Am. J. Physiol.* 272, C117–C130.
- Veikkola, T., Lohela, M., Ikenberg, K., Makinen, T., Korff, T., Saaristo, A., et al. (2003). Intrinsic versus microenvironmental regulation of lymphatic endothelial cell phenotype and function. *FASEB J.* 17, 2006–2013. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-01 79com
- Wang, G. G., Allis, C. D., and Chi, P. (2007a). Chromatin remodeling and cancer, Part I: covalent histone modifications. *Trends Mol. Medic.* 13, 363–372. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2007.07.003
- Wang, G. G., Allis, C. D., and Chi, P. (2007b). Chromatin remodeling and cancer, Part II: ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling. *Trends Mol. Med.* 13, 373–380. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2007.07.004
- Wang, K., Jiang, Y. Z., Chen, D. B., and Zheng, J. (2009). Hypoxia enhances FGF2and VEGF-stimulated human placental artery endothelial cell proliferation: roles of MEK1/2/ERK1/2 and PI3K/AKT1 pathways. *Placenta* 30, 1045–1051. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.10.007
- Wang, W., Ha, C. H., Jhun, B. S., Wong, C., Jain, M. K., and Jin, Z. G. (2010). Fluid shear stress stimulates phosphorylation-dependent nuclear export of HDAC5 and mediates expression of KLF2 and eNOS. *Blood* 115, 2971–2979. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-05-224824
- Wu, J., Iwata, F., Grass, J. A., Osborne, C. S., Elnitski, L., Fraser, P., et al. (2005). Molecular determinants of NOTCH4 transcription in vascular endothelium. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25, 1458–1474. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.4.1458-1474.2005
- Xu, X. F., Ma, X. L., Shen, Z., Wu, X. L., Cheng, F., and Du, L. Z. (2010). Epigenetic regulation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene in persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn rat. J. Hypertens. 28, 2227–2235. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e32833e08f1
- Zampetaki, A., Zeng, L., Margariti, A., Xiao, Q., Li, H., Zhang, Z., et al. (2010). Histone deacetylase 3 is critical in endothelial survival and atherosclerosis development in response to disturbed flow. *Circulation* 121, 132–142. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.890491

Zeng, L., Xiao, Q., Margariti, A., Zhang, Z., Zampetaki, A., Patel, S., et al. (2006). HDAC3 is crucial in shear- and VEGF-induced stem cell differentiation toward endothelial cells. J.Cell Biol. 174, 1059–1069. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200 605113

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 February 2014; paper pending published: 26 February 2014; accepted: 06 March 2014; published online: 27 March 2014. Citation: Casanello P, Schneider D, Herrera EA, Uauy R and Krause BJ (2014) Endothelial heterogeneity in the umbilico-placental unit: DNA methylation as an innuendo of epigenetic diversity. Front. Pharmacol. **5**:49. doi:10.3389/fphar.2014.00049

This article was submitted to Cardiovascular and Smooth Muscle Pharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Casanello, Schneider, Herrera, Uauy and Krause. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.